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Green Scientific Labs Holdings Inc. will derive a substantial portion of its revenues from the cannabis industry in certain 
states of the United States, which industry is illegal under United States federal law. Green Scientific Labs Holdings Inc. 
will have ancillary involvement (through its licensed subsidiaries) in the cannabis industry in the United States where local 
state laws permit such activities. Currently, its subsidiaries are engaged in the operation of cannabis testing laboratories 
and provision of cannabis testing services to third parties involved in the U.S. cannabis industry in the State of Florida. 

The United States federal government regulates drugs through the Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. § 811), which places 
controlled substances, including cannabis, in a schedule. Cannabis is classified as a Schedule I drug. Under United States 
federal law, a Schedule I drug or substance has a high potential for abuse, no accepted medical use in the United States, 
and a lack of accepted safety for the use of the drug under medical supervision. The United States Food and Drug 
Administration has not approved cannabis as a safe and effective drug for any indication.

In the United States, cannabis is largely regulated at the state level. State laws regulating cannabis are in direct conflict 
with the federal Controlled Substances Act, which makes cannabis use and possession federally illegal. Although certain 
states authorize medical or recreational cannabis production and distribution by licensed or registered entities, under U.S. 
federal law, the possession, use, cultivation, and transfer of cannabis and any related drug paraphernalia is illegal and any 
such acts are criminal acts under federal law. The Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution establishes that the 
United States Constitution and federal laws made pursuant to it are paramount and in case of conflict between federal and 
state law, the federal law shall apply.

On January 4, 2018, U.S. Attorney General Jeff Sessions issued a memorandum to U.S. district attorneys which rescinded 
previous guidance from the U.S. Department of Justice specific to cannabis enforcement in the United States, including the 
Cole Memorandum (as defined herein). With the Cole Memorandum rescinded, United States’ federal prosecutors have 
been given discretion in determining whether to prosecute cannabis related violations of U.S. federal law, including in 
jurisdictions in which the production, distribution and use of cannabis is permitted under state law.

There is no guarantee that state laws legalizing and regulating the sale and use of cannabis will not be repealed or 
overturned, or that local governmental authorities will not limit the applicability of state laws within their respective 
jurisdictions. Unless and until the United States Congress amends the Controlled Substances Act with respect to medical 
and/or adult-use cannabis (and as to the timing or scope of any such potential amendments there can be no assurance), 
there is a risk that federal authorities may enforce current federal law. If the federal government begins to enforce federal 
laws relating to cannabis in states where the sale and use of cannabis is currently legal, or if existing applicable state laws 
are repealed or curtailed, Green Scientific Labs Holdings Inc.’s business, results of operations, financial condition and 
prospects would be materially adversely affected. See Section 17 – Risk Factors of this Listing Statement for additional 
information on this risk.

In light of the political and regulatory uncertainty surrounding the treatment of U.S. cannabis-related activities, including 
the rescission of the Cole Memorandum discussed above, on February 8, 2018 the Canadian Securities Administrators 
published a staff notice (Staff Notice 51-352) setting out the Canadian Securities Administrator’s disclosure expectations 
for specific risks facing issuers with cannabis-related activities in the United States. Staff Notice 51-352 confirms that a 
disclosure-based approach remains appropriate for issuers with U.S. cannabis-related activities. Staff Notice 51-352 
includes additional disclosure expectations that apply to all issuers with U.S. cannabis-related activities, including those 
with direct and indirect involvement in the cultivation and distribution of cannabis, as well as issuers that provide goods 
and services to third parties involved in the U.S. cannabis industry.

Please see the table of concordance under “Trends, Commitments, Events or Uncertainties” in Section 3.3 for further 
information on the material facts, risks and uncertainties related to U.S. issuers with cannabis-related activities.

Green Scientific Labs Holdings Inc.’s involvement in the U.S. cannabis industry may subject it to heightened scrutiny by 
regulators, stock exchanges and other authorities in Canada and the U.S. There can be no assurance that this heightened 
scrutiny will not in turn lead to the imposition of certain restrictions on Green Scientific Labs Holdings Inc.’s ability to 
operate in the U.S. or any other jurisdiction. See Section 17 – Risk Factors of this Listing Statement for additional 
information on these risks.
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The information provided in this listing statement (“Listing Statement”), including information incorporated by 
reference, may contain “forward-looking statements” about Prominex Resource Corp. (“Prominex”), Green Scientific 
Labs Holdings Inc. (the “Resulting Issuer”), Green Scientific Labs, LLC (“GSL”), Cannabinoid Capital Corporation 
(“Subco”) and PRC Merger Sub, Inc. (“Mergerco”). In addition, the Resulting Issuer or its Affiliates (as defined 
herein) may make or approve certain statements in future filings with Canadian securities regulatory authorities, in 
press releases, or in oral or written presentations by representatives of the Resulting Issuer or its Affiliates that are not 
statements of historical fact and may also constitute forward-looking statements. All statements, other than statements 
of historical fact, made by the Resulting Issuer or its Affiliates that address activities, events or developments that the 
Resulting Issuer or its Affiliates expect or anticipate will or may occur in the future are forward-looking statements, 
including, but not limited to, statements preceded by, followed by or that include words such as “may”, “will”, 
“would”, “could”, “should”, “believes”, “estimates”, “projects”, “potential”, “expects”, “plans”, “intends”, 
“anticipates”, “targeted”, “continues”, “forecasts”, “designed”, “goal”, or the negative or grammatical variations of 
those words or other similar or comparable words.

The forward-looking statements contained herein are based on certain key expectations and assumptions, including, 
but not limited to, with respect to expectations and assumptions concerning:

 the timely receipt of all necessary consents and approvals (including, without limitation, CSE (as defined 
herein), regulatory and shareholder consents and approvals) for the listing of the Subordinate Voting Shares 
(as defined herein);

 the ability of the Resulting Issuer and its Affiliates (as defined herein) to obtain and maintain regulatory 
approvals in all states of operation for the commercial arrangements described herein;

 the ability of the Resulting Issuer to obtain necessary financing to pursue its business plans;

 operational results of and other conditions impacting the Resulting Issuer;

 the achievement of goals, the obtaining of all necessary permits and governmental approvals;

 availability of equipment, skilled labour and services needed for the Resulting Issuer’s operations;

 intellectual property rights, development, operating or regulatory risks, trends, demand and developments in 
the cannabis industry;

 business strategy and outlook, expansion and growth of business and operations;

 the timing and completion of the transactions described in this Listing Statement;

 the timing and amount of capital expenditures;

 future exchange rates;

 the impact of increasing competition;

 general economic and financial market conditions;

 access to capital;

 future operating costs;

 government regulations, including future legislative and regulatory developments involving medical and 
adult-use cannabis and the timing thereof;

 the effects of regulation by governmental agencies;

 anticipated changes to laws regarding the medical and/or adult-use of cannabis; and

 the size of the medical cannabis market and the adult-use cannabis market.

Forward-looking statements may relate to future financial conditions, results of operations, plans, objectives, 
performance or business developments. These statements speak only as at the date they are made and are based on 
information currently available and on the then current expectations of the party making the statement and assumptions 
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concerning future events, which are subject to a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors 
that may cause actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from those expressed or implied 
by such forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, risks and uncertainties related to: 

 the United States regulatory landscape and enforcement related to medical and/or adult-use cannabis;

 the availability of financing opportunities, risks associated with economic conditions, dependence on 
management and conflicts of interest;

 the fact that the Resulting Issuer is a holding company with no operating history;

 the lack of access to federal bankruptcy protections in the United States;

 heightened scrutiny by regulatory authorities;

 the Resulting Issuer’s “Foreign Private Issuer” status and potential loss thereof;

 the enforceability of contracts;

 anti-money laundering laws and regulations;

 the protection of proprietary intellectual property and the potential infringement by third parties;

 high bonding and insurance costs;

 the limited research and reliable data available relating to the cannabis industry;

 public opinion and perception of the cannabis industry;

 future acquisitions and dispositions;

 the receipt of required licenses; 

 litigation;

 the management of future growth;

 the reliance on the expertise and judgment of senior management of the Resulting Issuer;

 increasing competition in the cannabis industry;

 the reliance on key inputs, suppliers and skilled labour;

 internal controls and the potential for fraudulent activity by employees, contractors and consultants;

 the limitation of certain remedies and the difficulty of enforcement of judgments and to effect service outside 
of Canada;

 currency fluctuations;

 environmental regulations;

 contracts with third-party service providers;

 the limited market for securities of the Resulting Issuer;

 the increased costs associated with the Resulting Issuer becoming a stock exchange listed company and 
maintaining such status;

 risks related to tax; and

 other risks described in this Listing Statement, as more particularly described under the heading “Risk 
Factors” in this Listing Statement, and described from time to time in documents filed by the Resulting Issuer 
with Canadian securities regulatory authorities.

The forward-looking statements contained herein are based on certain key expectations and assumptions, including, 
but not limited to, with respect to expectations and assumptions concerning: (i) receipt of required shareholder and 
regulatory approvals in a timely manner or at all; (ii) receipt and/or maintenance of required licenses and third party 
consents in a timely manner or at all; and (iii) the success of the operations of the Resulting Issuer.
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Although the Resulting Issuer believes that the expectations and assumptions on which such forward-looking 
statements are based are reasonable, undue reliance should not be placed on the forward-looking statements, because 
no assurance can be given that they will prove to be correct. Since forward-looking statements address future events 
and conditions, by their very nature they involve inherent risks and uncertainties. 

Actual results could differ materially from those currently anticipated due to a number of factors and risks. These 
include, but are not limited to: the availability of sources of income to generate cash flow and revenue; the dependence 
on management and directors; risks relating to the receipt of the required licenses; risks relating to additional funding 
requirements; due diligence risks; exchange rate risks; potential transaction and legal risks; risks relating to laws and 
regulations applicable to medical and/or adult-use cannabis; and other factors beyond the Resulting Issuer’s control, 
as more particularly described under the heading “Risk Factors” in this Listing Statement.

Consequently, all forward-looking statements made in this Listing Statement and other documents of the Resulting 
Issuer are qualified by such cautionary statements and there can be no assurance that the anticipated results or 
developments will actually be realized or, even if realized, that they will have the expected consequences to or effects 
on the Resulting Issuer. The cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section should be considered in 
connection with any subsequent written or oral forward-looking statements that the Resulting Issuer and/or persons 
acting on their behalf may issue. The Resulting Issuer does not undertake any obligation to update or revise any 
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, other than as required 
under securities legislation.

Currency

Unless otherwise indicated, all references to “$” or “US$” in this Listing Statement refer to United States dollars and 
all references to “C$” in this Listing Statement refer to Canadian dollars.

Information Concerning Prominex

The information contained or referred to herein relating to Prominex has been furnished by Prominex, without 
independent verification by the Resulting Issuer. In preparing this Listing Statement, the Resulting Issuer has relied 
upon Prominex to ensure that this Listing Statement contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating 
to Prominex and its subsidiaries.

1. GLOSSARY OF TERMS

The following is a glossary of certain general terms used in this Listing Statement including in the summary hereof. 
Terms and abbreviations used in the financial statements appended to this Listing Statement are defined separately 
and the terms and abbreviations defined below are not used therein, except where otherwise indicated. Words 
importing the singular, where the context requires, include the plural and vice versa and words importing any gender 
include all genders.

“Advisor” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – Financing Activities”.

“Advisor Warrant” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – Financing Activities”.

“Advisory Fee” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – Financing Activities”. 

 “Affiliate” or “affiliate” means, with respect to any two Persons, one Person is a subsidiary of the other or each of 
the two Persons is controlled by the same or related Person.

“April 2021 Financing” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – Financing Activities”.

“Associate” when used to indicate a relationship with a Person, means: (a) an issuer of which the Person beneficially 
owns or controls, directly or indirectly, voting securities entitling him to more than 10% of the voting rights attached 
to outstanding securities of the issuer; (b) any partner of the Person; (c) any trust or estate in which the Person has a 
substantial beneficial interest or in respect of which a Person serves as trustee or in a similar capacity; or (d) in the 
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case of a Person who is an individual: (i) that Person’s spouse or child, or (ii) any relative of the Person or of his 
spouse who has the same residence as that Person.

“Audit Committee” means the audit committee of the Resulting Issuer.

“AZ Facility” has the meaning set out under “Narrative Description of the Business – Business of GSL – Business 
Objectives”.

“Bank Secrecy Act” has the meaning set out under “Risk Factors – Risks Specifically Related to the United States 
Regulatory System”.

“BCBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), as amended, including the regulations 
promulgated thereunder.

“BCSC” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – General Development of Prominex’ 
Business”.

“Bridge Financing” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – Financing Activities”.

“Business Combination” means the business combination between, inter alia, GSL, Prominex and Mergerco as more 
particularly described in the Business Combination Agreement.

“Business Combination Agreement” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – The 
Business Combination”.

“Canadian Resident Shareholder” means a beneficial holder of GSL Units, who is: (i) a resident of Canada for 
purposes of the Tax Act and not exempt from tax under the Tax Act; or (ii) a partnership at least one partner of which 
is a resident of Canada for purposes of the Tax Act and who is not exempt from tax under the Tax Act.

“Canadian Units” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – The Business 
Combination”.

“Cancelled Units” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – The Business 
Combination”.

“CARERS Act” has the meaning set out under “Risk Factors – Risks Specifically Related to the United States 
Regulatory System”.

“CBDA” means cannabidiolic acid.

“CBD” means cannabidiol.

“CBN” means cannabinol. 

“CBP” has the meaning set out under “Risk Factors – Risks Specifically Related to the United States Regulatory 
System”.

“CDS” means the Canadian Depository for Securities.

“Cease Trade Order” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – General Development 
of Prominex’ Business”.

“Closing Date” means the closing date of the Business Combination, being November 15, 2021. 

“CMTL” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – General Development of GSL’s 
Business”.
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“Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Cole Memorandum” has the meaning set out under “Risk Factors – Risks Specifically Related to the United States 
Regulatory System”.

“Common Share” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – General Development of 
Prominex’ Business”.

“Compensation Committee” means the compensation committee of the Resulting Issuer.

“Concurrent Financing” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – Financing 
Activities”.

“Consolidation” means the consolidation of all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Prominex on the 
basis of 168.68 pre-consolidation Prominex Shares for every one post-consolidation Prominex Share; 

“CSA” means the United States Controlled Substances Act, 21 USC § 811, as amended from time to time.

“CSE” means the Canadian Securities Exchange.

“DGCL” means the Delaware General Corporation Law.

“DLLCA” means the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act.

“DNA” means deoxyribonucleic acid

“DOJ” has the meaning set out under “Risk Factors – Risks Specifically Related to the United States Regulatory 
System”.

“DSU” has the meaning set out under “Options to Purchase Securities – Summary of Stock Option Plan and Long 
Term Incentive Plan – Long Term Incentive Plan”.

“DSU Participant” has the meaning set out under “Options to Purchase Securities – Summary of Stock Option Plan 
and Long Term Incentive Plan – Long Term Incentive Plan”.

“DSU Termination Date” has the meaning set out under “Options to Purchase Securities – Summary of Stock Option 
Plan and Long Term Incentive Plan – Long Term Incentive Plan”.

“Equity Incentive Plans” means collectively the Option Plan and the LTIP. 

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

“Extension Period” has the meaning set out under “Options to Purchase Securities – Summary of Stock Option Plan 
and Long Term Incentive Plan – Long Term Incentive Plan”.

“Facilities” has the meaning set out under “Narrative Description of the Business – Provision of Services”.

“FDA” means the United States Food and Drug Administration.

“Final Vesting Date” has the meaning set out under “Options to Purchase Securities – Summary of Stock Option Plan 
and Long Term Incentive Plan – Long Term Incentive Plan”.

“Financings” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – Financing Activities”.

“FinCEN” has the meaning set out under “Risk Factors – Risks Specifically Related to the United States Regulatory 
System”.
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“FinCEN Memorandum” has the meaning set out under “Risk Factors – Risks Specifically Related to the United 
States Regulatory System”.

“FL Facility” has the meaning set out under “Narrative Description of the Business – Business of GSL”.

“Foreign Private Issuer” has the meaning set out under “Risk Factors – Risks Specifically Related to the United 
States Regulatory System”.

“GSL” means Green Scientific Labs, LLC, a limited liability company formed on April 19, 2018 under the DLLCA. 

“GSL Lock-Up Agreement” means the lock up agreement entered into by GSL with certain GSL Members on April 
6, 2021, May 4, 2021 and November 12, 2020 in connection with the April 2021 Financing, Bridge Financing and 
Concurrent Financing, as applicable. 

“GSL Members” means the holders of GSL Units.

“GSL Units” means the membership interest units in the capital of GSL.

“IFRS” means international financial reporting standards as adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board.

“IL Facility” has the meaning set out under “Narrative Description of the Business – Business of GSL”.

“Listing Statement” means this listing statement.

“Locked-Up Shares” has the meaning set out under “Escrowed Securities – Lock-Up Arrangements”.

“LTIP” has the meaning set out under “Options to Purchase Securities – Summary of Stock Option Plan and Long 
Term Incentive Plan”.”

“Merger” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – The Business Combination”.

“Mergerco” means PRC Merger Sub, Inc., a corporation formed on October 8, 2021 under the DGCL, as it exists 
prior to completion of the Business Combination. 

“Merger Consideration” means either one one-hundredth (1/100) of a Multiple Voting Share or one Subordinate 
Voting Share per GSL Unit, as determined in accordance with the Business Combination Agreement. 

“MI Facility” has the meaning set out under “Narrative Description of the Business – Business of GSL”.

“Multiple Voting Shares” means the Class B multiple voting shares of the Resulting Issuer.

“NEO” means Named Executive Officer.

“NI 52-110” means National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees.

“NJ Facility” has the meaning set out under “Narrative Description of the Business – Business of GSL”.

“NP 46-201” means National Policy 46-201 – Escrow For Initial Public Offerings.

“Offer” has the meaning set out under “Description of the Securities – Description of the Resulting Issuer’s Securities 
– Subordinate Voting Shares”.

“Offering” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – General Development of 
Prominex’ Business”.

“Option Plan” has the meaning set out under “Options to Purchase Securities – Summary of Stock Option Plan and 
Long Term Incentive Plan”.
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“Options” has the meaning set out under “Options to Purchase Securities – Summary of Stock Option Plan and Long 
Term Incentive Plan – Stock Option Plan”.

“Person” includes an individual, firm, trust, partnership, association, body corporate, unlimited liability corporation, 
joint venture, trustee, executor, administrator, legal representative, government (including any Governmental Entity) 
or any other entity or group of Persons, whether or not having legal status.

“Prominex” means Prominex Resource Corp, a corporation formed on April 29, 1980 and existing under the BCBCA, 
as it exists prior to completion of the Business Combination.

“Prominex Meeting” means the special meeting of the shareholders of Prominex held on July 23, 2021 to consider 
and approve, among other things, the following matters in connection with the Business Combination: (i) the 
amendment to the articles of Prominex to effect the Consolidation; (ii) the amendment to the articles of Prominex to 
effect the reorganization of the share capital of Prominex to create the Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting 
Shares and adopt the terms and conditions thereof; (iii) the amendment to the articles of Prominex to set the number 
of directors to a minimum of three directors and a maximum of seven directors; (v) the appointment of the Resulting 
Issuer Board; (iv) the amendment to the articles of Prominex to change its name to “Green Scientific Labs Holdings 
Inc.”, to be the name of the Resulting Issuer; (v) the approval of a the Equity Incentive Plans; (vi) the appointment of 
SRCO Professional Corporation as the auditor of the Resulting Issuer and the authorization of the board of directors 
of Prominex to fix the remuneration thereof; and (ix) the approval of such other matters that may be required by GSL 
to be approved in order to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

“Prominex Recapitalization” means a non-brokered private placement and a series of debt settlement transactions, 
partially comprised of a shares for debt transaction whereby Prominex will, in the case of a private placement, issue 
up to an aggregate of C$250,000 in Prominex Shares at a price of approximately C$1.6868 per Prominex Share and, 
in the case of a shares for debt transaction, convert debt of up to C$500,000 into Prominex Shares at a price equal to 
approximately C$1.6868 per Prominex Share.

“Prominex Shares” means the common shares in the capital of Prominex.  

“Registered Plan” means a trust governed by a registered retirement savings plan, a registered retirement income 
fund, a registered education savings plan, a registered disability savings plan, a tax-free savings account, and a deferred 
profit sharing plan, each as defined in the Tax Act.

“Restricted Conversion Period” has the meaning set out under “Description of the Securities – Description of the 
Resulting Issuer’s Securities – Multiple Voting Shares”.

“Resulting Issuer” means “Green Scientific Labs Holdings Inc.” (formerly “Prominex Resource Corp.”) a 
corporation formed on April 29, 1980 and existing under the BCBCA, as it exists upon completion of the Business 
Combination.

“Resulting Issuer Board” means the board of directors of the Resulting Issuer.

“Resulting Issuer Shares” means the Subordinate Voting Shares and the Multiple Voting Shares, as the case may be.

“Resulting Issuer Warrant” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – Financing 
Activities”.

“RNA” means ribonucleic acid. 

“Rohrabacher-Farr Amendment” has the meaning set out under “Risk Factors – Risks Specifically Related to the 
United States Regulatory System”.

“RSU” has the meaning set out under “Options to Purchase Securities – Summary of Stock Option Plan and Long 
Term Incentive Plan – Long Term Incentive Plan”.
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“RSU Participant” has the meaning set out under “Options to Purchase Securities – Summary of Stock Option Plan 
and Long Term Incentive Plan – Long Term Incentive Plan”.

“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

“SEDAR” means the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval, which can be accessed online at 
www.sedar.com.

“Sessions Memorandum” has the meaning set out under “Risk Factors – Risks Specifically Related to the United 
States Regulatory System”.

“Share Units” has the meaning set out under “Options to Purchase Securities – Summary of Stock Option Plan and 
Long Term Incentive Plan – Long Term Incentive Plan”.

“Shares” has the meaning set out under “Options to Purchase Securities – Summary of Stock Option Plan and Long 
Term Incentive Plan – Stock Option Plan”.

“Staff Notice 51-352” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – Trends, Commitments, 
Events or Uncertainties”.

“Subco” means Cannabinoid Capital Corporation, a corporation incorporated on March 31, 2014 under the BCBCA.

“Subordinate Voting Share Conversion Right” has the meaning set out under “Description of the Securities – 
Description of the Resulting Issuer’s Securities – Subordinate Voting Shares”.

“Subordinate Voting Shares” means the Class A subordinate voting shares of the Resulting Issuer.

“Subscription Receipts” means has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – Financing 
Activities”.

“Tax Act” means the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the regulations made thereunder, as now in effect and as they may 
be promulgated or amended from time to time.

“THCA” means tetrahydrocannabinolic acid.

“THC” means tetrahydrocannabinol.

“TMX MOU” has the meaning set out under “Risk Factors – Risks Specifically Related to the United States 
Regulatory System”.

“Unit Warrant” has the meaning set out under “General Development of the Business – Financing Activities”.

 “U.S. Exchange Act” means the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and the rules and 
regulations promulgated thereunder.

“U.S. Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended and the rules and regulations promulgated 
thereunder. 

“Warrants” means warrants to purchase Subordinate Voting Shares (including Resulting Issuer Warrants and Advisor 
Warrants) each a “Warrant”. 

2.  CORPORATE STRUCTURE

2.1 Corporate Name and Head and Registered Office

This Listing Statement has been prepared in connection with the Business Combination and proposed listing of the 
Subordinate Voting Shares of the Resulting Issuer on the CSE.
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The head office of the Resulting Issuer is located at 4001 SW 47th Avenue, Suite 208, Davie, Florida, 33314. The 
registered office of the Resulting Issuer is located at  550 Burrard Street, Suite 2900, Vancouver, British Columbia, 
V6C 0A3. 

The registered and head office of Prominex was 833 Seymour Street, Suite 3606, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6B 
0G4. 

2.2 Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Prominex was incorporated under the Companies Act (British Columbia) as “United Continental Energy Corp.” on 
April 29, 1980. On November 18, 1983, Prominex changed its name from “United Continental Energy Corp.” to 
“Hilton Resource Corporation”. On June 13, 1991, Prominex changed its name from “Hilton Resource Corporation” 
to “North Slope Minerals Inc.”. On January 16, 1995, Prominex changed its name from “North Slope Minerals Inc.” 
to “Sino Pacific Development Ltd.”. On October 28, 2005, Prominex changed its name from “Sino Pacific 
Development Ltd.” to “Prominex Resource Corp.”. Prominex is a “reporting issuer” in Alberta and British Columbia. 

On November 15, 2021, Prominex amended its articles under the BCBCA to, among other things, change its name to 
“Green Scientific Labs Holdings Inc.” and, upon completion of the Business Combination, became the Resulting 
Issuer. 

GSL is a limited liability company formed on April 19, 2018 under the DLLCA and is governed by a limited liability 
company agreement dated April 24, 2020, as amended and restated on March 12, 2021. The registered office of GSL 
is located at 3411 Silverside Road, Tatnall Building, Suite 104, Wilmington, Delaware 19810. The head office of GSL 
is located at 4001 SW 47th Avenue, Suite 208, Davie, Florida, 33314.

2.3 Inter-corporate Relationships

Prominex

Prior to the Business Combination, Prominex had the following direct, wholly-owned subsidiaries: Subco and 
Mergerco. The following diagram represents the corporate structure of Prominex, immediately prior to the completion 
of the Business Combination. Unless otherwise noted, all lines represent 100% ownership of outstanding securities of 
the applicable subsidiary.

Notes: 
(1) Formed on October 8, 2021 under the laws of the State of Delaware.
(2) Incorporated on March 31, 2014 under the laws of the Province of British Columbia. 

Prominex Resource Corp.

PRC Merger Sub, Inc.(1) Cannabinoid Capital 
Corporation(2)
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GSL

Prior to the Business Combination, GSL had the following direct, wholly owned subsidiaries: Green Scientific Labs 
Michigan LLC,  Green Scientific Labs AZ LLC, Green Scientific Labs IL LLC and Green Scientific Labs NJ LLC. 
The following diagram represents the corporate structure of GSL, immediately prior to the completion of the Business 
Combination. Unless otherwise noted, all lines represent 100% ownership of outstanding securities of the applicable 
subsidiary.

Notes: 
(1) Formed on May 21, 2020 under the laws of the State of Delaware.
(2) Formed on March 3, 2021 under the laws of the State of Arizona.
(3) Formed on June 9, 2021 under the laws of the State of Illinois.
(4) Formed on May 13, 2021 under the laws of the State of New Jersey.

Resulting Issuer

The following organization chart represents the corporate structure of the Resulting Issuer at the time of the completion 
of the Business Combination. Unless otherwise noted, all lines represent 100% ownership of outstanding securities of 
the applicable subsidiary.

Notes: 
(1) Formed on April 19, 2018 under the laws of the State of Delaware and continuing as the surviving entity under the DLLCA following with 

Merger with Mergerco. 
(2) Incorporated on March 31, 2014 under the laws of the Province of British Columbia. 
(3) Formed on May 21, 2020 under the laws of the State of Delaware.
(4) Formed on March 3, 2021 under the laws of the State of Arizona.
(5) Formed on June 9, 2021 under the laws of the State of Illinois.
(6) Formed on May 13, 2021 under the laws of the State of New Jersey.

Green Scientific 
Labs LLC

Green Scientific 
Labs Michigan 

LLC(1)

Green Scientific 
Labs AZ LLC(2)

Green Scientific 
Labs IL LLC (3)

Green Scientific 
Labs NJ LLC(4)

Green Scientific Labs Holdings Inc. 
(formerly Prominex Resource Corp.)

Green Scientific 
Labs, LLC(1)

Green Scientific 
Labs Michigan 

LLC(3)

Green Scientific 
Labs AZ LLC(4)

Green Scientific 
Labs IL LLC (5)

Green Scientific 
Labs NJ LLC(6)

Cannabinoid 
Capital 

Corporation(2)
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2.4 Requalification following a Fundamental Change

This section is not applicable to the Resulting Issuer.

2.5 Non-corporate Issuers and Issuers Incorporated Outside of Canada

This section is not applicable to the Resulting Issuer.

3. GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS

3.1 General Development of the Business

Upon completion of the Business Combination, the business of GSL became the business of the Resulting Issuer.

General Development of Prominex’ Business

Prominex is a reporting issuer in the provinces of British Columbia and Alberta but is not listed on any stock exchange. 
Prominex was incorporated under the Companies Act (British Columbia) as “United Continental Energy Corp.” on 
April 29, 1980. On November 18, 1983, Prominex changed its name from “United Continental Energy Corp.” to 
“Hilton Resource Corporation”. On June 13, 1991, Prominex changed its name from “Hilton Resource Corporation” 
to “North Slope Minerals Inc.”. On January 16, 1995, Prominex changed its name from “North Slope Minerals Inc.” 
to “Sino Pacific Development Ltd.”. On October 28, 2005, Prominex changed its name from “Sino Pacific 
Development Ltd.” to “Prominex Resource Corp.”. 

Prominex was initially formed to engage in the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of mineral assets and Prominex 
owned interests in three exploration stage mineral properties located in the province of Newfoundland and Labrador. 
Since April 30, 2015, Prominex has not carried on an active business and has been focused on identifying and pursuing 
other potential opportunities. 

Prominex was subject to a cease trade order issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission (the “BCSC”) 
dated September 10, 2015 (the “Cease Trade Order”) for failure to file certain required filings under applicable 
securities laws. Prominex applied for partial revocation of the Cease Trade Order, and on May 13, 2019, the BCSC 
granted a partial revocation of the Cease Trade Order, solely to permit Prominex to complete a non-brokered private 
placement for aggregate gross proceeds of up to C$145,000, through the issuance of up to 290,000,000 common shares 
in the capital of Prominex (each, a “Common Share”) at a price of C$0.0005 per Common Share (the “Offering”). 
Prominex completed the Offering pursuant to the partial revocation on July 23, 2019, raising C$145,000 through the 
issuance of 290,000,000 Common Shares. On February 18, 2020, the BCSC issued an order revoking the Cease Trade 
Order.

Prominex entered into the Business Combination Agreement with GSL on October 21, 2021, which provided the 
general terms and conditions of the Business Combination, pursuant to which Prominex, indirectly through Mergerco, 
acquired all of the issued and outstanding GSL Units pursuant to the Merger in exchange for the Merger Consideration. 
On November 15, 2021, Prominex amended its articles under the BCBCA to, among other things, change its name to 
“Green Scientific Labs Holdings Inc.” and, upon completion of the Business Combination, became the Resulting 
Issuer. 

General Development of GSL’s Business

GSL was co-founded by Paul Crage (Chief Executive Officer) and Michael Richmond (Chairman) in April 2018. In 
December 2018, GSL opened the FL Facility (as defined below) in Davie, Florida and began providing cannabis and 
hemp testing services to licensed cannabis and hemp growers, product formulators, processors, distributors and 
retailers in the state of Florida. In September 2019, GSL obtained ISO-17025:2017 accreditation for the FL Facility 
and in July 2020 received its certified marijuana testing laboratory (“CMTL”) license issued by the State of Florida 
Department of Health Office of Medical Marijuana Use. In February 2021, GSL expanded its FL Facility from 8,604 
square feet to 13,337 square feet in order to increase its testing capacity to accommodate future growth and entered 
into a lease for the proposed AZ Facility (as defined below) in Phoenix, Arizona. In May 2021, GSL entered into 
leases for the proposed NJ Facility (as defined below) in Mount Laurel, New Jersey and the proposed IL Facility (as 
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defined below) in Darien, Illinois, and in June 2021 GSL entered into a lease for the proposed MI Facility (as defined 
below) in Ann Arbor, Michigan. On November 15, 2021, GSL completed the Business Combination with Prominex. 

Financing Activities

The following is an overview of GSL’s material financing activities since April 2018: 

 On December 31, 2018, GSL issued a convertible note in the aggregate principal amount of $250,000 (the 
“2018 Note”). The 2018 Note bears interest at a fixed rate of 15% per annum, compounded monthly, with a 
maturity date of June 30, 2020. The outstanding principal amount and accrued interest owing under the 2018 
Note are convertible into GSL Units at a conversion price equal to the lesser of (a) a $7.5 million pre-money 
valuation per GSL Unit or (b) the purchase price per GSL Unit under the next equity financing of GSL 
completed after the issue date of the 2018 Note. On June 30, 2020, $200,746 of the 2018 Note was repaid 
with 267,661 GSL Units at a price of $0.75 per GSL Unit and the remaining outstanding principal amount 
and accrued interest was repaid in full.

 On November 7, 2019, GSL issued a convertible note in the aggregate principal amount of $987,765 (the 
“2019 Note”). The 2019 Note bears interest at a fixed rate of 13% per annum, compounded monthly, with a 
maturity date of March 5, 2022. The outstanding principal amount and accrued interest owing under the 2019 
Note are convertible into GSL Units at a conversion price equal to the lesser of (a) a $20 million pre-money 
valuation per GSL Unit or (b) the purchase price per GSL Unit under the next equity financing of GSL 
completed after the issue date of the 2019 Note. The 2019 Note matures as follows: $100,000 aggregate 
principal amount on November 7, 2021; $124,008 aggregate principal amount on December 16, 2021; 
$125,988 aggregate principal amount on January 16, 2022; $417,054 aggregate principal amount on January 
23, 2022; and $78,583 aggregate principal amount on February 25, 2022; and $142,132 aggregate principal 
amount on March 5, 2022. On March 15, 2021, $481,555 of the 2019 Note was repaid with 481,555 GSL 
Units at a price of $1.00 per GSL Unit and the remaining outstanding principal amount and accrued interest 
was repaid in full. 

 On August 11, 2020, GSL entered into a secured credit line in the aggregate principal amount of $200,000 
(the “2020 Note”). The 2020 Note bears interest at a fixed rate of 13% per annum, compounded monthly, 
with a maturity date of November 11, 2020. The outstanding principal amount and accrued interest owing 
under the 2020 Note are convertible into GSL Units at a conversion price equal to the lesser of (a) a $20 
million pre-money valuation per GSL Unit or (b) the purchase price per GSL Unit under the next equity 
financing of GSL completed after the issue date of the 2020 Note. On November 4, 2020, the maturity date 
of the 2020 Note was extended until February 11, 2021. On March 15, 2021, $18,445 of the 2020 Note was 
repaid with 18,445 GSL Units at a price of $1.00 per GSL Unit and the remaining outstanding principal 
amount and accrued interest was repaid in full. 

 On February 2, 2021, GSL issued a convertible note in the aggregate principal amount of $101,500 (the 
“2021 Note”). The 2021 Note bears interest at a fixed rate of 13% per annum, compounded monthly, with a 
maturity date of August 2, 2021. The outstanding principal amount and accrued interest owing under the 
2021 Note are convertible into GSL Units at a conversion price equal to the lesser of (a) a $20 million pre-
money valuation per GSL Unit or (b) the purchase price per GSL Unit under the next equity financing of 
GSL completed after the issue date of the 2021 Note. On March 15, 2021, the outstanding principal and all 
accrued interest under the 2021 Note was repaid in full. 

 On April 6, 2021, GSL completed a non-brokered placement of GSL Units (the “April 2021 Financing”) 
pursuant to which GSL issued an aggregate of 6,440,000 GSL Units at a price of US$1.00 per GSL Unit for 
aggregate gross proceeds of US$6,440,000. 

 On May 3, 2021, GSL completed a non-brokered placement of GSL Units (the “Bridge Financing”) pursuant 
to which GSL issued an aggregate of 1,340,283 GSL Units at a price of US$1.343 per GSL Unit for aggregate 
gross proceeds of US$1,800,000. 

 On November 12, 2021, GSL completed a non-brokered private placement of subscription receipts 
(“Subscription Receipts”) pursuant to which GSL issued an aggregate of 1,176,416 Subscription Receipts 
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at a price of US$3.85 per Subscription Receipt for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately US$4,529,200 
(the “Concurrent Financing” and together with the April 2021 Financing and the Bridge Financing, the 
“Financings”). Immediately prior to the Merger being effected, and in accordance with the terms of the 
Subscription Receipts, each Subscription Receipt was automatically exchanged for a unit consisting of one 
GSL Unit and one GSL Unit purchase warrant (each a “Unit Warrant”) and, immediately thereafter, 
pursuant to the Merger (a) each such GSL Unit was exchanged for either one Subordinate Voting Share or 
1/100 of a Multiple Voting Share and (b) each Unit Warrant was exchanged for one share purchase warrant 
of the Resulting Issuer (each a “Resulting Issuer Warrant”) in each case without payment of additional 
consideration or further action on the part of the holder. Each Resulting Issuer Warrant entitles the holder 
thereof to purchase either one Subordinate Voting Share or 1/100 of a Multiple Voting Share at a price of 
US$4.50 for a period of 36 months following the Closing Date, provided that if the trading price of the 
Subordinate Voting Shares on the CSE is greater than C$8.50 for ten consecutive trading days, the Resulting 
Issuer may accelerate the time of expiry expiration of the Resulting Issuer Warrants to the day that is 30 days 
from the date that notice of such acceleration is given to holders of Resulting Issuer Warrants in accordance 
with the terms thereof. In connection with the Concurrent Financing, GSL engaged Clarus Securities Inc. and 
Eight Capital (the “Advisors”) to act as financial advisors. As compensation for the services rendered by the 
Advisors, GSL paid the Advisors a cash fee in the amount of C$155,000 (the “Advisory Fee”) and issued to 
the Advisors an aggregate of 40,000 non-transferable warrants (the “Advisor Warrants”). Each Advisor 
Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one unit, comprised of one Subordinate Voting Share and one 
Resulting Issuer Warrant, at an exercise price equal to US$3.85 for a period of 36 months following the 
closing date of the Concurrent Financing. 

The Business Combination

On November 15, 2021, Prominex, GSL and Mergerco completed the Business Combination. The terms of the 
Business Combination are set forth in the business combination agreement and plan of merger (the “Business 
Combination Agreement”) among GSL, Prominex and Mergerco dated October 21, 2021. 

The Business Combination was effected by way of a merger under the DLLCA (the “Merger”). Pursuant to the 
Merger, GSL merged with Mergerco, with GSL continuing as the surviving company under the DLLCA and as a 
subsidiary of the Resulting Issuer, as follows: (i) each outstanding GSL Unit that was owned by GSL or any of its 
direct or indirect wholly owned subsidiaries was automatically cancelled (the “Cancelled Units”); (ii) each GSL Unit 
owned by a Canadian Resident Shareholder (the “Canadian Units”) was transferred to Prominex in exchange for 
either one one-hundredth (0.01) Multiple Voting Shares or one Subordinate Voting Share, which were issued to the 
respective Canadian Resident Shareholder by Prominex; (iii) each outstanding GSL Unit (other than the Cancelled 
Units and Canadian Units) was converted into the right to receive either one one-hundredth (0.01) Multiple Voting 
Shares or one Subordinate Voting Share, as separately agreed between Prominex and each holder of GSL Units; (iv) 
all GSL Units (other than the Canadian Units) were cancelled; and (v) Mergerco issued 100 Mergerco Shares to the 
Resulting Issuer as consideration for the Resulting Issuer agreeing to deliver and issue the Merger Consideration. Each 
Subordinate Voting Share carries one vote per Subordinate Voting Share. Each Multiple Voting Share carries 100 
votes per Multiple Voting Share. The Multiple Voting Shares will not be listed for trading on the CSE but may be 
converted into Subordinate Voting Shares in certain circumstances.

The provisions of the Business Combination Agreement are the result of arm’s length negotiations conducted among 
representatives of GSL and Prominex with the assistance of their respective legal and financial advisors. The Business 
Combination Agreement contains customary representations and warranties made by each of Prominex (on its own 
behalf and on behalf of Subco), GSL and Mergerco. These representations and warranties were made solely for 
purposes of the Business Combination Agreement and were subject to important qualifications, limitations and 
exceptions agreed to by the parties in connection with negotiating its terms. In particular, some of the representations 
and warranties are subject to a contractual standard of materiality or Material Adverse Change (as such term is defined 
in the Business Combination Agreement) different from that generally applicable to public disclosure to shareholders, 
or are used for the purpose of allocating risk between the parties to the Business Combination Agreement.

Prominex provided representations and warranties to GSL and Mergerco that include the following in respect of 
Prominex and Subco: organization and qualification, authority relative to the Business Combination Agreement, no 
conflicts, required filings and consent, litigation, operational matters, compliance with laws, financial statements, 
capitalization, subsidiaries, brokers, absence of certain changes or events, undisclosed liabilities, taxes, material 
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contracts, environmental matters, non-arm’s length transactions, books and records, and with respect to employment 
matters. 

GSL provided representations and warranties to Prominex and Mergerco that include the following: organization and 
qualification, authority relative to the Business Combination Agreement, no conflicts, required filings and consent, 
litigation, operational matters, compliance with laws, financial statements, capitalization, subsidiaries, brokers, 
absence of certain changes or events, undisclosed liabilities, taxes, material contracts, environmental matters, non-
arm’s length transactions, books and records, and with respect to employment matters. 

Mergerco provided representations and warranties to Prominex and GSL that include the following: organization and 
qualification, authority relative to the Business Combination Agreement, no conflicts, required filings and consent, 
litigation, operational matters, compliance with laws, financial statements, capitalization, subsidiaries, brokers, 
absence of certain changes or events, undisclosed liabilities, taxes, material contracts, environmental matters, non-
arm’s length transactions, books and records, and with respect to employment matters. 

The full text of the Business Combination Agreement is available on the Resulting Issuer’s SEDAR profile at 
www.sedar.com and from the Resulting Issuer at (954) 800-0230 or ir@greenscientificlabs.com.

3.2 Significant Acquisitions and Dispositions

Aside from the Business Combination, no other significant acquisition or disposition has been completed in the most 
recent completed financial year or the current financial year by Prominex or GSL.

3.3 Trends, Commitments, Events or Uncertainties

In accordance with the Canadian Securities Administrators Staff Notice 51-352 (Revised) – Issuers with U.S. 
Marijuana-Related Activities (“Staff Notice 51-352”), below is a table of concordance that is intended to assist readers 
in identifying those parts of this Listing Statement that address the disclosure expectations outlined in Staff Notice 
51-352.

Industry Involvement Specific Disclosure Necessary to Fairly Present 
all Material Facts, Risks and Uncertainties

Listing Statement Cross 
Reference

All Issuers with U.S. 
Marijuana-Related 
Activities

Describe the nature of the issuer’s involvement in 
the U.S. marijuana industry and include the 
disclosures indicated for at least one of the direct, 
indirect and ancillary industry involvement types 
noted in this table.

Section 3 - General Development of 
the Business (page 6)
Section 4 - Narrative Description of 
the Business (page 12)

Prominently state that marijuana is illegal under 
U.S. federal law and that enforcement of relevant 
laws is a significant risk.

Cover page (disclosure in bold 
typeface)
Section 3 - General Development of 
the Business (page 6)
Section 17 - Risk Factors (page 44)

Discuss any statements and other available 
guidance made by federal authorities or 
prosecutors regarding the risk of enforcement 
action in any jurisdiction where the issuer conducts 
U.S. marijuana-related activities.

Cover page (disclosure in bold 
typeface)
Section 3 - General Development of 
the Business (page 6)
Section 4 - Narrative Description of 
the Business (page 12)
Section 17 - Risk Factors (page 44)

Outline related risks including, among others, the 
risk that third party service providers could 
suspend or withdraw services and the risk that 
regulatory bodies could impose certain restrictions 
on the issuer’s ability to operate in the U.S.

Section 17 - Risk Factors (page 44)
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Industry Involvement Specific Disclosure Necessary to Fairly Present 
all Material Facts, Risks and Uncertainties

Listing Statement Cross 
Reference

Given the illegality of marijuana under U.S. federal 
law, discuss the issuer’s ability to access both 
public and private capital and indicate what 
financing options are / are not available in order to 
support continuing operations.

Section 4 - Narrative Description of 
the Business (page 12)
Section 17 - Risk Factors (page 44)

Quantify the issuer’s balance sheet and operating 
statement exposure to U.S. marijuana-related 
activities.

Section 5 - Selected Consolidated 
Financial Information (page 18)
Schedules “E” and “G” to the 
Listing Statement

Disclose if legal advice has not been obtained, 
either in the form of a legal opinion or otherwise, 
regarding (a) compliance with applicable state 
regulatory frameworks and (b) potential exposure 
and implications arising from U.S. federal law.

Legal advice has been obtained from 
external U.S. legal counsel 
regarding (a) in the state of Florida; 
and regarding (b). 

U.S. Marijuana Issuers 
with direct involvement in 
cultivation or distribution

Outline the regulations for U.S. states in which the 
issuer operates and confirm how the issuer 
complies with applicable licensing requirements 
and the regulatory framework enacted by the 
applicable U.S. state.

This section is not applicable to the 
Resulting Issuer. 

Discuss the issuer’s program for monitoring 
compliance with U.S. state law on an ongoing 
basis, outline internal compliance procedures and 
provide a positive statement indicating that the 
issuer is in compliance with U.S. state law and the 
related licensing framework. Promptly disclose any 
non-compliance, citations or notices of violation 
which may have an impact on the issuer’s licence, 
business activities or operations.

This section is not applicable to the 
Resulting Issuer.

U.S. Marijuana Issuers 
with indirect involvement 
in cultivation or 
distribution

Outline the regulations for U.S. states in which the 
issuer’s investee(s) operate.

This section is not applicable to the 
Resulting Issuer.

Provide reasonable assurance, through either 
positive or negative statements, that the investee’s 
business is in compliance with applicable licensing 
requirements and the regulatory framework 
enacted by the applicable U.S. state. Promptly 
disclose any non-compliance, citations or notices 
of violation, of which the issuer is aware, that may 
have an impact on the investee’s licence, business 
activities or operations.

This section is not applicable to the 
Resulting Issuer.

U.S. Marijuana Issuers 
with material ancillary 
involvement

Provide reasonable assurance, through either 
positive or negative statements, that the applicable 
customer’s or investee’s business is in compliance 
with applicable licensing requirements and the 
regulatory framework enacted by the applicable 
U.S. state.

Section 3 - General Development of 
the Business (page 6)

Regulatory Overview

In accordance with Staff Notice 51-352, below is a discussion of the federal and state-level U.S. regulatory 
regimes in those jurisdictions where the Resulting Issuer, through GSL, has material ancillary involvement in 
the cannabis industry. The Resulting Issuer, through GSL, is currently engaged in the operation of cannabis 
testing labs in the State of Florida. In accordance with Staff Notice 51-352, the Resulting Issuer will evaluate, 
monitor and reassess this disclosure, and any related risks, on an ongoing basis and the same will be 
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supplemented, amended and promptly disclosed to investors in public filings, including in the event of 
government policy changes or the introduction of new or amended guidance, laws or regulations regarding 
cannabis regulation. The risk of federal enforcement and other risks associated with the Resulting Issuer’s 
business in the United States are described in Section 17 – Risk Factors. Regulation of Cannabis in the United 
States Federally 

As of January 16, 2018, the United States Supreme Court has ruled that Congress has the power to regulate cannabis.

The United States federal government regulates drugs through the Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. § 811), which 
places controlled substances, including cannabis, in a schedule. Cannabis is classified as a Schedule I drug. A Schedule 
I controlled substance is defined as a substance that has no currently accepted medical use in the United States, a lack 
of safety for use under medical supervision and a high potential for abuse. The Department of Justice defines Schedule 
I drugs, substances or chemicals as “drugs with no currently accepted medical use and a high potential for abuse.” 
The United States Food and Drug Administration has not approved marijuana as a safe and effective drug for 
any indication.

Unlike in Canada, which has federal legislation uniformly governing the cultivation, distribution, sale and possession 
of medical marijuana under the Access to Cannabis for Medical Purposes Regulations, marijuana is largely regulated 
at the state level in the United States.

State laws regulating cannabis are in direct conflict with the federal Controlled Substances Act, which makes cannabis 
use and possession federally illegal. Although certain states and territories of the U.S. authorize medical or recreational 
cannabis production and distribution by licensed or registered entities, under U.S. federal law, the possession, use, 
cultivation, and transfer of cannabis and any related drug paraphernalia is illegal and any such acts are criminal acts 
under federal law under any and all circumstances under the Controlled Substances Act. Although GSL’s activities 
are compliant with applicable United States state and local law, strict compliance with state and local laws with respect 
to cannabis may neither absolve GSL of liability under United States federal law, nor may it provide a defense to any 
federal proceeding which may be brought against GSL.

Regulation of the Cannabis Market at State and Local Levels

Florida

Florida Regulatory Landscape 

The State of Florida has not legalized the adult-use of cannabis. In 2014, the Florida Legislature passed the 
Compassionate Use Act, which was the first legal medical cannabis program in the state’s history. The original 
Compassionate Use Act only allowed for low-THC cannabis to be dispensed and purchased by patients suffering from 
cancer and epilepsy. In 2016, the Legislature passed the Right To Try Act, which allowed for full potency cannabis to 
be dispensed to patients suffering from a diagnosed terminal condition. Also, in 2016, the Florida Medical Marijuana 
Legalization Initiative was introduced by citizen referendum and passed with a 71.3% majority on November 8. This 
language amended the state constitution and mandated an expansion of the state’s medical cannabis program. 

The Florida Medical Marijuana Legalization Initiative, Amendment 2 (“Amendment 2”), and the expanded qualifying 
medical conditions became effective on January 3, 2017. The Florida Department of Health (“FDOH”), physicians, 
dispensing organizations, and patients are also subject to Article X Section 29 of the Florida Constitution and §381.986 
of the Florida Statutes. On June 9, 2017, the Florida House of Representatives and Florida Senate passed respective 
legislation to implement the expanded program by replacing large portions of the existing Compassionate Use Act, 
which officially became law on June 23, 2017. The law regulating Amendment 2 provides for another four licenses to 
be issued for every 100,000 patients added to the state’s medical marijuana use registry and currently allows Medical 
Marijuana Treatment Centers (“MMTC”) to open an unlimited amount of dispensaries.  All medical marijuana 
products sold to qualified patients under the Florida Medical Marijuana Program must first undergo testing on final 
products, consisting of any usable whole flower marijuana or derivative product in its receptacle and intended for use 
by a qualified patient (“Final Products”), conducted by an FDOH certified marijuana testing laboratory. 

In addition to MMTCs, Florida regulation also created the regulatory framework under §381.988 of the Florida 
Statutes that set forth the authority of FDOH to certify medical marijuana testing laboratories, otherwise known as 
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Certified Marijuana Testing Laboratories (“CMTLs”). A CMTL is a facility that has been certified by FDOH to 
collect and analyze medical marijuana samples from MMTCs. On January 31, 2020, FDOH published Emergency 
Rule 64ER20-14 under its Emergency Rule making authority, promulgating the application process and requirements 
for CMTLs to become certified by FDOH. On July 1, 2020, GSL was awarded its CMTL License for its Testing 
Facility located at: 4001 S.W. 47th Avenue, Suite 208, Davie, Florida 33314.

The Company is in compliance with applicable licensing requirements and the regulatory framework enacted by the 
State of Florida. 

Florida CMTL Licenses 

Subsection 381.988 of the Florida Statutes provides a regulatory framework that requires CMTLs to adhere to testing 
requirements under §381.986 of the Florida Statutes and any subsequent FDOH adopted rules. Essentially, CMTLs 
are testing facilities that have been certified by FDOH to collect and analyze medical marijuana samples from 
MMTCs. CMTLs can acquire, possess, test, transport, and lawfully dispose of medical marijuana and acquire medical 
marijuana only from MMTCs, and are prohibited from selling, distributing, or transferring medical marijuana received 
from an MMTC unless transferring a sample to another CMTL. CMTL Licenses issued by the FDOH may be applied 
for so long as the license applicant meets the requirements of the law and pays an application fee. CMTL license 
holders must have one license per testing facility but can apply to have multiple testing facilities located throughout 
Florida, and there is no state-imposed limitation on the permitted size of testing facilities, nor is there a limit on the 
number of products tested. 

The CMTL License permits licensees to test MMTC Final Products. CMTLs must test MMTC Final Products for 
tetrahydrocannabinol potency, concentration of cannabidiol, and contaminants unsafe for human consumption. 
Contaminants unsafe for human consumption include microbes, mycotoxins, residual solvents, heavy metals, 
agricultural agents, and filth and foreign materials.  

Florida Reporting Requirements 

The FDOH requires that CMTLs must develop and implement a chain of custody protocol and tracking system to 
ensure accurate documentation is recorded for the complete chain of custody of marijuana samples and all testing data 
attributed to those samples, from receipt through disposal. In addition, the CMTL’s tracking system must be integrated 
with the FDOH’s seed-to-sale tracking system once implemented.

CMTLs must also report to the FDOH any testing sample that is found to contain a level of any contaminant that 
exceeds enumerated acceptable limits or any level of a contaminant that could be injurious to human health if 
consumed or otherwise introduced to the human body. CMTLs must also report such findings to the MMTC from 
which the sample was collected and to the FDOH.

Additionally, Internal Quality Assurance and Quality Control audits must be conducted by CMTL licensees at least 
once every calendar year. Internal audit results, including any and all remedial actions, must also be provided to 
FDOH.

Florida CMTL Licensing Requirements 

CMTL Licenses issued by the FDOH are awarded so long as the licensee meets the requirements of the law and pays 
an application fee. Provided that the required fees are paid, the certification application is submitted, and there are no 
material violations noted against the applicable license. The Company would expect to maintain the appropriate 
accredited licenses for its current testing facility in the ordinary course of business. The Company received its CMTL 
License (License No.: CMTL-0004) from FDOH on July 1, 2020. As a CMTL license holder, the Company can and 
will continue its analysis of cannabinoids, terpenes, pesticides, residual solvents, heavy metals, microbiological 
contaminants, water activity, filth and foreign material and moisture content for MMTCs in Florida at its previously 
approved testing facility.

While FDOH has approved the Company’s compliance controls, there is no assurance that the continuing CMTL 
License will remain accredited in the future. Any unexpected delays or costs associated with the ongoing accreditation 
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requirements could impede the ongoing or planned operations of the Company and have a material adverse effect on 
its business, financial condition, results of operations, or prospects. 

CMTL license holders can only own one license on a per-testing facility basis. Separate applications must be submitted 
for each additional CMTL testing facility. An CMTL applicant must demonstrate that: (i) they currently possesses 
ISO/IEC 17025:2017 accreditation by an accrediting body recognized by the International Laboratory Accreditation 
Cooperation (“ILAC”), (ii) received satisfactory results on two of the three most recent proficiency tests administered 
by an ISO/IEC 17043:2010 accredited body, (iii) they have the ability to maintain adequate controls against the 
diversion, theft, or other loss of marijuana, the tampering or compromise of samples, and the tampering or compromise 
of testing equipment and materials, (iv) they have written Quality Assurance and Quality Control procedures, (v) they 
conduct internal audits at least once every calendar year of all CMTL equipment, facilities, personnel, and security, 
(vi) they have a tracking system to document the complete chain of custody of marijuana samples, and all testing data 
attributed to those samples, from receipt through disposal, and (vii) its owners, directors, managers and employees, 
have passed a Level II background screening, inclusive of fingerprinting, and ensure that a lab director is employed 
for each physically independent testing facility operated by the CMTL.

Florida Testing Requirements 

A CMTL must collect from an MMTC a random and representative sample of Final Product from every flower batch 
or derivative batch that is used to create a Final Product that consists of on product type at one concentration, intended 
to have uniform character and quality, and is produced during the same cycle of manufacture (each batch, a “Retail 
Batch”), for regulatory compliance testing.  The CMTL must follow its field sampling protocol approved under its 
scope of ISO 17025 accreditation.  At the time of selection, the CMTL must confirm within the MMTC’s seed-to-sale 
system that the total quantity of Final Products in the Retail Batch from which a sample is being selected matches the 
total quantity of Final Products in the Retail Batch denoted in the system. The CMTL must homogenize all Final 
Products into one testing sample for each Retail Batch sampled, except in the case of homogeneity testing of edibles. 
A minimum of three Final Products must be sampled from each Retail Batch. The number of Final Products chosen 
for testing from a Retail Batch must be enough total weight or volume to satisfy the laws and regulations.  

Florida Security, Transportation, and Storage Requirements 

Each CMTL must maintain a video surveillance system with specified features. CMTLs must retain video surveillance 
recordings for at least 45 days. In addition, a CMTL’s outdoor premises must have fully operational dusk-to-dawn 
safety lighting on the exterior of the testing facility that provides illumination to the areas directly around the premises, 
including all points of ingress and egress.

Cannabis must be stored in a secured, locked room or a vault in a manner that does not accelerate spoilage or promote 
other degradation. A CMTL must have at least two employees on the premises at all times when marijuana is received, 
when marijuana is tested, when marijuana is disposed of, and during the CMTL’s normal business hours. CMTL 
employees must wear a legible photo identification badge that is visible at all times while on the premises, and non-
employee persons with access to the premises of the CMTL must prominently display an identification badge 
indicating their visitor status and be accompanied by an CMTL employee. Each CMTL employee must also receive 
training and access to the CMTL’s theft and diversion policies and procedures, which must require reporting to local 
law enforcement within 24 hours of notification or knowledge of any apparent theft, diversion, or loss of marijuana. 

A CMTL must develop and implement a chain of custody protocol to ensure accurate documentation is recorded for 
the transport, handling, storage, and destruction of samples. The protocol must include the use of a log form developed 
by the CMTL. The CMTL must use its chain of custody log to record the following information for each Retail Batch 
sampled: (i) CMTL’s name and address; (ii) Date and time sampling started and ended; (iii) MMTC’s name and 
address where the sample was collected; (iv) The Retail Batch number of the batch from which the sample was 
obtained and the assigned unique sample identifier; (v) Sample Matrix; (vi) Total Retail Batch size, by weight or 
volume; (vii) Total quantity of Final Products in the Retail Batch; (viii) Total weight or volume of the sample; (ix) 
Sampling conditions or problems encountered during the sampling process, if any; (x) Printed name and signature of 
the MMTC representative who was present and granted access to the Final Products for sampling; (xi) Printed CMTL 
Employee ID number and signature of the CMTL Sampler; and (xii) The date and time the sample departed from the 
MMTC’s premises and when it arrived at the CMTL, along with the names and signatures of the CMTL Employees 
involved in the transport of the samples. 
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While transporting samples collected from an MMTC, a CMTL must ensure the samples are not visible to the public. 
Samples must be locked in a fully enclosed box, container, or cage secured to the inside of the vehicle used for 
transport. Vehicles used for transporting samples must be equipped with an operational alarm system. The CMTL 
must require at least two Employees to be in a vehicle transporting samples. The CMTL must not leave a vehicle 
containing samples unattended. One Employee shall remain with the vehicle transporting samples at all times. The 
CMTL must ensure that packages or containers holding samples are neither tampered with nor opened during 
transport. The CMTL may simultaneously transport multiple samples obtained from different MMTCs. No person 
under the age of 21 years old shall be in a vehicle transporting samples. Only CMTL Employees shall be in a vehicle 
while transporting samples.  For any vehicle that will be utilized to transport samples that were not approved as part 
of the CMTL’s initial application, the CMTL must provide the information to the FDOH for approval of said transport 
vehicle. 

Florida Inspections 

Under its authority, the FDOH can conduct announced and unannounced inspections of any CMTL Testing Facility, 
vehicle utilized by a CMTL or facility where CMTL records are kept to determine compliance with sections 381.986 
and 381.988 of the Florida Statutes, CMTL rules, and the specific representations in the CMTL’s application. If the 
FDOH identifies any deficiencies or violations during any inspection, the FDOH will send written notice to the CMTL 
identifying the deficiencies or violations. A CMTL is subject to additional inspections by the FDOH to confirm that 
the deficiency or violation has been resolved and that the corrective action plan has been implemented. A CMTL’s 
failure to resolve any deficiency or violation identified during an inspection in the time period required by the FDOH 
or specified in a corrective action plan is grounds for disciplinary action per CMTL rules.

U.S. Attorney Statements in Florida 

To the knowledge of management, there have not been any statements or guidance made by federal authorities or 
prosecutors regarding the risk of enforcement action in Florida. See “Risk Factors - United States Regulatory 
Uncertainty”.

Arizona

Arizona Regulatory Landscape

The State of Arizona has legalized both medical and recreational use of marijuana. In November 2010, Arizona voters 
passed Proposition 203, known as the Arizona Marijuana Initiative, by a narrow margin of 50.13%,. The Arizona 
legislature thereafter enacted the Arizona Medical Marijuana Act (“AMMA”), legalizing the medical use of cannabis, 
which went into effect in December 2010. The AMMA appointed the Arizona Department of Health Services 
(“ADHS”) as a regulator for the program and authorized ADHS to promulgate, adopt, and enforce regulations 
implementing the AMMA. Accordingly, the ADHS established the Arizona Department of Health Services – Medical 
Marijuana Program, which promulgated the rules and regulations regarding medical cannabis in the State of Arizona.

In 2020, Arizonians voted in favor of legalizing the recreational use of marijuana with Proposition 207, also known 
as the Smart and Safe Arizona Act (the “SSAA”). On November 30, 2020, the Secretary of State certified Arizona 
voters’ approval of the SSAA in the 2020 General Election. With this approval, the SSAA went into effect to govern 
the adult use, regulation, and taxation of marijuana in Arizona.

From December 2010 to October 2020, the testing of medical cannabis was not mandatory in Arizona; instead, testing 
was completely optional and was completed at the discretion of each dispensary. However, in June 2019, Arizona 
Governor Doug Ducey signed Senate Bill 1494 (“SB 1494”) into law, effectively requiring all medical marijuana 
dispensaries to send their medical marijuana products to a state-certified lab for testing before selling them to the 
public. This law took effect on November 1, 2020.

SB 1494 also gave the ADHS the authority to adopt rules to certify and regulate labs. To become a state-certified lab, 
an applicant must apply for lab certification and obtain ADHS’s approval for testing. In addition, a state-certified lab 
may not have a financial relationship with any dispensary. 
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Arizona Medical Marijuana Testing Laboratories Application Process

Arizona Administrative Code (“A.A.C.”) Title 9, Chapter 17, Medical Marijuana Program Rules (“MMPR”) and 
A.R.S. Title 36, Chapter 28.1, Arizona Medical Marijuana Act (the “AMMA”) provides the regulatory framework to 
all applicants who are interested in operating a testing lab facility in Arizona. Applying for a lab certificate for medical 
marijuana testing is a two-step process. First, the applicant will apply for medical marijuana testing Laboratory 
Registration Certification. Among other requirements, the applicant must demonstrate in its initial laboratory 
application how it plans to implement and maintain (i) an inventory control system, (ii) a chain of custody and sample 
requirements process, (iii) a records retention process, (iv) a secure method to transfer the portion of the sample 
remaining after testing to another lab for testing with ADHS’s approval, (v) security, (vi) a process to ensure marijuana 
testing results are accurate, precise, and scientifically valid before reporting the results, and (vii) a process for disposal 
of marijuana that was submitted to the lab for testing. ADHS also requires an onsite inspection of the lab. Once ADHS 
determines the applicant’s systems and processes are sufficiently compliant, the registration certificate will be granted, 
and instruction for a second application and inspection for testing approval will be provided. After receiving the initial 
medical marijuana testing lab registration certificate, the applicant shall apply for testing approval at least 60 days 
before the expiration of the initial lab registration certificate.

Arizona Laboratory Agents and Technical Laboratory Director

The lab owner must submit lab agent applications for the technical lab director and all lab agents working for the lab 
within 72 hours of receiving the medical marijuana testing laboratory registration certificate. Additionally, the lab 
owner must apply for lab agent registry identification cards for each laboratory agent, including a technical laboratory 
director. 

Each lab must designate a person to act as the technical lab director who will be responsible for (i) ensuring that all 
services and tests provided by the lab are performed in compliance with the MMPR, (ii) directing and supervising 
services and tests provided by the lab, (iii) overseeing the work of all personnel in the lab, (iv) providing ongoing 
training to lab agents, and (v) ensuring safety and hazardous substance control in the lab. The technical lab director 
shall also develop, document, and implement policies and procedures including but not limited to (i) inventory control, 
(ii) standard operating procedures, (iii) lab records, (iv) quality assurance, (v) records retention and (vi) security. 

Arizona Testing Requirements

The lab will test medical marijuana products to detect for any unsafe levels of (i) microbial contamination, (ii) heavy 
metals, (iii) pesticides, (iv) herbicides, (v) fungicides, (vi) growth regulators, and (vii) residual solvents (each a 
“Contaminant”) and confirm the potency of the marijuana to be dispensed. 

Not all labs will be able to test for all seven Contaminants. After an applicant receives the initial lab registration 
certificate and undergoes the second part of the application process to obtain approval for testing, the applicant will 
need to indicate which Contaminant(s) it plans to test, the instrument and equipment it will use to test for that 
Contaminant, and the software to be used at the lab. 

SB 1494 requires that all medical marijuana products be tested for all seven Contaminants. Often, medical marijuana 
products will be sent to two or more labs in order to test for all seven Contaminants. 

A lab that tests for microbial contamination will need to follow the requirements under A.A.C. R9-17-404.04; a lab 
that tests for any of the other six Contaminants will need to follow the requirements under A.A.C. R9-17-404.03. The 
lab must have a quality assurance plan in place to ensure all results produced are precise, accurate, scientifically valid, 
and defensible. 

The Company has the capability and know-how to conduct tests for all seven Contaminants.

Arizona Medical Marijuana Testing Laboratories Daily Operations

A marijuana dispensary will submit samples of medical marijuana to a state-certified lab for testing. Upon receipt of 
the medical marijuana samples, the lab will assign (i) a unique sample identification to the sample, (ii) a description 
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of the marijuana product received, (iii) the sample collection date and time, and (iv) the type of test performed. After 
running the necessary tests on the samples, the lab will prepare a final report. 

A technical lab director shall establish and implement an inventory control system for the lab’s medical marijuana and 
marijuana products (the “Inventory Control System”). The Inventory Control System shall record: (i) the amount of 
medical marijuana and marijuana products at the start of each day; (ii) the medical marijuana and marijuana products 
accepted for testing; (iii) the portions of a sample medical marijuana or a marijuana product removed for testing with 
the name of the lab agent removing each portion; (iv) the medical marijuana and marijuana products transferred to or 
from another laboratory for testing of parameters or analytes that the laboratory is not approved by ADHS to conduct; 
(v) medical marijuana and marijuana products transferred to another lab at the request of a dispensary; and (vi) the 
total amount of medical marijuana and marijuana products held by the lab at the end of each day.

Arizona Reporting Requirements 

In addition to the Inventory Control System, ADHS requires the labs to establish a chain of custody system, testing 
system, and disposal tracking system to document all medical marijuana and marijuana products received by the lab 
(collectively “Records”). All Records must be kept at the lab for at least five years and be readily available to ADHS 
for review upon request. The technical lab director shall designate a lab agent who will oversee the lab’s entire 
inventory control system. In addition, the lab agent shall conduct and document an audit of the lab’s inventory 
according to generally accepted accounting principles at least once every 30 calendar days (an “Audit”). Likewise, 
all Audits must be kept at the lab for at least five years and be readily available to ADHS for review upon request.  

Arizona Security, Transportation, and Storage Requirements

Each lab shall have policies and procedures that restrict access to the areas of the lab that contain marijuana or 
marijuana products to authorized individuals only. In addition, all lab agents must have their lab agent registry 
identification card with them at all times when working in the lab.

To prevent unauthorized access to marijuana or marijuana products, the lab shall have the following: (i) security 
equipment that detects unauthorized intrusion, (ii) video surveillance, (iii) exterior lighting to facilitate surveillance, 
and (iv) panic buttons inside the lab. The video cameras must comply with specifications listed in A.A.C. R9-17-
408(H) and be installed in each area of the lab where marijuana or marijuana products are being tested or stored, in 
all entrances to and exits from limited access areas, and in all entrances to and exits from the building. The lab must 
retain video surveillance recordings for at least 30 calendar days.

A lab agent may transport marijuana samples from the dispensaries to the lab, or the dispensaries may deliver samples 
to the lab themselves. The lab agent or dispensary transporting the medical marijuana to a lab must follow certain 
rules, including using a vehicle with no medical marijuana identification and no visible marijuana or paraphernalia. 
Before transporting the marijuana, a dispensary or lab agent must complete a trip plan describing what is being 
transported and the anticipated route. While transporting marijuana, the dispensary or lab agent must carry a copy of 
the trip plan and have a means of communicating with the dispensary (if a dispensary agent) or laboratory (if a lab 
agent). After completing the trip, the dispensary or lab agent must enter the trip’s end time and any changes to the trip 
plan. 

The lab shall maintain a designated area for storing medical marijuana or marijuana products awaiting testing. The 
lab shall monitor the designated storage area(s) to ensure the temperature of the room temperature storage area is 
maintained between 20°C and 28°C, the temperature of the refrigerated storage area is maintained between 2°C and 
8°C, and the temperature of the freezer storage area is maintained at less than -20°C. The medical marijuana or 
marijuana product shall be labeled appropriately to indicate the temperature range it shall be stored in.

ADHS Inspections

ADHS has the authority to inspect the lab and conduct proficiency testing according to A.A.C. R9-17-404.02 at least 
once a year. It may also conduct an unannounced inspection if it receives an allegation of the lab’s noncompliance 
with the AMMA or the MMPR. 
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If ADHS finds that a lab is in violation of the AMMA or the MMPR, it shall provide written notice to the lab owner 
and technical lab director citing the specific rule or statute that was violated. It may also take enforcement action or 
require the technical lab director to submit a corrective action plan within 30 days after receiving written notice of the 
violation. ADHS’s decision on whether a deficiency has been corrected within a reasonable time or whether a technical 
lab director may submit a corrective action plan is not appealable.  

U.S. Attorney Statements in Arizona

Arizona Attorney General Mark Brnovich previously expressed support for the legalization of marijuana leading up 
to the SSAA. To the knowledge of management, other than this statement, there have not been any  recent statements 
or guidance made by federal authorities or prosecutors regarding the risk of enforcement action in Arizona. See “Risk 
Factors – United States Regulatory Uncertainty”.

Michigan

Michigan Regulatory Landscape

The State of Michigan has legalized medical and adult-use (recreational) cannabis, including the production, 
transportation, retail sale and personal use. In 2008, voters in Michigan approved Proposal 1, a ballot initiative entitled 
the Michigan Medical Marihuana Act (“MMMA”), which provided legal defense to patients and caregivers who 
engaged in the use and cultivation of marijuana for specific medical conditions. State licenses are not issued to either 
patients or caregivers under the MMMA. Rather, registration through an application form is all that is required. 
However, the MMMA was not intended to, and does not, create a comprehensive commercial framework for medical 
marijuana-related commerce.

In 2016, the Michigan Legislature passed the Medical Marihuana Facilities Licensing Act (“MMFLA”), which 
broadened medical marijuana legalization, and commercialized and provided for the licensing and regulation of 
medical marijuana facilities engaged in the production, transportation, testing and retail sale of medical marijuana. In 
November 2018, Michigan voters approved another ballot initiative legalizing adult-use marijuana in the Michigan 
Regulation and Taxation of Marihuana Act (“MRTMA”), which authorized adults over 21 to use marijuana for non-
medical purposes, and commercialized and regulated the production, transportation, testing and retail sale of marijuana 
for adult-use. With minor exceptions relating to adult-use cultivation licenses, neither the MMFLA nor the MRTMA 
contains numerical limits on any license types authorized under those laws. Instead, the limitations on the number of 
marijuana businesses licensed under these laws arise through the local municipal regulation of marijuana businesses 
authorized under the MMFLA and MRTMA. Municipalities (which are defined as cities, villages and townships, of 
which there are approximately 1750 in Michigan) may allow, prohibit or limit the number and types of marijuana 
businesses in their jurisdictions. Thus, while an applicant at the state level may qualify for licensure, no business 
operation may be conducted unless that applicant also satisfies the local municipal requirements. 

The commercial and licensing aspects of the MMFLA and MRTMA, as well as the registration of patients and 
caregivers under the MMMA, are administered at the state level by the Marijuana Regulatory Agency (“MRA”), an 
agency of the Michigan Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs (“LARA”). MRA has promulgated 
comprehensive regulatory rules that implement the MMFLA and MRTMA, administers the license application process 
for state licenses, and enforces compliance with statutory and regulatory requirements. 

The Company believes it can be fully compliant with applicable licensing requirements and the regulatory framework 
administered by the MRA and by each municipality in which the Company chooses to be located. 

Michigan Safety Compliance (Testing) Licenses

The MMFLA and MRTMA create various operating licenses available to qualifying applicants, including cultivation, 
processing, and retail licenses. Additionally, both medical and adult-use marijuana law creates a license type called 
“Safety Compliance”, which is a commercial entity that tests marijuana for (i) THC, THCA, CBD, and CBDA 
potency, (ii) foreign matter, which includes pests, mold, and other organic or inorganic materials; (iii) microbials; (iv) 
chemical residues, including pesticides, fungicides, insecticides; (v) heavy metals, including mercury, cadmium, lead, 
and chromium; (vi) residual solvents, (vii) water activity; and any other target analyte as identified or requested by 
the MRA. The retail sale of marijuana is specifically restricted to product that has passed testing by a Safety 
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Compliance licensee. The MRA’s Marihuana Sampling and Testing Rule set (the “Marihuana Sampling and Testing 
Rule”) refers to a Safety Compliance licensee (either medical or adult-use) as a Laboratory.  

Both MMFLA and MRTMA separate the ownership of a Laboratory licensee from any other license type and prohibit 
any person holding an interest in a medical Laboratory licensee from holding an interest in any other Michigan medical 
marijuana licensee or any person holding an interest in an adult-use Laboratory licensee from holding an interest in 
any other Michigan adult-use marijuana licensee.

Michigan Reporting Requirements

The MRA Marihuana Sampling and Testing Rule set requires that medical and adult-use cultivators, producers, and 
Laboratories (collectively, “CPL’s”) develop and implement chain of custody protocols and participate in tracking 
systems to ensure accurate documentation is recorded for the complete chain of custody of samples and all testing 
data attributed to those samples are collected and accounted for from receipt through disposal. 

In accordance with the rules, CPLs must enter testing detailed activity information in the Statewide Monitoring System 
as provided in various provisions of the Marihuana Sampling and Testing Rule set, including information of batch 
identification, date of collection and sampling, transportation, laboratory equipment, and the scope of characteristics 
subject to testing and verification.

Michigan Laboratory Licensing Requirements

The MRA issues Laboratory licenses to applicants who file an application that meets the requirements of the law, 
including local municipal authorization to conduct marijuana business in that jurisdiction and pays an application fee. 
The licenses are effective for one year and must be renewed annually. The MRA has divided the license application 
process into two separate steps.  (1) Prequalification, where the applicant must demonstrate that it meets licensing 
qualifications, and (2) Operations Plan, which sets forth the facility or establishment design, the business plan, the 
marketing plan, the security plan, and the employment plan of the applicant. The Company believes it will be eligible 
for testing Laboratory licensure in the state of Michigan within 90 to 120 days after the filing of an application with 
MRA. As a Laboratory license holder, the Company would analyze cannabinoids, terpenes, pesticides, residual 
solvents, heavy metals, microbiological contaminants, water activity, and foreign material and moisture content for 
Michigan licensed cultivators and processors in Michigan at its approved testing facility(ies).

Moreover, the Company must become fully accredited to the International Organization for Standardization (ISO), 
ISO/IEC 17025:2017 by an ILAC recognized accreditation body within one year of initial licensure. In addition to 
maintaining internal standard operating procedures and quality control and quality assurance programs that conform 
to ISO/IEC 17025:2017 standards. Analytical testing methodologies for required safety tests must also be validated 
by an independent third party and may be monitored on an ongoing basis by MRA or a third party. MRA rule R 
420.305 sets forth detailed safety tests which must be performed on marijuana by the Laboratory.

Michigan Testing Requirements

A Laboratory must collect a random and representative sample size of a Harvest Batch of marijuana from a cultivator 
that is sufficient to complete all required analyses. The sample must be at least 0.5% of the weight of the Harvest 
Batch or as otherwise required by the MRA. Additionally, a Laboratory must also develop a statistically valid sampling 
method to collect a representative sample from each batch of marijuana products. The Laboratory must have access 
to the entire batch for sampling purposes. In some cases, a producer may take delivery of harvested marijuana from a 
cultivator without testing, if authorized by MRA. However, whether tested or not, a producer which processes the 
marijuana must assign a new tag after the new product is created, which must be tested by the Laboratory before it 
can be transferred to a marijuana retailer for sale to the consumer. 

Michigan Security, Transportation, and Storage Requirements

Each Laboratory must maintain a video surveillance system with specified features and retain video surveillance 
recordings for at least 30 days, in addition to maintaining a comprehensive security plan outlining the security features 
of the facility.
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Marijuana must be tested at the Laboratory premises after the Laboratory has taken appropriate samples from the 
cultivator or processor location. Detailed transportation, security and chain of custody requirements must be followed 
by the Laboratory and the business submitting the sample for testing. These include identification of the samples in 
the Statewide Monitoring System, transportation route plans and manifests, vehicle specifications, use of secured 
storage containers and inability to access storage containers during transportation. Observation of these steps must be 
made by representatives of both the Laboratory and the business submitting the sample. Such observers must attest to 
various information, including the product name, the product weight, appropriate quarantine of tested product, and 
attestation that samples are correctly identified in the statewide monitoring system.

Michigan Inspections

Under its authority, the MRA can conduct announced and unannounced inspections of any Laboratory and its 
operations to determine compliance with Michigan law. A Laboratory licensee may not refuse MRA access to its 
business during hours of operation, and MRA may access the business without a warrant and notice during the 
Laboratory’s hours of operation. The rules provide broad authority to MRA to take any reasonable or appropriate 
action to enforce Michigan marijuana law and regulations. Under MRA rule R 420.806, a licensee found in violation 
of Michigan law or regulations is subject to sanctions which may include revocation, suspension, nonrenewal or 
administrative hold on licenses, among other enforcement measures.

U.S. Attorney Statements in Michigan

The U.S. Attorneys for the Eastern and Western Districts of Michigan made a joint statement on November 8, 20181, 
after the approval by Michigan voters of the adult-use marijuana ballot proposal. The statement indicated that their 
offices have not focused on the prosecution of marijuana users or low-level offenders unless aggravating factors were 
present. The statement then listed the eight factors from the Cole Memorandum. To the knowledge of management, 
other than this statement, there have not been any statements or guidance made by federal authorities or prosecutors 
regarding the risk of enforcement action in Michigan. See “Risk Factors – United States Regulatory Uncertainty”.

Illinois

Illinois Regulatory Landscape

The Illinois Compassionate Use of Medical Cannabis Pilot Program Act, which allows individuals diagnosed with a 
debilitating medical condition access to medical cannabis, became effective January 1, 2014, and has since been made 
permanent and retitled as the Compassionate Use of Medical Cannabis Program Act. There are over 50 qualifying 
conditions as part of the medical program, including epilepsy, traumatic brain injury, and post-traumatic stress 
disorder. In addition, on August 28, 2018, the Alternative to Opioids Act was signed into law, which allows access to 
medical cannabis for individuals who have or could receive a prescription for opioids as certified by a physician 
licensed in Illinois.

On June 25, 2019, Illinois Governor J.B. Pritzker signed into law the Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act (“CRTA”), 
thereby legalizing the recreational adult use of cannabis. Recreational cannabis sales began in much of Illinois on 
January 1, 2020, though many Illinois municipalities have limited or banned sales within their limits. The CRTA 
allowed existing medical cannabis dispensary license holders to apply for Early Approval Adult-use Dispensing 
Organization (“Early Approval”) licenses to be able to sell cannabis and cannabis-infused products to adult-use 
customers at existing medical cannabis dispensaries (known as “co-located” or “same site” dispensaries) and such co-
located dispensary operations started on January 1, 2020. The law also gives medical cannabis license holders the 
opportunity to open a secondary adult-use only retail site (known as “secondary site” dispensaries) for every medical 
cannabis dispensary license held by the entity.

1 https://www.justice.gov/usao-edmi/pr/statement-united-states-attorneys-matthew-schneider-and-andrew-birge-regarding-passage
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The CRTA also authorizes the issuance of additional recreational dispensary licenses, so-called craft-grow licenses, 
infuser licenses and cannabis transporter licenses, all of which are currently in the process of application and license 
issuance.

In addition to authorizing the cultivation and sale of medical cannabis to qualifying patients, the Compassionate Use 
of Medical Cannabis Program Act requires each batch of medical cannabis to be tested by an authorized laboratory 
prior to sale, and authorized the Illinois Department of Agriculture (“IL DoA”) to promulgate rules establishing a 
framework for certifying those laboratories. The CRTA also includes similar requirements for testing of adult-use 
cannabis, which are codified in Section 50-5(b)(1) of the CRTA and Section 1300.700 of the regulations promulgated 
by the IL DoA under the CRTA. 

The Company has not yet applied for certification as an authorized cannabis testing laboratory in Illinois.

Illinois Approved Cannabis Laboratories 

Pursuant to Section 1000.500 of the rules promulgated by the IL DoA under the Compassionate Use of Medical 
Cannabis Program Act, no laboratory may handle, test or analyze cannabis unless approved by the IL DOA, which 
makes a list of approved laboratories available on its website. There are no state-imposed limitations on the permitted 
size of testing facilities, nor is there a limit on the number of products tested.

Illinois Reporting Requirements

As mentioned above, each batch of cannabis intended for sale at a dispensary must undergo testing by a laboratory 
approved by the IL DoA, who provide the results of such tests to the applicable cultivation center or craft grower that 
manufactured the product. In addition, pursuant to Section 1300.930 of the rules promulgated by the IL DoA under 
the CRTA, each cannabis product is required to be labeled before sale, which will include the following information 
(i) the name and PO box of the cultivation center or craft grower that manufactured the product; (ii) the common or 
usual name of the cannabis product and the registered name of the cannabis product; (iii) a unique serial number that 
will match the product with a batch/lot number to facilitate warnings or recalls; (iv) the date of final testing and 
packaging, and the identification of the applicable independent laboratory; (v) the date of harvest for flower products 
and the date of manufacture for infused products, along with a “use by” date; (vi) the quantity (in ounces or grams) of 
cannabis contained in the product; (vii) a pass/fail rating based on the laboratory’s microbiological, mycotoxins, 
pesticide and solvent residue analysis; (viii) a content list including maximum and minimum percentages by weight 
for THC, THCA, CBD, CBDA and any other ingredients of the product, including colors, artificial flavors and 
preservatives; and, (ix) directions in legible Spanish to an electronic link or other medium providing the above 
information in Spanish.

In the event that any sample of cannabis does not pass the pesticide chemical residue test, the entire batch from which 
the sample was taken must be recalled and disposed of. If the sample fails any of the other required tests, the batch 
may be used to make a CO2 or solvent-based extract (which must still pass all required tests).  In the event that any 
sample does not pass the microbiological, mycotoxin, heavy metals or pesticide chemical residue test, the laboratory 
is required to file an electronic copy of those results with the IL DoA at the same time it transmits those results to the 
applicable cultivation center, and is also required to maintain those results for at least 5 years and make them available 
at the request of the IL DoA. Additionally, a cultivation center shall provide to a dispensary organization the laboratory 
test results for each batch of cannabis product purchased by the dispensary organization, and each dispensary 
organization shall have those laboratory results available upon request from purchasers of cannabis and cannabis 
products.

Illinois Approved Laboratories

In order to be approved in Illinois, a laboratory must (i) be accredited by a private laboratory accrediting organization; 
(ii) be independent from all other persons involved in the cannabis industry in Illinois, with no common direct or 
indirect ownership with any dispensary, cultivation center, certifying physician or any other entity that may benefit 
from the production, manufacture, dispensing, sale, purchase or use of cannabis; and (iii) employ at least one person 
to oversee and be responsible for the laboratory testing who has earned, from an accredited college or university, at 
least (A) a master’s level degree in chemical or biological sciences and a minimum of two years post-degree laboratory 
experience; or (B) a bachelor’s degree in biological sciences and a minimum of four years post-degree laboratory 
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experience. Each laboratory that claims to be accredited must provide the IL DoA with a copy of the most recent 
annual inspection report granting accreditation and every annual report thereafter. Specifically, laboratory applicants 
must attest its methods were validated to ISO 17025 standards by an independent organization that has a current ISO 
17025 accreditation and provide a list of all analytical methods validated with a copy of the most recent annual 
inspection report granting method validation and every annual report thereafter to the IL DoA. There is no limit on 
the number of approved testing laboratories, and approvals will be issued so long as the applicant meets the 
requirements of the law and submits a properly completed application on the form provided by the IL DoA. 

Illinois Testing Requirements

Prior to manufacturing or natural processing of cannabis or any cannabis-infused product or packaging any cannabis 
for sale to a dispensary, each batch must be made available by the cultivation center, craft grower or infuser for an 
employee of an approved laboratory to select a random sample. A representative sample shall be taken from each final 
batch of product and must pass all testing requirements before being offered for sale to the public. The limit on each 
batch of cured flower cannabis is 20 pounds, and the sample for testing must be at least 7 grams, whether for cured 
flower cannabis or cannabis-infused product. The laboratory is then required to perform an active ingredient analysis 
on the sample and test for microbiological contaminants, mycotoxins, pesticide active ingredients, residual solvents 
and heavy metals. A detailed description of the required tests and applicable standards can be found in Section 
1300.700 of the regulations promulgated by the IL DoA under the CRTA.

Illinois Security, Transportation and Storage Requirements

In Illinois, transportation of cannabis to the testing facility (along with all related security and storage requirements) 
is the responsibility of the cultivation center or craft grower, or the licensed transporting organization engaged by the 
cultivation center or craft grower to transport cannabis to an approved laboratory for testing. There are no storage or 
security requirements currently applicable to approved testing laboratories under Illinois law, but laboratories must 
promptly return all cannabis samples to the applicable cultivation center or craft grower upon completion of the 
applicable testing. Pursuant to Section 55-15 of the CRTA, any cannabis in the possession of an authorized laboratory 
that is not returned for subsequent distribution to a dispensing organization must be destroyed and disposed of, and 
the laboratory is required to retain documentation of such destruction and disposal for a period of at least 5 years. 
Moreover, the destruction of cannabis by an authorized laboratory must be weighed, recorded and entered into the 
inventory system prior to mixing and disposal, and verification of such event shall be performed by a supervisor and 
conducted in an area with video surveillance. Thereafter, disposal of the cannabis waste rendered unusable may be 
delivered to a permitted solid waste facility for final disposition.

Illinois Inspections

Approved laboratories are not explicitly subject to inspection by the IL DoA under the CRTA or the Compassionate 
Use of Medical Cannabis Program Act. However, approved laboratories are required to provide the IL DoA with a 
copy of the annual inspection report related to their ongoing accreditation.

U.S. Attorney Statements in Illinois

To the knowledge of management, there have not been any statements or guidance made by federal authorities or 
prosecutors regarding the risk of enforcement action in Illinois. See “Risk Factors – United States Regulatory 
Uncertainty”.

New Jersey

New Jersey Regulatory Landscape

New Jersey became the 14th state to legalize cannabis for medical use when the state legislature passed the New Jersey 
Compassionate Use Medical Marijuana Act in January 2010.  It was signed into law on January 18, 2010, but greatly 
curtailed when Chris Christie became governor the next day. New Jersey’s medical marijuana patient registry 
reopened on August 9, 2012, and began allowing registered physicians to initiate patient certifications with the 
Medical Marijuana Program.
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On July 2, 2019, Governor Phil Murphy signed into law the Jake Honig Compassionate Use Medical Cannabis Act 
(the “Honing Act”), which amended the original New Jersey Compassionate Use Medical Marijuana Act.  The law 
greatly expanded the medical cannabis program in New Jersey, by, in part, amongst other provisions, increased the 
qualifying conditions for which medical cannabis may be prescribed.

Due to the overwhelming approval of New Jersey voters in the November 2020 general election, the New Jersey 
Constitution has been amended, effective January 1, 2021, to legalize the possession and use of recreational cannabis 
by residents 21 and older.  Although it took several months for the legislature to reach an agreement, finally, on 
February 22, 2021, New Jersey Governor Phil Murphy signed into law a series of bills that legalize adult-use 
recreational cannabis, decriminalize cannabis possession and use and reduce or eliminate penalties for underage 
cannabis possession and use.  Included in this series of legislation was the New Jersey Cannabis Regulatory, 
Enforcement Assistance and Marketplace Modernization Act (the “NJCREAMMA”), which governs the 
development, regulation and enforcement of the personal use of products containing cannabis by individuals aged 21 
and older.

On April 12, 2021 the New Jersey Cannabis Regulatory Commission (the “CRC”) assumed all powers, duties and 
responsibilities from the New Jersey Department of Health for the further development, expansion, regulation and 
enforcement of activities associated with the medical use of cannabis. Pursuant to N.J.S.A. 24:6I-35 of 
NJCREAMMA, the CRC is empowered to “adopt rules and regulations … which shall be consistent with the intent 
of [NJCREAMMA]” to regulate the recreational cannabis marketplace.  NJCREAMMA specially requires the CRC 
to adopt initial rules and regulations within 180-days – by August 21, 2021 - and within thirty (30) days after that 
begin accepting applications.  

On August 19, 2021, the CRC released and adopted the initial adult-use regulations to establish the personal-use, or 
recreational, cannabis industry in New Jersey.  The rules, which, under statute, are effective upon filing with the Office 
of Administrative Law, and will be in effect for up to one (1) year and empowers the CRC to begin licensing cannabis 
businesses like cultivators, manufacturers, retailers, and testing facilities.  As such, there are now final regulations 
governing cannabis testing facilities, including: (i) licensing, (ii) product testing procedures, and (iii) monitoring, 
enforcement actions and appeal rights.   

The Company has not yet applied for certification as an authorized cannabis testing facility in New Jersey.

New Jersey Approved Cannabis Laboratories 

The CRC will announce a date upon which it will begin accepting applications from entities seeking to apply for a 
license to operate a testing laboratory and the criteria for such applications.  A testing laboratory license shall permit 
a laboratory to sample and test cannabis items in accordance with NJCREMMA and N.J.A.C. 17:30, as well as sample 
and test medical cannabis and medical cannabis products in accordance with the provisions of the Honing Act upon 
certification or licensing under N.J.S.A. 24:6I-18.

There is no upper limit on the number of testing laboratories that may be licensed to perform testing services, and 
there are no state-imposed limitations on the permitted size of testing facilities, nor is there a limit on the number of 
products tested.

The CRC will issue laboratory licenses to applicants who file an application that meets the requirements of the law 
and who pay an application fee.  The licenses are effective for one (1) year and must be renewed annually.  The CRC 
will announce a date upon which it will begin accepting applications from entities seeking to apply for a license to 
operate a testing laboratory and the criteria for such applications.  To apply for a testing laboratory license, an applicant 
must complete and submit an application form from the CRC’s website and submit the completed application online.

New Jersey Reporting Requirements 

The CRC requires testing laboratories to maintain documentation of the chain of custody of samples taken, including 
copies of all receipts for the collected samples and written reports provided to cannabis businesses and consumers.  
The accounting of all collected samples for control purposes must be maintained for at least five (5) years and includes: 
(i) name of the cannabis business or individual who requested the testing; (ii) date of the order and date of the testing; 
(iii) form of product and strain; (iv) weight of sample; (v) all written reports; (vi) correspondence with the cannabis 
business, qualifying patient, or primary caregiver regarding the results of the analysis; (vii) all records of destruction 
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of the sample; and (viii) the price charged to the cannabis business or individual who requested the testing for the 
testing services provided.

Moreover, the CRC requires testing laboratories to maintain inspection, calibration and maintenance records of all 
equipment.  These records include: (i) the date of the inspection, calibration, or maintenance; (ii) the person who 
performed the inspection, calibration, or maintenance; (iii) the standard operating procedure used for the inspection, 
calibration, or maintenance; (iv) any deviations from the standard operating procedure; (v) if the inspection, 
calibration, or maintenance involves a repair; and (vi) the result of the inspection, calibration, or maintenance.

New Jersey Licensing Requirements 

In applying for a testing laboratory license, an application for such licensure must include the entities’ organizational 
documents and by-laws and provide a list of names, addresses, and dates of birth of the applicant’s owners, principals, 
and employees.  Each applicant’s owners, principals, and employees must also submit to a background check and 
attest that none of them currently hold any ownership or employment with any Alternative Treatment Center (“ATC”) 
or cannabis business.  Additionally, the applicant must provide evidence of ISO/IEC 17025 certification by an 
International Laboratory Accreditation Cooperation (“ILAC”) recognized accreditation body.

When renewing a testing laboratory license, the laboratory must provide the CRC within ninety (90) days before the 
expiration of a testing laboratory license, an application for renewal with all required documentation and the required 
fees.  Required documents include updating all information submitted in a previous application for licensure to ensure 
the correctness of all information and a copy of the most recent assessment from the accreditation body for ISO/IEC 
17025 standards. 

Moreover, New Jersey requires that applicants provide an attestation signed by a labor organization stating that the 
testing laboratory applicant has entered into a labor peace agreement with such labor organization.

As  a standing obligation, a licensed testing laboratory must notify the CRC about any change to the list of 
accreditations and certifications submitted in the testing laboratory application, including but not limited to those from 
governing bodies such as the CRC, the New Jersey Department of Health, the New Jersey Department of 
Environmental Protection, the New Jersey Department of Agriculture, other similar agencies in other states, the U.S. 
Food and Drug Administration, or the U.S. Department of Agriculture.

New Jersey Testing Requirements 

A licensed testing laboratory must test each batch of usable cannabis and each lot of manufactured cannabis products.  
Additionally, before any usable cannabis or cannabis product is packaged and prepared for distribution, it must be 
sampled and tested by a licensed testing laboratory.  After the cannabis business receives a written report from a 
licensed testing laboratory confirming the representative sample meets specifications, the cannabis business may 
release the usable cannabis or cannabis products for distribution.  Sample testing may include tests for, among other 
things, cannabinoid content, the presence of pests, mold and mycotoxins, mildew, heavy metals and pesticides and to 
ensure the accuracy of labeling.  

New Jersey Security, Transportation, and Storage Requirements 

To maintain the security of the cannabis and cannabis product samples, a licensed testing laboratory must provide 
security during working hours as needed to protect testing laboratory employees and cannabis and cannabis product 
samples.  Testing laboratories must also provide training to inform all employees about the cannabis-related security 
procedures and each employee’s security roles and responsibilities. 

Concerning storage, testing laboratories must securely store cannabis and cannabis products in a manner that prohibits 
sample degradation, contamination, and tampering and create controlled access areas for storage of cannabis and 
cannabis product samples and cannabis waste.  Access to controlled access areas must be limited to testing laboratory 
personnel by locks, electronic badge readers, biometric identifiers, or other secure means.  Additionally, a testing 
laboratory standard operating procedure must revoke access privileges to controlled access areas for personnel whose 
employment is terminated by the testing laboratory.
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Concerning transportation, testing laboratory employees must securely transport any usable cannabis and cannabis 
samples in a secure lockbox within a secured cargo area and must not leave cannabis or cannabis products in an 
unattended vehicle unless the vehicle is locked and equipped with an active vehicle alarm system.  Additionally, 
transport vehicles used to transport cannabis or cannabis products cannot bear markings that would either identify or 
indicate that the vehicle is used to transport cannabis.  Moreover, testing laboratories must maintain automobile 
liability insurance of at least one million dollars per occurrence or accident.

New Jersey Inspections 

Under its authority, the CRC can conduct announced and unannounced inspections of any testing laboratory and its 
operations to determine compliance with New Jersey law.  Additionally, a licensed testing laboratory is subject to 
CRC inspection to determine the condition and calibration of any equipment used for testing purposes and ensure that 
testing is being performed according to the CRC’s accreditation requirements. 

U.S. Attorney Statements in New Jersey

To the knowledge of management, there have not been any statements or guidance made by federal authorities or 
prosecutors regarding the risk of enforcement action in New Jersey. See “Risk Factors – United States Regulatory 
Uncertainty”.

4. NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

4.1.1 Narrative Description of the Business

The Resulting Issuer is a cannabis and hemp testing company that operates testing laboratories in the United States.

The business of the Resulting Issuer will focus on the business of GSL as described below. 

Business of GSL

GSL is a leading cannabis and hemp testing laboratory that currently operates one testing lab facility in Florida (the 
“FL Facility”) which provides analytical testing services for state licensed cannabis and hemp growers, product 
formulators, processors, distributors and retailers. GSL provides industry-leading analysis and testing to the cannabis 
and hemp industry, under ISO-17025:2017 guidelines, to ensure consumers know in the composition of cannabis and 
hemp they ingest and to help maximize the quality of its client’s products through research, development and 
standardization.

In September 2019, GSL obtained ISO-17025:2017 accreditation for the FL Facility and in July 2020 received its 
CMTL license issued by the State of Florida Department of Health Office of Medical Marijuana Use. In February 
2021, GSL expanded its FL Facility from 8,604 square feet to 13,337 square feet in order to increase its testing capacity 
to accommodate future growth and entered into a lease for the proposed AZ Facility (as defined below) in Phoenix, 
Arizona. In May 2021, GSL entered into leases for the proposed NJ Facility (as defined below) in Mount Laurel, New 
Jersey and the proposed IL Facility (as defined below) in Darien, Illinois and in June 2021 entered into a lease for the 
proposed MI Facility (as defined below) in Ann Arbor, Michigan.

Business Objectives

The Resulting Issuer will continue to execute on GSL’s established business plans of enhancing its geographic 
footprint by identifying, evaluating, and selecting highly regulated, limited license markets in which to expand 
operations. The Resulting Issuer’s near-term business objectives include:

1. Opening a new testing laboratory facility in the state of Arizona (the “AZ Facility”)
2. Opening a new testing laboratory facility in the state of New Jersey (the “NJ Facility”)
3. Opening a new testing laboratory facility in the state of Michigan (the “MI Facility”)
4. Opening a new testing laboratory facility in the state of Illinois (the “IL Facility”)
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Significant Milestones

Over the course of the next 12-months, the Resulting Issuer’s business objectives will include the following 
operational milestones and are expected to require the following estimated amounts of time and cost:

Objective Milestone Estimated 
Total Cost 

(US$) 

Cost Incurred To 
Date
(US$)

Anticipated 
Completion Date

Select site and enter into lease $10,467(1) $10,467(1) Completed, Q1 
2021

Facility buildout $306,060 $306,060 Completed, Q3 
2021

Equipment purchase $2,931,223(2) $2,931,223 Completed, Q2 
2021

Equipment installation and validation $50,000 $0 Q3 2021

Obtain ISO-17025:2017 accreditation $5,000 $4,033 Q4 2021

AZ 
Facility 

Obtain applicable state licence $10,000 $0 Q4 2021

Select site and enter into lease $10,000(1) $10,000(1) Completed, Q2 
2021

Facility buildout $350,000 $347,813 Q4 2021

Equipment purchase $2,000,000(2) $0 Q4 2021

Equipment installation and validation $50,000 $0 1Q 2022

Obtain ISO-17025:2017 accreditation $5,000 $0 H1 2022

NJ Facility 

Obtain applicable state licence $10,000 $0 H1 2022

Select site and enter into lease $12,498(1) $12,498(1) Completed, Q2 
2021

Facility buildout $350,000 $11,649 Q4 2021

Equipment purchase $2,000,000(2) $0 Q4 2021

Equipment installation and validation $50,000 $0 Q4 2021

MI Facility 

Obtain ISO-17025:2017 accreditation $5,000 $0 H1 2022
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Notes:

(1) Security deposit payable upon signing lease. 
(2) Equipment will be leased and/or financed. Estimated cost reflects the total purchase price. 

In addition to the foregoing facilities, the Resulting Issuer intends to strategically evaluate opportunities to open 
testing facilities in additional states, including in Massachusetts. However, as of the date hereof, the Resulting Issuer 
has not committed to opening testing facilities in any states other than those listed above. While the Resulting Issuer 
intends to pursue these business objectives and milestone events, there may be circumstances where, for sound 
business reasons, a re-allocation of efforts may be necessary or advisable.

Available Funds and Sources of Funds

Upon completion of the Business Combination, the working capital position of the Resulting Issuer is expected to be 
approximately $8,295,200. This amount reflects the combined working capital of each of GSL and Prominex as at 
October  31, 2021 and the aggregate gross proceeds of the Concurrent Financing. The table below shows the 
breakdown of the estimated funds available: 

Source of Funds Amount

Estimated GSL working capital as at October 31, 2021(1) US$3,766,000

Estimated Prominex working capital as at October 31, 2021 Nil

Aggregate gross proceeds of the Concurrent Financing US$4,529,200

Notes: 

(1) Estimated cash on balance sheet as at October 31, 2021 from existing operations of GSL and the remaining proceeds from the April 2021 
Financing and the Bridge Financing.

Purpose of Funds 

Upon completion of the Business Combination, the Resulting Issuer expects to have approximately $8,295,200 
available for the principal purposes of pursuing its business objectives, capital expenditures and general corporate 
purposes. Notwithstanding the foregoing, there may be circumstances where, for sound business reasons, a 
reallocation of funds may be necessary for the Resulting Issuer to achieve its objectives. The Resulting Issuer (or its 

Obtain applicable state licence $10,000 $0 H1 2022

Select site and enter into lease $25,365(1) $25,365(1) Completed, Q2 
2021

Facility buildout $350,000 $90,982 Q4 2021

Equipment purchase $2,000,000(2) $0 Q4 2021

Equipment installation and validation $50,000 $0 H1 2022

Obtain ISO-17025:2017 accreditation $5,000 $0 H1 2021

IL Facility 

Obtain applicable state licence $10,000 $0 H1 2022

TOTAL $10,595,613 $3,750,090
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subsidiaries) may also require additional funds in order to fulfill its expenditure requirements to meet existing and any 
new business objectives and may either issue additional securities or incur debt to do so. There can be no assurance 
that additional funding required by the Resulting Issuer will be available if required or on terms which are acceptable 
to the Resulting Issuer. It is anticipated that the available funds will be sufficient to satisfy the Resulting Issuer’s 
objectives for the forthcoming 12-month period. The amounts shown in the table below are estimates only and are 
based on the information available to the Resulting Issuer as of the date of this Listing Statement.

Forecast 12 Month Budget 

Funds available to the Resulting Issuer from the Concurrent Financing(1) $4,529,200

Expected funds available to the Resulting Issuer (other than from the Concurrent 
Financing)(2)

$3,366,000 

Expenses related to the Concurrent Financing(3) ($184,713)

Estimated expenses associated with the Business Combination ($500,000)

Estimated costs associated with the Resulting Issuer’s business objectives(4) ($6,845,523)

General and administrative expenses(5) ($250,000)

Excess funds available to the Resulting Issuer for general working capital $113,722

Notes: 

(1) Includes all funds from the Concurrent Financing. See “Narrative Description of the Business – Available Funds and Sources of Funds”
(2) Estimated cash on balance sheet as at October 31, 2021 from existing operations of GSL and the remaining proceeds from the April 2021 

Financing and the Bridge Financing less certain performance bonuses totalling $400,000 paid by GSL to Mr. Crage and Mr. Richmond 
pursuant to their respective employment agreements.

(3) Consisting of the Advisory Fee (C$155,000) and fees and disbursements of the Advisors’ legal counsel (C$75,000). Based on an exchange 
rate of C$1.2452 = US$1.00 as at November 11, 2021.

(4) Representing the anticipated total cost to achieve the operational milestones described above, being $10,595,613, less the amount of such 
costs already incurred as at the date hereof, being $3,750,090. See “Narrative Description of the Business – Business Objectives and 
Significant Milestones”

(5) Consisting of bank service charges (US$15,000), business license and related fees (US$18,000), dues and subscriptions (US$15,000), 
equipment rental fees (US$2,000), insurance expenses (US$150,000), postage and shipping costs (US$5,000), sales tax on equipment leases 
(US$35,000) and telephone expenses (US$10,000). 

4.1.2 Principal Services

GSL provides a variety of testing services for hemp and cannabis industry participants. GSL employs a diverse array 
of tests, lab equipment and analytical instrumentation to safely and accurately test cannabis and hemp and derivative 
products to identify and/or quantify cannabinoid and terpene content and the presence of certain compounds and 
materials, including those that might endanger consumer health (such as pesticides, microbial contamination and 
heavy metals). Currently, GSL offers the following tests: 

 Cannabinoid Profile
Detecting and quantifying the presence of cannabinoids including THC, CBD, CBDA, CBN and THCA 
among others. 

 Terpenoid Profile
Detecting and quantifying over 35 of the most common and abundant terpenes by gas chromatography 
flame ionization detection.

 Microbiological Analysis
Testing for the germination of microorganisms such as bacteria and fungi using polymerase-chain reaction 
technology and methods.
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 Pesticide Analysis
To identify trace amounts of chemical pesticides, fungicide, and plant growth regulator residues in dried 
flower and concentrates. 

 Residual Solvent Analysis
Detecting the presence of solvents, impurities, and/or other added odorants and chemicals.

 Mycotoxin Analysis
Identifying and quantifying traces of mycotoxins.

 Moisture Analysis
Using the latest moisture analyzing equipment and methodologies to assess moisture content.

 Foreign Materials
Visual inspection followed by magnification.

 Heavy Metal Analysis
Heavy metals are screened by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry technology, which allows 
identification and quantification of heavy metals such as lead, mercury, arsenic, and cadmium. 

GSL’s labs use industry-leading instrumentation and equipment that has been selected by GSL to provide GSL’s 
clients with results they can rely on regarding the composition of their cannabis products and to ensure the safety of 
products that reach consumers, including, high performance liquid chromatography for cannabinoid testing; triple-
quadrupole mass spectrometry for pesticide testing; gas chromatography for solvent and terpene testing; inductively 
coupled plasma mass spectrometer to identify heavy metal; polymerase chain reaction technology for identification 
of DNA or RNA from harmful microbial contaminants; and other support instruments including moisture analyzers 
and water activity meters, plating, and microscopy. GSL’s laboratory testing equipment is calibrated using third party 
reference standards to ensure precision measurements during the testing process and has been certified by ISO-
17025:2017 standards.

4.1.3 Provision of Services

Provision of Services

GSL’s services (as described above) are currently provided at the FL Facility located in Davie, Florida. The Resulting 
Issuer has current plans to open the AZ Facility, NJ Facility, MI Facility and IL Facility (collectively, together with 
the FL Facility, the “Facilities”), and following commissioning and licensing of such testing facilities, it will provide 
its services from those locations. 

Leases 

GSL currently maintains the following leases:

Lease 1: GSL has signed a lease dated June 7, 2018, as amended January 14, 2021, for the 13,337 square foot FL 
Facility, starting on July 1, 2018 and ending on June 30, 2025, with an initial monthly rent of $8,604.00 (in respect of 
the original 8,604 square foot portion of the FL Facility) and increasing to $15,454.23 per month (in respect of the 
entire 13,337 square foot FL Facility) by the end of the lease term. GSL has the right to extend the lease for two 
additional terms of five years.  

Lease 2: GSL has signed a lease dated February 1, 2021 for the 10,530 square foot AZ Facility, starting on September 
1, 2021 and ending on September 1, 2026, with an initial monthly rent of $9,350.00 and increasing to $10,467.23 per 
month by the end of the lease term.  

Lease 3: GSL has signed a lease dated May 7, 2021 for the 9,630 square foot NJ Facility, with an initial monthly rent 
of $12,438.75 and increasing to $13,722.75 per month by the end of the lease term. The initial term of the lease is 60 
months with a right to extend the lease for one additional term of five years.  
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Lease 4: GSL has signed a lease dated June 14, 2021 for the 9,952 square foot MI Facility, with an initial monthly 
rent of $10,781.34 and increasing to $12,498.56 per month by the end of the lease term. The initial term of the lease 
is 65 months, commencing on December 1, 2021, with a right to extend the lease for one additional term of five years.  

Lease 5: GSL has signed a lease dated May 1, 2021 for the 9,669 square foot IL Facility, with an initial monthly rent 
of $8,863.25 and increasing to $11,280.50 per month by the end of the lease term. The initial term of the lease is 78 
months, commencing on September 1, 2021, with a right to extend the lease for one additional term of five years.  

Specialized Skills and Knowledge

The Resulting Issuer has assembled a capable management team and board of directors with significant experience in 
the management and growth of successful enterprises, including in the cannabis industry. Coupled with operational 
experience, the Resulting Issuer expects to be a leading provider of cannabis and hemp testing services in the 
jurisdictions in which it operates. 

GSL has a specialized team of employees, possessing a diverse range of backgrounds in science, marketing, and 
business and finance. GSL’s laboratory staff have both scientific knowledge and specialized expertise in performing 
analytical testing, and specifically testing cannabis, hemp and derivative products. The labs also require specialized 
personnel in the areas of compliance and quality assurance and all lab personnel receive CMTL training on the 
minimum sampling requirements and standard operating procedures for sampling and security. Each of GSL’s current 
lab analysts have, at a minimum, a bachelor’s degree in natural science (including without limitation biology, 
chemistry, physics, engineering or environmental sciences) and its current lab directors have, at a minimum: (i) a 
doctoral degree in chemistry, biochemistry, microbiology, or a similar laboratory science and experience working in 
a laboratory and providing laboratory testing for an accredited laboratory environment; (ii) a master’s degree in 
chemistry, biochemistry, microbiology, or a similar laboratory science and at least two years of experience working 
in a laboratory and providing laboratory testing for an accredited laboratory environment; or (iii) a bachelor’s degree 
in chemistry, biochemistry, microbiology, or a similar laboratory science and at least four years of experience working 
in a laboratory and providing laboratory testing for an accredited laboratory environment. 

Raw Materials and Components 

GSL sources all raw materials, components, instruments and equipment from its suppliers, which include conical 
tubes, pipette tips, disposable and stainless spatulas, food containers, sterile bags, gloves, glass vials, weighing dishes, 
petri dishes, enrichment broth, lab wipes, compressed air, liquid nitrogen, disinfectant, reagents, single, repeater and 
multi-channel pipettes, balances, ovens, incubators, freezers, grinders, sonicators, vortexers, bead baths, hand tools, 
water purification dispensing equipment, ultra-performance liquid chromatography, HS-headspace gas-
chromatography mass spectrometry), gas-chromatography tandem mass spectrometry, liquid-chromatography tandem 
mass spectrometry, gas-chromatography with flame ionization, inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry, heavy 
metals sample digestor, and quantitative polymerase chain reaction, all of which are readily available from multiple 
sources at competitive prices. 

Intangible Properties

The success of the Resulting Issuer will depend, in part, on its ability to maintain and enhance intellectual property 
protection over various existing and potential proprietary techniques and processes. The Resulting Issuer may be 
vulnerable to competitors who develop competing technology or processes, whether independently or as a result of 
acquiring access to the Resulting Issuer’s proprietary trade secrets. In addition, effective future patent, copyright, 
trademark and trade secret protection may be unavailable or limited and may be unenforceable under the laws of 
certain jurisdictions.

Cycles

GSL’s current business is not affected by seasonal cycles. However, a small number of its clients which have outdoor 
cultivation operations experience some seasonal cyclicality.
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Changes to Contracts

The Resulting Issuer is unaware of any aspect of its business that may be materially affected in the 12 months following 
the date of this Listing Statement by renegotiation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts.

Environmental Protection

The Resulting Issuer does not anticipate that environmental protection requirements will have a material financial or 
operational effect on the Resulting Issuer’s capital expenditures, earnings, and competitive position in the current 
financial year or in future years.

Employees 

GSL currently has 78 full-time employees, 61 of whom are currently employed at the FL Facility and 5 of whom are 
currently employed at the AZ Facility. 

Foreign Operations

The risks associated with the foreign operations of the Resulting Issuer are described under Section 17 – Risk Factors.

Material Contracts 

The Resulting Issuer’s business is not dependent on any one or more material contracts.

4.1.4 Competitive Conditions and Position

The fast-growing market for legalized cannabis in the United States has created a competitive environment companies 
who provide goods and services to the cannabis industry. The cannabis testing industry is still in its infancy and is 
expected to continue to grow along with the cannabis industry at large in the United States, which is highly fragmented, 
rapidly expanding and evolving and characterized by new and potentially disruptive or conflicting legislation 
promulgated on a state-by-state basis. 

Due to the current disparate regulatory framework in the United States, it is anticipated that cannabis testing labs will 
compete on a state-by-state level. The majority of GSL’s competitors consist of localized businesses (those doing 
business in a single state). Based on publicly available information, there are currently seven CMTL licenced testing 
labs in the state of Florida. There are a few multistate testing labs that GSL competes directly with as well. Aside from 
this direct competition, out-of-state operators that are capitalized well enough to enter markets through acquisitive 
growth are also considered part of the competitive landscape. Similarly, if GSL expands its operations into states 
outside of Florida, operators in such future state markets will inevitably become direct competitors. Furthermore, 
because the cannabis testing industry is still in its early stages, GSL may face additional competition from new 
entrants. Some of these competitors may have greater financial, technical, sales, marketing and other resources. These 
companies also compete with GSL in recruiting and retaining qualified personnel and consultants. 

GSL’s competitive position depends on its ability to attract and retain qualified scientists and other personnel, develop 
effective proprietary techniques and solutions, the personal relationships of its executive officers and directors, and 
its ability to secure adequate capital resources. GSL competes to attract and retain clients for its services. GSL 
competes in this area on the basis of price, turnaround time, regulatory compliance, client relationships, testing 
services offered, availability, excellent client service and ease of use of its services. 

4.1.5 Lending and Investment Policies and Restrictions

This section is not applicable to the Resulting Issuer. 
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4.1.6 Bankruptcy and Receivership

Neither Prominex nor GSL, nor any of their subsidiaries, have been the subject of any bankruptcy or any receivership 
or similar proceedings or any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings, within any of the three most 
recently completed financial years (as applicable) or the current financial year. 

4.1.7 Material Restructuring

See Section 3.1 – General Development of the Business – The Business Combination.

4.1.8 Fundamental Social and Environmental Policies

Neither Prominex or GSL has implemented social or environmental policies that are fundamental to the Resulting 
Issuer’s operations. 

4.2 Asset Backed Securities

This section is not applicable to the Resulting Issuer.

4.3 Companies with Mineral Projects

This section is not applicable to the Resulting Issuer.

4.4 Companies with Oil and Gas Operations

This section is not applicable to the Resulting Issuer.

5. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

5.1 Consolidated Financial Information – Annual Information

Prominex Annual Information

The following table sets forth selected financial information for Prominex for the years ended April 30, 2021 and 
April 30, 2020. Such information is derived from the financial statements of Prominex and should be read in 
conjunction with such financial statements. See Schedule “A” – Annual Financial Statements of Prominex 

As at and for the year ended 
April 30, 2021
(audited) (C$)

As at and for the year 
ended April 30, 2020
(audited) (C$)

Statement of operations

Total revenue Nil Nil

Net income (loss) from operations ($70,789) ($89,380)

Net income (loss) ($70,789) ($89,380)

Net income (loss) per share (basic and diluted) 0.01 0.01

Statement of financial position
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As at and for the year ended 
April 30, 2021
(audited) (C$)

As at and for the year 
ended April 30, 2020
(audited) (C$)

Total assets $19,694 $89,712

Total liabilities $1,001,528 $1,000,758

Cash dividends declared per share - -

GSL Annual Information

The following tables set forth selected financial information for GSL as at and for the years ended December 31, 2020 
and 2019. Such information is derived from the financial statements of GSL and should be read in conjunction with 
such financial statements. See Schedule “E” – Consolidated Financial Statements of GSL

As at and for the year ended 
December 31, 2020
(audited) (US$)

As at and for the year ended 
December 31, 2019
(audited) (US$)

Statement of operations

Total revenue $6,096,339 $3,619,712

Net income (loss) from operations ($255,159) $679,492

Net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) ($910,682) $297,746

Statement of financial position

Total assets $4,402,436 $3,277,251

Total liabilities $3,914,012 $2,659,683

Members’/shareholders’ equity $488,424 $617,568

Pro Forma Financial Information

As the Resulting Issuer was formed as a result of the Business Combination, it does not have historical financial 
statements presented on a consolidated basis. The following table provides a brief summary of pro forma financial 
information of the Resulting Issuer. Such information is derived from the proforma consolidated statement of financial 
position of the Resulting Issuer and should be read in conjunction with such statement of financial position. See 
Schedule “I” – Consolidated Proforma Financial Statements of the Resulting Issuer.

Prominex Resource 
Corp.
July 31, 2021 
(unaudited)
(US$)(1)

Green Scientific 
Labs, LLC
June 30, 2021 
(unaudited)
(US$)

Total
(US$)(2)

Statement of financial position

Total assets $12,663 $14,310,133 $18,338,194

Total liabilities $779,262 $5,484,059 $5,859,900

Members’/shareholders’ equity (deficiency) ($766,599) $8,826,074 $12,478,294
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Notes: 
(1) Based on an exchange rate of C$1.2462 = US$1.00 as at July 31, 2021.
(2) On an adjusted basis. See Schedule “I” – Consolidated Proforma Financial Statements of the Resulting Issuer.

5.2 Interim Financial Information

GSL Interim Information

Prior to the Business Combination, GSL was a private company and did not prepare quarterly financial statements.

Prominex Interim Information

The following table provides certain selected quarterly financial information for Prominex for the eight fiscal quarters 
ending at the most recently completed financial year of Prominex. Such information is derived from the financial 
statements of Prominex and should be read in conjunction with such financial statements. 

Loss from Continuing 
Operations, Per Share (C$)

Net Income (Loss), Per 
Share (C$)

Period Net Sales or 
Total 

Revenues

Total Income 
(Loss) from 
Continuing 
Operations 

(C$)
Fully-
Diluted

Non-
Diluted

Net Income 
(Loss) (C$)

Fully-
Diluted

Non-
Diluted

July 31, 
2021

Nil 26,498 $0.00 $0.00 26,498 $0.00 $0.00

April 30, 
2021

Nil ($70,789) $0.01 $0.01 ($70,789) $0.01 $0.01

January 
31, 2021

Nil ($10,108) $0.00 $0.00 ($10,108) $0.00 $0.00

October 
31, 2020

Nil ($11,311) $0.00 $0.00 ($11,311) $0.00 $0.00

July 31, 
2020

Nil ($37,315) $0.00 $0.00 ($37,315) $0.00 $0.00

April 30, 
2020

Nil ($89,380) $0.00 $0.00 ($89,380) $0.00 $0.00

January 
31, 2020

Nil ($10,534) $0.00 $0.00 ($10,534) $0.00 $0.00

October 
31, 2019

Nil ($42,935) $0.00 $0.00 ($42,935) $0.00 $0.00

5.3 Dividends

The Resulting Issuer currently intends to reinvest all future earnings to finance the development and growth of its 
business. As a result, the Resulting Issuer does not intend to pay dividends on the Subordinate Voting Shares in the 
foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of the Resulting Issuer Board 
and will depend on the financial condition, business environment, operating results, capital requirements, any 
contractual restrictions on the payment of distributions and any other factors that the Resulting Issuer Board deems 
relevant. The Resulting Issuer is not bound or limited in any way to pay dividends in the event that the Resulting 
Issuer Board determined that a dividend was in the best interest of its shareholders. See also Section 17 of this Listing 
Statement – “Risk Factors – Dividends”. 
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5.4 Foreign GAAP

The financial statements included in this Listing Statement have been, and the future financial statements of Resulting 
Issuer are expected to be, prepared in accordance with IFRS subject to compliance with applicable securities laws.

6. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Prominex’ MD&A for the year ended April 30, 2021 is attached to this Listing Statement as Schedule “C” – Annual 
MD&A of Prominex and Prominex’ MD&A for the nine months ended January 31, 2021 is attached to this Listing 
Statement as Schedule “D” – Interim MD&A of Prominex  

GSL’s MD&A for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is 
attached to this Listing Statement as Schedule “G” – Annual MD&A of GSL and GLS’s MD&A for the six months 
ended June 30, 2021 is attached to this Listing Statement as Schedule “H” – Interim MD&A of GSL.

7. MARKET FOR SECURITIES 

Prior to the closing of the Business Combination, no securities of Prominex or GSL were listed on any exchange or 
trade reporting system. 

The Resulting Issuer has applied to list the Subordinate Voting Shares on the CSE under the symbol “GSL”.

8. CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION

The following table summarizes the Resulting Issuer’s share capital as of the date hereof. The table should be read in 
conjunction with the financial statements of Prominex and GSL, including the notes thereto, included elsewhere in 
this Listing Statement.

Security After giving effect to the closing of the Business 
Combination

Subordinate Voting Shares 14,701,745

Multiple Voting Shares 64,972

Warrants 1,216,416(1)

Options 76,500

Notes: 
(1) Consisting of (a) 1,176,416 Resulting Issuer Warrants issued upon conversion of the Subscription Receipts and (b) 40,000  Advisor Warrants 

issued to the Advisors in connection with the Concurrent Financing.

9. OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES

9.1 Summary of Stock Option Plan and Long Term Incentive Plan 

On July 28, 2021, shareholders of Prominex approved the stock option plan of the Resulting Issuer (the “Option 
Plan”) and the long term inventive plan of the Resulting Issuer (the “LTIP”), the principal terms of which are 
summarized below.

Stock Option Plan

The purpose of the Option Plan is to attract, retain and motivate employees, directors, officers and consultants of the 
Resulting Issuer by granting to them options (“Options”) to purchase Subordinate Voting Shares and/or Multiple 
Voting Shares (as the context may require) (collectively, Shares”).

Pursuant to the Option Plan, employees, directors, officers or consultants of the Resulting Issuer may be granted 
Options. The aggregate number of Shares issuable upon the exercise of Options granted under the Option Plan at any 
time may not exceed 10% of the total number of issued and outstanding Shares from time to time from time to time, 
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subject to adjustment as set forth in the Option Plan, and further subject to the applicable rules and regulations of all 
regulatory authorities to which the Resulting Issuer may be subject from time to time. If, and so long as, the Resulting 
Issuer is listed on the CSE, the aggregate number of Shares issued or issuable to persons providing investor relations 
activities (as defined in CSE policies) as compensation within a one-year period, shall not exceed 1% of the total 
number of Subordinate Voting Shares then outstanding. For the purposes of the Option Plan, reference to “Shares” 
means the Subordinate Voting Shares and the Multiple Voting Shares calculated on an as-converted to Subordinate 
Voting Share basis.

The Resulting Issuer Board may terminate the Option Plan at any time in its absolute discretion. If the Option Plan is 
terminated, no further Options will be granted but the Options then outstanding, will continue in full force until the 
time that they are exercised or terminated or expired under the terms of the Option Plan.

Unless otherwise determined by the Resulting Issuer Board, or specified in the relevant option agreement, 25% of the 
Options will vest and become exercisable on the first anniversary of the grant date, and the remaining 75% will vest 
and become exercisable in equal monthly installments over the three year period commencing immediately after the 
first anniversary of the grant date. The Resulting Issuer Board may at any time accelerate the date on which any 
Options will vest and become exercisable.

The Resulting Issuer Board, on the grant date of a given Option will set the expiry date of such Option. The expiry 
date may be no later than 10 years unless otherwise determined by the Resulting Issuer Board or specified in the 
relevant Option or employment agreement. If a participant in the Option Plan ceases to be an employee, director or 
consultant, any unvested Options will immediately expire as of their termination date and any vested Options will 
expire on the earlier of: (i) the expiry date set by the Resulting Issuer Board; (ii) in the case of termination of 
employment without cause, failure of a director to be re-elected, or failure by Resulting Issuer or a subsidiary thereof 
to renew a contract for services, 90 days after the termination date; (iii) death of the participant; (iv) in the case of 
disability or retirement, 180 days after the termination date; and (v) in all other cases, the termination date.

In the event of: (i) the acquisition of a sufficient number of voting securities in the capital of Resulting Issuer such 
that the acquiror and persons acting jointly with the acquiror become entitled to more than 50% of the voting rights 
attaching to the outstanding voting securities of Resulting Issuer; (ii) the completion of a consolidation, merger, 
arrangement or amalgamation of Resulting Issuer with or into any other entity whereby the securityholders of 
Resulting Issuer immediately prior to such transaction receive less than 50% of the voting rights attaching to the 
outstanding voting rights attaching to the outstanding voting securities of the subsequent entity; (iii) the completion 
of a sale of all or substantially all of Resulting Issuer’s assets; and (iv) any other transaction which, in the reasonable 
opinion of the Resulting Issuer Board, constitutes a change of control of Resulting Issuer, the Resulting Issuer Board 
has the right, in its sole discretion, to deal with any Options in the manner it deems equitable and appropriate in the 
circumstances.

To the extent that any Options granted under the Option Plan expire or are terminated without having been exercised 
in whole or in part, such Options will then be considered to be part of the pool of Resulting Issuer Shares available 
for Options under the Option Plan.

The above is a summary description of the material terms of the Option Plan, with such description being qualified in 
its entirety by reference to the full text of the Option Plan.

Long Term Incentive Plan 

Pursuant to the terms of the LTIP, the Resulting Issuer Board or, if authorized by the Resulting Issuer Board, a 
committee of the Resulting Issuer Board may grant units (“Share Units”), which may be either restricted share units 
(“RSUs”) or deferred share units (“DSUs”). Each Unit represents the right to receive either (a) one (1) Subordinate 
Voting Share or (b) one hundred (100) Multiple Voting Shares, as the Resulting Issuer Board may determine in its 
sole discretion, in accordance with the terms of the LTIP. Participation in the LTIP is voluntary and, if an eligible 
participant agrees to participate, the grant of Share Units is evidenced by an agreement between the Resulting Issuer 
and the participant. The interest of any participant in any Share Unit may not be transferred or assigned except by 
testamentary disposition or in accordance with the laws governing the devolution of property upon death.
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The maximum number of Shares which may be reserved and set aside for issue under the LTIP (in respect of awards 
of DSUs to DSU participants and for payments in respect of awards of RSUs to RSU participants), the Option Plan 
and any other share compensation arrangements of the Resulting Issuer, shall not exceed 10% of the total number of 
issued and outstanding Shares from time to time from time to time (where such reference to “Shares” means the 
Subordinate Voting Shares and the Multiple Voting Shares calculated on an as-converted to Subordinate Voting Share 
basis), provided that the Resulting Issuer Board shall have the right, from time to time, to increase such number of 
Shares subject to the approval of shareholders and such regulatory authorities, stock exchanges or over-the-counter 
markets having jurisdiction over the affairs of the Resulting Issuer.

Restricted Share Units

An officer, director, employee or consultant of the Resulting Issuer who has been designated by the Resulting Issuer 
for participation in the LTIP and who agrees to participate in the LTIP is an eligible participant to receive RSUs under 
the LTIP (an “RSU Participant”).

The Resulting Issuer Board shall in its sole discretion have the authority to impose whatever vesting requirements it 
deems appropriate on any particular award of RSU granted under the LTIP, provided that, unless otherwise provided 
under the applicable award agreement, all RSUs granted under a particular award shall vest on or before December 
31st of the calendar year which is 3 years following the calendar year in which the service was performed in respect 
of which the particular award was made (the “Final Vesting Date”), provided further that all payments under a 
particular award of a U.S. taxpayer shall be made on or before December 31st of the year in which the scheduled RSU 
vesting date (determined without regard to Section 3.2.2 of the LTIP) occurs or, if later, by the date that is two and 
one-half (2 ½) months after such scheduled RSU vesting date. In the event that a vesting date occurs within a blackout 
period or within 5 business days thereafter, the vesting date shall be ten business days after the blackout period ends 
(the “Extension Period”). If an additional blackout period is subsequently imposed during the Extension Period, then 
the Extension Period will commence following the end of such additional blackout period. Despite the foregoing, and 
unless otherwise provided under the applicable award agreement, a vesting date will not be extended beyond the Final 
Vesting Date.

On each vesting date, unless the decision has already been made in the award agreement, on the RSU vesting date, the 
Resulting Issuer shall decide, in its sole discretion, whether to make all payments in respect of vested RSUs to the 
RSU Participant in cash, Shares issued from treasury or a combination thereof based on the fair market value of the 
Shares as at such date. For the purposes of the LTIP, the fair market value of the Shares is (a) with respect to a 
Subordinate Voting Share on any date, the weighted average trading price of the Subordinate Voting Shares on the 
CSE (or, if the Shares are not then listed and posted for trading on the CSE, on such stock exchange in Canada or the 
United States on which such Shares are listed and posted for trading as may be selected for such purpose by the 
Resulting Issuer Board) for the five days on which Shares were traded immediately preceding that date or (b) with 
respect to a Multiple Voting Share on any date, the weighted average trading price of the Subordinate Voting Shares 
on the CSE (or, if the Shares are not then listed and posted for trading on the CSE, on such stock exchange in Canada 
or the United States on which such Shares are listed and posted for trading as may be selected for such purpose by the 
Resulting Issuer Board) for the five days on which Shares were traded immediately preceding that date multiplied by 
100 (or such other exchange ratio as is in effect from time to time). 

If an RSU Participant ceases to be an eligible participant under the LTIP due to termination with cause or voluntary 
termination by the RSU Participant, all unvested RSUs previously credited to the participant’s account are terminated 
and forfeited as of the termination date. If an RSU Participant ceases to be an eligible participant under the LTIP due 
to termination without cause, death, total or permanent long-term disability or retirement, any unvested RSUs 
previously credited to the participant’s account will continue to vest in accordance with their terms or, at the discretion 
of the Resulting Issuer Board, be terminated and forfeited as of the termination date, subject to the provisions of any 
RSU Participant’s employment contract. In the event the Resulting Issuer pays a dividend on the Shares subsequent 
to the granting of an RSU award, the number of RSUs relating to such award shall be increased to reflect the amount 
of the dividend.

Deferred Share Units

An officer, director, employee or consultant of the Resulting Issuer for participation in the LTIP and who agrees to 
participate in the LTIP is an eligible participant to receive DSUs under the LTIP (a “DSU Participant”).
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All DSUs awarded to a DSU Participant vest on the date on which the DSU Participant ceases to be employed by the 
Resulting Issuer or any of its subsidiaries and, if applicable, ceases to be a director of the Resulting Issuer (the “DSU 
Termination Date”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, any payments under a particular award of a U.S. taxpayer shall 
be made as soon as practicable following a DSU Termination Date in accordance with the LTIP, but in no case later 
than December 31st of the year in which such DSU Termination Date occurs or, if later, by the date that is two and 
one-half (2 ½) months after such DSU Termination Date.

On the DSU Termination Date, payment in respect of a DSU Participant’s DSUs becomes payable and the Resulting 
Issuer shall decide, in its sole discretion, whether to make the payment in cash, Shares issued from treasury or a 
combination thereof based on the fair market value of the Shares as at the DSU Termination Date.

In the event the Resulting Issuer pays a dividend on the Shares subsequent to the granting of a DSU award, the number 
of DSUs relating to such award shall be increased to reflect the amount of the dividend.

Amendments

The Resulting Issuer retains the right without the approval of shareholders: 

(a) to amend the LTIP or any RSUs or DSUs to:

(i) make amendments of a grammatical, typographical, clerical and administrative nature and any 
amendments required by a regulatory authority or to comply or conform with applicable laws;

(ii) change vesting provisions of the LTIP or any RSUs or DSUs;

(iii) make any other amendments of a non-material nature;

(iv) make amendments to the definition of “DSU Participant” and/or “RSU Participant” or the eligibility 
requirements of participating in the LTIP, where such amendment would not have the potential of 
broadening or increasing insider participation;

(v) make amendments to the manner in which eligible participants may elect to participate in the LTIP; 

(vi) make any amendments to the provisions concerning the effect of the termination of a participant’s 
employment or services on such participant’s status under the LTIP; or

(vii) make any amendment which is intended to facilitate the administration of the LTIP; or

(b) to suspend, terminate or discontinue the terms and conditions of the LTIP and the RSUs and DSUs granted 
under the LTIP by resolution of the Resulting Issuer Board, provided that:

(i) no such amendment to the LTIP shall cause the LTIP in respect of RSUs to cease to be a plan 
described in paragraph (k) of the definition of “salary deferral arrangement” in subsection 248(1) of 
the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the “Tax Act”) or any successor to such provision;

(ii) no such amendment to the LTIP shall cause the LTIP in respect of DSUs to cease to be a plan 
described in regulation 6801(d) of the Tax Act or any successor to such provision; and

(iii) any amendment shall be subject to the prior consent of any applicable regulatory bodies, including 
the CSE, as may be required.

Any amendment to the LTIP which changes the vesting provisions of the LTIP or any RSUs or DSUs, or any 
suspension, termination or discontinuance of the terms and conditions of the LTIP and the RSUs and DSUs granted 
under the LTIP, shall take effect only with respect to awards granted after the effective date of such amendment, 
provided that it may apply to any outstanding award with the mutual consent of the Resulting Issuer and the 
participants to whom such awards have been granted.

Any amendment to the LTIP other than as described above shall require the approval of shareholders given by the 
affirmative vote of a simple majority of the Shares (or, where required, “disinterested” shareholder approval) 
represented at a meeting of shareholders at which a motion to approve the LTIP or an amendment to the LTIP is 
presented. Specific amendments requiring shareholder approval include:

(a) to increase the number of Shares reserved under the LTIP;
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(b) to change the definition of RSU Participants or DSU Participants or the eligibility requirements of 
participating in the LTIP, where such amendment would have the potential of broadening or increasing 
insider participation;

(c) the extension of any right of a participant who is an insider under the LTIP beyond the date on which such 
right would originally have expired;

(d) to permit RSUs or DSUs to be transferred other than by testamentary disposition or in accordance with the 
laws governing the devolution of property in the event of death;

(e) to permit awards other than RSUs and DSUs under the LTIP; and

(f) to amend the amendment provisions of the LTIP so as to increase the ability of the Resulting Issuer Board 
to amend the LTIP without shareholder approval.

The above is a summary description of the material terms of the LTIP, with such description being qualified in its 
entirety by reference to the full text of the LTIP.

9.2 Outstanding Options to Purchase Securities 

As at November 15, 2021, there were 76,500 Options issued and outstanding as follows: 

Category Type of Securities 
Reserved under 

Option

Number of Securities 
Reserved under Option

Exercise Price 
per Security

Expiry Date(s)

All present and past 
executive officers and 
directors of the Resulting 
Issuer

Subordinate Voting 
Shares

35,200 $3.75 October 31, 2023

All present and past 
executive officers and 
directors of the Resulting 
Issuer’s subsidiaries

N/A Nil N/A N/A

All other employees and 
past employees of the 
Resulting Issuer

N/A Nil N/A N/A

All other employees and 
past employees of the 
Resulting Issuer’s 
subsidiaries

N/A Nil N/A N/A

All consultants of the 
Resulting Issuer

Subordinate Voting 
Shares

41,300 $3.75 October 31, 2023

Any other person or 
company, including 
underwriters

N/A Nil N/A N/A
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As at November 15, 2021, there were 1,216,416  Warrants issued and outstanding as follows: 

Category Type of Securities 
Reserved under 

Option

Number of Securities 
Reserved under Option

Exercise Price 
per Security 

(US$)

Expiry Date(s)

All present and past 
executive officers and 
directors of the Resulting 
Issuer

N/A Nil N/A N/A

All present and past 
executive officers and 
directors of the Resulting 
Issuer’s subsidiaries

N/A Nil N/A N/A

All other employees and 
past employees of the 
Resulting Issuer

N/A Nil N/A N/A

All other employees and 
past employees of the 
Resulting Issuer’s 
subsidiaries

N/A Nil N/A N/A

All consultants of the 
Resulting Issuer

N/A Nil N/A N/A

1,176,416(1) $4.50 November 12, 2024Any other person or 
company, including 
underwriters

Subordinate Voting 
Shares

40,000(2) $3.85 November 12, 2024

Notes: 
(1) Resulting Issuer Warrants issued to former holders of Unit Warrants in connection with the Business Combination. 
(2) Advisor Warrants issued to the Advisors in connection with the Concurrent Financing.

10. DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES

10.1 Description of the Resulting Issuer’s Securities

The Resulting Issuer is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Subordinate Voting Shares and an unlimited 
number of Multiple Voting Shares. There were 14,701,745 Subordinate Voting Shares and 64,972 Multiple Voting 
Shares issued and outstanding immediately following the completion of the Business Combination.

The following is a summary of the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to the Subordinate Voting 
Shares and the Multiple Voting Shares.

Subordinate Voting Shares

Holders of Subordinate Voting Shares will be entitled to notice of and to attend and vote at any meeting of the 
shareholders of the Resulting Issuer, except a meeting of which only holders of another class or series of shares of the 
Resulting Issuer will have the right to vote. At each such meeting, holders of Subordinate Voting Shares will be 
entitled to one vote in respect of each Subordinate Voting Share held.

As long as any Subordinate Voting Shares remain outstanding, the Resulting Issuer will not, without the consent of 
the holders of the Subordinate Voting Shares by separate special resolution, alter or amend the articles of the Resulting 
Issuer if the result of such alteration or amendment would (i) prejudice or interfere with any right or special right 
attached to the Subordinate Voting Shares or (ii) affect the rights or special rights of the holders of Subordinate Voting 
Shares or Multiple Voting Shares or on a per share basis.

Holders of Subordinate Voting Shares will be entitled to receive as and when declared by the Resulting Issuer Board, 
dividends in cash or property of the Resulting Issuer. No dividend will be declared on the Subordinate Voting Shares 
unless the Resulting Issuer simultaneously declares an equivalent dividend on the Multiple Voting Shares in an amount 
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per Multiple Voting Share equal to the amount of the dividend declared per Subordinate Voting Share, multiplied by 
100.

The Resulting Issuer Board may declare a stock dividend payable in Subordinate Voting Shares on the Subordinate 
Voting Shares, but only if the Resulting Issuer Board simultaneously declares a stock dividend payable in: (i) Multiple 
Voting Shares on the Multiple Voting Shares, in a number of shares per Multiple Voting Share equal to the number 
of Subordinate Voting Shares declared as a dividend per Subordinate Voting Share; or (ii) Subordinate Voting Shares 
on the Multiple Voting Shares, in a number of shares per Multiple Voting Share (or a fraction thereof) equal to the 
number of Subordinate Voting Shares declared as a dividend per Subordinate Voting Share, multiplied by 100.

The Resulting Issuer Board may declare a stock dividend payable in Multiple Voting Shares on the Subordinate Voting 
Shares, but only if the directors simultaneously declare a stock dividend payable in Multiple Voting Shares on the 
Multiple Voting Shares, in a number of shares per Multiple Voting Share equal to the number of Multiple Voting 
Shares declared as a dividend per Subordinate Voting Share, multiplied by 100.

Holders of fractional Subordinate Voting Shares will be entitled to receive any dividend declared on the Subordinate 
Voting Shares in an amount equal to the dividend per Subordinate Voting Share multiplied by the fraction thereof 
held by such holder.

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Resulting Issuer, whether voluntary or involuntary, or 
in the event of any other distribution of assets of the Resulting Issuer among its shareholders for the purpose of winding 
up its affairs, the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares will, subject to the prior rights of the holders of any shares of 
the Resulting Issuer ranking in priority to the Subordinate Voting Shares, be entitled to participate rateably along with 
all the holders of Multiple Voting Shares, with the amount of such distribution per Subordinate Voting Share equal to 
the amount of such distribution per Multiple Voting Share divided by 100. Each fraction of a Subordinate Voting 
Share will be entitled to the amount calculated by multiplying such fraction by the amount payable per whole 
Subordinate Voting Share.

No subdivision or consolidation of the Subordinate Voting Shares will occur unless, simultaneously, the Multiple 
Voting Shares are subdivided or consolidated using the same divisor or multiplier.

If an offer is made to purchase Multiple Voting Shares, and such offer is required pursuant to applicable securities 
legislation or the rules of any stock exchange on which the Multiple Voting Shares or the Subordinate Voting Shares 
which may be obtained upon conversion of the Multiple Voting Shares may then be listed, to be made to all or 
substantially all of the holders of Multiple Voting Shares in a province or territory of Canada to which the requirement 
applies (such offer to purchase, an “Offer”) and not made to the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares for 
consideration per Subordinate Voting Share equal to or greater than 1/100th (0.01) of the consideration offered per 
Multiple Voting Share, then each Subordinate Voting Share will become convertible at the option of the holder into 
Multiple Voting Shares on the basis of one hundred (100) Subordinate Voting Shares for one (1) Multiple Voting 
Share, at any time while the Offer is in effect until one day after the time prescribed by applicable securities legislation 
or stock exchange rules for the offeror to take up and pay for such shares as are to be acquired pursuant to the Offer 
(the “Subordinate Voting Share Conversion Right”).

The Subordinate Voting Share Conversion Right may only be exercised for the purpose of depositing the Multiple 
Voting Shares acquired upon conversion under such Offer, and for no other reason. If the Subordinate Voting Share 
Conversion Right is exercised, the Resulting Issuer will procure, and shall be deemed to have been irrevocably 
authorized by the holder so exercising the Subordinate Voting Share Conversion Right to procure, that the transfer 
agent for the Subordinate Voting Shares will deposit under such Offer the Multiple Voting Shares acquired upon 
conversion, on behalf of the holder.

If Multiple Voting Shares issued upon such conversion and deposited under such Offer are withdrawn by such holder, 
or such Offer is abandoned, withdrawn or terminated by the offeror, or such Offer expires without the offeror taking 
up and paying for such Multiple Voting Shares, such Multiple Voting Shares and any fractions thereof issued will 
automatically, without further action on the part of the holder thereof, be reconverted into Subordinate Voting Shares 
on the basis of one hundred (100) Subordinate Voting Shares for each one (1) Multiple Voting Share, and the Resulting 
Issuer will procure that the transfer agent for the Subordinate Voting Shares will send to such holder a direct 
registration statement(s) or certificate(s) representing the Subordinate Voting Shares acquired upon such reconversion. 
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If the offeror under such Offer takes up and pays for the Multiple Voting Shares acquired upon exercise of the 
Subordinate Voting Share Conversion Right, the Resulting Issuer will procure that the transfer agent for the 
Subordinate Voting Shares will deliver to the holders of such Multiple Voting Shares the consideration paid for such 
Multiple Voting Shares by such Offeror.

Subject to approval by the Resulting Issuer Board, each Subordinate Voting Share may be converted at the option of 
the holder into such number of Multiple Voting Shares as is determined by dividing the number of Subordinate Voting 
Shares being converted by one hundred (100).

Multiple Voting Shares

Holders of Multiple Voting Shares will be entitled to notice of and to attend and vote at any meeting of the shareholders 
of the Resulting Issuer, except a meeting of which only holders of another class or series of shares of the Resulting 
Issuer will have the right to vote. Subject to the terms set out in the articles of the Resulting Issuer, at each such 
meeting, holders of Multiple Voting Shares will be entitled to 100 votes in respect of each Multiple Voting Share, and 
each fraction of a Multiple Voting Share shall entitle the holder to the number of votes calculated by multiplying the 
fraction by 100 and rounding the product down to the nearest whole number, at each such meeting.

As long as any Multiple Voting Shares remain outstanding, the Resulting Issuer will not, without the consent of the 
holders of the Multiple Voting Shares expressed by separate special resolution, alter or amend the articles of the 
Resulting Issuer if the result of such alteration or amendment would (i) prejudice or interfere with any right or special 
right attached to the Multiple Voting Shares or (ii) affect the rights or special rights of the holders of Subordinate 
Voting Shares or Multiple Voting Shares on a per share basis. At any meeting of holders of Multiple Voting Shares 
called to consider such a separate special resolution, each whole Multiple Voting Share will entitle the holder to one 
vote.

Holders of Multiple Voting Shares will be entitled to receive, as and when declared by the Resulting Issuer Board, 
dividends in cash or property of the Resulting Issuer. No dividend will be declared on the Multiple Voting Shares 
unless the Resulting Issuer simultaneously declares equivalent dividends on the Subordinate Voting Shares, in an 
amount equal to the amount of the dividend declared per Multiple Voting Share divided by 100.

The Resulting Issuer Board may declare a stock dividend payable in Multiple Voting Shares on the Multiple Voting 
Shares, but only if the directors simultaneously declare a stock dividend payable in (i) Multiple Voting Shares on the 
Subordinate Voting Shares, in a number of shares per Subordinate Voting Share equal to the number of Multiple 
Voting Shares declared as a dividend per Multiple Voting Share, divided by 100, or (ii) Subordinate Voting Shares on 
the Subordinate Voting Shares, in a number of shares per Subordinate Voting Share equal to the number of Multiple 
Voting Shares declared as a dividend per Multiple Voting Share. The Resulting Issuer Board may declare a stock 
dividend payable in Subordinate Voting Shares on the Multiple Voting Shares, but only if the directors simultaneously 
declare a stock dividend payable in Subordinate Voting Shares on the Subordinate Voting Shares, in a number of 
shares per Subordinate Voting Share equal to the number of Subordinate Voting Shares declared as a dividend per 
Multiple Voting Share, divided by 100.

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Resulting Issuer, whether voluntary or involuntary, or 
in the event of any other distribution of assets of the Resulting Issuer among its shareholders for the purpose of winding 
up its affairs, the holders of Multiple Voting Shares will be entitled to participate rateably along with the holders of 
Subordinate Voting Shares, with the amount of such distribution per Multiple Voting Share equal to the amount of 
such distribution per Subordinate Voting Share multiplied by 100; and each fraction of a Multiple Voting Share will 
be entitled to the amount calculated by multiplying the fraction by the amount payable per whole Multiple Voting 
Share.

No subdivision or consolidation of the Multiple Voting Shares may occur unless, simultaneously, the Subordinate 
Voting Shares are subdivided or consolidated using the same divisor or multiplier.

Each Multiple Voting Share shall be convertible, at the option of the holder thereof, into such number of Subordinate 
Voting Shares as is determined by multiplying the number of Multiple Voting Shares in respect of which the share 
conversion right is exercised by 100. The ability of a holder to convert the Multiple Voting Shares during the period 
(the “Restricted Conversion Period”) prior to September 1, 2022 is subject to a restriction that, unless the Resulting 
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Issuer Board determines otherwise, the aggregate number of Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares 
held of record, directly or indirectly, by residents of the United States (as determined in accordance with Rules 3b-4 
and 12g3-2(a) under the U.S. Exchange Act), may not exceed 40% of the aggregate number of Subordinate Voting 
Shares and Multiple Voting Shares and outstanding after giving effect to such conversions, determined in accordance 
with the articles of the Resulting Issuer. 

In addition, in accordance with and subject to the terms of the articles of the Resulting Issuer, the Resulting Issuer 
may require a holder of Multiple Voting Shares to convert all, but not less than all, of the Multiple Voting Shares held 
by such holder into Subordinate Voting Shares if (i) the Resulting Issuer is subject to the reporting requirements of 
Section 13 or 15(d) of the U.S. Exchange Act, and (ii) the Subordinate Voting Shares are listed or quoted (and are not 
suspended from trading) on a recognized North American stock exchange. Each Multiple Voting Share shall be 
convertible into such number of fully paid and non-assessable Subordinate Voting Shares as is determined by 
multiplying the number of Multiple Voting Shares in respect of which the share conversion right is exercised by 100.

10.2 Debt Securities

This section is not applicable to the Resulting Issuer

10.3 Other Securities

This section is not applicable to the Resulting Issuer.

10.4 Modification of Terms

See Section 10.1 – “Description of the Resulting Issuer’s Securities”.

10.5 Other Attributes

See Section 10.1 – “Description of the Resulting Issuer’s Securities”.

10.6 Prior Sales 

Immediately prior to the Business Combination, there were 21,189,770 GSL Units issued and outstanding. 

Immediately prior to the Business Combination, there were 512,000 Prominex Shares issued and outstanding. 

In the 12 months preceding the date of this Listing Statement, Prominex has issued the following securities (excluding 
securities issued upon closing of the Business Combination):

Date Issued Type of Security Number of Securities Issue Price per 
Security (C$)

Aggregate Issue Price 
(C$)

October 29, 2021 Common Shares 148,209(1) $1.6868(3) $250,000

October 29, 2021 Common Shares 296,419(2) $1.6868(3) $500,000

November 15, 2021 Common Shares 12,000(4) $3.75 $45,000

Notes: 
(1) Issued pursuant to the Prominex Recapitalization. Calculated on a post-Consolidation basis. 
(2) Issued upon settlement of debt pursuant to the Prominex Recapitalization. Calculated on a post-Consolidation basis. 
(3) Calculated on a post-Consolidation basis. 
(4) Issued upon the exercise of options. 

In the 12 months preceding the date of this Listing Statement, GSL has issued the following securities (excluding 
securities issued upon closing of the Business Combination): 

Date Issued/Sold Type of Security Number of Securities Issue/Sale Price per 
Security (US$)

Aggregate Issue/Sale 
Price (US$)

March 15, 2021 GSL Units 481,555(1) $1.00 $481,555
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March 15, 2021 GSL Units 18,445(2) $1.00 $18,445

March 2021 GSL Units 1,000,000(3) $1.00 - $1.15 $1,075,000

April 6, 2021 GSL Units 6,440,000(4) $1.00 $6,440,000

May 3, 2021 GSL Units 1,340,283(5) $1.343 $1,800,000

November 2021 GSL Units 40,000(3) $3.85 $154,000

November 12, 2021 Subscription 
Receipts

1,176,416(6) $3.85 $4,529,200

November 15, 2021 GSL Units 973,072(7) $3.85 $3,746,327

November 15, 2021 GSL Units 260,000(8) N/A N/A

Notes: 
(1) Issued by GSL upon conversion of the 2019 Note. For a description of the 2019 Note, please see “General Development of the Business – 

Financing Activities”.
(2) Issued by GSL upon conversion of the 2020 Note. For a description of the 2019 Note, please see “General Development of the Business – 

Financing Activities”.
(3) Private sale of outstanding GSL Units by Related Persons (as defined in CSE Policy 1) to certain third-parties.
(4) Issued by GSL pursuant to the April 2021 Financing. For a description of the Concurrent Financing, please see “General Development of the 

Business – Financing Activities”. 
(5) Issued by GSL pursuant to the Bridge Financing. For a description of the Concurrent Financing, please see “General Development of the 

Business – Financing Activities”. 
(6) Issued by GSL pursuant to the Concurrent Financing. For a description of the Concurrent Financing, please see “General Development of 

the Business – Financing Activities”. 
(7) Issued to certain consultants as payment for finder’s fees and certain advisory services provided in connection with the Business Combination 

and certain market making and strategic advisory services to be provided to the Resulting Issuer following completion of the Business 
Combination.

(8) Issued to Paul Crage and Michael Richmond as performance bonuses pursuant to the terms of their respective employment agreements. 

10.7 Stock Exchange Price

The Prominex Shares are not publicly listed for trading on any stock exchange or market. 

11. ESCROWED SECURITIES

11.1 Escrow Arrangements 

The table below sets out the number of Resulting Issuer Shares held by principals and certain other shareholders of 
the Resulting Issuer that are expected to be placed in escrow (collectively, the “Escrowed Shares”): 

Designation Of Class Held In Escrow Number Of Securities
Held In Escrow

Percentage
of Class

Multiple Voting Shares 23,861 36.72%

Subordinate Voting Shares 2,273,126 15.47%

The Resulting Issuer is classified as an emerging issuer pursuant to NP 46-201, and as such the securities listed above 
will be released from escrow in stages over a 36 month period from the Closing Date, with 10% having been initially 
released and an additional 15% of such escrowed shares to be released on the 6, 12, 18, 24, 30 and 36 month 
anniversaries of the Closing Date. The escrow agent of the Escrowed Shares is Capital Transfer Agency ULC, at its 
offices located at 390 Bay Street, Suite 920, Toronto, Ontario M5H 2Y2. 

11.2 Lock-up Arrangements 

Pursuant to the GSL Lock-Up Agreement, the Resulting Issuer Shares issued to certain GSL Members (collectively, 
the “Locked-Up Holders”) in connection with the Business Combination (the “Locked-Up Shares”) are subject to 
restrictions on transfer (which includes the pledging, grant of an option to purchase or entering into a swap or other 
arrangement to transfer the economic consequences of the Locked-Up Shares) in accordance with the following release 
schedule and subject to limited exceptions: (a) 10% of the Locked-Up Shares shall be released immediately on the 
Closing Date; (b) an additional 10% of the Locked-Up Shares shall be released 90 days following the Closing Date; 
(c) an additional 10% of the Locked-Up Shares shall be released 180 days following the Closing Date; (d) an additional 
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20% of the Locked-Up Shares shall be released 270 days following the Closing Date; and (e) the remaining 50% of 
the Locked-Up Shares shall be released 12 months following the Closing Date. Collectively, the Locked-Up Holders 
beneficially own an aggregate of 14,637,257 Resulting Issuer Shares (calculated on an as-converted Subordinate 
Voting Share basis, assuming all Multiple Voting Shares have been converted into Subordinate Voting Shares).

12. PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

12.1 Principal Shareholders

To the knowledge of the directors and officers of each of Prominex and GSL, the following Persons beneficially own, 
directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over voting securities carrying more than 10% of the voting 
rights attached to any class of voting securities of the Resulting Issuer:

Name, Jurisdiction of 
Residence Ownership Number and Percentage of 

Subordinate Voting Shares

Number and Percentage of 
Multiple Voting Shares 
and Subordinate Voting 

(on an as-converted basis)

Green Scientific Labs 
Management Group, LLC(1) 

(2)

Davie, Florida

Registered 2,089,141 (14.22%) 4,282,341 (20.21%)

Notes: 
(1) Formed on April 24, 2018 under the laws of the State of Delaware.
(2) The principal shareholders of Green Scientific Labs Management Group, LLC are: (i) Paul Crage, 31.01% (owned indirectly through Crage 

Group, LLC, an entity of which Mr. Crage is the sole member); (ii) Michael Richmond, 39.60% (owned indirectly through LHQC Group 
Inc., an entity of which Mr. Richmond is the sole shareholder); (iii) Anthony Galgano, 14.69% (owned indirectly through AMG Business 
Consulting, Inc., an entity of which Mr. Galgano is the sole shareholder); and (iv) Autumn Galgano, 14.69% (owned indirectly through 
AGLG Holdings, Inc., an entity of which Ms. Galgano is the sole shareholder). 

12.2 Voting Trusts

To the knowledge of the Resulting Issuer, no voting trust exists within the Resulting Issuer such that more than 10% 
of any class of voting securities of the Resulting Issuer are held, or are to be held, subject to any voting trust or other 
similar agreement. 

12.3 Associates and Affiliates

To the knowledge of the Resulting Issuer none of the principal shareholders is an Associate or Affiliate of any other 
principal shareholder. 

13. DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

13.1 Directors and Officers

The following table sets forth the names of the directors and officers of the Resulting Issuer, their municipalities of 
residence, their positions with the Resulting Issuer, their principal occupations during the past five years, the number 
and percentage of Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, 
or over which control or direction is exercised immediately following completion of the Business Combination, and, 
if such person was an existing director or officer of GSL prior to the Business Combination, the date on which such 
person became a director or officer, as applicable. The Resulting Issuer’s directors were elected as such at the 
Prominex Meeting and are expected to hold office until its next annual general meeting of shareholders unless they 
resign prior thereto or are removed by the shareholders of the Resulting Issuer. The Resulting Issuer’s directors will 
be elected annually and, unless re-elected, will retire from office at the end of the next annual general meeting of 
shareholders.
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Name, 
Municipality of 
Residence and 
Position Held

Principal 
Occupation for 

Past Five 
Years

GSL 
Director or 

Officer 
Since

Number and 
Percentage of 
Subordinate 

Voting Shares 
Beneficially 
Owned or 
Controlled

Number and 
Percentage of 

Multiple Voting 
Shares Beneficially 

Owned or 
Controlled 

Number and 
Percentage of 

Resulting Issuer 
Shares Beneficially 

Owned or Controlled 
(on an as-converted 

basis)

Paul Crage, CEO 
and Director(2)

Boca Raton, 
Florida

Chief Executive 
Officer and 
Director at GSL 
(2018 – 
Present); Owner 
of Crage Group 
(2015 –Present)

September, 
2018

697,037(3) 
(4.75%)

7,608(3)

(11.71%)
1,457,837(3)

(6.88%)

Richard Gray,  
CFO
Metairie, 
Louisiana

CFO at Journey 
Group (2017 – 
2020); VP of 
mergers & 
acquisitions at 
Legacy Capital 
(2012– 2017) 

August, 
2021

Nil Nil Nil

Michael 
Richmond, 
Chairman and 
Director
Boca Raton, 
Florida

Chairman at 
GSL (2018 – 
Present); Chief 
Sales Officer at 
DigDev Direct 
(2008 – 
Present)

February, 
2021

872,553(4) 
(5.94%)

9,531(4)

(14.67%)
1,825,653(4)

(8.62%)

Ed Murray, 
Director(1) (2)

Lighthouse Point, 
Florida

Chief 
Technology 
Officer at 
Ceterus, Inc. 
(2016 – 
Present)

N/A Nil Nil Nil

Alex Spiro, 
Director(1) (2)

New York, New 
York

Partner at 
Quinn Emanuel 
Urquhart & 
Sullivan, LLP 
(2017 – 
Present); 
Brafman & 
Associates PC 
(2013-2017)

N/A 57,147
(0.39%)

599
(0.92%)

117,047
(0.55%)

Olivier Centner, 
Director(1) (2)

Toronto, Ontario

Chief Executive 
Officer at 
Unoapp (2008 – 
Present)

N/A Nil Nil Nil

Notes:
(1) Member of the audit committee. 
(2) Member of the compensation committee.
(3) Controlled beneficially through (i) Crage Group, LLC, an entity of which Mr. Crage is the sole member and (ii) Green Scientific Labs 

Management Group, LLC, an entity in which Mr. Crage, through Crage Group, LLC, owns a 31.01% interest.
(4) Controlled beneficially through (i) LHQC Group Inc., an entity of which Mr. Richmond is the sole shareholder and (ii) Green Scientific Labs 

Management Group, LLC, an entity in which Mr. Richmond, through LHQC Group Inc., owns a 39.60% interest.

Upon completion of the Business Combination, all promoters, directors, officers and Insiders, as a group, beneficially 
own or control, directly or indirectly, the following Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares of the 
Resulting Issuer: 1,626,737 (11.07%) and 17,738 (27.30%).
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Board Committees

The Resulting Issuer has an Audit Committee and a Compensation Committee. A brief description of each committee 
is set out below. The Resulting Issuer Board intends to establish such committees of the Resulting Issuer Board as 
determined to be appropriate in addition to the Audit Committee and Compensation Committee.

Audit Committee

The audit committee assists the Resulting Issuer Board in fulfilling its responsibilities for oversight of financial and 
accounting matters. The audit committee reviews the financial reports and other financial information provided by the 
Resulting Issuer to regulatory authorities and its shareholder and reviews the Resulting Issuer’s system of internal 
controls regarding finance and accounting including auditing, accounting and financial reporting processes.

The Resulting Issuer Board will adopt a written charter setting forth the responsibilities, powers and operations of the 
Audit Committee consistent with National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees (“NI 52-110”). The principal duties 
and responsibilities of the Audit Committee will be to assist the Resulting Issuer Board in discharging the oversight 
of:

• the integrity of the Resulting Issuer’s consolidated financial statements and accounting and financial 
processes and the audits of our consolidated financial statements;

• the Resulting Issuer’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

• the Resulting Issuer’s external auditors’ qualifications and independence;

• the work and performance of the Resulting Issuer’s financial management and its external auditors; and

• the Resulting Issuer’s system of disclosure controls and procedures and system of internal controls 
regarding finance, accounting, legal compliance, and risk management established by management and 
the Resulting Issuer Board.

The Audit Committee will have access to all books, records, facilities, and personnel and may request any information 
about the Resulting Issuer as it may deem appropriate. It will also have the authority to retain and compensate special 
legal, accounting, financial and other consultants, or advisors to advise the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee 
is also expected to review and approve all related-party transactions and prepare reports for the Resulting Issuer Board 
on such related-party transactions as well as be responsible for the pre-approval of all non-audit services to be provided 
by our auditors.

The Resulting Issuer is a “venture issuer” as defined in NI 52-110 and relies upon the exemption in section 6.1 of NI 
52-110 in respect of the composition of its Audit Committee and in respect of its reporting obligations under NI 52-
110.

The Resulting Issuer has an Audit Committee consisting of the following members: Ed Murray, Alex Spiro and Olivier 
Centner. Indicated below is whether they are “independent” and “financially literate” within the meaning of NI 52-
110. 

Name of Member Independent(1) Financially Literate(2)

Ed Murray No Yes

Alex Spiro Yes Yes

Olivier Centner Yes Yes
Notes:
(1) A member of the audit committee is independent if he or she has no direct or indirect ‘material relationship’ with the Resulting Issuer. A 

material relationship is a relationship which could, in the view of the Resulting Issuer Board, reasonably interfere with the exercise of a 
member’s independent judgment. An executive officer of the Resulting Issuer, such as the President or Secretary, is deemed to have a material 
relationship with the Resulting Issuer.

(2) A member of the audit committee is financially literate if he or she has the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that 
present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of 
the issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Resulting Issuer’s financial statements.
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Compensation Committee

The compensation committee assists the Resulting Issuer Board in fulfilling its responsibilities for compensation 
philosophy and guidelines, and fixing compensation levels for the Resulting Issuer’s executive officers. In addition, 
the compensation committee is charged with reviewing the employee stock option plan and proposing changes thereto, 
approving any awards of options under the employee stock option plan and recommending any other employee benefit 
plans, incentive awards and perquisites with respect to the Resulting Issuer’s executive officers. The Compensation 
Committee is also responsible for reviewing, approving and reporting to the Resulting Issuer Board annually (or more 
frequently as required) on the Resulting Issuer’s succession plans for its executive officers.

The members of the Compensation Committee include the following four directors: Paul Crage, Ed Murray, Alex 
Spiro and Olivier Centner.

13.2 Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies; Penalties or Sanctions; Personal Bankruptcies

No director or officer of the Resulting Issuer or a shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of the Resulting 
Issuer to affect materially the control of the Resulting Issuer is, or within 10 years before the date of this Listing 
Statement has been, a director or officer of any other company that, while the person was acting in that capacity:

(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied the other company access 
to any exemptions under securities law, for a period of more than 30 consecutive days;

(b) was the subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer ceased to be a director 
or executive officer, in the company being the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order 
that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, for a period 
of more than 30 consecutive days;

(c) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was 
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or

(d) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, because bankrupt, made a proposal under 
any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed 
to hold its assets.

No director or officer of the Resulting Issuer, or a shareholder holding sufficient securities of the Resulting Issuer to 
affect materially the control of the Resulting Issuer, has been subject to: (i) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a 
court relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement 
with a securities regulatory authority; or (ii) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body 
that would likely be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment decision. 

13.3 Conflicts of Interest

Conflicts of interest may arise as a result of the directors, officers and promoters of the Resulting Issuer also holding 
positions as directors or officers of other companies. Some of the individuals that are directors and officers of the 
Resulting Issuer have been and will continue to be engaged in the identification and evaluation of assets, businesses 
and companies on their own behalf and on behalf of other companies, and situations may arise where the directors and 
officers of the Resulting Issuer will be in direct competition with the Resulting Issuer. Conflicts, if any, will be subject 
to the procedures and remedies provided under BCBCA. 

13.4 Management

Brief descriptions of the biographies for all of the officers and directors of the Resulting Issuer are set out below. Each 
of the officers will work full time for the Resulting Issuer. The independent and non-independent directors will have 
no other role with the Resulting Issuer other than sitting on the board and acting as committee members. Such 
independent directors are expected to devote sufficient time to the Resulting Issuer’s business in order to carry out 
their duties as directors of the Resulting Issuer; however, being a director of the Resulting Issuer will not be the 



- 54 -

primary occupation of any of the independent directors. Each of the officers are employees of the Resulting Issuer and 
each officer has entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with the Resulting Issuer.

Paul Crage, Chief Executive Officer and Director (Age, 55) 

Mr. Crage is an innovative entrepreneur with extensive experience with start-ups. With a finance and accounting 
background, Mr. Crage began his career as a financial analyst with Tylan General (1989-1992) and went on to launch 
the first prepaid dental network as VP of Finance of Advantage Health Plans (1992-1994). He eventually left to start 
several start-up companies. As CEO and Co-founder of Rapid Roll-Off & Recycling (1997-2010), Mr. Crage built the 
business from the ground up. After the sale of Rapid Roll-Off, Mr. Crage co-founded a luxury property management 
company for estate homes, Andover Service (2010-2018). Mr. Crage co-founded GSL in 2018, after recognizing the 
need for safety compliance testing during the early stages of the cannabis industry. As CEO of GSL, Mr. Crage has 
overseen its early development with a focus on identifying new clients and expansion opportunities, maximizing lab 
efficiencies and hiring qualified senior level science and compliance personnel. Mr. Crage holds a bachelor’s degree 
in Finance from University of Florida (1988).  

Richard Gray, Chief Financial Officer (Age, 41)

Mr. Gray brings over 15 years of finance and accounting experience to his role as CFO of GSL. Mr. Gray began his 
career as an engineer for Procter & Gamble (2002-2005), moving into finance as an analyst for a publicly traded 
mortgage REIT (2005-2007).  He traded fixed income derivatives for a European investment bank in New York (2007-
2010) and, after business school, served as vice president of mergers & acquisitions at a boutique investment bank 
(2013-2017). His most recent position was as CFO of a private equity backed platform focused on the business-to-
business and business-to-consumer segments of the death care industry (2017-2020).  Mr. Gray holds a bachelor’s 
degree in Chemical Engineering from Tulane University (2002), and a dual MBA/MGM from the Freeman School at 
Tulane University (2012).  He is a veteran of the United States Navy and holds a Chartered Financial Analyst 
designation from the CFA Institute (2013).

Michael Richmond, Chairman and Director (Age, 40)

Mr. Richmond has been involved in the digital interactive marketing industry since early 2000. He served as vice 
president of sales at Relation Serve Media (2003-2006) where his responsibilities included overseeing various national 
accounts. In 2006, Relation Serve Media was acquired by Come&Stay, Inc, and Mr. Richmond became General 
Manager for its U.S. operations (2006-2008), where he was directly responsible for its administrative and business 
development programs. Mr. Richmond left Come&Stay, Inc. to launch Datasys, formerly known as Media Direct 
(2008-2021). He has extensive experience working with global companies and brands including Nissan, AT&T, Ford, 
Chevy, and Tylenol. Mr. Richmond co-founded GSL in 2018, after recognizing the disruption in supply chain and 
potential consumer safety risks in the cannabis industry associated a shortage of quality third party testing laboratories. 
Since founding GSL, Mr. Richmond has focused on designing GSL’s laboratory information management system and 
developing in-depth knowledge of the technology, data security and compliance side of the cannabis industry. Mr. 
Richmond holds a bachelor’s degree in Government from Hamilton College (2003). 

Ed Murray, Director (Age, 65)

Mr. Murray is a product development executive with extensive experience scaling start-up companies. He has been a 
member of the leadership teams of a series of successful high growth companies. He served in executive leadership 
roles at Ping Identity (2014-2016), Dynatrace/Gomez Inc./Compuware Corp. (2007-2013) and Witness Systems 
(2003-2007). Since 2016, Mr. Murray has served as Chief Technology Officer at Ceterus, Inc., a fin-tech start-up 
revolutionizing accounting automation. Mr. Murray combines a strong focus on operating metrics with a keen sense 
of vision and product market fit. Mr. Murray holds a bachelor’s degree in Science, Chemistry from Bridgewater State 
University (1978) and a masters degree in Science, Biochemistry from Boston University (1980). 

Alex Spiro, Director (Age, 38)

Mr. Spiro is a former prosecutor and a well-known litigator who has represented an array of disrupting companies 
across the globe. A graduate of Harvard Law School, where he continues to teach, Mr. Spiro serves as a strategic 
advisor and board member to both public and private companies and helps growth-stage ventures with a variety of 
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legal and operational matters. Mr. Spiro has served as a board member of Glassbridge Enterprises, Imedia Brands, 
and Arrive, a private equity venture with Glassbridge Enterprises in partnership with Primary Venture Partners and 
Roc Nation. Mr. Spiro is a partner at Quinn Emanuel Urquhart & Sullivan, LLP where he serves as Co-Chair of the 
Investigations, Government Enforcement & White-Collar Defense practice. Prior to becoming a lawyer, Mr. Spiro 
studied biopsychology and worked at Harvard’s psychiatric facility, McLean Hospital.

Olivier Centner, Director (Age, 47)

Mr. Centner has over 25 years experience building businesses with a value first approach to driving unit economics 
and enterprise value. Mr. Centner is the founder and CEO of UNOapp (2008-present) , a leader in digital first solutions 
for retail-tech and consumer engagement, working with over 2,000 retailers and Fortune 500 brands such as Coca-
Cola, Monster Energy, Corby, and Diageo. In addition to leading UNOapp, Mr. Centner is a director of SOL Global 
Investments Corp., which manages a portfolio of securities of public and private companies in the cannabis and hemp 
industry. Mr. Centner holds a degree from the Institut National Supérieur Affaires et Management in Paris, France 
(1995).

14. CAPITALIZATION

14.1 Issued Capital

To the best knowledge of the Resulting Issuer, the following table sets out the number of the shares in all classes 
available in the Resulting Issuer’s Public Float and Freely-Tradeable Float on a diluted and non-diluted basis:

Number of 
Securities (non-
diluted)(1)

Number of 
Securities (fully-
diluted)(2)

% of Issued 
(non-diluted)(1)

% of Issued (fully 
diluted)(2)

Public Float

Total outstanding (A) 14,701,745 21,198,945 100% 100%

Held by Related Persons or employees of the 
Resulting Issuer or Related Person of the Resulting 
Issuer, or by persons or companies who 
beneficially own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% voting position in the 
Resulting Issuer (or who would beneficially own 
or control, directly or indirectly, more than a 5% 
voting position in the Resulting Issuer upon 
exercise or conversion of other securities held) 
(B)

6,222,738 8,608,838 42.33% 40.61%

Total Public Float (A-B) 8,479,007 12,590,107 57.67% 59.39%

Freely-Tradeable Float

Notes:
(1) Subordinate Voting Shares only.

Number of outstanding securities subject to 
resale restrictions, including restrictions imposed 
by pooling or other arrangements or in a 
shareholder agreement and securities held by 
control block holders (C)

11,519,355(3) 17,366,835(3) 78.35% 81.92%

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 3,182,390 3,832,110 21.65% 18.08%
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(2) Resulting Issuer Shares calculated on an as-converted Subordinate Voting Share basis, assuming all Multiple Voting Shares are converted to 
Subordinate Voting Shares.

(3) Representing the aggregate number of Escrowed Shares and Locked-Up Shares (being 12,799,283 Subordinate Voting Shares on a non-
diluted basis and 19,296,483 Subordinate Voting Shares on an as-converted Subordinate Voting Share basis, assuming all Multiple Voting 
Shares are converted to Subordinate Voting Shares) less 10% of the Escrowed Shares and Locked-Up Shares (as applicable) that were initially 
released on the Closing Date (being 1,279,928 Subordinate Voting Shares on a non-diluted basis and 1,929,648 Subordinate Voting Shares 
on an as-converted Subordinate Voting Share basis, assuming all Multiple Voting Shares are converted to Subordinate Voting Shares). See 
“Escrowed Securities - Escrow Arrangements” and “Escrowed Securities - Lock-Up Arrangements” for further details. 

Public Securityholders (Registered)

Size of Holding Number of holders Total number of securities(1)

1 - 99 securities 63 911
100 – 499 securities 79 8,558
500 – 999 securities 3 2,495
1,000 – 1,999 securities 0 0
2,000 – 2,999 securities 0 0
3,000 – 3,999 securities 1 3,200
4,000 – 4,999 securities 2 9,286
5,000 or more securities 86 8,442,557
Total 234 8,467,007
Notes:
(1) Subordinate Voting Shares only.

Public Securityholders (Beneficial)

Size of Holding Number of holders Total number of securities

1 - 99 securities 367 10,384
100 – 499 securities 24 3,739
500 – 999 securities 3 2,216
1,000 – 1,999 securities 0 0
2,000 – 2,999 securities 0 0
3,000 – 3,999 securities 0 0
4,000 – 4,999 securities 0 0
5,000 or more securities 7 164,794

Unable to determine 0 0
Total 401 181,133
Notes:
(1) Subordinate Voting Shares only.

Non-Public Securityholders (Registered)

Size of Holding Number of holders Total number of securities(1)

1 - 99 securities 0 0
100 – 499 securities 0 0
500 – 999 securities 0 0
1,000 – 1,999 securities 0 0
2,000 – 2,999 securities 0 0
3,000 – 3,999 securities 0 0
4,000 – 4,999 securities 0 0
5,000 or more securities 8 6,222,738
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Size of Holding Number of holders Total number of securities(1)

Total 8 6,222,738
Notes:
(1) Subordinate Voting Shares only.

14.2 Convertible/Exchangeable Securities

The Resulting Issuer has the following convertible securities outstanding that are convertible into Subordinate Voting 
Shares (see also Section 8 of this Listing Statement – “Consolidated Capitalization”): 

Description of Security (including 
conversion / exercise terms, including 

conversion / exercise price)

Number of convertible / 
exchangeable securities outstanding

Number of listed securities issuable 
upon conversion / exercise

Multiple Voting Shares 64,972 6,497,200

Options 76,500 76,500

Warrants 1,216,416(1) 1,256,416 (2)

Notes:
(1) Consisting of (a) 1,176,416 Resulting Issuer Warrants issued upon conversion of the Subscription Receipts and (b) 40,000  Advisor Warrants 

issued to the Advisors in connection with the Concurrent Financing.
(2) Assumes all Resulting Issuer Warrants underlying the Advisor Warrants are exercised for Subordinate Voting Shares. 

14.3 Other Listed Securities

The Resulting Issuer does not have any other listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included in Section 
14.2 of this Listing Statement – “Convertible/Exchangeable Securities”.

15. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table sets forth the anticipated compensation to be paid or awarded to the directors and the following 
executive officers of the Resulting Issuer: (i) the Chief Executive Officer; (ii) the Chief Financial Officer; (iii) the 
three most highly compensated executive officers of the Resulting Issuer (or a subsidiary), or the three most highly 
compensated individuals acting in a similar capacity, other than the CEO and CFO, at the end of the most recently 
completed financial year, whose total compensation was more than C$150,000 for that financial year:

Table of Compensation Excluding Compensation Securities(1)

Name & 
position Year

Salary, 
Consulting Fee, 

Retainer or 
Commission 

(US$)
Bonus(2)

(US$)

Committee 
or meeting 
fees (US$)

Value of 
Perquisites 

(US$)

Value of all 
other 

compensation 
(US$)

Total 
compensation 

(US$)

Paul Crage, CEO 
and Director

2021 $300,000.00 Up to 
$180,000(3)

Nil Nil Nil $480,000.00(4)

Richard Gray, 
CFO

2021 $200,000.00 Up to 
$100,000(3)

Nil Nil Nil $300,000.00(4)

Michael 
Richmond, 

2021 $200,000.00 Up to 
$120,000(3)

Nil Nil Nil $320,000.00(4)
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Table of Compensation Excluding Compensation Securities(1)

Name & 
position Year

Salary, 
Consulting Fee, 

Retainer or 
Commission 

(US$)
Bonus(2)

(US$)

Committee 
or meeting 
fees (US$)

Value of 
Perquisites 

(US$)

Value of all 
other 

compensation 
(US$)

Total 
compensation 

(US$)
Chairman and 
Director

Derek Averill, 
Chief 
Technology 
Officer of GSL

2021 $150,000.00 Up to 
$30,000(3)

Nil Nil Nil $180,000.00(4)

Rafael 
Bombonato, 
Chief 
Compliance 
Officer of GSL

2021 $125,000.00 Up to 
$25,000(3)

Nil Nil Nil $150,000.00(4)

Ed Murray, 
Director

2021 Nil - Nil Nil Nil Nil

Alex Spiro, 
Director

2021 Nil - Nil Nil Nil Nil

Olivier Centner, 
Director

2021 Nil - Nil Nil Nil Nil

Notes:
(1) This represents expected compensation, subject to the review and approval of the Compensation Committee.
(2) Bonuses, if any, are expected to be paid in the future based on performance goals as determined by the Resulting Issuer Board and/or the 

Compensation Committee.
(3) This represents the maximum discretionary bonus provided for under the individual’s employment agreement, which is payable based on 

performance goals as determined by the Resulting Issuer Board and/or the Compensation Committee.
(4) Assuming payment of the maximum discretionary bonus provided for under the individual’s employment agreement. 

Compensation Securities

Compensation Securities(1)

Name & 
Position

Type of 
compensation 

security

Number of 
compensation 

securities, 
number of 
underlying 

securities, and 
percentage of 

class

Date of 
issue or 
grant

Issue, 
conversion or 
exercise price

(US$)

Closing price 
of security or 
underlying 
security on 

date of grant
(US$)

Closing price 
of security or 
underlying 
security at 
year end

(US$)

Expiry 
Date
(US$)

Paul Crage, CEO 
and Director

N/A Nil N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
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Compensation Securities(1)

Name & 
Position

Type of 
compensation 

security

Number of 
compensation 

securities, 
number of 
underlying 

securities, and 
percentage of 

class

Date of 
issue or 
grant

Issue, 
conversion or 
exercise price

(US$)

Closing price 
of security or 
underlying 
security on 

date of grant
(US$)

Closing price 
of security or 
underlying 
security at 
year end

(US$)

Expiry 
Date
(US$)

Richard Gray, 
CFO

N/A Nil N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Michael 
Richmond, 
Chairman and 
Director

N/A Nil N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Derek Averill, 
Chief 
Technology 
Officer of GSL

N/A Nil N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Rafael 
Bombonato, 
Chief 
Compliance 
Officer of GSL

N/A Nil N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Ed Murray, 
Director

N/A Nil N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Alex Spiro, 
Director

N/A Nil N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Olivier Centner, 
Director

N/A Nil N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Notes:
(1) The issuance of compensation securities to named executive officers and directors will be determined in the future based on performance 

goals as determined by the Resulting Issuer Board and/or the Compensation Committee.

Exercise of Compensation Securities

Exercise of Compensation Securities by Directors and NEOs

Name & position

Type of 
compensation 

security

Number of 
underlying 
securities 
exercised

Exercise 
price per 
security
(US$)

Date of 
exercise
(US$)

Closing price 
per security 
on date of 
exercise 
(US$)

Difference between 
exercise price and 
closing price on 
date of exercise 

(US$)

Total 
value on 
exercise 

date
(US$)

Paul Crage, CEO 
and Director

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Richard Gray, 
CFO

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
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Exercise of Compensation Securities by Directors and NEOs

Name & position

Type of 
compensation 

security

Number of 
underlying 
securities 
exercised

Exercise 
price per 
security
(US$)

Date of 
exercise
(US$)

Closing price 
per security 
on date of 
exercise 
(US$)

Difference between 
exercise price and 
closing price on 
date of exercise 

(US$)

Total 
value on 
exercise 

date
(US$)

Michael 
Richmond, 
Chairman and 
Director

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Derek Averill, 
Chief Technology 
Officer of GSL

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Rafael 
Bombonato, Chief 
Compliance 
Officer of GSL

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Ed Murray, 
Director

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Alex Spiro, 
Director

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Olivier Centner, 
Director

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Stock Option Plans and Other Incentive Plans

See Section 9 of this Listing Statement – “Options to Purchase Securities – Summary of Stock Option Plan and Long 
Term Incentive Plan”.

Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements

Under Paul Crage’s employment agreement, dated February 12, 2021, Mr. Crage is entitled to a bonus equal to his 
base salary upon the occurrence of a change of control in the Company, and a bonus of US$35,000 for each new 
cannabis analytical testing and/or compliance testing laboratory facility opened during the term of such employment 
agreement. In the event that Mr. Crage is terminated without cause or terminates his employment agreement with good 
reason, Mr. Crage shall be entitled to receive severance equal to one (1) year’s base salary at the salary then in effect 
at the time of such termination.

Under Michael Richmond’s employment agreement, dated February 12, 2021, Mr. Richmond is entitled to a bonus 
equal to his base salary upon the occurrence of a change of control in the Company. In the event that Mr. Richmond 
is terminated without cause or terminates his employment agreement with good reason, Mr. Richmond shall be entitled 
to receive severance equal to one (1) year’s base salary at the salary then in effect at the time of such termination. 

Other than the foregoing agreements, the Resulting Issuer does not have any contracts, agreements, plans or 
arrangements that provide for payments to a Named Executive Officer (“NEO”) at, following or in connection with 
any termination (whether voluntary, involuntary or constructive), resignation, retirement, a change in control of the 
Resulting Issuer or a change in an NEO’s responsibilities.

The Resulting Issuer’s compensation practices are designed to retain, motivate and reward its NEO’s for their 
performance and contribution to the Resulting Issuer’s long-term success. The Resulting Issuer Board intends to seek 
to compensate the Resulting Issuer’s NEOs by combining short and long-term cash and equity incentives. These 
practices are intended to reward the achievement of corporate and individual performance objectives, and to align 
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NEO’s incentives with shareholder value creation. The Resulting Issuer Board intends to seek to tie individual goals 
to the area of the NEO’s primary responsibility. These goals may include the achievement of specific financial or 
business development goals. The Resulting Issuer Board also intends to seek to set company performance goals that 
reach across all business areas and include achievements in finance/business development and corporate development.

The Compensation Committee will review and recommend the executive compensation arrangements for the Chief 
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chairman, Chief Scientific Officer, Chief Technology Officer and Chief 
Compliance Office and other officers of the Resulting Issuer. 

Benchmarking

The executive team is expected to establish an appropriate comparator group for purposes of setting the future 
compensation of the NEOs.

Elements of Compensation

The compensation of the NEOs is expected to be comprised of the following major elements: (i) base salary; (ii) an 
annual, discretionary cash bonus; and (iii) Options or Share Units granted under the Equity Incentive Plans and any 
other equity plan that may be approved by the Resulting Issuer Board from time to time. These principal elements of 
compensation are described below. 

Base Salary 

Base salaries are intended to provide an appropriate level of fixed compensation that will assist in employee retention 
and recruitment. Base salaries will be determined on an individual basis, taking into consideration the past, current 
and potential contribution to the Resulting Issuer’s success, the NEO’s experience and expertise, the position and 
responsibilities of the NEO, and competitive industry pay practices for other high growth, premium brand companies 
of similar size and revenue growth potential. 

Annual Cash Bonus 

Annual bonuses may be awarded based on qualitative and quantitative performance standards, and will reward 
performance of the NEO individually. The determination of an NEO’s performance may vary from year to year 
depending on economic conditions and conditions in the cannabis industry, and may be based on measures such as 
stock price performance, the meeting of financial targets against budget (such as adjusted funds from operations), the 
meeting of acquisition objectives and balance sheet performance.

Equity-Based Compensation

In connection with the Business Combination, Prominex’ shareholders approved the Equity Incentive Plans at the 
Prominex Meeting. The Resulting Issuer Board may also decide to grant Options or Share Units pursuant to the Equity 
Incentive Plans in the future. For further details in respect of the Equity Incentive Plans, please see “Options to 
Purchase Securities — Summary of Stock Option Plan and Long Term Incentive Plan ”.

Pension Plan Benefits

The Resulting Issuer does not intend to implement any deferred compensation plan, pension plan or other forms of 
funded or unfunded retirement compensation for its employees that provides for payments or benefits at, following or 
in connection with retirement. 

Compensation of Directors

It is anticipated that directors of the Resulting Issuer will not receive any compensation, except for Options or Share 
Units granted in accordance with the terms of the Equity Incentive Plans, as applicable, and the CSE Policies.
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It is also anticipated that the directors will be reimbursed for any out-of-pocket travel expenses incurred in order to 
attend meetings of the Resulting Issuer Board, committees of the Resulting Issuer Board or meetings of the 
shareholders of the Resulting Issuer. 

It is anticipated that the Resulting Issuer will obtain customary insurance for the benefit of its directors and enter into 
indemnification agreements with its directors pursuant to which the Resulting Issuer will agree to indemnify its 
directors to the extent permitted by applicable law.

16. INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

None of the directors or officers of the Resulting Issuer, nor any of their Associates, are indebted to the Resulting 
Issuer, and neither will any indebtedness of any of these individuals or Associates to another entity be the subject of 
a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding provided by the 
Resulting Issuer.

17. RISK FACTORS

RISK FACTORS

An investment in the Resulting Issuer Shares involves risks, certain of which are described in the risk factors set forth 
below. The occurrence of any one or more of these risks or uncertainties could have a material adverse effect on the 
Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations and on the trading price of the Subordinate 
Voting Shares, which could materially decline, and investors may lose all or part of their investment. It is also believed 
that these factors could cause actual results to be different from expected and historical results. Additional risks and 
uncertainties not presently known to the Resulting Issuer or that the Resulting Issuer currently deems immaterial may 
also impair the Resulting Issuer’s business operations. Sometimes new risks emerge and management of the Resulting 
Issuer may not be able to predict all of them, or be able to predict how they may cause actual results to be different 
from those contained in any forward-looking statements. You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as a 
prediction of future results. The Resulting Issuer cannot assure you that it will successfully address any or all of these 
risks. There is no assurance that any risk management steps taken will avoid future loss due to the occurrence of any 
of the risks described in this Listing Statement, or other unforeseen risks. The market in which the Resulting Issuer 
currently operates is competitive and changes rapidly and, as such, the Resulting Issuer will face numerous challenges 
in the development of its business. Due to the nature of the Resulting Issuer and its business and present stage of the 
business, readers should carefully consider all such risks, including those set out in the discussion below.

Risks Specifically Related to the United States Regulatory System

The United States federal government has not legalized cannabis.

The federal government of the United States regulates drugs through the CSA, which places controlled substances on 
one of five schedules. Currently, cannabis is classified as a Schedule I controlled substance. This means it has a high 
potential for abuse and currently has no accepted medical use in treatment in the United States. Schedule I substances 
are subject to production quotas imposed by the United States Drug Enforcement Administration. Thus, the federal 
government of the United States has specifically reserved the right to enforce federal law in regards to the sale and 
disbursement of medical or adult-use cannabis even if such sale and disbursement is sanctioned by state law.

Currently, 36 U.S. states, the District of Columbia and the U.S. territories of Guam and Puerto Rico, allow the use of 
medical cannabis. Additionally, the states of Alaska, Arizona, California, Colorado, Illinois Maine, Massachusetts, 
Michigan, Montana, Nevada, New Jersey, New York, Oregon, Vermont, Virginia, Washington, and the District of 
Columbia have legalized cannabis for adult recreational use. However, since cannabis is a Schedule I controlled 
substance, the development of a legal cannabis industry under the laws of these states is in conflict with the CSA. In 
light of this conflict between state and federal law, the United States Department of Justice (the “DOJ”) Deputy 
Attorney General of the Obama Administration, James Cole, issued a memorandum (the “Cole Memorandum”), 
dated August 29, 2013, providing updated guidance to federal prosecutors concerning cannabis enforcement under 
the CSA. The Cole Memorandum provided, in part, that when states have implemented strong and effective regulatory 
and enforcement systems to control the cultivation, distribution, sale, and possession of cannabis, conduct in 
compliance with those laws and regulations is less likely to threaten the federal priorities. Indeed, a robust system may 
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affirmatively address those priorities by, for example, implementing effective measures to prevent diversion of 
cannabis outside of the regulated system and to other states, prohibiting access to cannabis by minors, and replacing 
an illicit cannabis trade that funds criminal enterprises with a tightly regulated market in which revenues are tracked 
and accounted for. In those circumstances, consistent with the traditional allocation of federal-state efforts in this area, 
the Cole Memorandum provided that enforcement of state law by state and local law enforcement and regulatory 
bodies should remain the primary means of addressing cannabis-related activity. In contrast, if the state enforcement 
efforts are not sufficient to protect against the harms set forth above, the federal government may seek to challenge 
the regulatory structure itself in addition to continuing to bring individual enforcement actions, including criminal 
prosecutions, focused on those harms.

In 2014, the United States House of Representatives passed an amendment (commonly known as the Rohrabacher-
Blumenauer Amendment, the Rohrabacher-Leahy Amendment or the “Rohrabacher-Farr Amendment”) to the 
Commerce, Justice, Science, and Related Agencies Appropriations Bill, which funds the DOJ. The Rohrabacher-Farr 
Amendment prohibits the DOJ from using funds to prevent states with medical cannabis laws from implementing such 
laws. In August 2016, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit ruled in United States v. McIntosh that the 
Rohrabacher-Farr Amendment bars the DOJ from spending funds on the prosecution of conduct that is allowed by 
state medical cannabis laws, provided that such conduct is in strict compliance with applicable state law. In March 
2015, bipartisan legislation titled the Compassionate Access, Research Expansion, and Respect States Act (the 
“CARERS Act”) was introduced, proposing to allow states to regulate the medical use of cannabis by changing 
applicable federal law, including by reclassifying cannabis under the CSA to a Schedule II controlled substance and 
thereby changing the plant from a federally-criminalized substance to one that has recognized medical uses. More 
recently, the Respect State Marijuana Laws Act of 2017 has been introduced in the U.S. House of Representatives, 
which proposes to exclude persons who produce, possess, distribute, dispense, administer or deliver cannabis in 
compliance with state laws from the regulatory controls and administrative, civil and criminal penalties of the CSA.

Although these developments have been met with a certain amount of optimism in the cannabis industry, neither the 
CARERS Act nor the Respect State Marijuana Laws Act of 2017 have yet been adopted, and the Rohrabacher-Farr 
Amendment must be renewed annually. Furthermore, the ruling in United States v. McIntosh is only applicable in the 
Ninth Circuit, which includes the states of Alaska, Arizona, California, Hawaii, Idaho, Montana, Nevada, Oregon and 
Washington. GSL has, and the Resulting Issuer plans to have, operations in states outside of the Ninth Circuit.

In early 2017, President Donald J. Trump nominated Alabama Republican Jeff Sessions as the United States Attorney 
General. In addition to the election of President Trump, the Republican party retained control of United States 
Congress. On January 4, 2018, then Attorney General Sessions issued a written memorandum (the “Sessions 
Memorandum”) to all U.S. Attorneys stating that the Cole Memorandum was rescinded, effectively immediately. In 
particular, Attorney General Sessions stated that “prosecutors should follow the well-established principles that govern 
all federal prosecutions,” which require “federal prosecutors deciding which cases to prosecute to weigh all relevant 
considerations, including federal law enforcement priorities set by the Attorney General, the seriousness of the crime, 
the deterrent effect of criminal prosecution, and the cumulative impact of particular crimes on the community.” 
Attorney General Sessions went on to state in the Sessions Memorandum that given the Justice Department’s well-
established general principles, “previous nationwide guidance specific to marijuana is unnecessary and is rescinded, 
effective immediately.” Attorney General Sessions reiterated that the cultivation, distribution and possession of 
cannabis continues to be a crime under the CSA.

On November 7, 2018, Mr. Sessions tendered his resignation as Attorney General at the request of President Donald 
Trump. Following Mr. Sessions’ resignation, William Barr was confirmed as the new Attorney General. Mr. Barr 
stated during his confirmation hearings in a response to a question from Senator Cory Booker, “I’m not going to go 
after companies that have relied on Cole Memorandum.” Mr. Barr also reconfirmed this response in writing as part of 
the formal confirmation proceedings.

On or about December 14, 2020, Mr. Barr announced a planned resignation from the Trump administration, effective 
the following week. On December 24, 2020, Deputy Attorney General Mr. Jeffrey Rosen became Acting Attorney 
General. On January 7, 2021, President Joe Biden announced Judge Merrick Garland as his nomination for the next 
U.S. Attorney General. On January 20, 2021, Robert Wilkinson replaced Mr. Jeffrey Rosen as the Acting Attorney 
General while Judge Garland seeks confirmation from the U.S. Senate.
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On December 27, 2020, President Donald Trump signed the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2021, which included 
the Rohrabacher-Farr Amendment, which prohibits the funding of federal prosecutions with respect to medical 
cannabis activities that are legal under state law. The Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2021 makes appropriations 
for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2021. There can be no assurances that the Rohrabacher-Farr Amendment will 
be included in future appropriations bills or budget resolutions.

Following two special runoff elections conducted in the U.S. State of Georgia on January 5, 2021, for two U.S. Senate 
seats, Democrats Raphael Warnock and Jon Ossoff each received more votes than their incumbent opponents. As a 
result of the special elections, Democrats control 50 seats in the U.S. Senate and Republicans control 50 seats, and 
Vice President Kamala Harris carries the tie-breaking vote. Consequently, for the first time since January 3, 2009, 
Democrats now control the U.S. Senate. Consequently, and in conjunction with Democrat control of the U.S. House 
of Representatives and the White House, cannabis legislation, including the Marijuana Opportunity Reinvestment and 
Expungement Act and others, may now face a realistic chance of passage. This and other legislation have the potential 
to deschedule cannabis, improve access to banking and other financial resources for cannabis companies, and remove 
the effects of I.R.C. § 280E on cannabis businesses. There is no guarantee that any such legislation will pass, however, 
and President Joseph Biden has indicated a reluctance to prioritize substantial changes in federal cannabis laws despite 
pressure from Democratic members of Congress.

On January 7, 2021, President Joseph Biden announced his nomination of Judge Merrick Garland as U.S. Attorney 
General. During Senate confirmation hearings, Judge Garland did not confirm whether he would reinstate the Cole 
Memorandum, but did explain that he expected under his tenure to see a reduction in resources towards enforcement 
of federal cannabis laws, explaining that enforcement “does not seem to me a useful use of limited resources.” Judge 
Garland did, however, note that enforcement against criminal enterprises in the States would continue. On March 10, 
2021, Judge Garland was confirmed by the U.S. Senate as the 86th Attorney General of the United States. It is unclear 
what impact the new U.S. Attorney General will have on U.S. federal government enforcement policy. Since his 
confirmation, Attorney General Garland has not formally reinstated the Cole Memorandum or issued a similar 
memorandum concerning the enforcement vel non of federal cannabis laws. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a 
significant change in the federal government’s enforcement policy with respect to current federal laws applicable to 
cannabis could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of 
operations. The Resulting Issuer is expected to provide cannabis testing services to State-approved cannabis 
cultivators, processors, distributors and retailers. As a result, it could be deemed to be aiding and abetting illegal 
activities, a violation of United States federal law.

There is a substantial risk of regulatory or political change.

The success of the business strategy of the Resulting Issuer, depends on the legality of the cannabis industry in the 
United States. The political environment surrounding the cannabis industry in the United States in general can be 
volatile and the regulatory framework in the United States remains in flux. As of the date of this Listing Statement, 
36 states, Washington, D.C. and certain other U.S. territories have implemented laws and regulations to legalize and 
regulate the cultivation, sale, possession and use of cannabis, and additional states have pending legislation regarding 
the same, however, the risk remains that a shift in the regulatory or political realm could occur and have a drastic 
impact on the industry as a whole, adversely impacting the Resulting Issuer’s ability to operate its business and/or 
participate in certain business opportunities.

Further, there is no guarantee that at some future date, voters and/or the applicable legislative bodies will not repeal, 
overturn or limit any such legislation legalizing the sale, disbursement and consumption of cannabis. It is also 
important to note that local and city ordinances may strictly limit and/or restrict disbursement of cannabis in a manner 
that will make it extremely difficult or impossible to transact business that is necessary for the continued operation of 
the cannabis industry.

Cannabis remains illegal under federal law, and the federal government could bring criminal and civil charges against 
the Resulting Issuer or its subsidiaries at any time. Federal actions against any individual or entity engaged in the 
cannabis industry or a substantial repeal of cannabis-related legislation could have a material adverse effect on the 
Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
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The Resulting Issuer is engaged in activities considered illegal under U.S. federal law.

The Resulting Issuer will operate its business in the cannabis industry in the United States where local law permits 
such activities. Presently, the cultivation, possession, sale, and use of cannabis are illegal under U.S. federal statutes 
and the laws of other jurisdictions. Some of those laws, including the applicable federal laws of the United States, 
apply to the subject activities even though the subject activities may be permissible under local law.

The Resulting Issuer’s business activities in relating to the cannabis industry are illegal under the applicable federal 
laws of the United States and other applicable law. There can be no assurances the federal government of the United 
States or other jurisdictions will not seek to enforce the applicable laws against the Resulting Issuer. THE 
CONSEQUENCES OF SUCH ENFORCEMENT WOULD LIKELY BE MATERIALLY DETRIMENTAL TO THE 
RESULTING ISSUER, THE RESULTING ISSUER’S BUSINESS AND THE HOLDERS OF RESULTING 
ISSUER SHARES AND COULD RESULT IN THE FORFEITURE OR SEIZURE OF ALL OR SUBSTANTIALLY 
ALL OF THE RESULTING ISSUER’S ASSETS. Further, the Resulting Issuer’s third party service providers could 
suspend or withdraw services as a result of non-compliance with federal, state or local laws and regulations regarding 
cannabis.

Risk of Civil Asset Forfeiture.

Because the cannabis industry remains illegal under U.S. federal law, any property owned by participants in the 
cannabis industry which are either used in the course of conducting such business, or are the proceeds of such 
business, could be subject to seizure by law enforcement and subsequent civil asset forfeiture. Even if the owner of 
the property were never charged with a crime, the property in question could still be seized and subject to an 
administrative proceeding by which, with minimal due process, it could be subject to forfeiture.

Banks often refuse to provide banking services to businesses involved in the cannabis industry due to the present state 
of the laws and regulations governing financial institutions in the United States.

The lack of banking and financial services presents unique and significant challenges to businesses in the cannabis 
industry. The lack of a secure place in which to deposit and store cash, the inability to pay creditors through the 
issuance of cheques and the inability to secure traditional forms of operational financing, such as lines of credit, are 
some of the many challenges presented by the unavailability of traditional banking and financial services.

No guarantee or assurances can be given by the Resulting Issuer that it will be able to secure and/or maintain stable 
banking services arrangements, nor can the Resulting Issuer guarantee or provide assurances that it will be able to 
secure an alternative to traditional banking services should the Resulting Issuer not be able to secure and maintain 
traditional banking services with a national or state chartered banking institution.

Apart from the operating history of its subsidiaries, the Resulting Issuer will have no operating history.

The Resulting Issuer has no operating history, and must therefore rely on the operating history of GSL and its 
management team in connection with operating the Resulting Issuer’s business following completion of the Business 
Combination. Because the Resulting Issuer has no operating history, there is limited information upon which to base 
any estimate of the Resulting Issuer’s future revenue and earnings prospects or to assist with an investment decision. 
The prior performance of GSL or any other entity or person are provided for illustrative purposes only, and may not 
be indicative of the Resulting Issuer’s future performance results. Furthermore, the Resulting Issuer is expected to be 
subject to many of the risks common to early-stage enterprises for the foreseeable future, including risks related to 
laws, regulations, licensing, integrating and retaining qualified employees; making effective use of limited resources; 
achieving market acceptance of existing and future services; competing against companies with greater financial and 
technical resources; acquiring and retaining customers; and developing new solutions. There can be no assurance that 
the Resulting Issuer will ultimately be successful or will have the ability to achieve a return on shareholders’ 
investment. Likewise, there can be no assurances that the Resulting Issuer will become profitable or generate operating 
cash flow.
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Lack of access to U.S. bankruptcy protections and other bankruptcy risks.

Because the use of cannabis is illegal under federal law, many courts have denied businesses that participate in 
cannabis or cannabis-related activities bankruptcy protections, thus making it very difficult for lenders to recoup their 
investments in such businesses in the event of a bankruptcy. If the Resulting Issuer was to experience a bankruptcy, 
there is no guarantee that U.S. federal bankruptcy protections would be available, which would have a material adverse 
effect on any potential restructuring transaction.

Additionally, there is no guarantee that the Resulting Issuer will be able to effectively enforce any interests it may 
have in GSL and its subsidiaries. A bankruptcy or other similar event related to an entity in which the Resulting Issuer 
holds an interest that precludes such entity from performing its obligations under an agreement may have a material 
adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, should an 
entity in which the Resulting Issuer holds an interest have insufficient assets to pay its liabilities, it is possible that 
other liabilities will be satisfied prior to the liabilities or equity owed to the Resulting Issuer. In addition, bankruptcy 
or other similar proceedings are often a complex and lengthy process, the outcome of which may be uncertain and 
could result in a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

The Resulting Issuer may be subject to heightened scrutiny by regulatory authorities.

For the reasons set forth above, the business and operations of the Resulting Issuer in the U.S., and any future 
businesses and operations, may become the subject of heightened scrutiny by regulators, stock exchanges and other 
authorities in Canada and the U.S. As a result, the Resulting Issuer may be subject to significant direct and indirect 
interaction with public officials. There can be no assurance that this heightened scrutiny will not in turn lead to the 
imposition of certain restrictions on the Resulting Issuer’s ability to operate or hold interests in other entities in the 
U.S. or any other jurisdiction, in addition to those described herein.

On February 8, 2018, the Canadian Securities Administrators published Staff Notice 51-352 describing the Canadian 
Securities Administrators’ disclosure expectations for specific risks facing issuers with cannabis-related activities in 
the U.S. Staff Notice 51-352 confirms that a disclosure-based approach remains appropriate for issuers with U.S. 
cannabis-related activities. Staff Notice 51-352 includes additional disclosure expectations that apply to all issuers 
with U.S. cannabis-related activities, including those with direct and indirect involvement in the cultivation and 
distribution of cannabis, as well as issuers that provide goods and services to third parties involved in the U.S. cannabis 
industry.

CDS is Canada’s central securities depository, clearing and settling trades in the Canadian equity, fixed income and 
money markets. On February 8, 2018, following discussions with the Canadian Securities Administrators and the 
TMX Group, who is the owner and operator of CDS, CDS announced the signing of a Memorandum of Understanding 
(“TMX MOU”) with Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc., the CSE and the Toronto Stock Exchange confirming that it relies 
on such exchanges to review the conduct of listed issuers. The TMX MOU notes that securities regulation requires 
that the rules of each of the exchanges must not be contrary to the public interest and that the rules of each of the 
exchanges have been approved by the securities regulators. Pursuant to the TMX MOU, CDS will not ban accepting 
deposits of or transactions for clearing and settlement of securities of issuers with cannabis-related activities in the 
U.S.

Even though the TMX MOU indicated that there are no plans of banning the settlement of issuers with cannabis-
related activities through the CDS, there can be no guarantee that the settlement of such securities will continue in the 
future. If such a ban were to be implemented, it would have a material adverse effect on the ability of holders of 
Subordinate Voting Shares to make and settle trades. In particular, the Subordinate Voting Shares would become 
highly illiquid until an alternative was implemented, and shareholders would have no ability to effect a trade of the 
Subordinate Voting Shares through the facilities of a stock exchange.

Foreign Private Issuer status.

The Business Combination was structured so that the Resulting Issuer would be a Foreign Private Issuer upon the 
closing of the Business Combination. The term “Foreign Private Issuer” is defined as any non-U.S. corporation, 
other than a foreign government, except any issuer meeting the following conditions:
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1. more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer are, directly or indirectly, held of record 
by residents of the United States; and

2. any one of the following:
a. the majority of the executive officers or directors are United States citizens or residents, or
b. more than 50% of the assets of the issuer are located in the United States, or
c. the business of the issuer is administered principally in the United States. 

For purposes of determining whether more than 50% of its outstanding voting securities are held “of record” by U.S. 
residents, the Resulting Issuer must “look through” the record ownership of brokers, dealers, banks, or nominees 
holding securities for the accounts of their customers, and also consider any beneficial ownership reports or other 
information available to the Resulting Issuer. It must conduct this “look through” in three jurisdictions: the United 
States; the Resulting Issuer’s home jurisdiction; and the primary trading market for the Resulting Issuer’s voting 
securities, if different from the Resulting Issuer’s home jurisdiction. Additionally, if the Resulting Issuer is not able 
to obtain information about the record holders’ accounts after reasonable inquiry, the Resulting Issuer may rely on the 
presumption that such accounts are held in the broker’s, dealer’s, bank’s, or nominee’s principal place of business.

In December 2016, the SEC issued a Compliance and Disclosure Interpretation to clarify that issuers with multiple 
classes of voting stock carrying different voting rights may, for the purposes of calculating compliance with this 
threshold, examine either (i) the combined voting power of its share classes, or (ii) the number of voting securities, in 
each case held of record by U.S. residents. Based on this interpretation, each issued and outstanding Multiple Voting 
Share is counted as one voting security and each issued and outstanding Subordinate Voting Share is counted as one 
voting security for the purposes of determining the 50% U.S. resident threshold. Accordingly, upon completion of the 
Business Combination, the Resulting Issuer is expected to be treated as a “Foreign Private Issuer”. However, should 
the SEC’s guidance and interpretation change, the Resulting Issuer may lose its Foreign Private Issuer status.

Loss of Foreign Private Issuer status.

The Resulting Issuer may lose its expected status as a Foreign Private Issuer if, as of the last business day of the 
Resulting Issuer’s second fiscal quarter for any year, more than 50% of the Resulting Issuer’s outstanding voting 
securities (as determined under Rule 405 of the U.S. Securities Act) are directly or indirectly held of record by 
residents of the United States. Loss of Foreign Private Issuer status may have adverse consequences on the Resulting 
Issuer’s ability to raise capital in private placements or Canadian prospectus offerings. In addition, loss of the Resulting 
Issuer’s Foreign Private Issuer status would likely result in increased reporting requirements and increased audit, legal 
and administration costs. Further, should the Resulting Issuer seek to list on a securities exchange in the United States, 
loss of Foreign Private Issuer status may increase the cost and time required for such a listing. These increased costs 
may have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Resulting Issuer could lose its status as a Foreign Private Issuer if all or a portion of the Multiple Voting Shares 
directly or indirectly held of record by U.S. residents are converted into Subordinate Voting Shares. The conversion 
rights attached to the Multiple Voting Shares contain restrictions on conversion that are intended to avoid such a result, 
however there can be no guarantee that such restrictions on conversion will be effective to prevent the Resulting Issuer 
from potentially losing Foreign Private Issuer status if a sufficient number of Multiple Voting Shares are converted 
into Subordinate Voting Shares and such Subordinate Voting Shares are acquired, either upon conversion or pursuant 
to a subsequent transaction, by U.S. residents. The Resulting Issuer anticipates that, due to the expiration of the 
Restricted Conversion Period on September 1, 2022, it will no longer qualify as a “Foreign Private Issuer” on January 
1, 2024. In addition, the Resulting Issuer could potentially lose its Foreign Private Issuer status as a result of future 
issuances of Resulting Issuer Shares from treasury to the extent such shares are acquired by U.S. residents.

Regulatory approvals and permits. 

The Resulting Issuer and its subsidiaries may be required to obtain and maintain certain permits, licenses and approvals 
in the jurisdictions in which it operates. There can be no assurance that the Resulting Issuer and/or its subsidiaries will 
be able to obtain and/or maintain the necessary permits, licenses and approvals. The regulatory authorities could also 
impose certain restrictions on the ability of the Resulting Issuer and/or its subsidiaries to operate in the U.S. Any 
material delay or failure to obtain or maintain these items, or onerous regulatory restrictions would delay and/or inhibit 
the Resulting Issuer’s ability to conduct its business and would have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s 
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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There may be unknown additional regulatory fees and taxes that may be assessed in the future.

Multiple states in the United States are considering or may be considering special taxes or fees on businesses in the 
cannabis industry. The imposition of such additional taxes or fees could adversely affect the Resulting Issuer’s 
operating results and expected returns on future investments and/or business opportunities.

Delays in enactment of new state or federal regulations could restrict the ability of the Resulting Issuer to reach 
strategic growth targets and lower return on investor capital.

The strategic growth strategy of the Resulting Issuer is, in part, reliant upon certain federal and state regulations being 
enacted to facilitate the legalization of cannabis. If such regulations are not enacted, or enacted but subsequently 
repealed or amended, or enacted with prolonged phase-in periods, the growth targets of Resulting Issuer, and thus, the 
effect on the return of investor capital, could be detrimental. The Resulting Issuer will be unable to predict with 
certainty when and how the outcome of these complex, legal, regulatory, and legislative proceedings will affect the 
business and growth of the Resulting Issuer.

The Resulting Issuer will be subject to applicable anti-money laundering laws and regulations.

The Resulting Issuer and its subsidiaries are subject to a variety of laws and regulations domestically and in the U.S. 
that involve money laundering, financial record-keeping and proceeds of crime, including the U.S. Currency and 
Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970 (commonly known as the “Bank Secrecy Act”), as amended by Title III 
of the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct 
Terrorism Act of 2001, the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act (Canada), as 
amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder, and any related or similar rules, regulations or guidelines, issued, 
administered or enforced by governmental authorities in the U.S. and Canada. Further, under U.S. federal law, banks 
or other financial institutions that provide a cannabis business with a checking account, debit or credit card, small 
business loan, or any other service could be found guilty of money laundering, aiding and abetting, or conspiracy.

The Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (“FinCEN”) of the U.S. Department of the Treasury issued a 
memorandum on February 14, 2014 outlining the pathways for financial institutions to bank cannabis businesses in 
compliance with federal enforcement priorities (the “FinCEN Memorandum”). The FinCEN Memorandum states 
that in some circumstances, it is permissible for banks to provide services to cannabis-related businesses without 
risking prosecution for violation of federal money laundering laws. It refers to supplementary guidance included in 
the Cole Memorandum.

Attorney General Sessions’ revocation of the Cole Memorandum has not yet affected the status of the FinCEN 
Memorandum, nor has the Department of the Treasury given any indication that it intends to rescind the FinCEN 
Memorandum itself.

Although the FinCEN Memorandum remains intact, it is unclear whether the current administration will continue to 
follow the guidelines of the FinCEN Memorandum. The DOJ continues to have the right and power to prosecute 
crimes committed by banks and financial institutions, such as money laundering and violations of the Bank Secrecy 
Act, that occur in any state including states that have in some form legalized the sale of cannabis. Further, the conduct 
of the DOJ’s enforcement priorities could change for any number of reasons. A change in the DOJ’s priorities could 
result in the DOJ’s prosecuting banks and financial institutions for crimes that were not previously prosecuted.

If any of the operations of the Resulting Issuer or its subsidiaries, or any proceeds thereof, any dividend distributions 
or any profits or revenues derived from these operations were found to be in violation of money laundering legislation 
or otherwise, such transactions may be viewed as proceeds from a crime under one or more of the statutes noted above. 
This may restrict the ability of the Resulting Issuer to declare or pay dividends in the future, effect other distributions 
or subsequently repatriate such funds back to Canada.

There is a risk of high bonding and insurance costs.

Although it will vary from state to state in the United States, there is risk that some or all of the state regulatory 
agencies will begin requiring entities and individuals engaged in certain aspects of the business or industry of legal 
cannabis and cannabis-related activities to post a bond when applying for licenses or renewal thereof as a guarantee 
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of payment of sales and franchise tax. This risk may not be relevant to all aspects of the business or industry of legal 
cannabis, however, as this industry is relatively new, the Resulting Issuer will not have definitive information or 
enough information to date to completely quantify what such a figure could or would be. It remains an unknown cost 
that could have a negative impact on the ultimate success of the Resulting Issuer and/or the Resulting Issuer’s 
participation in the business opportunities ultimately selected.

The inability of the Resulting Issuer to respond to the changing regulatory landscape could harm its business.

The cannabis industry is subject to significant regulatory change at both the state and federal level in the United States. 
If the Resulting Issuer and the subsidiaries are unable to respond appropriately to these changing federal and state 
regulations, it may not be successful in capturing significant market share.

Reliable data on the cannabis industry is not available.

As a result of recent and ongoing regulatory and policy changes in the cannabis industry, the market data available is 
limited and unreliable. Federal and state laws prevent widespread participation and hinder market research. Therefore, 
any market research and projections by the Resulting Issuer of estimated total retail sales, demographics, demand, and 
similar consumer research that are relevant to the business and growth strategy of the Resulting Issuer, are based on 
assumptions from limited and unreliable market data, and generally represent the personal opinions of the Resulting 
Issuer’s anticipated management team members as of the date of this Listing Statement.

There are general regulatory risks that may have a material effect on the Resulting Issuer and its subsidiaries.

The anticipated operations of the businesses of the Resulting Issuer and the subsidiaries may be subject to various 
U.S. federal, state and local statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations, including, among others, zoning and land use 
ordinances, building, plumbing and electrical codes, contractors’ licensing laws and health and safety regulations and 
laws. Various localities have imposed (or may in the future impose) fees to fund, among other things, schools, road 
improvements and low and moderate income housing. Additionally, various localities have proposed or enacted 
additional initiatives restricting the growth and expansion of cannabis-related businesses. There are no assurances that 
these general regulatory issues will not have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

Inconsistent public opinion and perception of the cannabis industry hinders market growth and state adoption.

Public opinion and support for cannabis has traditionally been inconsistent and varies from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. 
While public opinion and support appears to be rising for legalizing cannabis, it remains a controversial issue subject 
to differing opinions surrounding the level of legalization (for example, medical cannabis as opposed to legalization 
in general). Inconsistent public opinion and perception of cannabis and the cannabis industry may hinder growth and 
state adoption which could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business that provides services 
ancillary to the cannabis industry, financial condition and results of operations. 

Due to the Resulting Issuer’s ancillary involvement in the cannabis industry, its ability to generate revenue and be 
successful in the implementation of its business plan is dependent on consumer acceptance and demand of cannabis 
products. Management of the Resulting Issuer believes that the cannabis industry is highly dependent upon consumer 
perception regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of the cannabis produced. Consumer perception of cannabis 
products may be significantly influenced by scientific research or findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, media 
attention and other publicity regarding the consumption of cannabis products. There can be no assurance that future 
scientific research, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other research findings or publicity 
will be favourable to the cannabis industry or consistent with earlier publicity. Future research reports, findings, 
regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity (whether or not accurate or with merit), that are 
perceived as less favourable than, or that question, earlier research reports, findings or publicity could have a material 
adverse effect on the demand for cannabis product and, by extension, the services of the Resulting Issuer, which could 
have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, 
adverse publicity reports or other media attention regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of cannabis in general, or 
the Resulting Issuer’s services specifically, or associating the consumption of cannabis with illness or other negative 
effects or events, could have such a material adverse effect. 
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Admissibility to the United States

Investors in the Resulting Issuer and the Resulting Issuer’s directors, officers and employees may be subject to risk of 
being barred from entry into the United States. Because cannabis remains illegal under United States federal law, 
those who are not U.S. citizens employed at or investing in legal and licensed U.S. cannabis companies could face 
detention, denial of entry or lifetime bans from the United States for their business associations with U.S. cannabis 
businesses. Entry happens at the sole discretion of U.S. Customs and Border Protection (“CBP”) officers on duty, and 
these officers have wide latitude to ask questions to determine the admissibility of a foreign national. The government 
of Canada has started warning travelers on its website that previous use of cannabis, or any substance prohibited by 
United States federal laws, could mean denial of entry to the United States. Business or financial involvement in the 
legal cannabis industry in Canada or in the United States could also be reason enough for United States border guards 
to deny entry. On September 21, 2018, CBP released a statement outlining its current position with respect to 
enforcement of the laws of the United States. It stated that Canada’s legalization of cannabis will not change CBP 
enforcement of United States laws regarding controlled substances and because cannabis continues to be a controlled 
substance under United States law, working in or facilitating the proliferation of the legal cannabis industry in U.S. 
states where it is deemed legal or Canada may affect admissibility to the United States. As a result, CBP has affirmed 
that, employees, directors, officers, managers and investors of companies involved in business activities related to 
cannabis in the United States or Canada (such as the Resulting Issuer), who are not United States citizens face the risk 
of being barred from entry into the United States for life. As described above, on October 9, 2018, CBP released an 
additional statement regarding the admissibility of Canadian citizens working in the legal cannabis industry. CBP 
stated that a Canadian citizen working in or facilitating the proliferation of the legal cannabis industry in Canada 
coming into the United States for reasons unrelated to the cannabis industry will generally be admissible to the United 
States; however, if such person is found to be coming into the United States for reasons related to the cannabis industry, 
such person may be deemed inadmissible.

Business and Operational Risks

Dependence on the expertise of management.

The Resulting Issuer’s success depends, to a significant extent, on the expertise of management. The loss of the 
services of one or more members of management, for any reason, co could have a material adverse effect on the 
Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations. The Resulting Issuer’s future success will 
also depend, in part, upon its continuing ability to attract and retain other highly qualified personnel to operate and 
expand the business of the Resulting Issuer. Competition for personnel is intense and there can be no assurance that 
the Resulting Issuer will be successful in attracting and retaining highly qualified personnel. The inability to attract 
and retain the necessary technical and managerial personnel could have a material adverse effect upon the business, 
operating results and financial condition of the Resulting Issuer.

Dependence on performance of subsidiaries.

The Resulting Issuer will be dependent on the operations, assets and financial health of the subsidiaries. Accordingly, 
if the financial performance of any subsidiary declines this will adversely affect the Resulting Issuer. Although the 
Resulting Issuer will be directly involved in the operations of each subsidiary, there is a risk that there may be some 
liabilities or other matters that are not identified through the ongoing monitoring that may have an adverse effect on a 
subsidiary’s business, and this could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

Projections.

This Listing Statement contains projections about the operations of the Resulting Issuer, including projections 
regarding the cost and timelines to complete business objectives and the anticipated growth of the Resulting Issuer’s 
business and its services. Such projections include, but are not limited to: the costs and timelines to open the Facilities. 
Projections in this Listing Statement are based on management’s best estimates and the assumptions set out herein. 
Projections, by their nature, are subject to uncertainty and reliance should not be made on any projection. If projections 
are incorrect or the actual operations of the Resulting Issuer differ materially from management’s estimates, it could 
have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
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The cannabis industry presents substantial risks and uncertainty.

The anticipated business of the Resulting Issuer will be engaged in activities ancillary to the cannabis industry in the 
United States. The relatively new development of the cannabis industry presents numerous and material risks. Many 
of these risks are not inherent in other developing or mature industries. Many of the risks, and the potential 
consequences to the Resulting Issuer and its subsidiaries, are unknown. The risks range from the potential catastrophic 
collapse of the cannabis industry nationally or in the states in which the Resulting Issuer conducts business that might 
result from changes in laws or the enforcement of existing laws to the failure of individual businesses that might result 
from volatile market conditions that sometime accompany the development of new markets and industries. 
Additionally, the cannabis industry is characterized by fragmented markets, immature companies, inexperienced 
managers lacking conventional business and financial discipline, a lack of well-known brands, an absence of industry 
and product standards, ever-shifting legal landscapes with multiple frameworks (from state to state), rapidly shifting 
public opinion, and a scarcity of significant capital.

Risks inherent in the nature of the cannabis testing industry. 

Changes in operating costs (including costs for maintenance and insurance), inability to obtain licenses and permits 
required to conduct the Resulting Issuer’s business, change in cannabis laws and governmental regulations, and 
various factors may significantly impact the ability of the Resulting Issuer to generate revenues. Certain significant 
expenditures, including legal fees, borrowing costs, maintenance costs, insurance costs and related charges must be 
made to operate the testing facilities operated by the Resulting Issuer, regardless of whether the Resulting Issuer is 
generating income.

There may be litigation that the Resulting Issuer will be involved in in the future.

The Resulting Issuer may become party to litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of business which could 
adversely affect its business. Should any litigation in which the Resulting Issuer becomes involved be determined 
against the Resulting Issuer such a decision could adversely affect the Resulting Issuer’s ability to continue operating 
and the market price for the Subordinate Voting Shares and could use significant resources. Even if the Resulting 
Issuer is involved in litigation and wins, litigation can redirect significant resources of the Resulting Issuer.

Client and customer acquisitions.

The Resulting Issuer’s success depends on its ability to attract and retain clients and customers of its cannabis testing 
services. There are many factors which could impact the Resulting Issuer’s ability to attract and retain clients and 
customers, including but not limited to the Resulting Issuer’s ability to continually provide desirable and effective 
services. The Resulting Issuer’s failure to acquire and retain clients and customers would have a material adverse 
effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

Future acquisitions or dispositions.

Material acquisitions, dispositions and other strategic transactions involve a number of risks, including: (i) potential 
disruption of the Resulting Issuer’s ongoing business; (ii) distraction of management; (iii) the Resulting Issuer may 
become more financially leveraged; (iv) the anticipated benefits and cost savings of those transactions may not be 
realized fully or at all or may take longer to realize than expected; (v) increasing the scope and complexity of the 
Resulting Issuer’s operations; and (vi) loss or reduction of control over certain of the Resulting Issuer’s assets. 
Additionally, the Resulting Issuer may issue additional equity interests in connection with such transactions, which 
would dilute a shareholder’s holdings in the Resulting Issuer.

The presence of one or more material liabilities of an acquired company that are unknown to the Resulting Issuer at 
the time of acquisition could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and 
results of operations. A strategic transaction may result in a significant change in the nature of the Resulting Issuer’s 
business, operations and strategy. In addition, the Resulting Issuer may encounter unforeseen obstacles or costs in 
implementing a strategic transaction or integrating any acquired business into the Resulting Issuer’s operations.

Reliance on a limited number of facilities. 
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To date, GSL’s activities and resources have been primarily focused on the Facilities. In addition, as of the date of 
this Listing Statement, only the FL Facility is operating. Disruption of operations at the FL Facility, or the other 
Facilities once operational, could adversely affect the Resulting Issuer’s ability to provide cannabis testing services. 
The Resulting Issuer’s revenue will be dependent on the uninterrupted operation of the Facilities. The Resulting 
Issuer’s operation is subject to operational risks beyond its control including fire, breakdown, failure or substandard 
performance of its equipment and machinery, power shortage, labour disruption, natural disasters and any interruption 
in its operations as a result of any failure to comply with all applicable laws and regulations in the jurisdiction where 
the Facilities are located. Frequent or prolonged occurrence of any of the aforesaid events may have a material adverse 
effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operation. If there is any damage to any of 
the Facilities, the Resulting Issuer may not be able to alleviate the impact of such damage in a timely and proper 
manner or at all. Any breakdown or malfunction of any of the Resulting Issuer’s information technology systems and 
equipment could cause a material disruption of its operations. Adverse changes or developments affecting the 
Facilities could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

Management of growth.

As the Resulting Issuer grows, the Resulting Issuer will also be required to hire, train, supervise and manage new 
employees. The Resulting Issuer may experience a period of significant growth in the number of personnel that will 
place a strain upon its management systems and resources. Its future will depend in part on the ability of its 
management and other key employees to implement and improve financial and management controls, reporting 
systems and procedures on a timely basis and to expand, train, motivate and manage the workforce. The Resulting 
Issuer’s planned personnel, systems, procedures and controls may be inadequate to support its future operations. 
Failure to effectively manage any future growth could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s 
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Factors which may prevent realization of growth targets. 

The Resulting Issuer will be in the expansion from early development stage. The Resulting Issuer’s growth strategy 
contemplates opening additional testing facilities in the United States. There is a risk that the additional resources 
needed for such expansion will not be achieved on time, on budget, or at all, as they can be adversely affected by a 
variety of factors, including some that are discussed elsewhere in these risk factors and the following: 

 delays in obtaining, or conditions imposed by, regulatory approvals; 

 facility design and buildout errors; 

 non-performance by third party contractors; 

 increases in equipment, materials or labour costs; 

 construction performance falling below expected levels of output or efficiency; 

 contractor or operator errors; 

 inability to attract sufficient numbers of qualified workers;

 labour disputes, disruptions or declines in productivity; and 

 disruption in the supply of energy and utilities. 

The failure of the Resulting Issuer to successfully execute its expansion strategy (including receiving regulatory 
approvals, as applicable, in a timely fashion) could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition 
and results of operations of the Resulting Issuer. 
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Enforceability of contracts.

Since cannabis is illegal at a federal level, judges in multiple U.S. states have on several occasions refused to enforce 
contracts for the repayment of money when the loan was used in connection with activities that violate federal law, 
even if there is no violation of state law. Therefore, there is uncertainty that the Resulting Issuer will be able to legally 
enforce its agreements, including agreements material to the Resulting Issuer.

Operation permits and authorizations.

The subsidiaries may not be able to obtain or maintain the necessary licenses, permits, certificates, authorizations or 
accreditations, or may only be able to do so at great cost, to operate their respective businesses. In addition, the 
subsidiaries may not be able to comply fully with the wide variety of laws and regulations applicable to the cannabis 
industry. Failure to comply with or to obtain the necessary licenses, permits, certificates, authorizations or 
accreditations could result in restrictions on a subsidiary’s ability to operate in the cannabis industry, which could 
have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Resulting Issuer will rely to a great extent on the expertise of the Resulting Issuer Board and officers, and any 
departures may impair the Resulting Issuer’s business.

The successful ongoing operation of the Resulting Issuer requires substantial expertise. The anticipated members of 
the Resulting Issuer Board will have exclusive authority to make decisions and to exercise discretion on behalf of the 
Resulting Issuer. The success of the Resulting Issuer will depend to a great extent upon the expertise of the Resulting 
Issuer Board and officers. The loss of the services of any member of the Resulting Issuer Board or one or more of the 
officers could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

Security risks.

The business premises of the Resulting Issuer’s operating locations may be targets for theft. While the subsidiaries 
have implemented security measures at each location and continue to monitor and improve their security measures, 
their testing facilities could be subject to break-ins, robberies and other breaches in security. If there was a breach in 
security and a subsidiary fell victim to a robbery or theft, the loss of testing equipment and/or cannabis plants, oils and 
flowers and could adversely impact the Resulting Issuer’s reputation which could have a material adverse effect on 
the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Synthetic products may compete with medical cannabis use and products.

The pharmaceutical industry may attempt to dominate the cannabis industry, and in particular, legal cannabis, through 
the development and distribution of synthetic products which emulate the effects and treatment of organic cannabis. 
If they are successful, the widespread popularity of such synthetic products could change the demand, volume and 
profitability of the cannabis industry, which could in turn adversely affect the ability of the Resulting Issuer to secure 
long-term profitability and success through the sustainable and profitable operation of its cannabis testing business, 
and could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

There are risks associated with well-capitalized entrants developing large-scale operations.

Currently, the cannabis industry generally is comprised of individuals and small to medium-sized entities, however, 
the risk remains that large conglomerates and companies who also recognize the potential for financial success through 
investment in this industry could strategically purchase or assume control of larger dispensaries, cultivation and/or 
testing facilities. In doing so, these larger competitors could establish price setting and cost controls which would 
effectively “price out” many of the individuals and small to medium-sized entities who currently make up the bulk of 
the participants in the varied businesses operating within and in support of the cannabis industry, including the 
Resulting Issuer and its cannabis testing operations. While the trend in most state laws and regulations seemingly 
deters this type of takeover, this industry remains quite nascent, so what the landscape will be in the future remains 
largely unknown, which in itself is a risk.
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Talent pool.

The Resulting Issuer’s future success largely depends upon the continued services of its executive officers and 
management team. If one or more of the Resulting Issuer’s executive officers are unable or unwilling to continue in 
their present positions, the Resulting Issuer may not be able to replace them readily, if at all. Additionally, the 
Resulting Issuer may incur additional expenses to recruit and retain new executive officers. If any of the Resulting 
Issuer’s executive officers joins a competitor or forms a competing company, it may lose some or all of its customers. 
Finally, the Resulting Issuer does not maintain “key person” life insurance on any of its executive officers. Because 
of these factors, the loss of the services of any of these key persons could adversely affect its business, financial 
condition, and results of operations, and thereby an investment in its stock.

As the Resulting Issuer grows, it will need to hire additional human resources to continue to develop its businesses. 
However, experienced talent in the areas of cannabis research and development, as well as senior management, are 
difficult to source, and there can be no assurance that the appropriate individuals will be available or affordable. 
Without adequate personnel and expertise, the growth of the business of the Resulting Issuer may suffer. There can 
be no assurance that any of the Resulting Issuer will be able to effectively manage growth, and any failure to do so 
could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Cannabis testing industry.

As a relatively new industry, there are not many established players in the cannabis testing industry whose business 
model the Resulting Issuer can follow or build on the success of. Similarly, there is limited information about 
comparable companies available for potential investors to review in making a decision about whether to invest in the 
Resulting Issuer.

Shareholders and investors should further consider, among other factors, the Resulting Issuer’s prospects for success 
in light of the risks and uncertainties encountered by companies that, like the Resulting Issuer, are in their early stages. 
For example, unanticipated expenses and problems or technical difficulties may occur and they may result in material 
delays in the operation of the Resulting Issuer’s business. The Resulting Issuer may not successfully address these 
risks and uncertainties or successfully implement its operating strategies. If the Resulting Issuer fails to do so, it could 
materially harm the Resulting Issuer’s business to the point of having to cease operations and could impair the value 
of the Subordinate Voting Shares to the point investors may lose their entire investment.

The Resulting Issuer expects to commit significant resources and capital to develop and market its services. These 
services are relatively untested, and the Resulting Issuer cannot assure shareholders and investors that it will achieve 
market acceptance for these services, or other new services that the Resulting Issuer may offer in the future. Moreover, 
these and other new services may be subject to significant competition with offerings by new and existing competitors 
in the business. In addition, new services may pose a variety of challenges and require the Resulting Issuer to attract 
additional qualified employees. The failure to successfully develop and market these new services or attract such 
employees could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

The Resulting Issuer may be subject to significant competition.

A number of other companies engage in, and could engage in, a business similar to the anticipated business of the 
Resulting Issuer, operate businesses in competition with the Resulting Issuer and purchase assets that the Resulting 
Issuer will also seek to purchase. This competition may increase the price the Resulting Issuer must pay for the assets 
or make it more difficult for the Resulting Issuer to operate at a profit and to purchase assets. The inability to operate 
at a profit and acquire assets on terms favorable to the Resulting Issuer may adversely impact the revenue stream that 
the Resulting Issuer anticipates to receive and, thus, adversely impact the ability of the Resulting Issuer to pay 
distributions.

The Resulting Issuer expects to face competition from new entrants due to the early stage of the industry in which the 
Resulting Issuer operates. To be competitive, the Resulting Issuer will require a continued high level of investment in 
research and development, marketing, sales and client support. The Resulting Issuer may not have sufficient resources 
to maintain research and development, marketing, sales and client support efforts on a competitive basis which could 
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materially and could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results 
of operations.

Internal controls.

Effective internal controls are necessary for the Resulting Issuer to provide reliable financial reports and to help 
prevent fraud. Although the Resulting Issuer will undertake a number of procedures and will implement a number of 
safeguards, in each case, in order to help ensure the reliability of its financial reports, including those imposed on the 
Resulting Issuer under Canadian securities law, the Resulting Issuer cannot be certain that such measures will ensure 
that the Resulting Issuer will maintain adequate control over financial processes and reporting. Failure to implement 
required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could harm the Resulting 
Issuer’s results of operations or cause it to fail to meet its reporting obligations. If the Resulting Issuer or its auditors 
discover a material weakness, the disclosure of that fact, even if quickly remedied, could reduce the market’s 
confidence in the Resulting Issuer’s consolidated financial statements and materially adversely affect the trading price 
of the Subordinate Voting Shares.

The elimination of monetary liability against its directors under British Columbia law and the existence of 
indemnification rights for the Resulting Issuer’s obligations to its directors, officers and employees may result in 
substantial expenditures by it and may discourage the Resulting Issuer and its subsidiaries from bringing lawsuits 
against its directors, officers and employees.

The Resulting Issuer’s articles contain a provision permitting it to eliminate the personal liability of its directors to 
it and its stockholders for damages incurred as a director to the extent provided by British Columbia law. The 
Resulting Issuer may also have contractual indemnification obligations under any future employment agreements 
with its officers or agreements entered into with its directors. The foregoing indemnification obligations could result 
in it incurring substantial expenditures to cover the cost of settlement or damage awards against directors and officers, 
which the Resulting Issuer may be unable to recoup. These provisions and the resulting costs may also discourage it 
from bringing a lawsuit against directors and officers for breaches of their fiduciary duties, and may similarly 
discourage the filing of derivative litigation by its stockholders against its directors and officers even though such 
actions, if successful, might otherwise benefit it and its stockholders.

Risks associated with acquisitions. 

The Resulting Issuer may pursue select strategic acquisitions in the future. Such future acquisitions may expose it to 
potential risks, including risks associated with: (a) the integration of new operations, services and personnel; (b) 
unforeseen or hidden liabilities; (c) the diversion of resources from the Resulting Issuer’s existing business and 
technology; (d) potential inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset new costs; (e) the expenses of acquisitions; 
or (f) the potential loss of or harm to relationships with both employees and existing users resulting from its integration 
of new businesses. In addition, any proposed acquisitions may be subject to regulatory approval.

Furthermore, the uncertainty inherent in various aspects of the cannabis industry can result in what otherwise would 
be inadequate investment due diligence information and uncertain legal consequences relative to arrangements 
affecting a target investment. The reluctance of banks and other financial institutions to facilitate financial transactions 
in the cannabis industry can result in inadequate and unverifiable financial information about target investments, as 
well as cash management practices that are vulnerable to theft and fraud. The lack of established, traditional sources 
of financing for participants in cannabis and cannabis-related activities can result in unusual and uncertain 
arrangements affecting the ownership and obligations of a target investment. The reluctance of lawyers to represent 
participants in cannabis and cannabis-related activities in furtherance of financing and other business transactions can 
result in the lack of documentation setting forth the terms of the transactions, inadequately documented transactions, 
and transactions that in whole or in part are illegal under applicable state law, among other detrimental consequences. 
The Resulting Issuer may acquire businesses and companies that are or may become party to legal proceedings, may 
have inadequate financial and other due diligence information, may employ vulnerable cash management practices, 
lack written or adequate legal documents governing significant transactions, and otherwise have known or unknown 
conditions that could be detrimental to its business and assets.
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Currency fluctuations.

The Resulting Issuer’s revenues and expenses are expected to be primarily denominated in U.S. dollars, and therefore 
may be exposed to significant currency exchange fluctuations. The Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar or other 
foreign currencies is subject to fluctuations. Fluctuations in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the Canadian 
dollar may have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of 
operations. The Resulting Issuer may, in the future, establish a program to hedge a portion of its foreign currency 
exposure with the objective of minimizing the impact of adverse foreign currency exchange movements. However, 
even if the Resulting Issuer develops a hedging program, there can be no assurance that it will effectively mitigate 
currency risks. Failure to adequately manage foreign exchange risk could therefore have a material adverse effect on 
the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Enforceability of judgments against foreign subsidiaries.

Certain of the Resulting Issuer’s subsidiaries are organized under the laws of various U.S. states. All of the assets of 
these entities are located outside of Canada and certain of the experts that will be retained by the Resulting Issuer or 
its affiliates are residents of countries other than Canada. As a result, it may be difficult or impossible for the eventual 
shareholders of the Resulting Issuer to effect service within Canada upon such persons, or to realize against them in 
Canada upon judgments of courts of Canada predicated upon the civil liability provisions of applicable Canadian 
provincial securities laws or otherwise. There is some doubt as to the enforceability in the U.S. by a court in original 
actions, or in actions to enforce judgments of Canadian courts, of civil liabilities predicated upon such applicable 
Canadian provincial securities laws or otherwise. A court in the U.S. may refuse to hear a claim based on a violation 
of Canadian provincial securities laws or otherwise on the grounds that such jurisdiction is not the most appropriate 
forum to bring such a claim. Even if a court in the U.S. agrees to hear a claim, it may determine that the local law in 
the U.S., and not Canadian law, is applicable to the claim. If Canadian law is found to be applicable, the content of 
applicable Canadian law must be proven as a fact, which can be a time-consuming and costly process. Certain matters 
of procedure will also be governed by foreign law in such circumstances. 

The proposed directors and officers of the Resulting Issuer are expected to reside outside of Canada. Some or all of 
the assets of such persons may be located outside of Canada. Therefore, it may not be possible for Resulting Issuer 
shareholders to collect or to enforce judgments obtained in Canadian courts predicated upon the civil liability 
provisions of applicable Canadian securities laws against such persons. Moreover, it may not be possible for 
Resulting Issuer shareholders to effect service of process within Canada upon such persons.

Past performance not indicative of future results

The prior operational performance of GSL is not indicative of the future operating results of the Resulting Issuer. 
There can be no assurance that the historical operating results achieved by GSL or its affiliates will be achieved by 
the Resulting Issuer, and the Resulting Issuer’s performance may be materially different.

Results of future clinical research.

Research in Canada, the U.S. and internationally regarding the medical benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing and 
social acceptance of cannabis or isolated cannabinoids (such as CBD and THC) remains in early stages. There have 
been relatively few clinical trials on the benefits of cannabis or isolated cannabinoids (such as CBD and THC). 
Although the Resulting Issuer will rely on the articles, reports and studies that support its beliefs regarding the medical 
benefits, viability, safety, efficacy, dosing and social acceptance of cannabis, future research and clinical trials may 
prove such statements to be incorrect, or could raise concerns regarding, and perceptions relating to, cannabis. Further, 
the cannabis industry is highly dependent upon consumer perception regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of the 
cannabis produced. Consumer perception can be significantly influenced by scientific research or findings, regulatory 
investigations, litigation, media attention and other publicity regarding the consumption of cannabis products. There 
can be no assurance that future scientific research or findings, regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention or 
other publicity will be favorable to the cannabis market or any particular product, or consistent with earlier publicity.

Future research studies and clinical trials may reach negative conclusions regarding the medical benefits, viability, 
safety, efficacy, dosing, social acceptance or other facts and perceptions related to cannabis, which could indirectly 
have a material adverse effect on the demand for the Resulting Issuer’s cannabis testing services with the potential to 
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lead to a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations. There 
is no assurance that such adverse publicity reports or other media attention will not arise.

Environmental and employee health and safety regulations. 

The Resulting Issuer’s operations are subject to environmental and safety laws and regulations concerning, among 
other things, the handling and disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous materials and wastes, and employee health 
and safety. The Resulting Issuer will incur ongoing costs and obligations related to compliance with environmental 
and employee health and safety matters. Failure to comply with environmental and safety laws and regulations may 
result in additional costs for corrective measures, penalties or in restrictions on our operations. In addition, changes in 
environmental, employee health and safety or other laws, more vigorous enforcement thereof or other unanticipated 
events could require extensive changes to the Resulting Issuer’s operations or give rise to material liabilities, which 
could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Reliance on key inputs.

The testing of cannabis and derivative products is dependent on a number of key inputs and their related costs including 
raw materials, electricity and other local utilities. Any significant interruption or negative change in the availability or 
economics of the supply chain for key inputs could have a material adverse effect on the anticipated business, financial 
condition, results of operations and prospects of the Resulting Issuer. Some of these inputs may only be available from 
a single supplier or a limited group of suppliers. If a sole source supplier was to go out of business, the Resulting 
Issuer might be unable to find a replacement for such source in a timely manner or at all. Any inability to secure 
required supplies and services or to do so on appropriate terms could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting 
Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Fraudulent or illegal activity by employees, contractors and consultants.

The Resulting Issuer and the subsidiaries will be exposed to the risk that any of their employees, independent 
contractors and consultants may engage in fraudulent or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties could 
include intentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct or disclosure of unauthorized activities to the Resulting Issuer 
that violates: (i) government regulations; (ii) federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws and regulations; or (iii) 
laws that require the true, complete and accurate reporting of financial information or data. It may not always be 
possible for the Resulting Issuer to identify and deter misconduct by its employees and other third parties, and the 
precautions taken by the Resulting Issuer to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling 
unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting the Resulting Issuer from governmental investigations or other 
actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such laws or regulations. If any such actions are 
instituted against the Resulting Issuer, and it is not successful in defending itself or asserting its rights, those actions 
could have a significant impact on the business of the Resulting Issuer, including the imposition of civil, criminal and 
administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and 
future earnings, and curtailment of the operations of the Resulting Issuer, any of which could have a material adverse 
effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Intellectual property.

The success of the Resulting Issuer will depend, in part, on the ability of the subsidiaries to maintain and enhance 
trade secret protection over their existing and potential proprietary techniques and processes. The subsidiaries may be 
vulnerable to competitors who develop competing technology, whether independently or as a result of acquiring access 
to the proprietary trade secrets of the subsidiaries. In addition, effective future patent, copyright and trade secret 
protection may be unavailable or limited in certain foreign countries and may be unenforceable under the laws of 
certain jurisdictions. Failure of the subsidiaries to adequately maintain and enhance protection over their proprietary 
techniques and processes, including the policies and procedures and training manuals, could have a material adverse 
effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Resulting Issuer’s trade secrets may be difficult to protect.

The Resulting Issuer’s success depends upon the skills, knowledge, and experience of its scientific and technical 
personnel, its consultants and advisors, as well as its licensors and contractors. Because the Resulting Issuer operates 
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in several highly competitive industries, the Resulting Issuer relies in part on trade secrets to protect its proprietary 
technology and processes. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. The Resulting Issuer enters into 
confidentiality or non-disclosure agreements with its corporate partners, employees, consultants, outside scientific 
collaborators, developers, and other advisors. These agreements generally require that the receiving party keep 
confidential and not disclose to third parties confidential information developed by the receiving party or made 
known to the receiving party by it during the course of the receiving party’s relationship with it. These agreements 
also generally provide that inventions conceived by the receiving party in the course of rendering services to it will 
be its exclusive property, and the Resulting Issuer enters into assignment agreements to perfect its rights.

These confidentiality, inventions, and assignment agreements may be breached and may not effectively assign 
intellectual property rights to the Resulting Issuer. The Resulting Issuer’s trade secrets also could be independently 
discovered by competitors, in which case the Resulting Issuer would not be able to prevent the use of such trade 
secrets by its competitors. The enforcement of a claim alleging that a party illegally obtained and was using its trade 
secrets could be difficult, expensive, and time consuming and the outcome would be unpredictable. In addition, 
courts outside the United States may be less willing to protect trade secrets. The failure to obtain or maintain 
meaningful trade secret protection could adversely affect its competitive position. 

The Resulting Issuer may be exposed to infringement or misappropriation claims by third parties, which, if 
determined adversely to the Resulting Issuer, could subject the Resulting Issuer to significant liabilities and other 
costs.

The Resulting Issuer’s success may depend on its ability to use and develop new testing technologies and know-how 
without infringing the intellectual property rights of third parties. The Resulting Issuer cannot assure that third parties 
will not assert intellectual property claims against it. The Resulting Issuer is subject to additional risks if entities 
licensing to it intellectual property do not have adequate rights in any such licensed materials. If third parties assert 
copyright or patent infringement or violation of other intellectual property rights against the Resulting Issuer, it will 
be required to defend itself in litigation or administrative proceedings, which can be both costly and time consuming 
and may significantly divert the efforts and resources of management personnel. An adverse determination in any 
such litigation or proceedings to which the Resulting Issuer may become a party could subject it to significant liability 
to third parties, require it to seek licenses from third parties, to pay ongoing royalties or subject the Resulting Issuer 
to injunctions prohibiting the development and operation of its applications.

If the Resulting Issuer is unable to continually innovate and increase efficiencies, its ability to attract new customers 
may be adversely affected.

In the area of innovation, the Resulting Issuer must be able to develop new technologies and services  that appeal to 
its customers. This depends, in part, on the technological and creative skills of its personnel and on its ability to 
protect its intellectual property rights. The Resulting Issuer may not be successful in the development, introduction, 
marketing, and sourcing of new technologies or innovations, that satisfy customer needs, achieve market acceptance, 
or generate satisfactory financial returns.

Operational risks.

The Resulting Issuer may be affected by a number of operational risks and may not be adequately insured for certain 
risks, including: labor disputes; catastrophic accidents; fires; blockades or other acts of social activism; equipment 
defects, malfunction and failures, changes in the regulatory environment; impact of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations; outbreak of a global pandemic (including COVID-19) that can cause interruption of operations, shortage 
of staff, disruption of supply chain, and market volatility; and natural phenomena, such as inclement weather 
conditions, floods, earthquakes, ground movements, accidents and explosions that can cause personal injury, loss of 
life, suspension of operations, damage to facilities, business interruption and damage to or destruction of property, 
equipment and the environment. There is no assurance that the foregoing risks and hazards will not result in damage 
to, or destruction of, the subsidiaries’ properties, personal injury or death, environmental damage, or have an adverse 
impact on the subsidiaries’ operations, costs, monetary losses, potential legal liability and adverse governmental 
action, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and 
results of operations. This lack of insurance coverage could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s 
business, financial condition and results of operations. The Resulting Issuer will continuously monitor its operations 
for quality control and safety. However, there are no assurances that the Resulting Issuer’s safety procedures will 
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always prevent such damages and the Resulting Issuer may be affected by liability or sustain loss in respect of certain 
risks and hazards. Although the Resulting Issuer will maintain insurance coverage that it believes to be adequate and 
customary in the industry, there can be no assurance that such insurance will be adequate to cover its liabilities. In 
addition, there can be no assurance that the Resulting Issuer will be able to maintain adequate insurance in the future 
at rates it considers reasonable and commercially justifiable. The Resulting Issuer may elect not to insure against 
certain risks due to cost of or ease of procuring such insurance. The occurrence of a significant uninsured claim, a 
claim in excess of the insurance coverage limits then maintained by the Resulting Issuer, or a claim at a time when it 
is not able to obtain liability insurance, could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

Coronavirus outbreak.

The outbreak of COVID-19 has resulted in governments worldwide enacting emergency measures to combat the 
spread of the virus. These measures, which include the implementation of travel bans, self-imposing quarantine period 
and social distancing, have caused material disruption to businesses globally resulting in an economic slowdown. 
Global equity markets have experienced significant volatility and weakness. Governments and central banks have 
reacted with significant monetary and fiscal interventions designed to stabilize economic conditions. The duration and 
impact of the COVID-19 outbreak is unknown currently, as is the efficacy of the government and central bank 
interventions. It is not possible to reliably estimate the length and severity of these developments and the impact on 
the financial results and condition of the Resulting Issuer and the subsidiaries in future periods. 

Emerging industry.

The cannabis industry is emerging. There can be no assurance that an active and liquid market for shares of the 
Resulting Issuer will develop and shareholders may find it difficult to resell their Subordinate Voting Shares. 
Accordingly, no assurance can be given that the Resulting Issuer or its business will be successful.

Information technology systems and cyber security risks.

The Resulting Issuer and its subsidiaries’ use of technology is critical in their respective continued operations. The 
Resulting Issuer and its subsidiaries are susceptible to operational, financial and information security risks resulting 
from cyber-attacks and/or technological malfunctions. Successful cyber-attacks and/or technological malfunctions 
affecting the Resulting Issuer and its subsidiaries or their respective service providers can result in, among other things, 
financial losses, the inability to process transactions, the unauthorized release of customer information or confidential 
information and reputational risk.

The Resulting Issuer and its subsidiaries have not experienced any material losses to date relating to cybersecurity 
attacks, other information breaches or technological malfunctions. However, there can be no assurance that the 
Resulting Issuer and its subsidiaries will not incur such losses in the future. As cybersecurity threats continue to evolve, 
the Resulting Issuer and its subsidiaries may be required to use additional resources to continue to modify or enhance 
protective measures or to investigate security vulnerabilities.

The Resulting Issuer may collect and store certain personal information about clients or customers and are responsible 
for protecting such information from privacy breaches. A privacy breach may occur through procedural or process 
failure, information technology malfunction, or deliberate unauthorized intrusions. In addition, theft of data is an 
ongoing risk whether perpetrated via employee collusion or negligence or through deliberate cyber-attack. Any such 
privacy breach or theft could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and 
results of operations.

Market, Securities and Other Risks

Unpredictability caused by anticipated capital structure and voting control.

Although other Canadian-based companies have dual class or multiple voting share structures, given the unique capital 
structure contemplated in respect of the Resulting Issuer and the concentration of voting control that is anticipated to 
be held by the holders of the Multiple Voting Shares, this structure and control could result in a lower trading volume 



- 80 -

and trading price, or greater fluctuations in the trading price of the Resulting Issuer’s Subordinate Voting Shares and 
may result in adverse publicity to the Resulting Issuer or other adverse consequences.

The Resulting Issuer is a holding company.

The Resulting Issuer is a holding company and essentially all of its assets are expected to be the capital stock or 
membership interests of its subsidiaries. As a result, Shareholders of the Resulting Issuer are subject to the risks 
attributable to its subsidiaries. As a holding company, the Resulting Issuer conducts substantially all of its business 
through its subsidiaries, which generate substantially all of its revenues. Consequently, the Resulting Issuer’s cash 
flows and ability to complete current or desirable future enhancement opportunities are dependent on the earnings of 
its subsidiaries and the distribution of those earnings to the Resulting Issuer. The ability of these entities to pay 
dividends and other distributions will depend on their operating results and will be subject to applicable laws and 
regulations which require that solvency and capital standards be maintained by such companies and contractual 
restrictions contained in the instruments governing their debt. In the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation or 
reorganization of any of the Resulting Issuer’s material subsidiaries, holders of indebtedness and trade creditors may 
be entitled to payment of their claims from the assets of those subsidiaries before the Resulting Issuer.

Additional capital requirements.

The Resulting Issuer will likely need additional capital to sustain its operations and will likely need to seek further 
financing. If the Resulting Issuer fails to raise additional capital, as needed, its ability to implement its business model 
and strategy could be compromised. To date, the Resulting Issuer’s operations and expansion of its business have been 
funded primarily from cash-flow from operations as substantially supplemented by the proceeds of debt and equity 
financings. The Resulting Issuer may not be able to obtain additional financing on terms acceptable to it, or at all. In 
particular, because cannabis is illegal under United States federal law, the Resulting Issuer may have difficulty 
attracting investors. 

Even if the Resulting Issuer obtains financing for its near-term operations and expansion, the Resulting Issuer expects 
that it will require additional capital thereafter. Its capital needs will depend on numerous factors including: (i) its 
profitability; (ii) competition from other similar companies; (iii) the level of its investment in research and 
development; and (iv) the amount of its capital expenditures. There can be no assurance that the Resulting Issuer will 
be able to obtain capital in the future to meet its needs.

If the Resulting Issuer raises additional funds through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, the 
percentage ownership held by its existing stockholders will be reduced and its stockholders may experience significant 
dilution. In addition, new securities may contain rights, preferences, or privileges that are senior to those of its issued 
securities. If the Resulting Issuer raises additional capital by incurring debt, this will result in increased interest 
expense. In addition, any debt financing secured in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to the 
Resulting Issuer’s capital raising activities, distributions and other financial and operational matters, which may make 
it more difficult for the Resulting Issuer to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities. The Resulting 
Issuer’s ability to meet its debt obligations will depend upon the Resulting Issuer’s future performance and will be 
subject to financial, business and other factors affecting the Resulting Issuer’s business and operations, including 
general economic conditions. There are no assurances that the Resulting Issuer will be able to meet its debt obligations. 
If the Resulting Issuer raises additional funds through the issuance of securities, market fluctuations in the price of its 
securities could limit its ability to obtain equity financing.

No assurance can be given that any additional financing will be available to the Resulting Issuer, or if available, will 
be on terms favorable to it. If the Resulting Issuer is unable to raise capital when needed, it could have a material 
adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Additional Issuance of Subordinate Voting Shares will result in dilution.

The Resulting Issuer plans to issue additional securities in the future in connection with its planned acquisitions, 
offerings and financing transactions (including through the sale of securities convertible into or exchangeable or 
exercisable for Subordinate Voting Shares), which will dilute a shareholder’s holdings in the Resulting Issuer. The 
Resulting Issuer’s articles permit the issuance of an unlimited number of Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple 
Voting Shares, and shareholders will have no pre-emptive rights in connection with such further issuance. The board 
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of directors of the Resulting Issuer has discretion to determine the price and the terms of further issuances. The 
Resulting Issuer cannot predict the effect that future issuances and sales of its securities will have on the market price 
of the Subordinate Voting Shares. Issuances of a substantial number of additional securities of the Resulting Issuer, 
or the perception that such issuances could occur, may adversely affect prevailing market prices for the Subordinate 
Voting Shares. With any additional issuance of the Resulting Issuer’s securities, investors will suffer dilution to their 
voting power and the Resulting Issuer may experience dilution in its revenue per share. 

Sales of substantial amounts of Subordinate Voting Shares may have an adverse effect on the market price of the 
Subordinate Voting Shares.

Sales of substantial amounts of Subordinate Voting Shares, or the availability of such securities for sale, could 
adversely affect the prevailing market prices for the Subordinate Voting Shares. A decline in the market prices of the 
Subordinate Voting Shares could impair the Resulting Issuer’s ability to raise additional capital through the sale of 
securities should it desire to do so.

Conversion limitations on the Multiple Voting Shares.

The Multiple Voting Shares will be subject to conversion limitations, which prevent the holders of Multiple Voting 
Shares from converting such Multiple Voting Shares into Subordinate Voting Shares, until the expiry of the Restricted 
Conversion Period. These restrictions are based on the number of outstanding voting shares issued and outstanding 
and the number of such voting shares that are held by U.S. residents. During the Restricted Conversion period, the 
Resulting Issuer will not affect any conversion of Multiple Voting Shares, and the holders of such Multiple Voting 
Shares may not convert such Multiple Voting Shares into Subordinate Voting Shares, to the extent that, after giving 
effect to all permitted issuances after such conversions or exercises, as applicable, the aggregate number of 
Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares held of record, directly or indirectly, by U.S. residents would 
exceed 40% of the aggregate number of voting shares of the Resulting Issuer issued and outstanding after giving effect 
to such conversions.

The restrictions on conversion of the Multiple Voting Shares will materially limit the timeframe in which a holder of 
Multiple Voting Shares could convert their Multiple Voting Shares into Subordinate Voting Shares, and accordingly 
the rate of such conversion and total number of Subordinate Voting Shares to be acquired each relevant fiscal quarter. 
Since only the Subordinate Voting Shares (and not the Multiple Voting Shares) are listed on the CSE, these restrictions 
on conversion will materially limit the liquidity of the Multiple Voting Shares and could adversely affect the value of 
Multiple Voting Shares.

The Resulting Issuer faces potential conflicts of interest.

The Resulting Issuer’s proposed operations may present potential conflicts of interest, including, but not limited to, 
the following:

 Certain members of the Resulting Issuer Board and certain officers of the Resulting Issuer serve in advisory 
capacities to businesses engaged in the cannabis industry and have equity interests in a business engaged in 
various aspects of the cannabis industry.

 The officers are employed on a full-time basis with the Resulting Issuer and will devote substantially all of 
their business time to the Resulting Issuer’s affairs. The anticipated Resulting Issuer Board and officers may 
spend a portion of their personal time managing other business endeavors, subject to the condition that such 
personal time not interfere with their respective duties to the Resulting Issuer.

Shareholders will not be represented by the Resulting Issuer’s legal counsel.

Counsel to the Resulting Issuer will not represent any member of the anticipated Resulting Issuer Board, any officer, 
any shareholder of the Resulting Issuer or any eventual holder of the Subordinate Voting Shares in any respect in 
connection with the Business Combination. Shareholders should consult with their own legal counsel and other 
advisors when considering this transaction.
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Price volatility of publicly traded securities.

The market price for the Subordinate Voting Shares may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to 
numerous factors, many of which will be beyond the Resulting Issuer’s control, including, but not limited to the 
following:

 actual or anticipated fluctuations in the Resulting Issuer’s quarterly results of operations;

 recommendations by securities research analysts;

 changes in the economic performance or market valuations of companies in the industry in which the 
Resulting Issuer will operate;

 addition or departure of the Resulting Issuer’s executive officers and other key personnel;

 release or expiration of transfer restrictions on outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares;

 sales or perceived sales of additional Subordinate Voting Shares;

 operating and financial performance that vary from the expectations of management, securities analysts and 
investors;

 regulatory changes affecting the Resulting Issuer’s industry generally and its business and operations both 
domestically and abroad;

 announcements of developments and other material events by the Resulting Issuer or its competitors;

 fluctuations to the costs of vital production materials and services;

 changes in global financial markets and global economies and general market conditions, such as interest 
rates and pharmaceutical product price volatility;

 significant acquisitions or business combinations, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital 
commitments by or involving the Resulting Issuer or its competitors;

 operating and share price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to the Resulting 
Issuer or from a lack of market comparable companies; 

 dual class share structure of the Resulting Issuer;

 expiry of the Restricted Conversion Period; and

 news reports relating to trends, concerns, technological or competitive developments, regulatory changes and 
other related issues in the Resulting Issuer’s industry or target markets.

In recent years, the securities markets in the U.S. and Canada have experienced a high level of price and volume 
volatility, and the market prices of securities of many companies have experienced wide fluctuations in price which 
have not necessarily been related to the operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such 
companies. There can be no assurance that fluctuations in price of the Subordinate Voting Shares will not occur. The 
market price of the Subordinate Voting Shares could be subject to significant fluctuations in response to variations in 
quarterly and annual operating results, the results of any public announcements the Resulting Issuer makes, general 
economic conditions, and other factors. Increased levels of volatility and resulting market turmoil may adversely 
impact the price of the Subordinate Voting Shares.



- 83 -

Liquidity.

The Resulting Issuer cannot predict at what prices the Subordinate Voting Shares of the Resulting Issuer will trade 
and there can be no assurance that an active trading market will develop or be sustained. Final approval of the CSE 
for listing of the Subordinate Voting Shares has not yet been obtained. There is a significant liquidity risk associated 
with an investment in the Resulting Issuer.

Shareholders will have little or no rights to participate in the Resulting Issuer’s affairs.

With the exception of the limited rights of shareholders under applicable laws, the day-to-day decisions regarding the 
management of the Resulting Issuer’s affairs will be made exclusively by the Resulting Issuer Board and its officers. 
Shareholders will have little or no control over the Resulting Issuer’s future business decisions, its business, and its 
affairs. The Resulting Issuer may also retain other officers and agents to provide various services to the Resulting 
Issuer, over which the shareholders will have no control. There can be no assurance that the anticipated Resulting 
Issuer Board, officers or its other agents will effectively manage and direct the affairs of the Resulting Issuer. 
Moreover, due to the fact that the holders of the Multiple Voting Shares will have the power to elect the Resulting 
Issuer Board, other shareholders will not have the power to change the Resulting Issuer Board if they disagree with 
the decisions being made by the Resulting Issuer Board and management.

Dividends.

Holders of the Resulting Issuer Shares will not have a right to dividends on such shares unless declared by the 
Resulting Issuer Board. GSL and Prominex have not paid dividends in the past, and it is not anticipated that the 
Resulting Issuer will pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. Dividends paid by the Resulting Issuer would be 
subject to tax including certain withholding taxes as summarized below under the heading “Certain Tax Risks”. The 
declaration of dividends is at the discretion of the Resulting Issuer Board, even if the Resulting Issuer has sufficient 
funds, net of its liabilities, to pay such dividends, and the declaration of any dividend will depend on the Resulting 
Issuer’s financial results, cash requirements, future prospects and other factors deemed relevant by the Resulting Issuer 
Board.

Costs of maintaining a public listing.

As a public company, there are costs associated with legal, accounting and other expenses related to regulatory 
compliance. Securities legislation and the rules and policies of the CSE require listed companies to, among other 
things, adopt corporate governance and related practices, and to disclose material information in a timely manner, all 
of which add to a company’s legal and financial compliance costs. The Resulting Issuer may also elect to devote 
greater resources than it otherwise would have on communication and other activities typically considered important 
by publicly traded companies.

Canada-United States border risks.

News media have reported that United States immigration authorities have increased scrutiny of Canadian citizens 
who are crossing the United States-Canada border with respect to persons involved in cannabis businesses in the 
United States. There have been a number of Canadians barred from entering the United States as a result of an 
investment in or activities related to United States cannabis businesses. In some cases, entry has been barred for 
extended periods of time. This could adversely impact the ability of the Resulting Issuer from hiring Canadian citizens 
which could impact its operations.

Newly established legal regime.

The Resulting Issuer’s business activities will rely on newly established and/or developing laws and regulations in 
the states in which it operates. These laws and regulations are rapidly evolving and subject to change with minimal 
notice. Regulatory changes may adversely affect the Resulting Issuer’s profitability or cause it to cease operations 
entirely. The cannabis industry may come under the scrutiny or further scrutiny by the FDA, the SEC, the DOJ, the 
Financial Industry Regulatory Advisory or other federal or applicable state or nongovernmental regulatory authorities 
or self-regulatory organizations that supervise or regulate the production, distribution, sale or use of cannabis for 
medical or nonmedical purposes in the United States. It is impossible to determine the extent of the impact of any 
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new laws, regulations or initiatives that may be proposed, or whether any proposals will become law. The regulatory 
uncertainty surrounding the industry may adversely affect the business and operations of the Resulting Issuer, 
including without limitation, the costs to remain compliant with applicable laws and the impairment of its business 
or the ability to raise additional capital.

Volatile global financial and economic conditions may negatively affect the Resulting Issuer's operations. 

Current global financial and economic conditions remain relatively unstable. Many industries, including the cannabis 
industry, are impacted by these market conditions. Some of the key impacts of the current financial market instability 
include contraction in credit markets resulting in a widening of credit risk, devaluations and high volatility in global 
equity, commodity and foreign exchange markets, and a lack of market liquidity. Such factors may impact the 
Resulting Issuer’s ability to obtain financing in the future on favourable terms or obtain any financing at all. 
Additionally, global economic conditions may cause a long term decrease in asset values. If such global financial 
and economic conditions remain unstable or deteriorate, the Resulting Issuer’s operations and financial condition 
could be adversely impacted.

Certain Tax Risks

THE FOLLOWING IS A DISCUSSION OF CERTAIN MATERIAL TAX RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE 
ACQUISITION AND OWNERSHIP OF SUBORDINATE VOTING SHARES. THIS LISTING STATEMENT 
DOES NOT DISCUSS RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH ANY APPLICABLE STATE, PROVINCIAL, LOCAL OR 
FOREIGN TAX LAWS. THE TAX RELATED INFORMATION IN THIS LISTING STATEMENT DOES NOT 
CONSTITUTE TAX ADVICE AND IS FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY. FOR ADVICE ON TAX 
LAWS APPLICABLE TO A SHAREHOLDER’S INDIVIDUAL TAX SITUATIONS, SHAREHOLDERS 
SHOULD SEEK THE ADVICE OF THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS. NO REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY 
OF ANY KIND IS MADE BY GSL, THE RESULTING ISSUER OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE BOARDS OF 
DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, LEGAL COUNSEL, OTHER AGENTS OR AFFILIATES WITH RESPECT TO THE 
TAX TREATMENT APPLICABLE TO ANY PERSON WHO ACQUIRES RESULTING ISSUER SHARES 
PURSUANT TO THE BUSINESS COMBINATION. EACH PROSPECTIVE SHAREHOLDER IS URGED TO 
REVIEW THIS LISTING STATEMENT IN ITS ENTIRETY AND TO CONSULT HIS OR HER OWN TAX 
ADVISOR WITH RESPECT TO THE FEDERAL, STATE, PROVINCIAL, LOCAL AND FOREIGN TAX 
CONSEQUENCES ARISING IN CONNECTION WITH THE ACQUISITION AND OWNERSHIP OF 
RESULTING ISSUER SHARES. 

The Resulting Issuer may be subject to Canadian and United States tax on its world-wide income.

The Resulting Issuer will be deemed to be a resident of Canada for Canadian federal income tax purposes by virtue of 
being incorporated under the laws of a province of Canada. Accordingly, the Resulting Issuer will be subject to 
Canadian taxation on its worldwide income, in accordance with the rules in the Tax Act generally applicable to 
corporations resident in Canada.

Notwithstanding that the Resulting Issuer will be deemed to be a resident of Canada for Canadian federal income tax 
purposes, it is expected that the Resulting Issuer will be treated as a United States corporation for United States federal 
income tax purposes, pursuant to Section 7874(b) of the Code, and is expected to be subject to United States federal 
income tax on its worldwide income. As a result, the Resulting Issuer will be subject to taxation on its worldwide 
income both in Canada and the United States, which could have a material adverse effect on the Resulting Issuer’s 
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Dividends on the Resulting Issuer Shares may be subject to Canadian and/or United States withholding tax.

It is currently anticipated that the Resulting Issuer will not pay any dividends on the Resulting Issuer Shares in the 
foreseeable future. 

To the extent dividends are paid on the Resulting Issuer Shares, dividends received by shareholders who are residents 
of Canada for purpose of the Tax Act will be subject to U.S. withholding tax. Any such dividends may not qualify for 
a reduced rate of withholding tax under the Canada-United States tax treaty. In addition, a Canadian foreign tax credit 
or a deduction in respect of such U.S. withholding taxes paid may not be available to Canadian resident shareholders.
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Dividends received by U.S. holders will not be subject to U.S. withholding tax but will be subject to Canadian 
withholding tax. Dividends paid by the Resulting Issuer will be characterized as U.S. source income for purposes of 
the foreign tax credit rules under the Code. Accordingly, U.S. holders generally will not be able to claim a credit for 
any Canadian tax withheld unless, depending on the circumstances, they have an excess foreign tax credit limitation 
due to other foreign source income that is subject to a low or zero rate of foreign tax.

Dividends received by shareholders that are neither Canadian nor U.S. shareholders will be subject to U.S. withholding 
tax and will also be subject to Canadian withholding tax. These dividends may not qualify for a reduced rate of U.S. 
withholding tax under any income tax treaty otherwise applicable to a shareholder of the Resulting Issuer, subject to 
the particular provisions of the relevant income tax treaty. These dividends may, however, qualify for a reduced rate 
of Canadian withholding tax under any income tax treaty otherwise applicable to a shareholder of the Resulting Issuer, 
subject to the particular provisions of the relevant treaty.

Transfers of Resulting Issuer Shares may be subject to United States gift, estate and transfer taxes.

Because the Resulting Issuer Shares will be treated as shares of a U.S. domestic corporation, the U.S. gift, estate and 
generation-skipping transfer tax rules generally will apply to a Non-U.S. holder of Resulting Issuer Shares.

The application of Section 280E of the Code may substantially limit the Resulting Issuer’s ability to deduct certain 
expenses for United States tax purposes.

Pursuant to Section 280E of the Code, the ability of any business involved in any trade or business consisting of the 
trafficking in controlled substances within the meaning of Schedule I and II of the CSA which is prohibited by federal 
law to take certain deductions for U.S. federal income tax purposes is severely limited. Cannabis is currently a 
controlled substance within the meaning of Schedule I of the CSA. As a result, the U.S. federal taxable income of the 
Resulting Issuer and its subsidiaries is likely to exceed its actual profits.

Changes in tax laws may affect the Resulting Issuer and holders of Resulting Issuer Shares.

There can be no assurance that the Canadian and U.S. federal income tax treatment of the Resulting Issuer or an 
investment in the Resulting Issuer will not be modified, prospectively or retroactively, by legislative, judicial or 
administrative action, in a manner adverse to the Resulting Issuer or holders of Resulting Issuer Shares.

On March 31, 2021, the current United States presidential administration proposed the “American Jobs Plan” to create 
domestic jobs, rebuild national infrastructure and increase American competitiveness. To fund its expected US$2 
trillion cost, the administration also proposed the “Made in America Tax Plan,” which is intended to raise that amount 
or more over 15 years through several methods including higher income tax rates on corporations. If enacted, the 
Resulting Issuer’s federal corporate income tax rate would increase from 21% to 28%. Any increase in the Resulting 
Issuer’s federal corporate tax rate would require the Resulting Issuer to pay more in federal taxes, thus reducing the 
Resulting Issuer’s net revenue.

The Resulting Issuer Shares may not be qualified investments for Registered Plans if the Subordinate Voting Shares 
are not listed on a designated stock exchange. 

If the Subordinate Voting Shares are not listed on a designated stock exchange, or if Resulting Issuer does not 
otherwise satisfy the conditions in the Tax Act to be a “public corporation”, the Resulting Issuer Shares will not be 
considered to be a qualified investment for a Registered Plan under the Tax Act. Where a Registered Plan acquires a 
Resulting Issuer Share in circumstances where the Resulting Issuer Share is not a qualified investment under the Tax 
Act for the Registered Plan, adverse tax consequences may arise for the Registered Plan and the controlling individual 
(within the meaning of the Tax Act) under the Registered Plan, including that the Registered Plan may become subject 
to penalty taxes and the controlling individual of such Registered Plan may be deemed to have received income 
therefrom or be subject to a penalty tax.
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An Investment in the Resulting Issuer is not intended to provide any material tax benefits to Shareholders.

An investment in the Resulting Issuer is not designed to provide tax losses to shareholders or to shelter income from 
sources. No material tax benefits are expected from an investment in the Resulting Issuer. Accordingly, you are urged 
to make your investment decision based on economic considerations, rather than tax considerations.

ERISA imposes additional obligations on certain investors.

In considering an investment in the Resulting Issuer Shares, trustees, custodians, investment managers, and fiduciaries 
of retirement and other plans subject to the fiduciary responsibility provisions of the ERISA and/or Section 4975 of 
the Code, should consider, among other things: (1) whether an investment in the Resulting Issuer Shares is in 
accordance with plan documents and satisfies the diversification requirements of Sections 404(a)(1)(C) and 
404(a)(1)(D) of ERISA, if applicable; (2) whether an investment in the Resulting Issuer Shares will result in unrelated 
business taxable income to the plan; (3) whether an investment in the securities is prudent under Section 404(a)(1)(B) 
of ERISA, if applicable, given the nature of an investment in, and the compensation structure of, GSL and the potential 
lack of liquidity of the Resulting Issuer Shares during the lock-up period following the Business Combination; (4) 
whether GSL or any of its affiliates is a fiduciary or party in interest to the plan, and (5) whether an investment in the 
securities complies with the “indicia of ownership” requirement set forth in ERISA Section 404(b). Fiduciaries and 
other persons responsible for the investment of certain governmental and church plans that are subject to any provision 
of federal, state, or local law that is substantially similar to the fiduciary responsibility provisions of Title I of ERISA 
or Section 4975 of the Code that are considering the investment in the Resulting Issuer Shares should consider the 
applicability of the provisions of such similar law and whether the Resulting Issuer Shares would be an appropriate 
investment under such similar law. The responsible fiduciary must take into account all of the facts and circumstances 
of the plan and of the investment when determining if a particular investment is prudent.

18. PROMOTERS

18.1 Promoters

No person or company has been within the two years immediately preceding the date of this Listing Statement, a 
promoter of the Resulting Issuer.

19. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

19.1 Legal Proceedings

There are no actual or contemplated legal proceedings material to the Resulting Issuer or a subsidiary of Resulting 
Issuer or any of their respective properties.

There have been no penalties or sanctions imposed against the Resulting Issuer by a court or regulatory authority, and 
the Resulting Issuer has not entered into any settlement agreements before any court relating to provincial or territorial 
securities legislation or with any securities regulatory authority, in the three years prior to the date of this Listing 
Statement.

19.2 Regulatory Actions

The Resulting Issuer is not subject to: (i) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to provincial and 
territorial securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority within three years immediately preceding the 
date of this Listing Statement; (ii) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body against the 
Resulting Issuer that are necessary to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities 
being listed. The Resulting Issuer has not entered into any settlement agreements before a court relating to provincial 
and territorial securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority within the three years immediately 
preceding the date of this Listing Statement.
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20. INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

No director or executive officer of the Resulting Issuer or person or company that is the direct or indirect beneficial 
owner of, or who exercises control or direction over, more than 10 percent of any class or series of the outstanding 
voting securities of the Resulting Issuer, or any associate or affiliate of any of the foregoing has or had any material 
interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction within the three years before the date of this Listing Statement, or in any 
proposed transaction, which has materially affected or will materially affect the Resulting Issuer or any of its 
subsidiaries.

21. AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS

21.1 Auditors

The auditors of the Resulting Issuer are SRCO Professional Corporation located at 15 Wertheim Ct, Suite 409, 
Richmond Hill, Ontario, L4B 3H7.

21.2 Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar of the Resulting Issuer’s Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares is 
Capital Transfer Agency ULC, at its offices located at 390 Bay Street, Suite 920, Toronto, Ontario M5H 2Y2. 

22. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

During the course of the two years prior to the date of the Listing Statement, the Resulting Issuer has entered into the 
following material contracts, other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business:

(a) the Business Combination Agreement; and
(b) the CMTL licence effective July 1, 2020 in respect of the FL Facility.

22.2 Special Agreements

This section is not applicable to the Resulting Issuer.

23. INTEREST OF EXPERTS

No person or corporation whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by the person or 
corporation and who is named as having prepared or certified a part of this Listing Statement or as having prepared or 
certified a report or valuation described or included in this Listing Statement holds any beneficial interest, direct or 
indirect, in any securities or property of the Resulting Issuer or of an Associate or Affiliate of the Resulting Issuer and 
no such person is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, senior officer or employee of the 
Resulting Issuer or of an Associate or Affiliate of the Resulting Issuer and no such person is a promoter of the Resulting 
Issuer or an Associate or Affiliate of the Resulting Issuer. SRCO Professional Corporation is independent of the 
Resulting Issuer and has performed it services in accordance with the rules of rules of professional conduct of 
International Auditing Standards.

24. OTHER MATERIAL FACTS

Other than as set out elsewhere in this Listing Statement, there are no other material facts about the Resulting Issuer 
or its respective securities which are necessary in order for this Listing Statement to contain full, true and plain 
disclosure of all material facts relating to the Resulting Issuer and its respective securities.

25. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Please refer to Schedule “A” for Prominex’ annual audited financial statements for the years ended April 30, 2021 
and 2020 and to Schedule “B” for Prominex’ interim financial statements for the nine months ended January 31, 2021.
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Please refer to Schedule “E” for GSL’s consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 
2019 (audited) and the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 (unaudited) and to Schedule “F” for GSL’s 
consolidated interim financial statements for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2020 (unaudited)

Please refer to Schedule “I” for the consolidated pro forma financial statements of the Resulting Issuer. 



CERTIFICATE OF THE RESULTING ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, Green Scientific Labs Holdings Inc., hereby applies for 
the listing of the above mentioned securities on the Canadian Securities Exchange. The foregoing contains full, true 
and plain disclosure of all material information relating to Green Scientific Labs Holdings Inc. It contains no untrue 
statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary 
to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Davie, Florida this 15th day of November, 2021. 
 

“Paul Crage”  “Richard Gray” 

Paul Crage 
Chief Executive Officer 

 Richard Gray 
Chief Financial Officer 

 
 

“Edward Murray”  “Alexander Spiro” 

Edward Murray 
Director 

 Alexander Spiro 
Director 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Shareholders of 
Prominex Resource Corp. 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Prominex Resource Corp. (the Company), which 
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at April 30, 2021 and 2020, and the 
consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, consolidated statements of changes in equity and 
consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Company as at April 30, 2021 and 2020, and its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the years then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 
 
Material Uncertainty Relating to Going Concern   
We draw your attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Company 
incurred a comprehensive loss of $70,789 during the year ended April 30, 2021. As stated in Note 1, these 
events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate that a material uncertainty 
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion 
is not modified in respect of this matter.  
 
Information Other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the annual 
management’s discussion and analysis but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. 
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. As part of an audit in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 



We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Pat Kenney. 

Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 

Mississauga, Ontario 
August 30, 2021  



PROMINEX RESOURCE CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
AS AT APRIL 30, 

Notes 
2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
ASSETS 
CURRENT 
    Cash 8,634 81,203 
    Amounts receivable and other assets - 1,640
    Harmonized sales tax receivable 11,060 6,869

TOTAL ASSETS 19,694 89,712 

LIABILITIES 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 
    Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 6, 7 454,503 614,739 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
    Statue barred liabilities 9 547,025 386,019 

1,001,528 1,000,758 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIENCY) 
Share capital 5 (b) 8,728,554 8,728,554 
Contributed surplus 2,848,185 2,848,185 
Deficit (12,558,573) (12,487,784) 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY) (981,834) (911,045) 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
(DEFICIENCY) 

19,694 89,712 

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 1 
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 6 
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 12 

APPROVED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD 

"Binyomin Posen"     Director 

"Balu Gopalakrishnan"          Director 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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PROMINEX RESOURCE CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED APRIL 30, 

Notes 2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

EXPENSES 

    Consulting fees 7 12,750 43,285 
    General and administrative 4,860 11,719 
    Professional fees 53,179 34,376 

NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR 70,789 89,380 

NET LOSS PER SHARE - Basic and diluted 0.01 0.01 

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES OUTSTANDING - Basic and diluted 
(i) 5(b) 9,342,275 7,678,338 

(i) Adjusted for 1:40 share consolidation effective August 13, 2020 (note 5b)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
5



 

 

PROMINEX RESOURCE CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED APRIL 30, 2021 AND 2020 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
(i) Adjusted for 1:40 share consolidation effective August 13, 2020 (note 5b) 

 
 
 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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 Share Share Contributed 
 

  
 Capital 

 
Capital Surplus (Deficit) Total 

 # $ $ $ $ 
      
      
BALANCE, APRIL 30, 2019 (i) 2,092,275 8,583,554 2,848,185 (12,398,405) (966,666) 
Common share private placement (i) 7,250,000 145,000 - - 145,000 
Net loss - - - (89,380) (89,380) 
      
BALANCE, APRIL 30, 2020 9,342,275 8,728,554 2,848,185 (12,487,784) (911,045) 
Net loss - - - (70,789) (70,789) 

      
BALANCE, APRIL 30, 2021 9,342,275 8,728,554 2,848,185 (12,558,573) (981,834) 

     



 

 

 

PROMINEX RESOURCE CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED APRIL 30,  
 
 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
   
CASH FLOWS (USED IN) PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
    Net loss for the year   (70,789)                      (89,380) 
    Changes in non-cash components of working capital   
        Increase in HST receivable and other assets (2,551) (4,965) 
        Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (160,235) (355,471) 
        Increase in statute barred liabilities 161,006 386,019 
Cash flow (used in) operating activities (72,569) (63,797) 
   
CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
    Issue of common shares - 145,000 
 - 145,000 
   
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents for the year (72,569) 81,203 
CASH, beginning of the year 81,203 - 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of the year 8,634 81,203 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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PROMINEX RESOURCES CORP. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

8 
 

 
1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN  

Prominex Resource Corp. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Canada Business 
Corporations Act. Previously the Company was engaged in the acquisition, exploration and 
evaluation of a mineral assets. Currently it is actively pursuing other potential business 
opportunities. The Company’s head office is located at 108 Cordova Street West, Vancouver, 
British Columbia, V6B 0G6.   
 
The securities of the Company are not presently listed on any stock exchange. However, the 
Company is subject to a cease trade order issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission 
dated September 10, 2015 (the “Cease Trade Order”) for failure to file certain required filings 
under applicable securities laws. The Company applied for partial revocation of the Cease Trade 
Order, and on May 13, 2019, and the British Columbia Securities Commission granted a partial 
revocation of the Cease Trade Order, solely to permit the Company to complete a non-brokered 
private placement for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $145,000, through the issuance of up to 
7,250,000  common shares in the capital of the Company (each, a “Common Share”) at a price of 
$0.002 per Common Share (the “Offering”). The Company completed the Offering pursuant to 
the partial revocation on July 23, 2019, raising $145,000 through the issuance of 7,250,000  
Common Shares. Effective February 18, 2020, the British Columbia Securities Commission issued 
an order revoking the Cease Trade Order. 
 
On April 16, 2021, the Company announced it had entered into a non-binding letter of intent (the 
”LOI”) with Green Scientific Labs, LLC (“GSL”), a leading hemp and marijuana testing laboratory.  
GSL also expects to complete a US$4,000,000 concurrent placement with the reverse takeover of 
the Company. On completion of the proposed transaction, GSL shareholders will hold 
approximately 97.49% of the common shares of the Resulting Issuer. 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which 
assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able 
to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations.  Realization 
values may be substantially different from carrying values as shown and the financial statements 
do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary to the carrying values and classification 
of assets and liabilities should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 
 
At April 30, 2021, the Company had no source of operating cash flow and an accumulated deficit 
of $12,558,573 (April 30, 2020 - $12,487,784).  At April 30, 2021, the Company had a working 
capital deficit of $434,809 (April 30, 2020 – deficit of $525,026).  These conditions raise material 
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt as to the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. 
 



PROMINEX RESOURCES CORP. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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Management believes it will be successful in raising the necessary funds to continue in the normal 
course of operations or effecting a corporate transaction.  However, there is no assurance that 
these funds will be available on terms acceptable to the Company or at all, or that a corporate 
transaction will be affected. These consolidated financial statements do not include the 
adjustments that would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going 
concern. Such adjustments could be material.  
 
The outbreak of the novel strain of coronavirus, specifically identified as ‘COVID-19”, has resulted 
in governments worldwide enacting emergency measures to combat the spread of the virus. 
These measures, which include the implementation of travel bans, self-imposing quarantine 
period and social distancing, have caused material disruption to businesses globally resulting in 
an economic slowdown. Global equity markets have experienced significant volatility and 
weakness. Governments and central banks have reacted with significant monetary and fiscal 
interventions designed to stabilize economic conditions. The duration and impact of the COVID-
19 outbreak is unknown currently, as is the efficacy of the government and central bank 
interventions. It is not possible to reliably estimate the length and severity of these developments 
and the impact on the financial results and condition of the Company in future periods.  
 

 
2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE  

 
 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”) and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). The policies set out 
are based on IFRS issued and outstanding as of August 30, 2021, being the date, the Board of 
Directors approved the consolidated financial statements. The policies have been consistently 
applied to all periods presented unless otherwise noted.  

 
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION  

 
 Basis of consolidation  
 These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Prominex Resources Corp. and its 

wholly owned subsidiary, Cannabinoid Capital Corporation (“Cannabinoid”), which is currently 
inactive. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated upon 
consolidation.  

 
Subsidiaries are those entities which the Company controls. Control exists when the Company is 
exposed or has rights to the variable returns of the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the subsidiary. Power is defined as existing rights that give the 



PROMINEX RESOURCES CORP. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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Company the ability to direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Company and are de-consolidated 
from the date that control ceases.  

 
 Basis of measurement  

The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional 
currency and have been prepared on a historical cost basis, with the exception of certain financial 
assets and liabilities which are measured at fair-value, as explained in the accounting policies below.  
In addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting, except for cash flow information.  

 
4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
 The following are the significant accounting policies for the Company:   
 

 (a)  Cash and cash equivalents  
 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and money market funds, with original maturities 

of less than 90 days. The money market funds are held with a Canadian chartered bank or a 
Canadian financial institution.  

 
 (b)  Income taxes  

 Income tax on the profit or loss for the years presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income 
tax is recognized in the statement of operations except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.  

 
 Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with 
regards to previous years.  

 
 Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 

assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements unless such differences 
arise from goodwill or the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets 
or liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit or loss.  

 
 Deferred income tax is determined on a non-discounted basis using tax rates and laws that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date and are expected 
to apply when the deferred tax asset or liability is settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and 
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that enactment occurs.  

 



PROMINEX RESOURCES CORP. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered. 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

 
 Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries 

and associates, except, in the case of subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference is controlled by the Company and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.  

 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 
and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

 
 (c)  Share-based payment transactions  

 Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are 
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value is measured 
at grant date and each tranche is recognized on a graded-vesting basis over the period in which the 
options vest. The offset to the recorded cost is share-based payment reserve. Consideration 
received on the exercise of stock options is recorded as share capital and the related share-based 
payment reserve is transferred to share capital. Upon expiry, the value is transferred to deficit.  

   
 At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity 

instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is 
recognized in the statement of operations such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised 
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payment reserve. Where the terms 
and conditions of options are modified, the increase in the fair value of the options, measured 
immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to the statement of operations.  

 
 Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured 

at the fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated 
reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, 
measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.  

 
(d)  Loss per common share  

 Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding. The 
diluted loss per share assumes that any proceeds from the exercise of dilutive stock options and 
warrants would be used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the 
period, with the incremental number of shares being included in the denominator of the diluted 
loss per share calculation. The diluted loss per share calculation excludes any potential conversion 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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of options and warrants that would decrease loss per share. See Notes 6(c) and (d) for details on 
the Company’s potentially dilutive securities.  

 
  (e)  Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions  

 The preparation of consolidated financial statements under IFRS requires management to make 
certain estimates, judgments and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts 
reported in the financial statements and related notes to the financial statements. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual 
results may differ from those estimates and these differences could be material.  

 
 The areas which require management to make significant judgements, estimates and assumptions 

in determining carrying values include, but are not limited to:  
 

• Income, value added, withholding and other taxes   
The Company is subject to income, value added, withholding and other taxes. There are 
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business. The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated 
tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. The 
determination of the Company’s income, value added, withholding and other tax liabilities 
requires interpretation of complex laws and regulations.  
 
The Company’s interpretation of taxation law as applied to transactions and activities may 
not coincide with the interpretation of the tax authorities. All tax related filings are subject 
to government audit and potential reassessment subsequent to the financial statement 
reporting period. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the tax related accruals 
and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
 

• Going concern 

The assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern involves 
judgement regarding future funding available for its working capital requirements. 
 

   (f) Financial instruments  
The Company recognizes a financial asset or financial liability on the statement of financial 
position when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 
Financial assets are initially measured at fair value and are derecognized either when the 
Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset, or when cash flows expire. Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and are 
derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. 
 
A write-off of a financial asset (or a portion thereof) constitutes a derecognition event. 
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Write-off occurs when the Company has no reasonable expectations of recovering the 
contractual cash flows on a financial asset. 
 
Classification and Measurement 
The Company determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition. 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are classified according to the following measurement 
categories: 
 

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value, either through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”) or through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”); and, 

• those to be measured subsequently at amortized cost. 
 
The classification and measurement of financial assets after initial recognition at fair value 
depends on the business model for managing the financial asset and the contractual terms of 
the cash flows. Financial assets that are held within a business model whose objective is to 
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, are generally measured at amortized cost 
at each subsequent reporting period. All other financial assets are measure at their fair values 
at each subsequent reporting period, with any changes recorded through profit or loss or 
through other comprehensive income (which designation is made as an irrevocable election at 
the time of recognition). 
 
After initial recognition at fair value, financial liabilities are classified and measured at either: 
 

• amortized cost; 
• FVTPL, if the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time of recognition, 

or when required (for items such as instruments held for trading or derivatives); or  
• FVTOCI, when the change in fair value is attributable to changes in the Company’s 

credit risk. 
 
The Company reclassifies financial assets when and only when its business model for managing 
those assets changes. Financial liabilities are not reclassified. 
 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of a financial asset 
or financial liability classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost are included in the 
fair value of the instrument on initial recognition. Transaction costs for financial assets and 
financial liabilities classified at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss. 
 
The Company’s financial assets consist of cash, which is classified and subsequently measured 
at fair value and Harmonized sales tax receivable which is classified and measured at amortized 
cost. The Company’s financial liabilities consist of accounts payable and accrued liabilities and 
statue barred liabilities, which are classified and measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. Interest expense is reported in profit or loss. 
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  Impairment of financial assets 
The Company assesses all information available, including on a forward-looking basis, the 
expected credit losses associated with any financial assets carried at amortized cost. The 
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Company compares 
the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at 
the date of initial recognition based on all information available, and reasonable and supportive 
forward-looking information. 
 
Effective interest method 
The effective interest method calculates the amortized cost of a financial instrument asset or 
liability and allocates interest income over the corresponding period. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial 
asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income is recognized on an effective 
interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as FVTPL. 

 
 (g)  Provisions  

 A provision is recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability. A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits 
to be derived by the Company from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its 
obligations under the contract.  

 
 (h)  Accounting Standards Issued but not yet Applied  
 
Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRIC that are mandatory for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2022 or later periods. 
 
IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”) was amended in January 2020 to provide a 
more general approach to the classification of liabilities under IAS 1 based on the contractual 
arrangements in place at the reporting date. The amendments clarify that the classification of 
liabilities as current or noncurrent is based solely on a company’s right to defer settlement at the 
reporting date. The right needs to be unconditional and must have substance. The amendments 
also clarify that the transfer of a company’s own equity instruments is regarded as settlement of a 
liability, unless it results from the exercise of a conversion option meeting the definition of an equity 
instrument. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on January 1, 2023. 
 
IAS 37 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent Assets (“IAS 37”) was amended. The 
amendments clarify that when assessing if a contract is onerous, the cost of fulfilling the contract 
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includes all costs that relate directly to the contract – i.e. a full-cost approach. Such costs include 
both the incremental costs of the contract (i.e. costs a company would avoid if it did not have the 
contract) and an allocation of other direct costs incurred on activities required to fulfill the contract 
– e.g. contract management and supervision, or depreciation of equipment used in fulfilling the 
contract. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on January 1, 2022. 
 
IFRS 3 – Business Combination (“IFRS3”). The amendments introduce new exceptions to the 
recognition and measurement principles in IFRS 3 to ensure that the update in references to the 
revised conceptual framework does not change which assets and liabilities qualify for recognition 
in a business combination. An acquirer should apply the definition of a liability in IAS 37 – rather 
than the definition in the Conceptual Framework – to determine whether a present obligation exists 
at the acquisition date as a result of past events. For a levy in the scope of IFRIC 21, the acquirer 
should apply the criteria in IFRIC 21 to determine whether the obligating event that gives rise to a 
liability to pay the levy has occurred by the acquisition date. In addition, the amendments clarify 
that the acquirer should not recognize a contingent asset at the acquisition date. The amendments 
are effective for annual periods beginning on January 1, 2022. 
 

 
5. SHARE CAPITAL  

 
 (a)        Authorized  
           Unlimited number of common shares with no par value.      
 
    (b)        Issued  

 Common Shares Amount 
 # $ 

Balance, April 30, 2019 2,092,275 8,583,554 
Issued for cash 7,250,000 145,000 
Balance, April 30, 2021 and 2020 9,342,275 8,728,554 

 
On August 13, 2020, the Company completed a share consolidation by issuing one new share 
for every forty issued and outstanding shares.  Prior to the share consolidation the Company 
had 373,690,890 shares outstanding.  After the consolidation, the Company had 9,342,275 
shares outstanding. All share numbers have been adjusted to reflect the number 
outstanding, as if the consolidation had occurred at the beginning of the reporting period. 
 
On July 23, 2019, the Company issued 7,250,000 common shares in a non-brokered private 
placement for cash proceeds of $145,000.   

 
(c)  Stock Options  

The Company has a 10% rolling stock option plan (“Plan”) which provides that incentive-
based stock options may be granted, at the Board’s discretion, to a quantity not to exceed 
10% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company at the time of granting.  Pursuant 
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to TSX-V policies, the Plan requires annual shareholder approval. The Plan was renewed at 
the September 10, 2013 Shareholders' Meeting. 

As of April 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019 there were no outstanding stock options to purchase 
common shares of the Company. 

(d) Warrants
As of April 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019 there were no outstanding warrants to purchase common 
shares of the Company.

6. CONTINGENCIES, COMMITMENTS AND PROVISIONS

The Company’s exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing the
protection of the environment. These laws and regulations are continually changing and generally
becoming more restrictive. The Company believes its operations are in material compliance with
all applicable laws and regulations. The Company has made, and expects to make in the future,
expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations.

7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties include directors, officers, close family members, certain consultants and
enterprises that are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar
functions.

In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly or
indirectly, including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company. The Company
defines key management personnel as its CEO and Directors. Remuneration of directors and key
management personnel of the Company for the years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020 was:

2021 2020 
$ $ 

Consulting fees - 36,000

As at April 30, 2021, $nil (2020 - $40,000) due to related parry was included in accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities. All amounts due to related parties are on account of operating 
activities and are subject to standard trade terms.  
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8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK FACTORS  

 
 International financial reporting standards require that the Company disclose information about 

the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities. Fair value estimates are made at the statement 
of financial position date, based on relevant market information and information about the 
financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties in 
significant matters of judgment and therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in 
assumptions could significantly affect these estimates.  

 
 Fair value measurements are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of 

the inputs used in making the measurements. At April 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company has no 
financial instruments carried at fair value to classify in the fair value hierarchy.  

 
 As at April 30, 2021 and 2020, the carrying amounts of accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

and statute barred liabilities on the statement of financial position approximate fair market value 
because of the demand or short-term nature of these instruments.  

 
The Company's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are 
summarized below. There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures 
from previous periods.  

 
 (a)  Credit Risk  

 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a 
financial instrument fails to meet its obligations. The Company’s credit risk is primarily 
attributable to cash and cash equivalents. The Company has no significant concentration of 
credit risk arising from operations. Management believes that the credit risk with respect to 
cash and cash equivalents, and financial instruments included in amounts receivable is 
remote.  

 
  (b)  Liquidity Risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial 
asset. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure there is sufficient 
capital on hand to meet its financial commitments as they come due. At April 30, 2021, the 
Company had cash and cash equivalents of $8,634 (2020 - $81,203) available to settle current 
liabilities of $454,503 (April 30, 2020 - $614,739). The Company’s accounts payable and 
accrued liability are subject to normal trade terms.  
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9. STATUTE BARRED LIABILITIES  

 
During the year ended April 30, 2021, the Company transferred $161,006 (2020 - $386,019) of 
accounts payable (the “Statute-barred Claims”) to non-current liabilities on the basis that any 
claims in respect of the Statute-barred Claims were statute barred under the Limitations Act 
(Ontario). The Statute-barred Claims relate to expenses billed by third-party vendors. Under 
IFRS, a financial liability can only be derecognized from the Company’s Statement of Financial 
Position when it is extinguished, meaning only when the contract is discharged or canceled or 
expires. The effect of the Limitations Act is to prevent a creditor from enforcing an obligation, 
but it does not formally extinguish the financial liability under IFRS.  
 
It is the position of management of the Company that the Statute-barred Claims cannot be 
enforced by the creditors, do not create any obligation for the Company to pay out any cash and 
do not affect the financial or working capital position of the Company. The Statute-barred Claims 
are required to be reflected on the Company’s Statement of Financial Position as a result of the 
current interpretation of IFRS, but they are classified as non-current liabilities as the Company 
has no intention to pay these Statute-barred Claims and the creditors cannot enforce payment 
of the Statute-barred Claims.  

 
10. INCOME TAXES  

 
a) Major items causing the Company’s effective income tax rate to differ from the combined 

Canadian federal and provincial statutory rate of 26.5% (2020 – 26.5%) are as follows:  
 

 2021 2020 
 $ $ 
Loss before income taxes (70,789) (89,380) 
Expected income tax recovery (18,759) (23,686) 
Adjustments to benefit resulting from:   
Temporary differences and other - 18,939 
Benefit of tax losses not recognized 18,759 4,747 
   
Deferred income tax recovery - - 

 
b) Tax benefits from non-capital loss carry-forwards have not been recorded in the consolidated 

financial statements. These losses, which may reduce taxable income in future years, amount 
to approximately $3,343,000 and expires as follows:  
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Year Amount ($)  

2026 176,000  
2027 324,000  
2028 629,000  
2029 404,000  
2030 413,000  
2031 260,000  
2032 243,000  
2033 216,000  
2034 284,000  
2035 146,000  
2036 29,000  
2037 7,000  
2038 2,000  
2039 50,000 
2040 89,000 
2041 71,000 
 3,343,000 
  

 
c) The Company has Canadian and foreign development and exploration expenditure pools for 

income tax purposes of approximately $4,007,000 that may, in certain situations, be applied 
to reduce taxable income in subsequent years.  
 

d) Unrecognized deferred tax assets  
 Deferred income tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following deductible 

temporary differences:  
 

 2021 2020 
 $ $ 

Non-capital loss carry-forwards 886,600 867,800 
Mineral exploration property costs 1,062,000 1,062,000 
Net deferred tax asset before valuation allowance 1,948,600 1,929,800 

 
 Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not 

probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can use the 
benefits.  

   
11. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  

 
 The Company considers its capital to consist of shareholders’ equity. The Company manages its 

capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the Company, in 
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order to support the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of mineral properties. The Board of 
Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather 
relies on the expertise of the Company’s management to sustain future development of the 
business.  

 
 The properties in which the Company had an interest were in the exploration stage; as such the 

Company is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry out the 
planned exploration and pay administrative costs, the Company will spend its existing working 
capital and raise additional amounts as needed. The Company will continue to assess new 
properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional properties if it feels there is sufficient 
geological or economic potential and if it has adequate financial resources to do so. Alternatively, 
the Company will pursue other corporate transactions to the benefit of shareholders. 

 
 Management reviews its capital management approach on an on-going basis and believes that 

this approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. There were no significant 
changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the years ended April 30, 2021 
and 2020. The Company and its subsidiary are not currently subject to externally imposed capital 
requirements.  

 
12. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

 
Subsequent to April 30, 2021, the $40,000 balance due to a former officer/director was settled 
for a total settlement payment of $1. This resulted in a gain on settlement of $39,999.  
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INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS - UNAUDITED) 
AS AT, 
 

   
Notes 

July 31, 2021 
$ 

April 30, 2021 
$ 

ASSETS     
CURRENT ASSETS     
    Cash   4,402 8,634 
    Harmonized sales tax receivable   11,379 11,060 
       
TOTAL ASSETS   15,781 19,694 
     
LIABILITIES     
CURRENT LIABILITIES     
    Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  6, 7 424,092 454,503 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES     
    Statue barred liabilities  9 547,025 547,025 
   971,117 1,001,528 
     
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)     
Share capital  5 (b) 8,728,554 8,728,554 
Contributed surplus   2,848,185 2,848,185 
Deficit   (12,532,075) (12,558,573) 
     
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)   (955,336) (981,834) 
     
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)  15,781 19,694 
     
NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN  1   
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS  6   
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

 12   

APPROVED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD 
 

"Binyomin Posen"                           Director 
 

"Balu Gopalakrishnan"               Director 
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PROMINEX RESOURCE CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS - UNAUDITED) 
FOR THE THREE-MONTH PERIODS ENDED JULY 31, 

 
 Notes 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
EXPENSES    
    
    Consulting fees 7 - 9,750 
    General and administrative  720 709 
    Public company fees  1,542 - 
    Professional fees  11,239 26,856 
  13,501 37,315 
    Gain on debt settlement 7 (39,999) - 
    
NET INCOME (LOSS) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD  26,498 (37,315) 
    
NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE - Basic and diluted  0.00 (0.00) 
    
WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES OUTSTANDING - Basic and diluted 
(i) 

 
5(b) 

 
9,342,275 

 
9,342,275 

    
(i) Adjusted for 1:40 share consolidation effective August 13, 2020 (note 5b)    
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PROMINEX RESOURCE CORP. 
CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS - UNAUDITED) 
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED JULY 31, 2021 AND 2020 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

(i) Adjusted for 1:40 share consolidation effective August 13, 2020 (note 5b) 
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 Share Share Contributed 
 

  
 Capital 

 
Capital Surplus (Deficit) Total 

 # $ $ $ $ 
      
      
BALANCE, APRIL 30, 2020 (i) 9,342,275 8,728,554 2,848,185 (12,487,784) (911,045) 
Net loss - - - (37,315) (37,315) 
      
BALANCE, JULY 31, 2020 9,342,275 8,728,554 2,848,185 (12,525,099) (948,360) 
 - - - (33,474) (33,474) 
      
BALANCE, APRIL 30, 2021 9,342,275 8,728,554 2,848,185 (12,558,573) (981,834) 
Net loss - - - 26,498 26,498 

      
BALANCE, JULY 31, 2021 9,342,275 8,728,554 2,848,185 (12,532,075) (955,336) 

     



 

 

 

PROMINEX RESOURCE CORP. 
INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS - UNAUDITED) 
FOR THE PERIODS ENDED JULY 31,  
 
 2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
   
CASH FLOWS (USED IN) PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
    Net income (loss) for the period 26,498   (37,315) 
    Gain on debt settlement (39,999) - 
    Changes in non-cash components of working capital:   
        Increase in HST receivable and other assets (319) (1,016) 
        Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 9,588 29,500 
Cash flow (used in) operating activities (4,232) (8,831) 
   
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents for the period (4,232) (8,831) 
CASH, beginning of the year 8,634 81,203 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of the period 4,402 72,372 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN  

Prominex Resource Corp. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Canada Business 
Corporations Act. Previously the Company was engaged in the acquisition, exploration and 
evaluation of a mineral assets. Currently it is actively pursuing other potential business 
opportunities. The Company’s head office is located at 108 Cordova Street West, Vancouver, 
British Columbia, V6B 0G6.   
 
The securities of the Company are not presently listed on any stock exchange. However, the 
Company is subject to a cease trade order issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission 
dated September 10, 2015 (the “Cease Trade Order”) for failure to file certain required filings 
under applicable securities laws. The Company applied for partial revocation of the Cease Trade 
Order, and on May 13, 2019, and the British Columbia Securities Commission granted a partial 
revocation of the Cease Trade Order, solely to permit the Company to complete a non-brokered 
private placement for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $145,000, through the issuance of up to 
7,250,000  common shares in the capital of the Company (each, a “Common Share”) at a price of 
$0.002 per Common Share (the “Offering”). The Company completed the Offering pursuant to 
the partial revocation on July 23, 2019, raising $145,000 through the issuance of 7,250,000  
Common Shares. Effective February 18, 2020, the British Columbia Securities Commission issued 
an order revoking the Cease Trade Order. 
 
On April 16, 2021, the Company announced it had entered into a non-binding letter of intent (the 
”LOI”) with Green Scientific Labs, LLC (“GSL”), a leading hemp and marijuana testing laboratory.  
GSL also expects to complete a US$4,000,000 concurrent placement with the reverse takeover of 
the Company.  On completion of the proposed transaction, GSL shareholders will hold 
approximately 97.49% of the common shares of the Resulting Issuer. 
 
These interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, 
which assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will 
be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations.  
Realization values may be substantially different from carrying values as shown and the financial 
statements do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary to the carrying values and 
classification of assets and liabilities should the Company be unable to continue as a going 
concern. 
 
At July 31, 2021, the Company had no source of operating cash flow and an accumulated deficit 
of $12,532,075 (April 30, 2021 - $12,558,573).  At July 31, 2021, the Company had a working 
capital deficit of $408,311 (April 30, 2021 – deficit of $434,809).  These conditions raise material 
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt as to the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. 
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Management believes it will be successful in raising the necessary funds to continue in the normal 
course of operations or effecting a corporate transaction.  However, there is no assurance that 
these funds will be available on terms acceptable to the Company or at all, or that a corporate 
transaction will be affected. These consolidated financial statements do not include the 
adjustments that would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going 
concern. Such adjustments could be material.  
 
The outbreak of the novel strain of coronavirus, specifically identified as ‘COVID-19”, has resulted 
in governments worldwide enacting emergency measures to combat the spread of the virus. 
These measures, which include the implementation of travel bans, self-imposing quarantine 
period and social distancing, have caused material disruption to businesses globally resulting in 
an economic slowdown. Global equity markets have experienced significant volatility and 
weakness. Governments and central banks have reacted with significant monetary and fiscal 
interventions designed to stabilize economic conditions. The duration and impact of the COVID-
19 outbreak is unknown currently, as is the efficacy of the government and central bank 
interventions. It is not possible to reliably estimate the length and severity of these developments 
and the impact on the financial results and condition of the Company in future periods.  

 
2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE  

 
The Company applies International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations 
Committee ("IFRIC"). These interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Accounting Standard 34, Interim Financial Reporting. Accordingly, they do not 
include all of the information required for full annual financial statements required by IFRS as 
issued by the IASB. The policies applied in these unaudited interim consolidated financial 
statements are based on IFRS issued and outstanding as of September 29, 2021, the date the 
Board of Directors approved the statements. The same accounting policies and methods of 
computation are followed in these interim consolidated financial statements as compared with 
the most recent annual financial statements as at and for the year ended April 30, 2021. Any 
subsequent changes to IFRS that are given effect in the Company’s annual financial statements 
for the year ending April 30, 2022 could result in restatement of these interim financial 
statements. 
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION  
 
 Basis of consolidation  
 These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Prominex Resource Corp. and its 

wholly owned subsidiary, Cannabinoid Capital Corporation (“Cannabinoid”), which is currently 
inactive. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated upon 
consolidation.  

 
Subsidiaries are those entities which the Company controls. Control exists when the Company is 
exposed or has rights to the variable returns of the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the subsidiary. Power is defined as existing rights that give the 
Company the ability to direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Company and are de-consolidated 
from the date that control ceases.  

 
 Basis of measurement  

The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional 
currency and have been prepared on a historical cost basis, with the exception of certain financial 
assets and liabilities which are measured at fair-value, as explained in the accounting policies below.  
In addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting, except for cash flow information.  

 
4.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
 The following are the significant accounting policies for the Company:   
 

 (a)  Cash and cash equivalents  
 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and money market funds, with original maturities 

of less than 90 days. The money market funds are held with a Canadian chartered bank or a 
Canadian financial institution.  

 
 (b)  Income taxes  

 Income tax on the profit or loss for the years presented comprises current and deferred tax. Income 
tax is recognized in the statement of operations except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.  

 
 Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with 
regards to previous years.  
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 Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements unless such differences 
arise from goodwill or the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets 
or liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit or loss.  

 
 Deferred income tax is determined on a non-discounted basis using tax rates and laws that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date and are expected 
to apply when the deferred tax asset or liability is settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and 
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that enactment occurs.  

 
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered. 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

 
 Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries 

and associates, except, in the case of subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference is controlled by the Company and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.  

 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 
and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

 
 (c)  Share-based payment transactions  

 Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are 
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value is measured 
at grant date and each tranche is recognized on a graded-vesting basis over the period in which the 
options vest. The offset to the recorded cost is share-based payment reserve. Consideration 
received on the exercise of stock options is recorded as share capital and the related share-based 
payment reserve is transferred to share capital. Upon expiry, the value is transferred to deficit.  

   
 At the end of each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity 

instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is 
recognized in the statement of operations such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised 
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payment reserve. Where the terms 
and conditions of options are modified, the increase in the fair value of the options, measured 
immediately before and after the modification, is also charged to the statement of operations.  
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 Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured 
at the fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated 
reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, 
measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.  

 
(d)  Loss per common share  

 Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding. The 
diluted loss per share assumes that any proceeds from the exercise of dilutive stock options and 
warrants would be used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the 
period, with the incremental number of shares being included in the denominator of the diluted 
loss per share calculation. The diluted loss per share calculation excludes any potential conversion 
of options and warrants that would decrease loss per share. See Notes 6(c) and (d) for details on 
the Company’s potentially dilutive securities.  

 
  (e)  Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions  

 The preparation of consolidated financial statements under IFRS requires management to make 
certain estimates, judgments and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts 
reported in the financial statements and related notes to the financial statements. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual 
results may differ from those estimates and these differences could be material.  

 
 The areas which require management to make significant judgements, estimates and assumptions 

in determining carrying values include, but are not limited to:  
 

• Income, value added, withholding and other taxes   
The Company is subject to income, value added, withholding and other taxes. There are 
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business. The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated 
tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. The 
determination of the Company’s income, value added, withholding and other tax liabilities 
requires interpretation of complex laws and regulations.  
 
The Company’s interpretation of taxation law as applied to transactions and activities may 
not coincide with the interpretation of the tax authorities. All tax related filings are subject 
to government audit and potential reassessment subsequent to the financial statement 
reporting period. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the tax related accruals 
and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
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• Going concern 

The assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern involves 
judgement regarding future funding available for its working capital requirements. 
 

   (f) Financial instruments  
The Company recognizes a financial asset or financial liability on the statement of financial 
position when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 
Financial assets are initially measured at fair value and are derecognized either when the 
Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset, or when cash flows expire. Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and are 
derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. 
 
A write-off of a financial asset (or a portion thereof) constitutes a derecognition event. 
Write-off occurs when the Company has no reasonable expectations of recovering the 
contractual cash flows on a financial asset. 
 
Classification and Measurement 
The Company determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition. 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are classified according to the following measurement 
categories: 
 

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value, either through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”) or through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”); and, 

• those to be measured subsequently at amortized cost. 
 
The classification and measurement of financial assets after initial recognition at fair value 
depends on the business model for managing the financial asset and the contractual terms of 
the cash flows. Financial assets that are held within a business model whose objective is to 
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, are generally measured at amortized cost 
at each subsequent reporting period. All other financial assets are measure at their fair values 
at each subsequent reporting period, with any changes recorded through profit or loss or 
through other comprehensive income (which designation is made as an irrevocable election at 
the time of recognition). 
 
After initial recognition at fair value, financial liabilities are classified and measured at either: 
 

• amortized cost; 
• FVTPL, if the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time of recognition, 

or when required (for items such as instruments held for trading or derivatives); or  
• FVTOCI, when the change in fair value is attributable to changes in the Company’s 

credit risk. 
 
The Company reclassifies financial assets when and only when its business model for managing 
those assets changes. Financial liabilities are not reclassified. 
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Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of a financial asset 
or financial liability classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost are included in the 
fair value of the instrument on initial recognition. Transaction costs for financial assets and 
financial liabilities classified at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss. 
 
The Company’s financial assets consist of cash, which is classified and subsequently measured 
at fair value and Harmonized sales tax receivable which is classified and measured at amortized 
cost. The Company’s financial liabilities consist of accounts payable and accrued liabilities and 
statue barred liabilities, which are classified and measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. Interest expense is reported in profit or loss. 

 
  Impairment of financial assets 
The Company assesses all information available, including on a forward-looking basis, the 
expected credit losses associated with any financial assets carried at amortized cost. The 
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Company compares 
the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at 
the date of initial recognition based on all information available, and reasonable and supportive 
forward-looking information. 
 
Effective interest method 
The effective interest method calculates the amortized cost of a financial instrument asset or 
liability and allocates interest income over the corresponding period. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial 
asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income is recognized on an effective 
interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as FVTPL. 

 
 (g)  Provisions  

 A provision is recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability. A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits 
to be derived by the Company from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its 
obligations under the contract.  

 
 (h)  Accounting Standards Issued but not yet Applied  
 
Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRIC that are mandatory for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2022 or later periods. 
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IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”) was amended in January 2020 to provide a 
more general approach to the classification of liabilities under IAS 1 based on the contractual 
arrangements in place at the reporting date. The amendments clarify that the classification of 
liabilities as current or noncurrent is based solely on a company’s right to defer settlement at the 
reporting date. The right needs to be unconditional and must have substance. The amendments 
also clarify that the transfer of a company’s own equity instruments is regarded as settlement of a 
liability, unless it results from the exercise of a conversion option meeting the definition of an equity 
instrument. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on January 1, 2023. 
 
IAS 37 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent Assets (“IAS 37”) was amended. The 
amendments clarify that when assessing if a contract is onerous, the cost of fulfilling the contract 
includes all costs that relate directly to the contract – i.e. a full-cost approach. Such costs include 
both the incremental costs of the contract (i.e. costs a company would avoid if it did not have the 
contract) and an allocation of other direct costs incurred on activities required to fulfill the contract 
– e.g. contract management and supervision, or depreciation of equipment used in fulfilling the 
contract. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on January 1, 2022. 
 
IFRS 3 – Business Combination (“IFRS3”). The amendments introduce new exceptions to the 
recognition and measurement principles in IFRS 3 to ensure that the update in references to the 
revised conceptual framework does not change which assets and liabilities qualify for recognition 
in a business combination. An acquirer should apply the definition of a liability in IAS 37 – rather 
than the definition in the Conceptual Framework – to determine whether a present obligation exists 
at the acquisition date as a result of past events. For a levy in the scope of IFRIC 21, the acquirer 
should apply the criteria in IFRIC 21 to determine whether the obligating event that gives rise to a 
liability to pay the levy has occurred by the acquisition date. In addition, the amendments clarify 
that the acquirer should not recognize a contingent asset at the acquisition date. The amendments 
are effective for annual periods beginning on January 1, 2022. 

 
5. SHARE CAPITAL  

 
 (a)        Authorized  
           Unlimited number of common shares with no par value.      
 
    (b)        Issued  

 Common 
Shares 

 
Amount 

 # $ 
Balance, April 30, 2019 2,092,275 8,583,554 
Issued for cash 7,250,000 145,000 
Balance, July 31, 2021, April 30, 2021 and April 30, 2020 9,342,275 8,728,554 

 
On August 13, 2020, the Company completed a share consolidation by issuing one new share 
for every forty issued and outstanding shares.  Prior to the share consolidation the Company 



PROMINEX RESOURCE CORP. 
Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements 
Three-month periods ended July 31, 2021 and 2020 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars - Unaudited) 

13 
 

had 373,690,890 shares outstanding.  After the consolidation, the Company had 9,342,275 
shares outstanding.  All share numbers have been adjusted to reflect the number 
outstanding, as if the consolidation had occurred at the beginning of the reporting period. 
 
On July 23, 2019, the Company issued 7,250,000 (post-consolidation) common shares in a 
non-brokered private placement for cash proceeds of $145,000.   

 
(c)  Stock Options  

The Company has a 10% rolling stock option plan (“Plan”) which provides that incentive-
based stock options may be granted, at the Board’s discretion, to a quantity not to exceed 
10% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company at the time of granting.  Pursuant 
to TSX-V policies, the Plan requires annual shareholder approval. The Plan was renewed at 
the September 10, 2013 Shareholders' Meeting. 

 
As of July 31, 2021 and April 30, 2021 there were no outstanding stock options to purchase 
common shares of the Company. 
 

(d)  Warrants  
 As of July 31, 2021 and April 30, 2021 there were no outstanding warrants to purchase 

common shares of the Company.  
 

6. CONTINGENCIES, COMMITMENTS AND PROVISIONS 
 

 The Company’s exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing the 
protection of the environment. These laws and regulations are continually changing and generally 
becoming more restrictive. The Company believes its operations are in material compliance with 
all applicable laws and regulations. The Company has made, and expects to make in the future, 
expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations.  

  
7. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

 
 Related parties include directors, officers, close family members, certain consultants and 

enterprises that are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar 
functions.  

 
 In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and 

responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly or 
indirectly, including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company. The Company 
defines key management personnel as its CEO and Directors. Remuneration of directors and key 
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management personnel of the Company for the three-month periods ended July 31, 2021 and 
2020 was: 

  
 2021 2020 
 $ $ 
Consulting fees - 9,000 

 
During the period ended July 31, 2021, an amount of $40,000 payable to a previous CEO of the 
Company was forgiven.  The Company paid $1 related to this debt and realized a gain of $39,999. 
 
As at July 31, 2021, $Nil (April 30, 2021 - $Nil) due to related party was included in accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities. All amounts due to related parties are on account of operating 
activities and are subject to standard trade terms. 

  
8. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK FACTORS  

 
 International financial reporting standards require that the Company disclose information about 

the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities. Fair value estimates are made at the statement 
of financial position date, based on relevant market information and information about the 
financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties in 
significant matters of judgment and therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in 
assumptions could significantly affect these estimates.  

 
 Fair value measurements are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of 

the inputs used in making the measurements. At July 31, 2021 and April 30, 2021, the Company 
has no financial instruments carried at fair value to classify in the fair value hierarchy.  

 
 As at July 31, 2021 and April 30, 2021, the carrying amounts of accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities and statute barred liabilities on the statement of financial position approximate fair 
market value because of the demand or short-term nature of these instruments.  

 
The Company's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are 
summarized below. There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures 
from previous periods.  

 
 (a)  Credit Risk  

 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a 
financial instrument fails to meet its obligations. The Company’s credit risk is primarily 
attributable to cash and cash equivalents. The Company has no significant concentration of 
credit risk arising from operations. Management believes that the credit risk with respect to 
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cash and cash equivalents, and financial instruments included in amounts receivable is 
remote.  

 
  (b)  Liquidity Risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial 
asset. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure there is sufficient 
capital on hand to meet its financial commitments as they come due. At July 31, 2021, the 
Company had cash and cash equivalents of $4,402 (April 30, 2021 - $8,634 ) available to 
settle current liabilities of $424,092 (April 30, 2021 - $454,503). The Company’s accounts 
payable and accrued liability are subject to normal trade terms.  

  
9. STATUTE BARRED LIABILITIES  

 
   During the year ended April 30, 2021, the Company transferred $161,006 (2020 - $386,019) of 

accounts payable (the “Statute-barred Claims”) to non-current liabilities on the basis that any 
claims in respect of the Statute-barred Claims were statute barred under the Limitations Act 
(Ontario). The Statute-barred Claims relate to expenses billed by third-party vendors. Under IFRS, 
a financial liability can only be derecognized from the Company’s Statement of Financial Position 
when it is extinguished, meaning only when the contract is discharged or canceled or expires. The 
effect of the Limitations Act is to prevent a creditor from enforcing an obligation, but it does not 
formally extinguish the financial liability under IFRS.  

 
   It is the position of management of the Company that the Statute-barred Claims cannot be 

enforced by the creditors, do not create any obligation for the Company to pay out any cash and 
do not affect the financial or working capital position of the Company. The Statute-barred Claims 
are required to be reflected on the Company’s Statement of Financial Position as a result of the 
current interpretation of IFRS, but they are classified as non-current liabilities as the Company has 
no intention to pay these Statute-barred Claims and the creditors cannot enforce payment of the 
Statute-barred Claims.  

 
10. INCOME TAXES  

 
This note has not been updated from April 30, 2021. 
   

11. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  
 

 The Company considers its capital to consist of shareholders’ equity. The Company manages its 
capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the Company, in 
order to support the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of mineral properties. The Board of 
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Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather 
relies on the expertise of the Company’s management to sustain future development of the 
business.  

 
 The properties in which the Company had an interest were in the exploration stage; as such the 

Company is dependent on external financing to fund its activities. In order to carry out the 
planned exploration and pay administrative costs, the Company will spend its existing working 
capital and raise additional amounts as needed. The Company will continue to assess new 
properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional properties if it feels there is sufficient 
geological or economic potential and if it has adequate financial resources to do so. Alternatively, 
the Company will pursue other corporate transactions to the benefit of shareholders. 

 
 Management reviews its capital management approach on an on-going basis and believes that 

this approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. There were no significant 
changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the period ended July 31, 2021 
and the year ended April 30, 2021. The Company and its subsidiary are not currently subject to 
externally imposed capital requirements.  

 
12. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

 
Subsequent to July 31, 2021, Balu Gopalakrishnan resigned as director of the Company. The 
Company has appointed Yonatan Colman to the board of directors in order to fill the vacancy 
created by the foregoing resignation.   
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 PROMINEX RESOURCE CORP. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
For the Year Ended April 30, 2021 

  
Introduction 
 
The following is Management’s Discussion and Analysis (the “MD&A”) of the consolidated financial 
position and results from operations of Prominex Resource Corp. (the “Company” or “Prominex”), for the 
year ended April 30, 2021. This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements for its fiscal years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020 along with accompanying notes to 
the statements for the years then ended.  
 
The Company’s reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and all amounts in this MD&A are expressed in 
Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. The Company’s consolidated financial statements for its 
fiscal periods ended April 30, 2021 and 2020 were prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  
 
For the purposes of preparing this MD&A, management, in conjunction with the Board of Directors (the 
“Board”), considers the materiality of information. Information is considered material if: (i) such 
information results in, or would reasonably be expected to result in, a significant change in the market 
price or value of the Company’s common shares; (ii) there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable 
investor would consider it important in making an investment decision; or (iii) it would significantly alter 
the total mix of information available to investors. Management, in conjunction with the Board, evaluates 
materiality with reference to all relevant circumstances, including potential market sensitivity.  
 
The securities of Prominex Resource Corp. (the “Company”) are not  presently listed on any stock 
exchange. However, the Company was subject to a cease trade order issued by the British Columbia 
Securities Commission dated September 10, 2015 (the “Cease Trade Order”) for failure to file certain 
required filings under applicable securities laws. The Company applied for partial revocation of the Cease 
Trade Order, and on May 13, 2019, the British Columbia Securities Commission granted a partial 
revocation of the Cease Trade Order, solely to permit the Company to complete a non-brokered private 
placement for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $145,000, through the issuance of up to 290,000,000 
common shares in the capital of the Company (each, a “Common Share”) at a price of $0.0005 per 
Common Share (the “Offering”). The Company completed the Offering pursuant to the partial revocation 
on July 23, 2019, raising $145,000 through the issuance of 290,000,000 Common Shares. 
 
Effective February 18, 2020, the British Columbia Securities Commission issued an order revoking the 
Cease Trade Order. 
 
The Company’s head office is located at 108 Cordova Street West, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6B 0G6. 
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This MD&A is dated as of August 30, 2021. 
 
Additional Information 
 
Additional information relating to the Company is on the System for Electronic Document Analysis and 
Retrieval (“SEDAR”) at www.sedar.com.  
 
Business Overview and Corporate Update  
 
Description of the Business  
 
The Company was formed to engage in the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of mineral assets. 
However, the Company has ceased to carry on an active business since April 30, 2015, and is presently 
engaged in identifying and pursuing other potential opportunities. The Company is incorporated under 
the laws of the Province of British Columbia and has one inactive wholly-owned subsidiary, Cannabinoid 
Capital Corporation.  As of the date of this MDA the Company has not change its business from junior 
mining to the medical marijuana industry or hemp industry, and to date, neither the Company nor 
Cannabinoid has engaged in any transaction in such industries. 
 
Corporate Update and Outlook  
 
The Company has been mostly dormant since April 30, 2015. Prior to the Company becoming dormant, 
the Company’s properties were located on the island of Newfoundland in the province of Newfoundland 
and Labrador, Canada. The Company has relinquished any and all interest in these projects. 
 
The Company has no operating income or cash flow. To date, the Company is dependent on the equities 
market to finance all of its activities and it will continue to rely on this source of funding for its ongoing 
working capital requirements.  
 
On March 25, 2014, the Company announced its intention to evaluate projects with the medical marijuana 
and hemp industries. (See new releases March 25, May 30, and November 18, 2014 at www.sedar.com) 
On March 31, 2014, the Company incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary under the BC Company Act 
called Cannabinoid Capital Corporation (Cannabinoid). Cannabinoid was incorporated to acquire a project 
of merit; if, as, or when identified during our evaluation of this industry. However, as of the date hereof, 
the Company is not pursuing this opportunity.  The Company has not changed its business from junior 
mining to the medical marijuana industry or the hemp industry, and to date, neither the Company nor 
Cannabinoid has engaged in any transaction in such industries. To date, the Company’s capital 
expenditures have been under $5,000 for the incorporation of Cannabinoid and associated legal fees. The 
registered office of Cannabinoid is 1001, 1010 Howe Street Vancouver, BC, V6Z 1P5.  
 
On April 16, 2021, the Company announced it had entered into a non-binding letter of intent (the”LOI”) 
with Green Scientific Labs, LLC (“GSL”), a leading hemp and marijuana testing laboratory.  GSL also expects 
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to complete a US$4,000,000 concurrent placement with the reverse takeover of the Company.  On 
completion of the proposed transaction, GSL shareholders will hold approximately 97.49% of the common 
shares of the Resulting Issuer. 
 
The Company’s business is managed by the directors and officers and augmented by independent 
professionals retained to advise the Company on its exploration programs and business.  The Company 
will pursue potential opportunities to create value through a corporate transaction. 
 
Changes to Board of Directors and Management 
 
On April 11, 2019, the Company announced that Gordon Barron, Gordon MacNiel, David Stirling, and 
Liliana Hartwig have each resigned as directors of the Company, and Gordon Barron and Gordon MacNiel 
have also resigned as, respectively, Chief Executive Officer, and Chief Financial Officer. The Company has 
appointed Michael Lerner, Balu Gopalakrishnan, and Binyomin Posen to the board of directors in order to 
fill the vacancies created by the foregoing resignations and to pursue other potential opportunities. In 
addition, Michael Lerner and Balu Gopalakrishnan have been appointed as, respectively, Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer.  On September 27, Balu Gopalakrishnan resigned as Chief Financial 
Officer and Michael Lerner assumed the role. On October 5, 2020, Michael Lerner resigned as Chief 
executive Officer and Director. 
 
On April 27, 2020, Andrew Parks joined the Board. 
 
The change in directors and management was made to allow the Company to pursue other potential 
opportunities. 
 
Overview of Business  
 
The Company is pursuing a corporate transaction. 
 
Financial Performance 
 
Selected Annual Financial Information  
 
The table below summarizes key operating data for the last three fiscal years.  
 

 Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended 
 April 30, 2021 April 30, 2020 April 30, 2019 
 (Audited) (audited) (unaudited) 
 $ $ $ 
Total assets 19,694 89,712 3,544 
Total liabilities 1,001,528 1,000,757 970,209 
Revenue Nil Nil Nil 
Net loss (70,789) (89,380) (48,337) 
Net loss per share (0.01) (0.01) (0.00) 
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Weighted average shares outstanding * 9,342,275 7,678,340 2,092,275 
* On August 13, 2020, the Company completed a share consolidation by issuing one new share for 
every forty issued and outstanding shares.  Prior to the share consolidation the Company had 
373,690,890 shares outstanding.  After the consolidation, the Company had 9,342,275 shares 
outstanding.  All share numbers have been adjusted to reflect the number outstanding, as if the 
consolidation had occurred at the beginning of the reporting period. 

 
Selected Quarterly Financial Information  
 
The following quarterly results for the eight most recent quarters have been prepared in accordance 
with IFRS as listed below. 

 
 

Three Months 
Ended 

 
 
 

             Assets 

 
 
 

       Liabilities 

 
           

Net  
   (Loss) 

 
Gain (Loss) 

Per 
Share 

Weighted 
Average 
Shares 

Outstanding 
April 30, 2021 $19,694 $ 1,001,528 $ (12,055) $ (0.01) 9,342,275 
January 31, 2021 20,551    990,330 (10,108) (0.02) 9,342,275 
October 31, 2020 24,336 984,007 (11,311) (0.03) 9,342,275 
July 31, 2020 81,897 1,030,257    (37,315)  (0.04) 9,342,275 
April 30, 2020 89,712 1,000,758 (28,911)  (0.03) 9,342,275 
January 31, 2020   85,765 971,248 (10,534)  (0.01) 9,342,275 
October 31, 2019 89,113 960,714 (42,935)  (0.04) 9,342,275 
July 31, 2019 141,778 970,443 (7,000)  (0.02) 2,729,635 

 
Three months ended April 30, 2021 compared to the three months ended April 30, 2020  
 
The net loss for the three months ended April 30, 2021 of $12,055 mostly reflected expenses related to 
legal, audit and financial preparation activities.  The net loss for the three months ended April 30, 2020 of 
$28,911 mostly reflected CEO fees related to efforts to rehabilitate the Company’s listing and pursue 
business opportunities.   
 
Year ended April 30, 2021 compared to the year ended April 30, 2020  
 
The net loss for the year ended April 30, 2021 of $70,789 mostly reflected legal fees to pursue a corporate 
transaction, CEO fees in the early part of the year to assist with the rehabilitation and to pursue business 
opportunities on behalf of the Company, audit and financial statement preparation fees.  The net loss for 
the year ended April 30, 2020 of $89,380 mostly reflected legal and regulatory fees to rehabilitate the 
Company’s listing, with CEO fees to assist with the rehabilitation and to pursue business opportunities on 
behalf of the Company.   
 
Related Party Transactions  
 
Related parties include directors, officers, close family members, certain consultants and enterprises that 
are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar functions.  
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 In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and 

responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly or indirectly, 
including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company. Remuneration of directors and key 
management personnel of the Company for the year ended April 30, 2021 and 2020 was:  

 
 2021 2020 
 $ $ 
 - 36,000 

 
  

As at April 30, 2021, $nil (2020 - $40,000) due to related parry was included in accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities. All amounts due to related parties are on account of operating activities and are 
subject to standard trade terms.  

 
Financial Condition  
 
Cash Flow  
 
As at April 30, 2021, the Company held cash and equivalents of $8,634 (April 30, 2020 - $81,203).  Cash of 
$145,000 was raised via a private placement of 7,250,000 common shares on July 23, 2019.  Cash was 
used to reduce payables and pay operating expenses, mostly related to working with regulators to solve 
deficiencies in the Company’s public listing.   
 
The proceeds will be applied to payment of outstanding payables and for general working capital.  Cash 
has been applied as follows: 
 

Payables and accruals $  47,052 
Regulatory fees 11,017 
Operating costs 78,297 
 136,366 
Cash on hand 8,634 
 $145,000 

 
Critical Accounting Estimates and Changes in Accounting Policies 
 
All significant critical accounting estimates are fully disclosed in Note 4 of the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended April 30, 2021, and 2020. 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources  
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The Company had negative working capital of as of April 30, 2021 of $434,809 (April 30, 2020 - negative 
working capital of $525,027). The Company’s held cash and cash equivalents as at April 30, 2021 of $8,634 
(April 30, 2020 - $81,203).  
 
The negative working capital was affected by the transfer of $161,006 of accounts payable and accruals 
to Statute barred Liabilities, a long term liability, during the year ended April 30, 2021 (April 30, 2020 - 
$386,019). 
 
Management is currently reviewing alternative sources of capital to meet its obligations and short term 
working capital requirements.  While the Company plans to continue to monitor closely its spending, 
conditions in the capital markets continue to make it difficult for early stage exploration companies to 
raise additional capital. The Company may require substantial additional capital to fund any new project 
or to advance the exploration projects.  
 
Historically, the Company has used the net proceeds from issuances of its securities to provide sufficient 
funds for it to meet its near-term exploration and development plans and other contractual obligations 
when due. However, given the current market conditions affecting the junior mining sector, the current 
trading price of the Company’s common shares and other uncertainties discussed herein, there can be no 
assurance that the Company will be able to obtain sufficient additional funds on favorable terms, or at all, 
in order to carry out its objectives. As mentioned elsewhere in this MD&A, the Company is evaluating 
various strategic alternatives and, if it decides to pursue any such alternative, it may also require 
additional funds to carry out its strategic plans in amounts that cannot be determined as of the date 
hereof, which funds may also be unavailable to the Company on favorable terms or at all.  
 
Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Factors  
 
International financial reporting standards require that the Company disclose information about the fair 
value of its financial assets and liabilities. Fair value estimates are made at the statement of financial 
position date, based on relevant market information and information about the financial instrument. 
These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties in significant matters of judgment and 
therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect these 
estimates.  
 

 Fair value measurements are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in making the measurements. As at April 30, 2021 and April 30, 2020, the Company has no 
financial instruments carried at fair value to classify in the fair value hierarchy.  

 
 As at April 30, 2021 and April 30, 2020, carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, amounts 

receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the statement of financial position approximate 
fair market value because of the limited term of these instruments.  

 



2 
 

 The Company's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are summarized 
below. There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from previous periods.  

 
 (a)  Credit Risk  
  
 The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents. The Company has no 

significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management believes that the credit risk 
concentration with respect to cash and cash equivalents, and financial instruments included in amounts 
receivable is remote.  

 
  (b)  Liquidity Risk  
 

The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 
its obligations when due. As at April 30, 2021, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $8,634 (April 
30, 2020 - $81,203) available to settle current liabilities of $454,503 (April 30, 2020 - $614,739). The 
Company’s accounts payable are subject to normal trade terms.  

 
 (c)  Market Risk  
 
 The Company is exposed to the following market risks:  
 

 (i)  Interest Rate Risk  
 

 The Company has no cash and cash equivalents balances and no variable interest-bearing debt. The 
Company’s current policy is to invest excess cash in investment-grade short-term deposit 
certificates issued by banking institutions. The Company periodically monitors the investments it 
makes and is satisfied with the credit ratings of its banks.  

 
 (ii)  Foreign Exchange Risk  

 
 While the Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar, major purchases could be 

transacted in Canadian dollars or United States dollars.  As at April 30, 2021, the Company does not 
hold foreign currency balances.   

 (iii)  Price Risk  
 

 The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company closely 
monitors commodity prices to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the 
Company.  

 
 (d)  Sensitivity Analysis  
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 The Company may hold balances in United States dollars that give rise to foreign exchange risk. Based on 
management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company does not believe there 
would be any material movements as a result of changes in interest rates.  

 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  
 
As at April 30, 2021, there were no off-balance sheet arrangements.  
 
Outstanding Share Data  
 
As at April 30, 2021, April 30, 2020, and at the date of this MD&A, the Company had 9,342,275 common 
shares issued and outstanding. The Company had no warrants and no stock options outstanding as at April 
30, 2021, April 30, 2020 nor at the date of this MD&A. 
 
The number of shares outstanding reflects a forty to one consolidation which was effected August 13, 
2020.   
 
Risk Factors  
 
Until a business combination is completed, the Company’s risk factors are those related to a successful 
corporate transaction.  The ability of the Company to continue operations is dependent upon its ability to 
find and close a corporate transaction. Other risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial 
instruments are summarized below.  
 
The risks, objectives, policies and procedures from previous years have been adjusted to reflect the 
pursuit of a corporate transaction.  
 
Dependence on Key Individuals  
 
The Company’s business and operations are dependent on retaining the services of a small number of key 
individuals. The success of the Company is, and will continue to be, to a significant extent, dependent on 
the expertise and experience of these individuals. The loss of one or more of these individuals could have 
a materially adverse effect on the Company. The Company does not maintain insurance on any of its key 
individuals.  
Capital Management  
 
The Company considers its capital to consist of shareholders’ equity. The Company manages its capital 
structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the Company, in order to support 
the pursuit of a corporate transaction. The Board does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria 
for Management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company’s Management to sustain future 
development of the business.  
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The Company will continue to assess corporate opportunities with the intent to realize value.  
 
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this 
approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. The Company did not change its approach 
to capital management in the year ended April 30, 2021.  The incoming group is currently pursuing 
alternatives to finance the Company.  The Company and its subsidiary are not currently subject to 
externally imposed capital requirements.  
 
Global Pandemic 
 
The Company’s operations could be significantly adversely affected by the effects of a widespread global 
outbreak of a contagious disease, including the recent outbreak of respiratory illness caused by COVID-
19. The Company cannot accurately predict the impact COVID-19 will have on its operations and the ability 
of others to meet their obligations with the Company, including uncertainties relating to the ultimate 
geographic spread of the virus, the severity of the disease, the duration of the outbreak, and the length 
of travel and quarantine restrictions imposed by governments of affected countries. In addition, a 
significant outbreak of contagious diseases in the human population could result in a widespread health 
crisis that could adversely affect the economies and financial markets of many countries, resulting in an 
economic downturn that could further affect the Company’s operations and ability to finance its 
operations. 
 
Corporate Transactions 
 
The Company is pursuing a corporate transaction with the ultimate goal to effect a business combination.  
There is no assurance that such a transaction could be reached or, even if a transaction is entered into, 
the transaction will close on the disclosed terms or at all. 
 
Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements  

 
This MD&A contains certain “forward-looking information” as defined in applicable securities laws 
(collectively referred to herein as “forward-looking statements”). These statements relate to future 
events or the Company’s future performance. All statements other than statements of historical fact are 
forward-looking statements. Often, but not always, forward-looking statements can be identified by the 
use of words such as “plans”, “expects”, “budgeted”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “continues”, “forecasts”, 
“projects”, “predicts”, “intends”, “anticipates” or “believes”, or variations of, or the negatives of, such 
words and phrases, or statements that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, 
“should”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved. The forward-looking statements in this MD&A 
speak only as of the date of this MD&A or as of the date specified in such statements.  
 
Forward-looking statements are based upon certain assumptions and other important factors regarding 
present and future business strategies and the environment in which the Company will operate in the 
future, which could prove to be significantly incorrect. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject 
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to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, level of 
activity, performance or achievements of the Company and/or its subsidiary to be materially different 
from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.  
 
Actual results and developments are likely to differ, and may differ materially, from those expressed or 
implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A. Forward-looking statements involve 
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the Company’s actual results, 
performance or achievements to be materially different from any of its future results, performance or 
achievements expressed or implied by forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements herein 
are qualified by this cautionary note. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward 
looking statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly or otherwise revise any 
forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information or future events or otherwise, except 
as may be required by law. If the Company does update one or more forward-looking statements, no 
inference should be drawn that it will make additional updates with respect to those or other forward-
looking statements, unless required by law. 
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 PROMINEX RESOURCE CORP. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Three-Month Ended July 31, 2021 

  

Introduction 

 

The following interim Management’s Discussion & Analysis (the “MD&A”) of Prominex Resources Corp. 

(the “Company” or “Prominex”) for the three months ended July 31, 2021 has been prepared to provide 

material updates to the business operations, liquidity and capital resources of the Company since its last 

management discussion & analysis, being the Management Discussion & Analysis (“Annual MD&A”) for 

the fiscal year ended April 30, 2021.  

 

This Interim MD&A has been prepared in compliance with section 2.2 of Form 51-102F1, in accordance 

with National Instrument 51-102 – Continuous Disclosure Obligations. This discussion should be read in 

conjunction with the Company’s Annual MD&A, audited annual consolidated financial statements for the 

years ended April 30, 2021 and 2020, together with the notes thereto, and unaudited interim financial 

statements for the three months ended July 31, 2021, together with the notes thereto. Results are 

reported in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted. The Company’s financial statements and the 

financial information contained in this Interim MD&A are prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and 

interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee. The unaudited interim financial statements have 

been prepared in accordance with International Standard 34, Interim Financial Reporting.  

 

For the purposes of preparing this MD&A, management, in conjunction with the Board of Directors (the 

“Board”), considers the materiality of information. Information is considered material if: (i) such 

information results in, or would reasonably be expected to result in, a significant change in the market 

price or value of the Company’s common shares; (ii) there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable 

investor would consider it important in making an investment decision; or (iii) it would significantly alter 

the total mix of information available to investors. Management, in conjunction with the Board, evaluates 

materiality with reference to all relevant circumstances, including potential market sensitivity.  

 

The securities of Prominex Resource Corp. (the “Company”) are not  presently listed on any stock 

exchange. However, the Company was subject to a cease trade order issued by the British Columbia 

Securities Commission dated September 10, 2015 (the “Cease Trade Order”) for failure to file certain 

required filings under applicable securities laws. The Company applied for partial revocation of the Cease 

Trade Order, and on May 13, 2019, the British Columbia Securities Commission granted a partial 

revocation of the Cease Trade Order, solely to permit the Company to complete a non-brokered private 

placement for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $145,000, through the issuance of up to 290,000,000 

common shares (7,250,000 common shares after the August 13, 2020 share consolidation)  in the capital 

of the Company (each, a “Common Share”) at a price of $0.0005 per Common Share (the “Offering”). The 
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Company completed the Offering pursuant to the partial revocation on July 23, 2019, raising $145,000 

through the issuance of 7,250,000 post-consolidation Common Shares. 

 

Effective February 18, 2020, the British Columbia Securities Commission issued an order revoking the 

Cease Trade Order. 

 

The Company’s head office is located at 108 Cordova Street West, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6B 0G6. 

 

This MD&A is dated as of September 29, 2021. 

 

Additional Information 

 

Additional information relating to the Company is on the System for Electronic Document Analysis and 

Retrieval (“SEDAR”) at www.sedar.com.  

 

Business Overview and Corporate Update  

 

Description of the Business  

 

The Company was formed to engage in the acquisition, exploration and evaluation of mineral assets. 

However, the Company has ceased to carry on an active business since April 30, 2015, and is presently 

engaged in identifying and pursuing other potential opportunities. The Company is incorporated under 

the laws of the Province of British Columbia and has one inactive wholly-owned subsidiary, Cannabinoid 

Capital Corporation.  As of the date of this MDA the Company has not change its business from junior 

mining to the medical marijuana industry or hemp industry, and to date, neither the Company nor 

Cannabinoid has engaged in any transaction in such industries. 

 

Corporate Update and Outlook  

 
The Company has been mostly dormant since April 30, 2015. Prior to the Company becoming dormant, 

the Company’s properties were located on the island of Newfoundland in the province of Newfoundland 

and Labrador, Canada. The Company has relinquished any and all interest in these projects. 

 

The Company has no operating income or cash flow. To date, the Company is dependent on the equities 

market to finance all of its activities and it will continue to rely on this source of funding for its ongoing 

working capital requirements.  

 

On March 25, 2014, the Company announced its intention to evaluate projects with the medical marijuana 

and hemp industries. (See new releases March 25, May 30, and November 18, 2014 at www.sedar.com) 

On March 31, 2014, the Company incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary under the BC Company Act 

called Cannabinoid Capital Corporation (Cannabinoid). Cannabinoid was incorporated to acquire a project 

of merit; if, as, or when identified during our evaluation of this industry. However, as of the date hereof, 
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the Company is not pursuing this opportunity.  The Company has not changed its business from junior 

mining to the medical marijuana industry or the hemp industry, and to date, neither the Company nor 

Cannabinoid has engaged in any transaction in such industries. To date, the Company’s capital 

expenditures have been under $5,000 for the incorporation of Cannabinoid and associated legal fees. The 

registered office of Cannabinoid is 1001, 1010 Howe Street Vancouver, BC, V6Z 1P5.  

 

On April 16, 2021, the Company announced it had entered into a non-binding letter of intent (the”LOI”) 

with Green Scientific Labs, LLC (“GSL”), a leading hemp and marijuana testing laboratory.  GSL also expects 

to complete a US$4,000,000 concurrent placement with the reverse takeover of the Company.  On 

completion of the proposed transaction, GSL shareholders will hold approximately 97.49% of the common 

shares of the Resulting Issuer. 

 

The Company’s business is managed by the directors and officers and augmented by independent 

professionals retained to advise the Company on its exploration programs and business.  The Company 

will pursue potential opportunities to create value through a corporate transaction. 

 

Changes to Board of Directors and Management 

 
On April 11, 2019, the Company announced that Gordon Barron, Gordon MacNiel, David Stirling, and 

Liliana Hartwig have each resigned as directors of the Company, and Gordon Barron and Gordon MacNiel 

have also resigned as, respectively, Chief Executive Officer, and Chief Financial Officer. The Company has 

appointed Michael Lerner, Balu Gopalakrishnan, and Binyomin Posen to the board of directors in order to 

fill the vacancies created by the foregoing resignations and to pursue other potential opportunities. In 

addition, Michael Lerner and Balu Gopalakrishnan have been appointed as, respectively, Chief Executive 

Officer and Chief Financial Officer.  On September 27, Balu Gopalakrishnan resigned as Chief Financial 

Officer and Michael Lerner assumed the role. 

 

On April 27, 2020, Andrew Parks joined the Board.   

 

On October 5, 2020, Michael Lerner resigned as director, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 

Officer.  Binyomin Posen was appointed to serve as Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. 

 

On September 13, 2021, Balu Gopalakrishnan resigned as director of the Comapny.  Yonatan Colman was 

appointed to fill the vacancy created by the foregoing resignation. 

 

The change in directors and management was made to allow the Company to pursue other potential 

opportunities. 

 

Overview of Business  

 

The Company is pursuing a corporate transaction. 
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Financial Performance 

 

Selected Annual Financial Information  

 

The table below summarizes key operating data for the last three fiscal years.  

 

 Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended 
 April 30, 2021 April 30, 2020 April 30, 2019 
 (Audited) (audited) (unaudited) 
 $ $ $ 

Total assets 19,694 89,712 3,544 
Total liabilities 1,001,528 1,000,757 970,209 
Revenue Nil Nil Nil 
Net loss (70,789) (89,380) (48,337) 
Net loss per share (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) 
Weighted average shares outstanding * 9,342,275 7,678,340 2,092,275 

 

* On August 13, 2020, the Company completed a share consolidation by issuing one new share for 

every forty issued and outstanding shares.  Prior to the share consolidation the Company had 

373,690,890 shares outstanding.  After the consolidation, the Company had 9,342,275 shares 

outstanding.  All share numbers have been adjusted to reflect the number outstanding, as if the 

consolidation had occurred at the beginning of the reporting period. 

 

Selected Quarterly Financial Information  

 

The following quarterly results for the eight most recent quarters have been prepared in accordance 

with IFRS as listed below. 

 
 

Three Months 
Ended 

 
 
 

             Assets 

 
 
 

       Liabilities 

 
           

Net  
Income 
(Loss) 

 
Gain (Loss) 

Per 
Share 

Weighted 
Average 
Shares 

Outstanding 

July 31, 2021 $15,781 $   971,117 $ 13,501 $ 0.00 9,342,275 
April 30, 2021 19,694 1,001,528 (12,055) (0.00) 9,342,275 
January 31, 2021 20,551    990,330 (10,108) (0.00) 9,342,275 
October 31, 2020 24,336 984,007 (11,311) (0.00) 9,342,275 
July 31, 2020 81,897 1,030,257    (37,315)  (0.00) 9,342,275 
April 30, 2020 89,712 1,000,757 (28,911)  (0.00) 9,342,275 
January 31, 2020   85,765 971,248 (10,534)  (0.00) 9,342,275 
October 31, 2019 89,113 960,714 (42,935)  (0.00) 9,342,275 
July 31, 2019 141,778 970,443 (7,000)  (0.00) 2,729,635 

 

Three months ended July 31, 2021 compared to the three months ended July 31, 2020  

 

The net income for the three months ended July 31, 2021, of $13,501 mostly reflects accruals for expected 

legal fees necessary to maintain the regulatory listing, to pursue corporate opportunities, and for audit 
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expenses.  The expenses were more than offset by a gain on debt settlement of $39,999 in the period.  

The July 31, 2020 loss of $37,315 reflected accruals for expected legal fees and audit expenses.   

 

Related Party Transactions  

 

Related parties include directors, officers, close family members, certain consultants and enterprises that 

are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar functions. Related parties 

include Michael Lerner, Balu Gopalakrishnan, and Binyomin Posen as members of the board of directors. 

In addition, Binyomin Posen has been appointed as Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, 

replacing Michael Lerner in October 2020. 

 

 In accordance with IAS 24, key management personnel are those persons having authority and 

responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly or indirectly, 

including any directors (executive and non-executive) of the Company. Remuneration of directors and key 

management personnel of the Company for the three-month period ended July 31, 2021 and 2020 was:  

 

Three months period ended July 31, 2021 2020 

 $ $ 

Management fees - 9,000 

 

As at July 31, 2021, $Nil (April 30, 2021 - $Nil) due to related parry was included in accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities. All amounts due to related parties are on account of operating activities and are subject 

to standard trade terms. 

 

Financial Condition  

 

Cash Flow  
 

As at July 31, 2021, the Company held cash and equivalents of $4,402 (April 30, 2021 - $8,634).  Cash of 

$145,000 was raised via a private placement of 7,250,000 common shares on July 23, 2019.  Cash was 

used to reduce payables and pay operating expenses, mostly related to working with regulators to solve 

deficiencies in the Company’s public listing.   

 

The proceeds will be applied to payment of outstanding payables and for general working capital.  Cash 

has been applied as follows: 

 

Payables and accruals $  47,052 

Regulatory fees 12,559 

Operating costs 80,987 

 140,598 

Cash on hand 4,402 

 $145,000 
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Changes in Accounting Policies 

 

All significant critical accounting estimates are fully disclosed in Note 4 of the consolidated financial 

statements for the period ended July 31, 2021, and 2020. 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

 

The Company had negative working capital of as of July 31, 2021 of $408,311 (April 30, 2021 - negative 

working capital of $434,809).  Debt forgiveness of $40,000 was the most significant change in working 

capital during the July 2021 period.  The Company’s held cash and cash equivalents as at July 31, 2021 of 

$4,402 (April 30, 2021 - $8,634).  

 

The negative working capital was affected by the transfer of $161,006 of accounts payable and accruals 

to Statute barred Liabilities, a long term liability, during the year ended April 30, 2021 (April 30, 2020 - 

$386,019). 

 

Management is currently reviewing alternative sources of capital to meet its obligations and short term 

working capital requirements.  While the Company plans to continue to monitor closely its spending, 

conditions in the capital markets continue to make it difficult for early stage exploration companies to 

raise additional capital. The Company may require substantial additional capital to fund any new project 

or to advance the exploration projects.  

 

Historically, the Company has used the net proceeds from issuances of its securities to provide sufficient 

funds for it to meet its near-term exploration and development plans and other contractual obligations 

when due. However, given the current market conditions affecting the junior mining sector, the current 

trading price of the Company’s common shares and other uncertainties discussed herein, there can be no 

assurance that the Company will be able to obtain sufficient additional funds on favorable terms, or at all, 

in order to carry out its objectives. As mentioned elsewhere in this MD&A, the Company is evaluating 

various strategic alternatives and, if it decides to pursue any such alternative, it may also require 

additional funds to carry out its strategic plans in amounts that cannot be determined as of the date 

hereof, which funds may also be unavailable to the Company on favorable terms or at all.  

 

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Factors  

 

International financial reporting standards require that the Company disclose information about the fair 

value of its financial assets and liabilities. Fair value estimates are made at the statement of financial 

position date, based on relevant market information and information about the financial instrument. 

These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties in significant matters of judgment and 

therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect these 

estimates.  
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 Fair value measurements are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 

inputs used in making the measurements. As at July 31, 2021 and April 30, 2021, the Company has no 

financial instruments carried at fair value to classify in the fair value hierarchy.  

 

 As at July 31, 2021 and April 30, 2021, carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, amounts receivable, 

accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the statement of financial position approximate fair market 

value because of the limited term of these instruments.  

 

 The Company's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are summarized 

below. There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and procedures from previous periods.  

 

 (a)  Credit Risk  

  

 The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents. The Company has no 

significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations. Management believes that the credit risk 

concentration with respect to cash and cash equivalents, and financial instruments included in amounts 

receivable is remote.  

 

  (b)  Liquidity Risk  

 

The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 

its obligations when due. As at July 31, 2021, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $4,402 (April 

30, 2021 - $8,634) available to settle current liabilities of $424,092 (April 30, 2021 - $454,503). The 

Company’s accounts payable are subject to normal trade terms.  

 

 (c)  Market Risk  

 

 The Company is exposed to the following market risks:  

 

 (i)  Interest Rate Risk  

 

 The Company has no cash and cash equivalents balances and no variable interest-bearing debt. The 

Company’s current policy is to invest excess cash in investment-grade short-term deposit 

certificates issued by banking institutions. The Company periodically monitors the investments it 

makes and is satisfied with the credit ratings of its banks.  

 

 (ii)  Foreign Exchange Risk  

 

 While the Company’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar, major purchases could be 

transacted in Canadian dollars or United States dollars.  As at July 31, 2021, the Company does not 

hold foreign currency balances.   
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 (iii)  Price Risk  

 

 The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices. The Company closely 

monitors commodity prices to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the 

Company.  

 

 (d)  Sensitivity Analysis  

 

 The Company may hold balances in United States dollars that give rise to foreign exchange risk. Based on 

management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Company does not believe there 

would be any material movements as a result of changes in interest rates.  

 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

 

As at July 31, 2021, there were no off-balance sheet arrangements.  

 

Outstanding Share Data  

 

As at July 31, 2021 and April 30, 2021, and at the date of this MD&A, the Company had 9,342,275 common 

shares issued and outstanding. The Company had no warrants and no stock options outstanding as at July 

31, 2021 and April 30, 2021, nor at the date of this MD&A. 

 

The number of shares outstanding reflects a forty to one consolidation which was effected August 13, 

2020.   

 

Risk Factors  

 

Until a business combination is completed, the Company’s risk factors are those related to a successful 

corporate transaction.  The ability of the Company to continue operations is dependent upon its ability to 

find and close a corporate transaction. Other risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial 

instruments are summarized below.  

 

The risks, objectives, policies and procedures from previous years have been adjusted to reflect the 

pursuit of a corporate transaction.  

 

Dependence on Key Individuals  

 

The Company’s business and operations are dependent on retaining the services of a small number of key 

individuals. The success of the Company is, and will continue to be, to a significant extent, dependent on 

the expertise and experience of these individuals. The loss of one or more of these individuals could have 

a materially adverse effect on the Company. The Company does not maintain insurance on any of its key 

individuals.  



9 
 

Capital Management  

 

The Company considers its capital to consist of shareholders’ equity. The Company manages its capital 

structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the Company, in order to support 

the pursuit of a corporate transaction. The Board does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria 

for Management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company’s Management to sustain future 

development of the business.  

 

The Company will continue to assess corporate opportunities with the intent to realize value.  

 

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this 

approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. The Company did not change its approach 

to capital management in the period ended July 31, 2021.  The incoming group is currently pursuing 

alternatives to finance the Company.  The Company and its subsidiary are not currently subject to 

externally imposed capital requirements.  

 

Global Pandemic 

 

The Company’s operations could be significantly adversely affected by the effects of a widespread global 

outbreak of a contagious disease, including the recent outbreak of respiratory illness caused by COVID-

19. The Company cannot accurately predict the impact COVID-19 will have on its operations and the ability 

of others to meet their obligations with the Company, including uncertainties relating to the ultimate 

geographic spread of the virus, the severity of the disease, the duration of the outbreak, and the length 

of travel and quarantine restrictions imposed by governments of affected countries. In addition, a 

significant outbreak of contagious diseases in the human population could result in a widespread health 

crisis that could adversely affect the economies and financial markets of many countries, resulting in an 

economic downturn that could further affect the Company’s operations and ability to finance its 

operations. 

 

Corporate Transactions 

 

The Company is pursuing a corporate transaction with the ultimate goal to effect a business combination.  

There is no assurance that such a transaction could be reached or, even if a transaction is entered into, 

the transaction will close on the disclosed terms or at all. 

 

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements  

 

This MD&A contains certain “forward-looking information” as defined in applicable securities laws 

(collectively referred to herein as “forward-looking statements”). These statements relate to future 

events or the Company’s future performance. All statements other than statements of historical fact are 

forward-looking statements. Often, but not always, forward-looking statements can be identified by the 

use of words such as “plans”, “expects”, “budgeted”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “continues”, “forecasts”, 
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“projects”, “predicts”, “intends”, “anticipates” or “believes”, or variations of, or the negatives of, such 

words and phrases, or statements that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, 

“should”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved. The forward-looking statements in this MD&A 

speak only as of the date of this MD&A or as of the date specified in such statements.  

 

Forward-looking statements are based upon certain assumptions and other important factors regarding 

present and future business strategies and the environment in which the Company will operate in the 

future, which could prove to be significantly incorrect. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject 

to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, level of 

activity, performance or achievements of the Company and/or its subsidiary to be materially different 

from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.  

 

Actual results and developments are likely to differ, and may differ materially, from those expressed or 

implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A. Forward-looking statements involve 

known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the Company’s actual results, 

performance or achievements to be materially different from any of its future results, performance or 

achievements expressed or implied by forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements herein 

are qualified by this cautionary note. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward 

looking statements. The Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly or otherwise revise any 

forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information or future events or otherwise, except 

as may be required by law. If the Company does update one or more forward-looking statements, no 

inference should be drawn that it will make additional updates with respect to those or other forward-

looking statements, unless required by law. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

To the Members of Green Scientific Labs, LLC 

Opinions 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of  Green Scientific Labs, LLC (the “Company”), which 

comprise the  consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2020, December 31, 2019, and 

January 1, 2019 [effective date of transition to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)], the  

consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in members’ equity, and cash flows for the years 

ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, and notes to the  financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies. 

Opinion on the Financial Positions as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 and Financial Performance and Cash Flows 

for the year ended December 31, 2020 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position presents fairly, in all material 

respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the consolidated 

statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in members’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 

31, 2020 in accordance with IFRS. 

Qualified Opinion on the Financial Position as at January 1, 2019 and Financial Performance and Cash Flows for 

the year ended December 31, 2019 

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Opinions, Including Basis for 

Qualified Opinion section of our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all 

material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as at January 1, 2019, and the consolidated 

statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in members’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 

31, 2019 in accordance with IFRS. 

Basis for Opinions, Including Basis for Qualified Opinion - the Financial Position as at January 1, 2019 and the 

Financial Performance and Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2019 

We did not observe the physical verification of the inventories and were unable to satisfy ourselves by alternative 

means concerning inventory quantities held at January 1, 2019. Since opening inventories enter into the 

determination of the financial performance and cash flows, we were unable to determine whether adjustments might 

have been necessary in respect of the loss for the year ended December 31, 2019 reported in the consolidated 

statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in members’ equity, and the net cash flows from operating 

activities reported in the consolidated statements of cash flows. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Green Scientific Labs, LLC (Continued) 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 

Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical 

requirements that are relevant to our audits of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled 

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

unqualified opinion for the year ended December 31, 2020, the financial position as at December 31, 2020 and 2019, 

and our qualified audit opinion on the financial position as at January 1, 2019 and the financial performance and 

cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 

of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or 

has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 

exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 

statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Green Scientific Labs, LLC (Continued) 

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Company's internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 

the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 

the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 

for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinions. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 

of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audits. 

 

 
 

Richmond Hill, Ontario, Canada  

November 12, 2021 

/s/ SRCO Professional Corporation 

 

CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS 

Authorized to practice public accounting by the 

Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario 
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GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS, LLC 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(Expressed in United States dollars)  

    

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Contingencies (Note 10), Subsequent Events (Note 18) 

Note March 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 January 1, 2019

(Unaudited)

$ $ $ $

Assets

Current assets

Cash 6,031,555           154,076                     336,891                     36,792                       

Trade receivables 4 657,015              484,586                     414,417                     24,682                       

Prepayments and deposits 81,096                20,516                       14,406                       16,920                       

Inventories 264,817              252,494                     170,258                     216,358                     

Total current assets 7,034,483           911,672                     935,972                     294,752                     

Non-current assets

Property and equipment 5 1,230,565           1,265,014                  1,179,149                  76,132                       

Intangible assets 7 32,128                36,718                       -                             -                             

Right-of-use assets 6 2,522,868           2,189,032                  1,162,130                  1,054,873                  

Total assets 10,820,044         4,402,436                  3,277,251                  1,425,757                  

Liabilities

Accounts payable and other payables 8 729,583              606,697                     918,176                     6,119                         

Customer deposits 35,313                181,407                     -                             -                             

Current portion of convertible debentures 13 -                      466,777                     199,287                     -                             

Current portion of derivative liabilities 14 -                      114,862                     148,813                     -                             

Current portion of lease liabilities 6 316,726              381,214                     242,022                     259,007                     

Total current liabilities 1,081,622           1,750,957                  1,508,298                  265,126                     

Non-current liabilities

Loans and borrowings 11 -                      186,300                     -                             -                             

Convertible debentures 13 -                      48,556                       70,070                       -                             

Derivative liabilities 14 -                      197,267                     142,598                     -                             

Lease liabilities 6 2,163,173           1,730,932                  938,717                     706,062                     

Total Liabilities 3,244,795           3,914,012                  2,659,683                  971,188                     

Members' Equity

Members' capital 9 1,949,010           1,264,298                  743,000                     880,000                     

Units to be issued 9 6,440,000           -                             -                             -                             

Contributed surplus 364,213              262,493                     2,253                         -                             

Accumulated deficit (1,177,974)          (1,038,367)                 (127,685)                    (425,431)                    

Total Members' Equity 7,575,249           488,424                     617,568                     454,569                     

Total Liabilities and Members' Equity 10,820,044         4,402,436                  3,277,251                  1,425,757                  
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GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS, LLC 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF (LOSS) INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME 
(Expressed in United States dollars)  

  

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

March 31, March 31, December 31, December 31, 

2021 2020 2020 2019

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Note $ $ $ $

Revenue                   2,190,902                   1,345,753                   6,096,339                   3,619,712 

Operating expenses: 

Materials and consumables used                     (720,011)                     (303,604)                  (1,799,710)                     (764,262)

Employee wages and benefits                     (945,489)                     (428,753)                  (2,508,736)                  (1,190,464)

Consulting and professional fees                     (110,717)                       (53,976)                     (226,461)                     (130,092)

Depreciation and amortization                     (249,254)                     (160,530)                     (759,953)                     (440,015)

Supplies and small equipment                       (33,595)                       (27,251)                     (137,258)                     (127,544)

Rent and occupancy cost                       (28,323)                       (18,570)                       (88,656)                       (62,653)

Travel and entertainment                       (18,338)                       (12,537)                       (50,024)                       (46,079)

Advertising and promotion                         (1,363)                       (22,955)                       (28,654)                       (45,250)

General and administration                       (58,861)                       (52,306)                     (272,046)                     (133,861)

Unit-based compensation 9(a)                                -                       (480,000)                     (480,000)                                -   

Income (loss) from operations                        24,951                     (214,729)                     (255,159)                      679,492 

Other operating expenses:

Finance cost                     (183,228)                     (156,213)                     (841,221)                     (305,353)

Gain (loss) on change in fair value of derivative liabilities 14                        33,312                          1,252                      253,324                         (8,670)

Loss on conversion of convertible debentures 13                     (197,440)                                -                                  -                                  -   

Provision for expected credit losses 4                         (6,841)                                -                         (77,626)                       (67,723)

Gain on loan forgiveness 11                      189,639                                -                                  -                                  -   

Other income                                -                                  -                          10,000                                -   

                    (164,558)                     (154,961)                     (655,523)                     (381,746)

(139,607)                    (369,690)                    (910,682)                    297,746                     Net (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income

Year endedThree months ended
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GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS, LLC 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN MEMBER’S EQUITY 
(Expressed in United States dollars)  

      

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

Members' Units to be Contributed Accumulated

Note Capital Issued Surplus Deficit Total

$ $ $ $ $

Balance, January 1, 2019 880,000          -                  -                 (425,431)        454,569         

Net income for the year -                  -                  -                 297,746         297,746         

Partial repayment of convertible debentures -                  -                  2,253             -                 2,253             

Distributions 9(c) (137,000)         -                  -                 -                 (137,000)        

Balance, December 31, 2019 743,000          -                  2,253             (127,685)        617,568         

Balance, January 1, 2020 743,000          -                  2,253             (127,685)        617,568         

Net loss for the period -                  -                  -                 (369,690)        (369,690)        

Issuance of units for services 9(a) 480,000          -                  -                 -                 480,000         

Distributions (43,613)           -                  -                 -                 (43,613)          

Balance, March 31, 2020 (unaudited) 1,179,387       -                  2,253             (497,375)        684,265         

Balance, January 1, 2020 743,000          -                  2,253             (127,685)        617,568         

Net loss for the year -                  -                  -                 (910,682)        (910,682)        

Issuance of units for services 9(a) 480,000          -                  -                 -                 480,000         

Partial repayment of convertible debentures -                  -                  260,240         -                 260,240         

Conversion of convertible debentures 9(b) 219,911          -                  -                 -                 219,911         

Distributions 9(c) (178,613)         -                  -                 -                 (178,613)        

Balance, December 31, 2020 1,264,298       -                  262,493         (1,038,367)     488,424         

Balance, January 1, 2021 1,264,298       -                  262,493         (1,038,367)     488,424         

Net loss for the period -                  -                  -                 (139,607)        (139,607)        

Partial repayment of convertible debentures -                  -                  101,720         -                 101,720         

Conversion of convertible debentures 9(e) 714,712          -                  -                 -                 714,712         

Units to be issued 9(d) -                  6,440,000       -                 -                 6,440,000      

Distributions 9(c) (30,000)           -                  -                 (30,000)          

Balance, March 31, 2021 (unaudited) 1,949,010       6,440,000       364,213         (1,177,974)     7,575,249      
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GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS, LLC  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(Expressed in United States dollars)  

 

 
Supplementary information     
Interest paid, net 17,127 19,293 93,794 1,083 
Conversion of convertible debt 714,712 - 219,911 - 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS, LLC 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020, DECEMBER 31, 2019 (AUDITED) AND THE THREE 
MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 AND MARCH 31, 2020 (UNAUDITED)  
(Expressed in United States dollars)  
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 

 

Green Scientific Labs, LLC (“GSL” or the “Company”) was formed in the State of Delaware on April 19, 2018.  
The Company is located at 4001 SW 47th Avenue, Suite 208 Davie, Florida 33314 and provides hemp and 
marijuana testing services in Florida, the United States.  
 
On February 11, 2021, the Company completed a 1,000 for 1 membership unit split to increase the issued 
and outstanding membership units of the Company from 100 to 100,000. On February 15, 2021, the 
Company completed a 100 for 1 membership unit split to further increase the issued and outstanding 
membership units of the Company from 100,000 to 10,000,000. These consolidated financial statements give 
retroactive effect to such membership unit split and all membership units and per membership unit amounts 
have been adjusted accordingly. 

 
2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND MEASUREMENT 

 

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 and 
three months ended March 31, 2021 (unaudited) have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) 
and Interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  
 
These financial statements also include the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of the 
Company, for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, which have been prepared in accordance 
with International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 34, “Interim Financial Reporting” and follow the same 
accounting policies as the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 
2019. 

 
These audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 and 
unaudited three months ended March 31, 2021 were approved and authorized for issue by the members of 
the Company on November 12, 2021. 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, under the historical 
cost convention, except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair value as described herein.  
 
IFRS 1-First Time Adoption of IFRS 
 
The consolidated statements of financial position as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the related 
consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss and changes in member’s equity, and cash flows 
for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are the first consolidated financial statements of the 
Company which are presented in accordance with IFRS. As such, the Company makes an explicit and 
unreserved statement of compliance with IFRS. On date of transition to IFRS as of January 1, 2019, the 
Company has stated its consolidated statements of financial position under IFRS. As a result, the entity has 
recognized all assets and liabilities required by IFRS; derecognized all assets and liabilities not permitted by 
IFRS; classified all assets, liabilities and components of equity in accordance with IFRS; and measured all 
assets and liabilities in accordance with IFRS. There was no impact on January 1, 2019 on the consolidated 
statements of financial position on the first-time adoption of IFRS. 
 

  



GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS, LLC 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020, DECEMBER 31, 2019 (AUDITED) AND THE THREE 
MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 AND MARCH 31, 2020 (UNAUDITED)  
(Expressed in United States dollars)  
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND MEASUREMENT (continued) 

 
Basis of consolidation 
 
These statements consolidate the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Control is 
achieved when we have the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities, are exposed to, or have rights to, variable returns from our involvement with the 
entity and have the ability to affect those returns through our power over the entity.  Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company until the date on which control 
ceases. Profit and loss or other comprehensive income (loss) of subsidiaries acquired during the period are 
recognized from the date of acquisition or effective date of disposal as applicable. Significant intercompany 
accounts and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation. 
 
The Company has the following subsidiaries:  
 
Name of Entity    % Ownership  Accounting Method 
Green Scientific Labs Management (Michigan) LLC 100 Consolidation 
Green Scientific Labs AZ LLC 100 Consolidation 

 
When the proportion of the equity (deficiency) held by non-controlling interest changes, the Company adjusts 
the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect the changes in their relative 
interest in the subsidiary. The Company recognizes directly in equity (deficiency) any difference between the 
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or 
received and attribute it to the members of the Company. 

 
Functional and Presentation Currency 

 
The Company’s functional currency and those of its wholly owned subsidiaries, as determined by 
management, is the United States (“U.S.”) dollar. These financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars.  

 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
Cash  

 
Cash includes cash deposits with original maturities of less than 90 days in financial institutions.  

 
Property and Equipment 
 
Property and equipment are stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. 
Expenditures that materially increase the life of the assets are capitalized. Ordinary repairs and maintenance 
are expensed as incurred. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 
the depreciable asset using the following terms and methods: 

 
Leasehold improvements 5 years 
Furniture and equipment   5 Years 
Computer software   5 Years 
 

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year-
end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. An item of equipment is derecognized upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of 
the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the 
asset) is included in operations in the year the asset is derecognized.   



GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS, LLC 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020, DECEMBER 31, 2019 (AUDITED) AND THE THREE 
MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 AND MARCH 31, 2020 (UNAUDITED)  
(Expressed in United States dollars)  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Inventories 
 
Inventories, which consist principally finished goods testing supplies and reagents, are valued at lower of 
cost and net realizable value. The cost includes material costs and other costs incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition, and is accounted for on a first-in/first-out basis. Net 
realizable value is the estimated selling price less the estimated costs of completion and the costs necessary 
to make the sale.  

 
Revenue Recognition 
 
Revenue is recognized by the Company in accordance with IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers. Through application of the standard, the Company recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to the customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 
 
In order to recognize revenue under IFRS 15, the Company applies the following five (5) steps: 
• Identify a customer along with a corresponding contract; 

• Identify the performance obligation(s) in the contract to transfer goods or provide distinct services to a 
customer; 

• Determine the transaction price the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring 
promised goods or services to a customer; 

• Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation(s) in the contract; and 

• Recognize revenue when or as the Company satisfies the performance obligation(s). 
 
Under IFRS 15, revenues from the provision of hemp and marijuana testing services are generally recognized at 
a point in time when control over the goods have been transferred to the customer. Payments are only done 
with cash typically which is due upon transferring the goods to the customer.  Revenue is recognized upon the 
satisfaction of the performance obligation. The Company satisfies its performance obligation and transfers 
control upon delivery and acceptance by the customer. 
 
Convertible debentures  
 
The component of convertible debentures that exhibits characteristics of a liability is recognized as a liability 
in the consolidated statements of financial position, net of transaction costs. On issuance of convertible 
debentures, the fair value of the liability component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent non-
convertible debenture and carried at amortized cost until extinguished. The remainder of the proceeds are 
allocated to the conversion option that is recognized and included in members’ equity, net of transaction 
costs. The carrying amount of the conversion option is not remeasured in subsequent years. On initial 
recognition, transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible 
debentures based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components. 
 
If the conversion option of convertible debentures exhibits characteristics of an embedded derivative, on 
initial recognition, the derivative component of the convertible debentures is measured at fair value and 
presented as part of derivative liabilities. Any excess of proceeds over the amount initially recognized as the 
derivative component is recognized as the liability component. On initial recognition, transaction costs are 
apportioned between the liability and derivative components of the convertible debentures based on the 
allocation of proceeds to the liability and derivative. The portion of the transaction costs relating to the liability 
component is recognized initially as part of the liability. The portion of the transaction costs relating to the 
derivative component is recognized immediately in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive 
loss.  



GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS, LLC 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020, DECEMBER 31, 2019 (AUDITED) AND THE THREE 
MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 AND MARCH 31, 2020 (UNAUDITED)  
(Expressed in United States dollars)  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Financial Instruments  
 
Financial Assets 
 
Recognition and Initial Measurement 
 

The Company recognizes financial assets when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. Financial assets are measured initially at their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not 
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
their acquisition. Transaction costs attributable to the acquisition of financial assets subsequently measured 
at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss when incurred. 

 
Classification and Subsequent Measurement 
 

On initial recognition, financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) or fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). The Company 
determines the classification of its financial assets, together with any embedded derivatives, based on the 
business model for managing the financial assets and their contractual cash flow characteristics. 

 

Financial assets are classified as follows: 
 

• Amortized cost - Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows are 
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest revenue is calculated using 
the effective interest method and gains or losses arising from impairment, foreign exchange and 
derecognition are recognized in profit or loss. Financial assets measured at amortized cost would comprise 
of cash and trade receivables.  
 

• Fair value through other comprehensive income - Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash 
flows and for selling the financial assets, and for which the contractual cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Interest income 
calculated using the effective interest method and gains or losses arising from impairment and foreign 
exchange are recognized in profit or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount of the financial assets are 
recognized in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss. The Company does not hold any 
financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
 

• Fair value through profit or loss - Assets that do not meet the criteria to be measured at amortized cost, or 
fair value through other comprehensive income, are measured at fair value through profit or loss. All interest 
income and changes in the financial assets’ carrying amount are recognized in profit or loss. The Company 
does not hold any financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

  



GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS, LLC 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020, DECEMBER 31, 2019 (AUDITED) AND THE THREE 
MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2021 AND MARCH 31, 2020 (UNAUDITED)  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
Impairment 
 
An expected credit loss (“ECL”) model applies to financial assets measured at amortized cost. The 
Company’s financial assets measured at amortized cost and subject to the ECL model consist primarily of 
trade receivables. In determining the ECLs management makes estimates related to the probability‐weighted 
amount of ECLs based on a ranger of outcomes, the discount rate that reflects the effective interest rate of 
the asset and other information available as of the reporting date relating to past events, current conditions 
and forecasts regarding future economic conditions.  
 
The Company applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the 
Company does not track credit risk, but instead recognize a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each 
reporting date. The Company has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.   
 
Derecognition of Financial Assets 
 
The Company derecognizes a financial asset when its contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire. 

 
Financial Liabilities  
 
Recognition and Initial Measurement 
 

The Company recognizes a financial liability when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. At initial recognition, the Company measures financial liabilities at their fair value plus transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to their issuance, with the exception of financial liabilities subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss for which transaction costs are immediately recorded in profit or 
loss. Where an instrument contains both a liability and equity component, these components are recognized 
separately based on the substance of the instrument, with the liability component measured initially at fair 
value and the equity component assigned the residual amount. 

 

 
Classification and subsequent measurement 
 

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method. Interest, gains and losses relating to a financial liability are recognized in profit or loss. 
 

Derecognition of financial liabilities 
 

The Company derecognizes a financial liability only when its contractual obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or expire.  
 
The Company has classified its financial instruments as follows:  
Cash      Amortized costs  
Trade receivables    Amortized costs 
Accounts payable and other payables   Amortized costs 
Customer deposits    Amortized costs 
Loans and borrowings    Amortized costs 
Convertible debentures    Amortized costs 
Derivative liabilities     FVTPL  



GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS, LLC 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Provisions and Contingent Liabilities 

 
Provisions, where applicable, are recognized in other liabilities when the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are measured at 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting 
period and are discounted to present value where the effect is material. The Company performs evaluations 
to identify onerous contracts and, where applicable, records provisions for such contracts. As at March 31,  
2021 (unaudited), December 31, 2020 and 2019 and January 1, 2019, there were no such contracts. 
 
Foreign Currency 
 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than functional currencies are translated into 
functional currencies at the rate of exchange in effect at the consolidated statements of financial position 
date. Non- monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the historical rates. Revenues and expenses are 
translated at the transaction date exchange rate. Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from translation 
are reflected in net loss and comprehensive loss for the period.  There were no foreign currency transactions 
during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the three months ended March 31, 2021.   
 
Intangible Assets 

 
Intangible assets are measured at fair value at their respective acquisition dates. Amortization of definite life 
intangibles is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which do not exceed the 
contractual period, if any, over the following terms:  
 

Licenses   2 years 
 
The Company evaluates the reasonableness of the estimated useful lives of these intangible assets on an 
annual basis. Intangible assets with definite lives are assessed for impairment when some or all of the internal 
or external indicators of impairment are met. 
 
Income Taxes 
 
The Company is treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. Consequently, federal income 
taxes are not payable or provided for by the Company.  Members are taxed individually on their pro-rata 
ownership of the Company’s earnings. The Company’s net income or loss is allocated among the members 
in accordance with the Company’s operating agreement.  
 
Unit-based compensation  
 
For equity-settled unit-based payment transactions, the Company measures the goods and services 
received, and the corresponding increase in equity, directly, at the fair value of goods and services received, 
unless that fair value cannot be estimated reliably. If the Company cannot estimate reliably the fair value of 
the goods or services received, it measures their value by reference to the fair value of the equity instrument 
granted.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions 
 
The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and 
revenue and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Significant judgments, estimates, 
and assumptions that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements 
are described below. 

 
(i) Estimated Useful Lives and Depreciation of Property and Equipment  

Depreciation of property and equipment is dependent upon estimates of useful lives which are determined 
through the exercise of judgment. The assessment of any impairment of these assets is dependent upon 
estimates of recoverable amounts that take into account factors such as economic and market conditions 
and the useful lives of assets. 
 
(ii) Fair value of derivative liabilities  
 

Management uses the multinomial lattice model to calculate the fair value of derivative liabilities. Use of this 
method requires management to make assumptions and estimates about the Company’s unit price, the risk 
free rate, the probability of an event of default for the instruments, alternative financing, and capital raising 
events to take place, and the expected volatility of the Company’s unit price. In making these assumptions 
and estimates, management relies on historical market data. 
 
(iii) Lease liabilities 
 

The Company determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods 
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised. The Company has several 
lease contracts that include extension options. The Company applies judgement in evaluating whether it is 
reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant factors 
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. The Company included the renewal period 
as part of the lease term for leases of office and laboratory because there will be a significant negative effect 
on operations if a replacement asset is not readily available.  
 
When the Company recognizes a lease, the future lease payments are discounted using the Company’s 
incremental borrowing rate. This significant estimate impacts the carrying amount of the lease liabilities and 
the interest expense recorded on the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss.  
 
(iv) Expected credit losses 
 

In calculating the expected credit loss on financial instruments, management is required to make a number 
of judgments including the probability of possible outcomes with regards to credit losses, the discount rate to 
use for time value of money and whether the financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly 
since initial recognition. 
 
(v) Going concern risk assessment 
 

The assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, meet its liabilities for the ensuing 
year, involves significant judgment based on expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Earnings per Membership Unit 

 

Basic earnings per membership unit will be calculated and disclosed once the related capital subscription 
agreements have been finalized. Basic earnings per membership unit is calculated by dividing: the profit 
attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary units; by 
the weighted average number of units outstanding during the financial period, adjusted for bonus elements 

in units issued during the year and excluding units held in treasury. 
 

Adoption of New and Revised Standards and Interpretations 

 

IFRS 16, Leases 

 

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, Leases, which will replace IAS 17, Leases. This standard 
introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for all 
leases with a term of more than twelve months unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is 
required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability 

representing its obligation to make lease payments. The standard will be effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The Company adopted IFRS 16 using the full retrospective method 
of adoption, with the date of initial application of April 8, 2018.  

 

Standards, amendments, and interpretations issued but not yet adopted   

 

The IASB has issued several new standards and amendments that will be effective on various dates. The 
listing below is of standards, interpretation and amendments issued which the Company reasonably expects 
to be applicable at a future date. The Company intends to adopt those standards when they become effective. 

The impact on the Company is currently being assessed.  
 
Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
Current: In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69-76 of IAS 1 to clarify the 
requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify that the conditions 

which exist at the end of a reporting period are those which will be used to determine if a right to defer 
settlement of a liability exists. The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of 
a liability. The amendments are effective January 1, 2022, with early adoption permitted. The amendments 
are to be applied retrospectively. Management is currently assessing the impact of this amendment. 
 

4. TRADE RECEIVABLES  
 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on a 30 days term.  
 
Below is the movement in the allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables:  

 
  

March 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

(unaudited)

$ $ $

Opening balance, January 1 31,366                         67,723                         -                              

Provision for expected credit losses 6,841                           77,626                         67,723                         

Write-off -                              (113,983)                     -                              

Ending balance 38,207                         31,366                         67,723                         
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5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 

As at March 31, 2021 (unaudited), December 31, 2020 and 2019 and January 1, 2019, property and equipment 
consist of: 

  

 
  

Leasehold 

improvements

Furniture and 

equipment

Computer software Total 

$ $ $ $

Cost

Balance, January 1, 2019 -                              79,834                         -                              79,834                       

Additions 6,048                           1,204,981                    -                              1,211,029                  

Balance, December 31, 2019 6,048                           1,284,815                    -                              1,290,863                  

Additions 197,410                       192,676                       -                              390,086                     

Balance, December 31, 2020 203,458                       1,477,491                    -                              1,680,949                  

Additions (unaudited) -                              21,182                         29,000                         50,182                       

Balance, March 31, 2021 (unaudited) 203,458                       1,498,673                    29,000                         1,731,131                  

Accumulated depreciation

Balance, January 1, 2019 -                              3,702                           -                              3,702                         

Depreciation 556                              107,456                       -                              108,012                     

Balance, December 31, 2019 556                              111,158                       -                              111,714                     

Depreciation 21,654                         282,567                       -                              304,221                     

Balance, December 31, 2020 22,210                         393,725                       -                              415,935                     

Depreciation (unaudited) 10,172                         74,459                         -                              84,631                       

Balance, March 31, 2021 (unaudited) 32,382                         468,184                       -                              500,566                     

Net book value 

At January 1, 2019 -                              76,132                         -                              76,132                       

At December 31, 2019 5,492                           1,173,657                    -                              1,179,149                  

At December 31, 2020 181,248                       1,083,766                    -                              1,265,014                  
At March 31, 2021 (unaudited) 171,076                       1,030,489                    29,000                         1,230,565                  
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6. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 

 

Right-of-use assets 

 

The Company’s leases assets include office space, equipment and vehicle leases. Leases of office space and 
equipment generally have lease term between 3 to 15 years, while motor vehicles generally have lease terms 
of 6 years. There are several lease contracts that include extension options and management exercises 
significant judgement in determining whether these extension options are reasonably certain to be exercised 
(Note 3). The right-of-use assets consist of the following: 

  

 
 

Right of use Buildings Right of use 

Equipment

Right of use 

Vehicles

Right of use 

Total

$ $ $ $

Cost

Recognized January 1, 2019 398,627                        815,214                        -                                1,213,841                     

Lease additions -                                -                                -                                -                                

Lease modification 373,911                        -                                -                                373,911                        

Balance, December 31, 2019 772,538                        815,214                        -                                1,587,752                     

Lease additions -                                1,381,325                     75,082                          1,456,407                     

Balance, December 31, 2020 772,538                        2,196,539                     75,082                          3,044,159                     

Lease additions (unaudited) 464,594                        -                                -                                464,594                        

Lease modification (unaudited) (65,598)                         -                                -                                (65,598)                         

Balance, March 31, 2021 (unaudited) 1,171,534                     2,196,539                     75,082                          3,443,155                     

Accumulated depreciation

Recognized January 1, 2019 45,744                          113,224                        -                                158,968                        

Amortization 60,265                          271,738                        -                                332,003                        

Lease modification (65,349)                         -                                -                                (65,349)                         

Balance, December 31, 2019 40,660                          384,962                        -                                425,622                        

Amortization 54,213                          365,907                        9,385                            429,505                        

Balance, December 31, 2020 94,873                          750,869                        9,385                            855,127                        

Amortization (unaudited) 19,526                          137,379                        3,128                            160,033                        

Lease modification (unaudited) (94,873)                         -                                -                                (94,873)                         

Balance, March 31, 2021 (unaudited) 19,526                          888,248                        12,513                          920,287                        

Net book value 

At January 1, 2019 352,883                        701,990                        -                                1,054,873                     

At December 31, 2019 731,878                        430,252                        -                                1,162,130                     

At December 31, 2020 677,665                        1,445,670                     65,697                          2,189,032                     

At March 31, 2021 (unaudited) 1,152,008                     1,308,291                     62,569                          2,522,868                     
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6. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 

 

Lease liabilities 

 

The Company’s corresponding lease liabilities are composed of the following: 

 

   
 

Interest expense on lease liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $193,310 (2019 - $167,091) 
and for the three months ended March 31, 2021 (unaudited) was $64,738 (three months ended March 31, 
2020 (unaudited) - $27,031).  

 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company applied a range of IBR from 5.7% to 18.3% (2019 
– 13.0% to 18.33%). During the three months ended March 31, 2021 (unaudited), the IBR applied ranged from 
5.7% to 18.3% (three months ended March 31, 2020 (unaudited) – 5.7% to 18.3%). The Company’s minimum 
contractual undiscounted cash flows for lease obligations as at March 31, 2021 (unaudited), December 31, 
2020 and 2019 and January 1, 2019 are presented below: 

 

 

 
  

Recognized January 1, 2019 965,069$                      

Additions -                                

Payments and interest (223,590)                       

Lease modification 439,260                        

Balance, December 31, 2019 1,180,739                     

Additions 1,456,407                     

Payments and interest (525,000)                       

Balance, December 31, 2020 2,112,146                     

Additions (unaudited) 464,594                        

Payments and interest (unaudited) (126,115)                       

Lease modification (unaudited) 29,274                          

Balance, March 31, 2021 (unaudited) 2,479,899                     

March 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 January 1, 2019

(unaudited)

$ $ $ $

Undiscounted lease liabilities

Within 1 year 596,606                        609,112                        393,824                        390,680                        

2 to 3 years 1,014,455                     891,429                        392,458                        671,767                        

Thereafter 2,930,256                     1,821,151                     1,438,996                     172,617                        

Total undiscounted lease liabilities 4,541,317                     3,321,692                     2,225,278                     1,235,064                     

Impact of discounting (2,061,418)                    (1,209,546)                    (1,044,539)                    (269,995)                       

Present value of lease liabilities 2,479,899                     2,112,146                     1,180,739                     965,069                        

Less: current portion of lease liabilities (316,726)                       (381,214)                       (242,022)                       (259,007)                       

Non-current portion of lease liabilities 2,163,173                     1,730,932                     938,717                        706,062                        
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company obtained a license to operate as a testing laboratory 
from the State of Florida Department of Health Office of Medical Marijuana Use (“OMMU”). Intangible assets 
consist of application fees incurred to obtain the license. The Company amortizes the license on a straight-
line basis, over a 2-year useful life. 

   
 

8. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 

 
 

Accounts payable is non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 60-day terms. Other payables and 
accrued liabilities are non-interest bearing and have an average term of three months.  

  

License

$

Cost

Balance, January 1, 2019 -          

Additions -          

Balance, December 31, 2019 -          

Additions 62,945    

Balance, December 31, 2020 62,945    

Additions (unaudited) -          

Balance, March 31, 2021 (unaudited) 62,945    

Accumulated depreciation

Balance, January 1, 2019 -          

Depreciation -          

Balance, December 31, 2019 -          

Depreciation 26,227    

Balance, December 31, 2020 26,227    

Depreciation (unaudited) 4,590      

Balance, March 31, 2021 (unaudited) 30,817    

Net book value 

At January 1, 2019 -          

At December 31, 2019 -          

At December 31, 2020 36,718    

At March 31, 2021 (unaudited) 32,128    

March 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 January 1, 2019

(unaudited)

$ $ $ $

Accounts payable 496,712                      367,504                      825,860                      178                             

Other payables 135,339                      187,975                      39,455                        3,335                          

Accrued liabilities 97,532                        51,218                        52,861                        2,606                          
729,583                      606,697                      918,176                      6,119                          
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9. MEMBERS’ EQUITY 

 
 

Authorized unit capital 
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of units.  
 
Outstanding unit capital  
As at March 31, 2021 (unaudited), December 31, 2020 and 2019 and January 1, 2019, there was only one 
class of units issued and outstanding.  
 
a) During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 1,000,000 units at a price of $0.48 per 

unit pursuant to employment arrangements, and recorded the amount as unit-based compensation 
expense. 

b) During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company converted $200,746 of the 2018 Debentures 
via the issuance of 267,000 units at $0.75 per unit. Derivative liability of $19,165 related the 2018 
Debentures were reclassified to members’ capital upon conversion.  

c) During the three months ended March 31, 2021 (unaudited) and years ended December 31, 2020 and 
2019, distributions of $30,000 (unaudited), $178,613 and $137,000 were made, respectively. 

d) Unaudited -During the three months ended March 31, 2021, the Company received gross proceeds of 
$6,440,000 from a non-brokered private placement through the issuance of 6,440,000 units at $1.00 per 
unit and incurred issuance costs of $35,297. The units were issued subsequently on April 6, 2021 and 
therefore, the proceeds were recorded as units to be issued as at March 31, 2021.  

e) Unaudited -During the three months ended March 31, 2021, the Company converted $481,555 of the 2019 
Debentures and $18,445 of the 2020 Debentures via the issuance of 500,000 units. Derivative liabilities 
of $212,260 related the 2019 Debentures and $2,452 related to the 2020 Debentures were reclassified to 
members’ capital upon conversion. 

 
As at March 31, 2021 (unaudited), December 31, 2020 and 2019 and January 1, 2019, there were 10,500,000, 
10,000,000, 9,000,000 and 10,000,000 units outstanding, respectively. 

 
10. CONTINGENCIES 

 
From time to time, the Company may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of operations in the 
normal course of business. At March 31, 2021 (unaudited), December 31, 2020 and 2019 and January 1, 
2019, there were no pending or threatened lawsuits that could reasonably be expected to have a material 
effect on the results of the Company’s operations. There are also no proceedings in which any of the 
Company’s directors, officers or affiliates is an adverse party or has a material interest adverse to the 
Company’s interest. 

 
11. LOANS AND BORROWINGS  

 

PPP loan 

On May 10, 2020, the Company received a $188,300 loan under the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) 
offered by the U.S. Small Business Administration in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak. The 
loan is interest-bearing at 1.00% per annum and with a maturity date in 2 years. On January 22, 2021, the full 
amount of $188,300 in principal and $1,339 in accrued interest was forgiven and the total amount of $189,639 
is presented gain on loan forgiveness in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss during 
the period ended March 31, 2021(unaudited).  

 

As at March 31, 2021 (unaudited), December 31, 2020 and 2019 and January 1, 2019, loan balance 
outstanding were Nil, $188,300, Nil, and Nil, respectively. Interest expense incurred for the year ended 
December 31, 2020 was $1,218 (2019 - Nil) and for the three months ended March 31, 2021 (unaudited) was 
$122 (three months ended March 31, 2020 – Nil (unaudited)). 
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12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

Parties are considered related if the party has the ability, either directly or indirectly, to control the other party 
or exercise significant influence over the other party in making operating and financial decisions. A transaction 
is a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties. 
Unless otherwise stated, none of the transactions incorporated special terms and conditions and no 
guarantees were given or received.  
 

Key management includes the Company’s directors and members of the executive management team. Total 
compensation of key management personnel and directors was approximately $247,520 for the year ended 
December 31, 2020 (2019 – $228,845) and $69,856 for the three months ended March 31, 2021 (unaudited) 
(three months ended March 31, 2020 - $54,986 (unaudited)).  

 

13. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES 

 

2018 Debenture 

On December 31, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement to issue convertible debentures of $250,000 
(the “2018 Debenture”). The proceed was received on January 2, 2019. The 2018 Debenture bore interest at 
15% per annum. The Company was required to make interest-only payments beginning on January 1, 2020 
and final payment of principal and accrued interest was due and payable on June 30, 2020. The 2018 
Debenture was secured by a security interest in the Company’s property and assets pursuant to the security 
agreement entered into with the holder. The outstanding principal and unpaid accrued interest was at the 
option of the holder to be converted into the Company’s membership unit at a conversion price of at the lesser 
of: (i) $7.5 million pre-money valuation per membership unit or; or (ii) the per membership unit purchase price 
of the next equity financing by the Company for cash. On June 30, 2020, $200,746 of the 2018 Debenture 
was converted into 2.67% membership interest of the Company at $7.5 million pre-money valuation, which is 
the value of the Company before it receives other external funding or financing. 

  
2019 Debentures 

On November 7, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement to issue a series of convertible debentures 
with an aggregate amount of $987,765 (the “2019 Debentures”). The 2019 Debentures bore interest at 13% 
per annum. The Company was required to make principal and interest payments until the 2019 Debentures 
was fully repaid. The 2019 Debentures was secured by a security interest in the Company’s property and 
assets pursuant to the security agreement entered into with the holder. The outstanding principal and unpaid 
accrued interest was at the option of the holder to be converted into the Company’s membership unit at a 
conversion price of at the lesser of: (i) $20 million pre-money valuation per membership unit or; or (ii) the per 
membership unit purchase price of the next equity financing by the Company for cash. In 2019 the Company 
closed two tranches and raised gross proceeds of $224,009. In 2020, the Company closed the remaining 
amount in four tranches and raised gross proceeds of $763,757. The monthly principal and interest payments 
for the different tranches range from $3,735 to $19,828. During the three months ended March 31, 2021 
(unaudited), $500,000 of the 2019 Debentures was converted into 500,000 membership units of the Company 
at $1 per unit. Upon conversion, the Company recorded a loss on conversion of $168,271.  
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13. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES (continued) 

 

2020 Debenture 

On August 11, 2020, the Company entered into a secured credit line with a principal amount of $200,000. The 
note bore interest of 13% per annum with a maturity date of November 11, 2020. The Company was to make 
interest only monthly payment of $2,250. The promissory note is secured by a security interest in equipment 
owned by the Company up to a value of $200,000. The outstanding principal and unpaid accrued interest was 
at the option of the holder to be converted into the Company’s membership unit at a conversion price of at the 
lesser of: (i) $20 million pre-money valuation per membership unit or; or (ii) the per membership unit purchase 
price of the next equity financing by the Company for cash. On November 4, 2020, the Company entered into 
an amendment to the promissory note to extend the maturity date to February 11, 2021 and the monthly 
interest payment was be in the amount of $2,500. During the three months ended March 31, 2021 (unaudited), 
$18,445 of the 2018 Debenture was converted into 18,445 membership units of the Company at $1 per unit 
and the remaining portion was repaid in full.   

 

2021 Debenture 

On February 2, 2021, the Company entered into a promissory note with a principal amount of $101,500. The 
note bore interest of 13% per annum with a maturity date of August 2, 2021. The principal amount and accrued 
interest were due on maturity. The outstanding principal and unpaid accrued interest was at the option of the 
holder to be converted into the Company’s membership unit at a conversion price of at the lesser of: (i) $20 
million pre-money valuation per membership unit or; or (ii) the per membership unit purchase price of the next 
equity financing by the Company for cash. During the three months ended March 31, 2021 (unaudited), the 
outstanding principal and accrued interest were repaid in full. Upon early repayment, the Company recorded 
a loss of $29,169 on settlement.  
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13. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES (continued) 

  

 
 

14. DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES  

 

2018 Debenture 

The 2018 Debenture (see Note 13) issued by the Company contained down round protection on the 
conversion feature. If the down round protection is enacted, there will be variability in the number of 
membership units issued. In accordance with IFRS, a contract to issue variable number of membership units 
shall be classified as a derivative liability and measured at fair value with change in fair value recognized in 
the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss at each period-end. The derivative liability will 
ultimately be converted into the Company’s equity when the convertible debenture is converted, or will be 
extinguished on the repayment of the debentures and reclassified to contributed surplus.  

 

The Company used the multinomial lattice model to estimate the fair value of the derivative liability with respect 
to the 2018 Debenture at each reporting date. This is a Level 3 recurring fair value measurement (Note 16). 
The following assumptions were used: 

  
  

 2018 

Debenture 

$

 2019 

Debentures 

$

 2020 

Debenture 

$

 2021 

Debenture 

$

Total

$

Balance, January 1, 2019 -                                                           -                        -                        -                        -                       

Amounts issued 250,000                                               224,009            -                        -                        474,009           

Less: allocated to derivative liabilities (Note 14) (148,391)                                              (136,603)           -                        -                        (284,994)          

Less: issuance costs -                                                           (1,310)               -                        -                        (1,310)              

Accretion 78,323                                                 3,329                -                        -                        81,652             

Repayment -                                                           -                        -                        -                        -                       

Conversion -                                                           -                        -                        -                        -                       

Balance, December 31, 2019 179,932                                               89,425              -                        -                        269,357           

Amounts issued -                                                           763,757            200,000            -                        963,757           

Less: allocated to derivative liabilities (Note 14) -                                                           (460,508)           (92,939)             -                        (553,447)          

Less: issuance costs -                                                           (4,306)               (1,071)               -                        (5,377)              

Accretion 70,068                                                 348,689            94,010              -                        512,767           

Repayment (49,254)                                                (421,724)           -                        -                        (470,978)          

Conversion (200,746)                                              -                        -                        -                        (200,746)          

Balance, December 31, 2020 -                                                           315,333            200,000            -                        515,333           

Amounts issued -                                                           -                        -                        101,500            101,500           

Less: allocated to derivative liabilities (Note 14) -                                                           -                        -                        (37,615)             (37,615)            

Less: issuance costs -                                                           -                        -                        (944)                  (944)                 

Accretion -                                                           84,323              -                        9,390                93,713             

Repayment -                                                           (86,372)             (181,555)              (101,500)           (369,427)          

Conversion -                                                           (481,555)           (18,445)             -                        (500,000)          

Loss on conversion -                                                           168,271            -                        29,169              197,440           

Balance, March 31, 2021 (unaudited) -                                                           -                        -                        -                        -                       

2018 Debenture June 30, 2020* December 31, 2019 At inception 

Volatility 124.90% 102.89% 86.00%

Risk-free interest rate 0.11% 1.55% 2.57%

Term remaining (years) 0.00 0.50 1.50

Stock price 0.83$                          0.72$                          0.49$                         

*Date of conversion
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14. DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES (continued) 

 

2018 Debenture (continued) 

 

Upon initial recognition, the Company recorded derivative liability of $148,391 in 2019. During the year ended 
December 31, 2020, the Company recorded a gain of $124,946 (2019 – loss of $422) on the revaluation of 
the derivative liability. In 2020, $200,746 of the 2018 Debenture were converted and the Company recorded 
$19,165, representing the fair value of the derivative liability at the conversion date for the portion converted, 
as members’ capital.  

 

2019 Debentures 

Similar to the 2018 Debenture, the 2019 Debentures contained down round protection on the conversion 
feature and shall be classified as derivatives liabilities and measure at fair value with change in fair value 
recognized in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss at each period end.  

 

The Company used the multinomial lattice model to estimate the fair value of the derivative liabilities with 
respect to the 2019 Debentures at each reporting date. This is a Level 3 recurring fair value measurement 
(Note 16). The following assumptions were used: 

 

  
 

Upon initial recognition, the Company recorded derivative liabilities of $136,603 in 2019 and $460,508 in 2020, 
respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2020, a balance of $ $255,538 (2019 - $2253) was 
transferred to contributed surplus upon partial payment made by the Company throughout the year. During 
the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded a gain of $35,439 (2019 – loss of $8,248) on the 
revaluation of the derivative liabilities. During the three months ended March 31, 2021 (unaudited), the 
Company recorded a gain of $52,611 on the revaluation of the derivative liabilities (three months ended March 
31, 2020 (unaudited) – loss of $2,563). During the three months ended March 31, 2021 (unaudited), $481,555 
of the 2019 Debentures were converted and the Company recorded $212,260, representing the fair value of 
the derivative liability at the conversion date, as members’ capital.  

  

2019 Debentures March 15, 2021* December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 At inception 

Volatility 101.00% to 119.90% 114.20% to 123.70% 97.30% to 98.20% 95.00% to 108.00%

Risk-free interest rate 0.06% 0.09% to 0.10% 1.59% 0.17% to 1.68%

Term remaining (years) 0.65 to 0.97 0.85 to 1.17 1.85 to 1.96 1.95 to 2.00

Stock price 1.00$                          0.94$                          0.72$                         $0.68 to $0.75

*Date of conversion
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14. DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES (continued) 

 

2020 Debenture 

Similar to the 2018 and 2019 Debentures, the 2020 Debenture contained down round protection on the 
conversion feature and shall be classified as derivatives liabilities and measure at fair value with change in fair 
value recognized in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss at each period end.  

 

The Company used the multinomial lattice model to estimate the fair value of the derivative liabilities with 
respect to the 2020 Debenture at each reporting date. This is a Level 3 recurring fair value measurement (Note 
16). The following assumptions were used: 

 

 
 

Upon initial recognition, the Company recorded derivative liabilities of $92,939 in 2020. During the year ended 
December 31, 2020, the Company recorded a gain of $92,939 (2019 – Nil) on the revaluation of the derivative 
liabilities. During the three months ended March 31, 2021 (unaudited), the Company recorded a loss of 
$26,586 on the revaluation of the derivative liabilities. During the three months ended March 31, 2021 
(unaudited), $18,455 of the 2020 Debenture were converted and the Company recorded $2,452, representing 
the fair value of the derivative liability at the conversion date, as members’ capital.  

 

2021 Debenture 

Similar to the other debentures, the 2021 Debenture contained down round protection on the conversion 
feature and shall be classified as derivatives liabilities and measure at fair value with change in fair value 
recognized in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss at each period end.  

 

The Company used the multinomial lattice model to estimate the fair value of the derivative liabilities with 
respect to the 2021 Debenture at each reporting date. This is a Level 3 recurring fair value measurement (Note 
16). The following assumptions were used: 

 

 
 

Upon initial recognition, the Company recorded derivative liabilities of $37,615 in February 2021 (unaudited). 
During the three months ended March 31, 2021 (unaudited), the Company recorded a gain of $7,286 on the 
revaluation of the derivative liabilities. During the three months ended March 31, 2021 (unaudited), the 2021 
Debenture was fully repaid and the Company transferred $30,329, representing the fair value of the derivative 
liability to contributed surplus.  

  

2020 Debenture March 15, 2021* December 31, 2020 At inception 

Volatility 93.02% 84.24% 149.84%

Risk-free interest rate 0.01% 0.08% 0.12%

Term remaining (years) 0.25 0.11 0.50

Stock price 1.00$                          0.94$                          0.86$                         

*Date of conversion/repayment

2021 Debenture March 15, 2021* At inception 

Volatility 94.07% 96.00%

Risk-free interest rate 0.03% 0.07%

Term remaining (years) 0.34 0.50

Stock price 1.00$                          0.96$                          

*Date of repayment
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14. DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES (continued) 

 

 
 

15. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, 
so that it can provide returns for members and benefits for other members. The Company considers the items 
included in members’ equity as capital. The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments 
in response to changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. The 
Company’s primary objective with respect to its capital management is to ensure that it has sufficient cash 
resources to fund the Company’s business. To secure the additional capital necessary to pursue these plans, 
the Company intends to raise additional funds through the equity or debt financing. The Company is not subject 
to any capital requirements imposed by a regulator. 

  

 2018 

Debenture 

$

 2019 

Debentures 

$

 2020 

Debenture 

$

 2021 

Debenture 

$

Total

$

Balance, January 1, 2019 -                            -                        -                        -                        -                       

Allocated to derivative liabilities (Note 13) 148,391                136,603            -                        -                        284,994           

Transferred to contributed surplus upon repayment -                            (2,253)               -                        -                        (2,253)              

Change in fair value 422                       8,248                -                        -                        8,670               

Balance, December 31, 2019 148,813                142,598            -                        -                        291,411           

Allocated to derivative liabilities (Note 13) -                            460,508            92,939              -                        553,447           

Transferred to contributed surplus upon repayment (4,702)                   (255,538)           -                        -                        (260,240)          

Transferred to member's capital upon conversion (19,165)                 -                        -                        -                        (19,165)            

Change in fair value (124,946)               (35,439)             (92,939)             -                        (253,324)          

Balance, December 31, 2020 -                            312,129            -                        -                        312,129           

Allocated to derivative liabilities (Note 13) -                            -                        -                        37,615              37,615             

Transferred to contributed surplus upon repayment -                            (47,257)             (24,134)             (30,329)             (101,720)          

Transferred to member's capital upon conversion -                            (212,260)           (2,452)               -                        (214,712)          

Change in fair value -                            (52,612)             26,586              (7,286)               (33,312)            

Balance, March 31, 2021 (unaudited) -                            -                        -                        -                        -                       
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16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
Financial Instruments 

 

Classification of financial instruments 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis at fair value or amortized cost. The 
classification of the financial instruments, as well as their carrying values, are shown in the table below:  

   

 
 

Financial instruments recorded at fair value are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs to fair value measurements. The three levels of hierarchy are: 
 

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; 
and 

Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. 
 

There have been no transfers between fair value levels during the three months ended March 31, 2021 
(unaudited) and the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. 
 

Cash, trade receivables, accounts payable and other payables are all short-term in nature and, as such, their 
carrying values approximate fair value.  
 

As at March 31, 2021 (unaudited), December 31, 2020 and 2019, there were no financial assets or liabilities 
measured and recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position at fair value that would be 
categorized as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy above with the exception of the conversion feature liability, 
which is Level 3 fair value measurements.  

March 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 January 1, 2019

(unaudited)

$ $ $ $

Financial assets at amortized cost

Cash 6,031,555                 154,076                    336,891                    36,792                      

Trade receivables 657,015                    484,586                    414,417                    24,682                      

Total financial assets 6,688,570                 638,662                    751,308                    61,474                      

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Derivative liabilities -                           197,267                    142,598                    -                           

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Accounts payable and other payables 729,583                    606,697                    918,176                    6,119                        

Loans and borrowings -                           186,300                    -                           -                           

Convertible debentures -                           515,333                    269,357                    -                           

Lease liabilities 2,479,899                 2,112,146                 1,180,739                 965,069                    

Total financial liabilities 3,209,482                 3,617,743                 2,510,870                 971,188                    
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16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 
Financial Risk Management 
 
The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The members 
mitigate these risks by assessing, monitoring and approving the Company’s risk management processes: 
 
a. Credit Risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk of a potential loss to the Company if one party of a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. The maximum credit exposures at March 31, 2021, December 31, 2020 and 2019 
and January 1, 2019 are the carrying amount of cash and trade receivables. To reduce credit risk, all 
significant cash balances are placed with major, reputable, U.S. financial institutions. The Company has 
concentration of credit risk as the top three trade debtors accounted for approximately 72%, 63%, 16% and 
77% of its total trade receivables balance as at March 31, 2021 (unaudited), December 31, 2020 and 2019 
and January 1, 2019, respectively. In view of this, management regularly assesses by monitoring the 
individual profile of its trade receivables. In this regard, management considers that the credit concentration 
risk has been significantly mitigated. The following table provides information regarding the aged trading 
receivables: 
 
 Current 31-60 days 61-90 days 91+ days 
March 31, 2021 (unaudited) 86% 2% 0% 12% 
December 31, 2020 83% 1% 0% 16% 
December 31, 2019 53% 16% 14% 17% 
January 1, 2019 100% 0% 0% 0% 

 
b. Liquidity Risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations associated with 
financial liabilities. The Company manages liquidity risk through the effective management of its capital 
structure. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity at all 
times to settle obligations and liabilities when due. The Company has the following undiscounted contractual 
obligations:  

  

   

Less than 1 

year

2 to 3 years 4 to 5 years Greater than 

5 years

Total 

$ $ $ $ $

Accounts payable and other payables 729,583         -                 -                 -                 729,583         

Loans and borrowings -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Lease liabilities 596,606         1,014,455      2,930,256      -                 4,541,317      

March 31, 2021 (unaudited) 1,326,189      1,014,455      2,930,256      -                 5,270,900      

-                 

Accounts payable and other payables 606,697         -                 -                 -                 606,697         

Loans and borrowings -                 186,300         -                 -                 186,300         

Convertible debentures 715,194         52,733           -                 -                 767,927         

Lease liabilities 609,112         891,429         1,821,151      -                 3,321,692      

December 31, 2020 1,931,003      1,130,462      1,821,151      -                 4,882,616      

-                 

Accounts payable and other payables 918,176         -                 -                 -                 918,176         

Convertible debentures 355,280         115,058         470,338         

Lease liabilities 393,824         392,458         1,438,996      -                 2,225,278      

December 31, 2019 1,667,280      507,516         1,438,996      -                 3,613,792      

Accounts payable and other payables 6,119             -                 -                 -                 6,119             

Lease liabilities 390,680         671,767         172,617         -                 1,235,064      

January 1, 2019 396,799         671,767         172,617         -                 1,241,183      
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16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 
c. Interest rate risk  

 
Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. Currently, the Company has no assets or liabilities with a 
variable interest rate. Financial assets and financial liabilities that bear interest at fixed rates are subject to 
fair value interest rate risk. The Company’s lease obligations, loans and borrowings bear fixed interest rates.  

 
17. COVID-19 AND ITS IMPACT ON THE BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT 

 

Beginning in March 2020, the Governments of Canada and the United States, as well as other foreign 
governments instituted emergency measures as a result of the COVID-19 virus outbreak. The virus has had 
a major impact on North America and international securities, currency markets and consumer activity which 
may impact the Company's financial position, its results of future operations and its future cash flows 
significantly. Given the daily evolution of the COVID-19 outbreak and the global responses to curb its spread, 
the Company is not able to estimate the effects of the COVID-19 outbreak on its results of future operations, 
financial position, and liquidity in fiscal year 2020. 

 

18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
The Company’s management has evaluated subsequent events up to November 12, 2021, the date the 
consolidated financial statements were issued, and has determined the following material subsequent 
events: 
 
On April 6, 2021, the Company completed a non-brokered placement of membership interests pursuant to 
which the Company issued an aggregate of 6,440,000 membership interests at a price of $1.00 per 
membership interest for aggregate gross proceeds of $6,440,000. 
 
On May 3, 2021, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 1,340,283 membership units 
at a price of $1.343 per membership unit, for an aggregate proceed of $1,800,000.  

 
Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company secured equipment financing for $2.8 
million under the master lease agreement with Cash Flow Leasing. Management plans to draw the capital 
over the subsequent quarter to pay for testing equipment to support growth in the Arizona and Florida Labs. 
 
On October 21, 2021, the Company entered into a business combination agreement with Prominex 
Resource Corp. (“Prominex”) with respect to a business combination of GSL and Prominex (the “Business 
Combination”) pursuant to which GSL agreed that it would merge with and into a subsidiary of Prominex in 
exchange for shares of the company resulting from the Business Combination (such company, the “Resulting 
Issuer”). In connection with the Transaction, the resulting issuer applied to list the common shares of the 
Resulting Issuer on the Canadian Securities Exchange. The Business Combination is expected to be 
completed within the fourth quarter of 2021. Upon completion of the Business Combination, the Company 
will become a wholly owned subsidiary of the Resulting Issuer, and the transaction will constitute as a reverse 
take-over of Prominex by the Company as the current shareholders of GSL will hold the majority of the 
outstanding common shares of the Resulting Issuer. 
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18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued) 

 
On November 12, 2021, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of subscription receipts 
(“Subscription Receipts”) pursuant to which the Company issued an aggregate of 1,176,416 Subscription 
Receipts at a price of $3.85 per Subscription Receipt for aggregate gross proceeds of $4,529,200 (the 
“Concurrent Financing”). Each Subscription Receipt consists of one membership unit and one membership 
unit purchase warrant (“Warrant”). Each Warrant shall entitle the holder to purchase one membership unit at 
a price of $4.50 for a period of 36 months following the closing date. In connection with the Concurrent 
Financing, the Company engaged Clarus Securities Inc. and Eight Capital (the “Advisors”) to act as financial 
advisors. As compensation for the services rendered by the Advisors, the Company paid the Advisors a cash 
fee in the amount of $155,000 and issued to the Advisors an aggregate of 40,000 non-transferable warrants 
(the “Advisor Warrants”). Each Advisor Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one unit, comprised of one 
membership unit and one Warrant, at an exercise price equal to $3.85 for a period of 36 months following 
the closing date of the Concurrent Financing. 
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GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS, LLC
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Expressed in United States dollars)

   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements.
Contingencies (Note 10), Subsequent Events (Note 18)

Note June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
(Unaudited)

$ $

Assets
Current assets

Cash 6,259,941 154,076
Trade receivables 4 710,161 484,586
Prepayments and deposits 96,885 20,516
Other receivables 9,444 -
Inventories 298,444 252,494

Total current assets 7,374,875 911,672

Non-current assets
Property and equipment 5 3,707,335 1,265,014
Intangible assets 7 20,982 36,718
Right-of-use assets 6 3,206,941 2,189,032

Total assets 14,310,133 4,402,436

Liabilities
Accounts payable and other payables 8 2,255,488 606,697
Customer deposits - 181,407
Current portion of convertible debentures 13 - 466,777
Current portion of derivative liabilities 14 - 114,862
Current portion of lease liabilities 6 313,922 381,214

Total current liabilities 2,569,410 1,750,957

Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 11 - 186,300
Convertible debentures 13 - 48,556
Derivative liabilities 14 - 197,267
Lease liabilities 6 2,914,649 1,730,932

Total Liabilities 5,484,059 3,914,012

Members' Equity
Members' capital 9 10,153,713 1,264,298
Contributed surplus 364,213 262,493
Accumulated deficit (1,691,852) (1,038,367)

Total Members' Equity 8,826,074 488,424

Total Liabilities and Members' Equity 14,310,133 4,402,436
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GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS, LLC
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF (LOSS) INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE 
(LOSS) INCOME 
(Expressed in United States dollars)

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements.

June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Note $ $ $ $

Revenue                   2,136,251                   1,195,896                   4,327,153                   2,541,649 

Operating expenses: 
Materials and consumables used                     (656,909)                     (273,099)                  (1,376,920)                     (576,703)
Employee wages and benefits                  (1,132,658)                     (447,772)                  (2,078,147)                     (876,525)
Consulting and professional fees                     (203,238)                       (52,100)                     (313,955)                     (106,076)
Depreciation and amortization                     (300,981)                     (155,908)                     (550,235)                     (316,438)
Supplies and small equipment                       (62,343)                       (30,040)                       (95,938)                       (57,291)
Rent and occupancy cost                       (41,639)                       (17,014)                       (69,962)                       (35,584)
Travel and entertainment                       (76,048)                         (4,358)                       (94,386)                       (16,895)
Advertising and promotion                       (14,558)                         (3,155)                       (15,921)                       (26,110)
General and administration                       (79,078)                       (73,562)                     (137,939)                     (125,868)
Share-based compensation 9(a)                                -                                  -                                  -                       (480,000)

Income (loss) from operations                     (431,201)                      138,888                     (406,250)                       (75,841)

Other operating expenses:
Finance cost                       (82,677)                     (225,891)                     (265,905)                     (382,104)
Gain on change in fair value of derivative liabilities 14                                -                        114,898                        33,312                      116,150 
Loss on conversion of convertible debentures 13                                -                                  -                       (197,440)                                -   
Provision for expected credit losses 4                                -                           (9,794)                         (6,841)                         (9,794)
Gain on loan forgiveness 11                                -                                  -                        189,639                                -   
Other income                                -                          10,000                                -                          10,000 

                      (82,677)                     (110,787)                     (247,235)                     (265,748)

(513,878) 28,101 (653,485) (341,589)Net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss)

Six months endedThree months ended
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GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS, LLC
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN MEMBER’S EQUITY
(Expressed in United States dollars)
      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements.

Members' Contributed Accumulated
Note Units Distributions Capital Surplus Deficit Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Balance, January 1, 2020 1,140,000 (397,000) 743,000 2,253 (127,685) 617,568
Net loss for the period - - - - (341,589) (341,589)
Issuance of units for services 9(a) 480,000 - 480,000 - - 480,000
Partial repayment of convertible debentures - - - 115,647 - 115,647
Conversion of convertible debentures 9(b) 219,911 - 219,911 - - 219,911
Distributions 9(c) - (103,613) (103,613) - - (103,613)

Balance, June 30, 2020 (unaudited) 1,839,911 (500,613) 1,339,298 117,900 (469,274) 987,924

Balance, January 1, 2021 1,839,911 (575,613) 1,264,298 262,493 (1,038,367) 488,424
Net loss for the period - - - - (653,485) (653,485)
Partial repayment of convertible debentures - - - 101,720 - 101,720
Conversion of convertible debentures 9(f) 714,712 - 714,712 - - 714,712
Issuance of units, net 9(d),(e) 8,204,703 - 8,204,703 - - 8,204,703
Distributions 9(c) - (30,000) (30,000) - (30,000)

Balance, June 30, 2021 (unaudited) 10,759,326 (605,613) 10,153,713 364,213 (1,691,852) 8,826,074
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GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS, LLC 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Expressed in United States dollars)

   

Supplementary information
Interest paid, net 17,127         47,857

Conversion of convertible debt 714,712        219,911

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements.

June 30, June 30,
2021 2020

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Note $ $

Cash flow from operating activities

Net loss for the period (653,485) (341,589)
Items not affecting cash:

Depreciation and amortization 550,235 316,438
Accretion on lease liabilities 6 146,386 81,703
Accretion on convertible debentures 13 93,713 225,392
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities 14 (33,312) (116,150)
Loss on conversion of convertible debentures 13 197,440 -
Provision for expected credit losses 4 6,841 9,794
Unit-based compensation 9(a) - 480,000
Gain on loan forgiveness 11 (189,639) -

Changes in non-cash working capital items:
Decrease (Increase) in trade and other receivables (232,416) 47,700
Increase in prepayments and deposits (76,369) (3,718)
Increase in other receivables (9,444) -
Increase (decrease) inventories (45,950) (49,019)
Increase in accounts payable and other payables 1,652,130 676,373
Increase (decrease) in customer deposits (181,407) 160,509

Cash flow from operating activities 1,224,723 1,487,433

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment 5 (2,629,887) (1,556,765)
Purchase of intangible assets 7 - (62,945)
Cash flow used in investing activities (2,629,887) (1,619,710)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of units, net 9(d) 8,204,703 -
Proceeds from loans and borrowings, net 11 - 186,300
Issuance of convertible debentures, net 100,556 759,451
Repayment of convertible debentures 13 (369,427) (231,037)
Distributions paid to members 9(c) (30,000) (103,613)
Payment of lease liabilities (394,803) (209,558)
Cash flow from financing activities 7,511,029 401,543

Increase in cash 6,105,865 269,266
Cash, beginning of period 154,076 336,891
Cash, end of period 6,259,941 606,157

Six months ended
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Green Scientific Labs, LLC (“GSL” or the “Company”) was formed in the State of Delaware on April 19, 2018.  
The Company is located at 4001 SW 47th Avenue, Suite 208 Davie, Florida 33314 and provides hemp and 
marijuana testing services in Florida, the United States. 

On February 11, 2021, the Company completed a 1,000 for 1 membership unit split to increase the issued 
and outstanding membership units of the Company from 100 to 100,000. On February 15, 2021, the 
Company completed a 100 for 1 membership unit split to further increase the issued and outstanding 
membership units of the Company from 100,000 to 10,000,000. These condensed consolidated interim 
financial statements give retroactive effect to such membership unit split and all membership units and per 
membership unit amounts have been adjusted accordingly.

On April 15, 2021, the Company entered into a non-binding letter of intent (“LOI”) with Prominex Resource 
Corp. whereby the parties will complete a business combination by way of a reverse takeover of Prominex 
Resource Crop. by the Company (the “Transaction”). In connection with the Transaction, the resulting issuer 
will apply to list the common shares of the resulting issuer on the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”). 
The Transaction is subject to number of conditions, including but not limited to, the entering into a binding 
definitive agreement between the parties setting out the terms and conditions of the Transactions, CSE 
acceptance and requisite shareholder approvals.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND MEASUREMENT

The unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of the Company for the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and 
Interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). These financial statements meet the 
requirements of International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 34, “Interim Financial Reporting” and follow the 
same accounting policies as the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2020 
and 2019.

These condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the three and six months ended June 30, 
2021 and 2020 were approved and authorized for issue by the members of the Company on November 12, 
2021.

These condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, 
under the historical cost convention, except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair value 
as described herein. 

Basis of consolidation

These statements consolidate the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Control is 
achieved when we have the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities, are exposed to, or have rights to, variable returns from our involvement with the 
entity and have the ability to affect those returns through our power over the entity.  Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company until the date on which control 
ceases. Profit and loss or other comprehensive income (loss) of subsidiaries acquired during the period are 
recognized from the date of acquisition or effective date of disposal as applicable. Significant intercompany 
accounts and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND MEASUREMENT (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued) 

The Company has the following subsidiaries: 

Name of Entity   % Ownership* Country of incorporation
Green Scientific Labs Management (Michigan) LLC 100 United States
Green Scientific Labs AZ LLC 100 United States
Green Scientific Labs NJ, LLC 100 United States
Green Scientific Labs IL, LLC 100 United States

*There were no changes in the percentage of ownership during the six months ended June 30, 2021, except for Green Scientific Labs 
NJ, LLC and Green Scientific Labs IL, LLC, which were incorporated during the current period. 

When the proportion of the equity (deficiency) held by non-controlling interest changes, the Company adjusts 
the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect the changes in their relative 
interest in the subsidiary. The Company recognizes directly in equity (deficiency) any difference between the 
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or 
received and attribute it to the members of the Company.

Functional and Presentation Currency

The Company’s functional currency and those of its wholly owned subsidiaries, as determined by 
management, is the United States (“U.S.”) dollar. These financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and 
revenue and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Significant judgments, estimates, 
and assumptions that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements 
are described below.

(i) Estimated Useful Lives and Depreciation of Property and Equipment 

Depreciation of property and equipment is dependent upon estimates of useful lives which are determined 
through the exercise of judgment. The assessment of any impairment of these assets is dependent upon 
estimates of recoverable amounts that take into account factors such as economic and market conditions 
and the useful lives of assets.

(ii) Fair value of derivative liabilities 

Management uses the multinomial lattice model to calculate the fair value of derivative liabilities. Use of this 
method requires management to make assumptions and estimates about the Company’s unit price, the risk-
free rate, the probability of an event of default for the instruments, alternative financing, and capital raising 
events to take place, and the expected volatility of the Company’s unit price. In making these assumptions 
and estimates, management relies on historical market data.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(iii) Lease liabilities

The Company determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods 
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised. The Company has several 
lease contracts that include extension options. The Company applies judgement in evaluating whether it is 
reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant factors 
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. The Company included the renewal period 
as part of the lease term for leases of office and laboratory because there will be a significant negative effect 
on operations if a replacement asset is not readily available. 

When the Company recognizes a lease, the future lease payments are discounted using the Company’s 
incremental borrowing rate. This significant estimate impacts the carrying amount of the lease liabilities and 
the interest expense recorded on the condensed consolidated interim statement of (loss) income and 
comprehensive (loss) income.

(iv) Expected credit losses

In calculating the expected credit loss on financial instruments, management is required to make a number 
of judgments including the probability of possible outcomes with regards to credit losses, the discount rate to 
use for time value of money and whether the financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly 
since initial recognition.

(v) Going concern risk assessment

The assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, meet its liabilities for the ensuing 
year, involves significant judgment based on expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.

Standards, amendments, and interpretations issued but not yet adopted  

The IASB has issued several new standards and amendments that will be effective on various dates. The 
listing below is of standards, interpretation and amendments issued which the Company reasonably expects 
to be applicable at a future date. The Company intends to adopt those standards when they become effective. 
The impact on the Company is currently being assessed. 

Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
Current: In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69-76 of IAS 1 to clarify the 
requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify that the conditions 
which exist at the end of a reporting period are those which will be used to determine if a right to defer 
settlement of a liability exists. The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of 
a liability. The amendments are effective January 1, 2022, with early adoption permitted. The amendments 
are to be applied retrospectively. Management is currently assessing the impact of this amendment.



GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS, LLC
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 AND 2020 (UNAUDITED) 
(Expressed in United States dollars)

Page | 8 

4. TRADE RECEIVABLES 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on a 30 days term. 

Below is the movement in the allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables: 

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
As at June 30, 2021 (unaudited), December 31, 2020 and January 1, 2020, property and equipment consist 
of:
   

 

Computer software and vehicles have a useful life of 5 years. Depreciation has not begun for some of the 
furniture and equipment and leasehold improvement with a carrying amount of $1,994,757 and $12,636, 
respectively, as the Company’s new laboratories were still under renovation as at June 30, 2021 and therefore 
these assets were not yet available for use. As at June 30, 2021, the Company was still in the process of 
upgrading its inventory software system with an addition of $116,000 and as such, depreciation has not 
commenced during the period ended June 30, 2021. 

June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
(unaudited)

$ $
Opening balance, January 1 31,366 67,723
Provision for expected credit losses 6,841 77,626
Write-off - (113,983)
Ending balance 38,207 31,366

Leasehold 
improvements

Furniture and 
equipment

Computer software Vehicles Total 

$ $ $ $ $
Cost
Balance, January 1, 2020 6,048 1,284,815 - - 1,290,863
Additions 197,410 192,676 - - 390,086
Balance, December 31, 2020 203,458 1,477,491 - - 1,680,949
Additions (unaudited) 312,862 2,176,970 116,000 24,055 2,629,887
Balance, June 30, 2021 (unaudited) 516,320 3,654,461 116,000 24,055 4,310,836

Accumulated depreciation
Balance, January 1, 2020 556 111,158 - - 111,714
Depreciation 21,654 282,567 - - 304,221
Balance, December 31, 2020 22,210 393,725 - - 415,935
Depreciation (unaudited) 29,887 156,476 - 1,203 187,566
Balance, June 30, 2021 (unaudited) 52,097 550,201 - 1,203 603,501

Net book value 
At January 1, 2020 5,492 1,173,657 - - 1,179,149
At December 31, 2020 181,248 1,083,766 - - 1,265,014
At June 30, 2021 (unaudited) 464,223 3,104,260 116,000 22,852 3,707,335



GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS, LLC
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 AND 2020 (UNAUDITED) 
(Expressed in United States dollars)

Page | 9 

6. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

Right-of-use assets

The Company’s leases assets include office space, equipment and vehicle leases. Leases of office space and 
equipment generally have lease term between 3 to 15 years, while motor vehicles generally have lease terms 
of 6 years. There are several lease contracts that include extension options and management exercises 
significant judgement in determining whether these extension options are reasonably certain to be exercised 
(Note 3). The right-of-use assets consist of the following:
  

Lease liabilities

The Company’s corresponding lease liabilities are composed of the following:

  

Interest expense on lease liabilities for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 were $81,648 and 
$146,386 (unaudited) (three and six months ended June 30, 2020 - $54,672 and $81,703 (unaudited)). 

Right of use
Buildings

Right of use
Equipment

Right of use 
Vehicles

Right of use 
Total

$ $ $ $
Cost
Balance, January 1, 2020 772,538 815,214 - 1,587,752
Lease additions - 1,381,325 75,082 1,456,407
Balance, December 31, 2020 772,538 2,196,539 75,082 3,044,159
Lease additions (unaudited) 1,335,567 - - 1,335,567
Lease modification (unaudited) (65,598) - - (65,598)
Balance, June 30, 2021 (unaudited) 2,042,507 2,196,539 75,082 4,314,128

Accumulated depreciation
Balance, January 1, 2020 40,660 384,962 - 425,622
Amortization 54,213 365,907 9,385 429,505
Balance, December 31, 2020 94,873 750,869 9,385 855,127
Amortization (unaudited) 65,919 274,758 6,256 346,933
Lease modification (unaudited) (94,873) - - (94,873)
Balance, June 30, 2021 (unaudited) 65,919 1,025,627 15,641 1,107,187

Net book value 
At January 1, 2020 731,878 430,252 - 1,162,130
At December 31, 2020 677,665 1,445,670 65,697 2,189,032
At June 30, 2021 (unaudited) 1,976,588 1,170,912 59,441 3,206,941

Balance, January 1, 2020 1,180,739
Additions 1,456,407
Payments and interest (525,000)
Balance, December 31, 2020 2,112,146
Additions (unaudited) 1,335,567
Payments and interest (unaudited) (248,417)
Lease modification (unaudited) 29,275
Balance, June 30, 2021 (unaudited) 3,228,571
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6. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, the IBR applied was 13.0% (year ended December 31, 2020 – 
5.7% to 17.1%). The Company’s minimum contractual undiscounted cash flows for lease obligations as at 
June 30, 2021 (unaudited) and December 31, 2020 are presented below:

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company obtained a license to operate as a testing laboratory 
from the State of Florida Department of Health Office of Medical Marijuana Use (“OMMU”). Intangible assets 
consist of application fees incurred to obtain the license. The Company amortizes the license on a straight-
line basis, over a 2-year useful life.

   

June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
(unaudited)

$ $
Undiscounted lease liabilities
Within 1 year 699,175 609,112
2 to 3 years 1,086,455 891,429
Thereafter 3,792,654 1,821,151
Total undiscounted lease liabilities 5,578,284 3,321,692
Impact of discounting (2,349,713) (1,209,546)
Present value of lease liabilities 3,228,571 2,112,146
Less: current portion of lease liabilities (313,922) (381,214)
Non-current portion of lease liabilities 2,914,649 1,730,932

License
$

Cost
Balance, January 1, 2020 -
Additions 62,945
Balance, December 31, 2020 62,945
Additions (unaudited) -
Balance, June 30, 2021 (unaudited) 62,945

Accumulated depreciation
Balance, January 1, 2020 -
Depreciation 26,227
Balance, December 31, 2020 26,227
Depreciation (unaudited) 15,736
Balance, June 30, 2021 (unaudited) 41,963

Net book value 
At January 1, 2020 -
At December 31, 2020 36,718
At June 30, 2021 (unaudited) 20,982
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8. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER PAYABLES

  

Accounts payable is non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 60-day terms. Other payables and 
accrued liabilities are non-interest bearing and have an average term of three months. 

9. MEMBERS’ EQUITY

Authorized unit capital
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of units at no par value. 

Outstanding unit capital 
As at June 30, 2021 (unaudited) and June 30, 2020, there was only one class of units issued and outstanding. 

a) During the six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company issued 1,000,000 units at a price of $0.48 per 
unit pursuant to employment arrangements, and recorded the amount as unit-based compensation 
expense.

b) During the six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company converted $200,746 of the 2018 Debentures 
via the issuance of 267,000 units at $0.75 per unit. Derivative liability of $19,165 related the 2018 
Debentures were reclassified to members’ capital upon conversion. 

c) During the six months ended June 30, 2021 (unaudited) and 2020 (unaudited), distributions of $30,000 
(unaudited) and $103,613 were made, respectively.

d) On April 6, 2021 (unaudited), the Company completed a non-brokered private placement, raising gross 
proceeds of $6,440,000 through the issuance of 6,440,000 units at $1.00 per unit and incurred issuance 
costs of $35,297. 

e) On May 3, 2021(unaudited), the Company received gross proceeds of $1,800,000 from a non-brokered 
private placement through the issuance of 1,340,283 units at $1.343 per unit. 

f) During the six months June 30, 2021 (unaudited), the Company converted $481,555 of the 2019 
Debentures and $18,445 of the 2020 Debentures via the issuance of 500,000 units. Derivative liabilities 
of $212,260 related the 2019 Debentures and $2,452 related to the 2020 Debentures were reclassified to 
members’ capital upon conversion.

As at June 30, 2021 (unaudited) and 2020 (unaudited), there were 18,280,283 and 10,000,000 units 
outstanding, respectively.

June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
(unaudited)

$ $

Accounts payable 1,909,689 367,504
Other payables 270,578 187,975
Accrued liabilities 75,221 51,218

2,255,488 606,697
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10. CONTINGENCIES

From time to time, the Company may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of operations in the 
normal course of business. At June 30, 2021 (unaudited) and December 31, 2020, there were no pending or 
threatened lawsuits that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the results of the 
Company’s operations. There are also no proceedings in which any of the Company’s directors, officers or 
affiliates is an adverse party or has a material interest adverse to the Company’s interest.

11. LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

PPP loan
On May 10, 2020, the Company received a $188,300 loan under the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) 
offered by the U.S. Small Business Administration in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak. The 
loan is interest-bearing at 1.00% per annum and with a maturity date in 2 years. On January 22, 2021, the full 
amount of $188,300 in principal and $1,339 in accrued interest was forgiven and the total amount of $189,639 
is presented as gain on loan forgiveness in the condensed consolidated interim statement of (loss) income 
and comprehensive (loss) income during the six months ended June 30, 2021(unaudited). 

As at June 30, 2021 (unaudited) and December 31, 2020, loan balance outstanding were Nil and $188,300, 
respectively. Interest expense incurred for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 were Nil and $122 
(three and six months ended June 30, 2020 – $263 and $263).

12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered related if the party has the ability, either directly or indirectly, to control the other party 
or exercise significant influence over the other party in making operating and financial decisions. A transaction 
is a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties. 
Unless otherwise stated, none of the transactions incorporated special terms and conditions and no 
guarantees were given or received. 

Key management includes the Company’s directors and members of the executive management team. Total 
compensation of key management personnel and directors was approximately $127,880 and $222,523 for the 
three months and six ended June 30, 2021 (three and six months ended June 30, 2020 - $64,548 and 
$124,384). 

13. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES

2018 Debenture
On December 31, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement to issue convertible debentures of $250,000 
(the “2018 Debenture”). The proceed was received on January 2, 2019. The 2018 Debenture bore interest at 
15% per annum. The Company was required to make interest-only payments beginning on January 1, 2020 
and final payment of principal and accrued interest was due and payable on June 30, 2020. The 2018 
Debenture was secured by a security interest in the Company’s property and assets pursuant to the security 
agreement entered into with the holder. The outstanding principal and unpaid accrued interest was at the 
option of the holder to be converted into the Company’s membership unit at a conversion price of at the lesser 
of: (i) $7.5 million pre-money valuation per membership unit or; or (ii) the per membership unit purchase price 
of the next equity financing by the Company for cash. On June 30, 2020, $200,746 of the 2018 Debenture 
was converted into 2.67% membership interest of the Company at $7.5 million pre-money valuation, which is 
the value of the Company before it received other external funding or financing.
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13. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES (continued)

2019 Debentures
On November 7, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement to issue a series of convertible debentures 
with an aggregate amount of $987,765 (the “2019 Debentures”). The 2019 Debentures bore interest at 13% 
per annum. The Company was required to make principal and interest payments until the 2019 Debentures 
was fully repaid. The 2019 Debentures was secured by a security interest in the Company’s property and 
assets pursuant to the security agreement entered into with the holder. The outstanding principal and unpaid 
accrued interest was at the option of the holder to be converted into the Company’s membership unit at a 
conversion price of at the lesser of: (i) $20 million pre-money valuation per membership unit or; or (ii) the per 
membership unit purchase price of the next equity financing by the Company for cash. In 2019 the Company 
closed two tranches and raised gross proceeds of $224,009. In 2020, the Company closed the remaining 
amount in four tranches and raised gross proceeds of $763,757. The monthly principal and interest payments 
for the different tranches range from $3,735 to $19,828. During the six months ended June 30, 2021 
(unaudited), $481,555 of the 2019 Debentures was converted into 500,000 membership units of the Company 
at $1 per unit. Upon conversion, the Company recorded a loss on conversion of $168,271. 

2020 Debenture
On August 11, 2020, the Company entered into a secured credit line with a principal amount of $200,000. The 
note bore interest of 13% per annum with a maturity date of November 11, 2020. The Company was to make 
interest only monthly payment of $2,250. The promissory note is secured by a security interest in equipment 
owned by the Company up to a value of $200,000. The outstanding principal and unpaid accrued interest was 
at the option of the holder to be converted into the Company’s membership unit at a conversion price of at the 
lesser of: (i) $20 million pre-money valuation per membership unit or; or (ii) the per membership unit purchase 
price of the next equity financing by the Company for cash. On November 4, 2020, the Company entered into 
an amendment to the promissory note to extend the maturity date to February 11, 2021 and the monthly 
interest payment was be in the amount of $2,500. During the six months ended June 30, 2021 (unaudited), 
$18,445 of the 2018 Debenture was converted into 18,445 membership units of the Company at $1 per unit 
and the remaining portion was repaid in full.  

2021 Debenture
On February 2, 2021, the Company entered into a promissory note with a principal amount of $101,500. The 
note bore interest of 13% per annum with a maturity date of August 2, 2021. The principal amount and accrued 
interest were due on maturity. The outstanding principal and unpaid accrued interest was at the option of the 
holder to be converted into the Company’s membership unit at a conversion price of at the lesser of: (i) $20 
million pre-money valuation per membership unit or; or (ii) the per membership unit purchase price of the next 
equity financing by the Company for cash. During the six months ended June 30, 2021 (unaudited), the 
outstanding principal and accrued interest were repaid in full. Upon early repayment, the Company recorded 
a loss of $29,169 on settlement. 
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13. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES (continued)
  

14. DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES 

2018 Debenture
The 2018 Debenture (see Note 13) issued by the Company contained down round protection on the 
conversion feature. If the down round protection is enacted, there will be variability in the number of 
membership units issued. In accordance with IFRS, a contract to issue variable number of membership units 
shall be classified as a derivative liability and measured at fair value with change in fair value recognized in 
the condensed consolidated interim statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income at each 
period-end. The derivative liability will ultimately be converted into the Company’s equity when the convertible 
debenture is converted, or will be extinguished on the repayment of the debentures and reclassified to 
contributed surplus. 

The Company used the multinomial lattice model to estimate the fair value of the derivative liability with respect 
to the 2018 Debenture at each reporting date. This is a Level 3 recurring fair value measurement (Note 16). 
The following assumptions were used:

 

 2018 
Debenture 

$

 2019 
Debentures 

$

 2020 
Debenture 

$

 2021 
Debenture 

$

Total
$

Balance, January 1, 2020 179,932 89,425 - - 269,357
Amounts issued - 763,757 200,000 - 963,757
Less: allocated to derivative liabilities (Note 14) - (460,508) (92,939) - (553,447)
Less: issuance costs - (4,306) (1,071) - (5,377)
Accretion 70,068 348,689 94,010 - 512,767
Repayment (49,254) (421,724) - - (470,978)
Conversion (200,746) - - - (200,746)
Balance, December 31, 2020 - 315,333 200,000 - 515,333
Amounts issued - - - 101,500 101,500
Less: allocated to derivative liabilities (Note 14) - - - (37,615) (37,615)
Less: issuance costs - - - (944) (944)
Accretion - 84,323 - 9,390 93,713
Repayment - (86,372) (181,555) (101,500) (369,427)
Conversion - (481,555) (18,445) - (500,000)
Loss on conversion - 168,271 - 29,169 197,440
Balance, June 30, 2021 (unaudited) - - - - -

2018 Debenture June 30, 2020* December 31, 2019 At inception 

Volatility 124.90% 102.89% 86.00%

Risk-free interest rate 0.11% 1.55% 2.57%

Term remaining (years) 0.00 0.50 1.50

Stock price 0.83$                         0.72$                         0.49$                        

*Date of conversion
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14. DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES (continued)

2018 Debenture (continued)

Upon initial recognition, the Company recorded derivative liability of $148,391 in 2019. During the three and 
six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company recorded a gain of $121,131 and $124,946, respectively, on 
the revaluation of the derivative liability. In 2020, $200,746 of the 2018 Debenture were converted and the 
Company recorded $19,165, representing the fair value of the derivative liability at the conversion date for the 
portion converted, as members’ capital. 

2019 Debentures
Similar to the 2018 Debenture, the 2019 Debentures contained down round protection on the conversion 
feature and shall be classified as derivatives liabilities and measure at fair value with change in fair value 
recognized in the condensed consolidated interim statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) 
income at each period end. 

The Company used the multinomial lattice model to estimate the fair value of the derivative liabilities with 
respect to the 2019 Debentures at each reporting date. This is a Level 3 recurring fair value measurement 
(Note 16). The following assumptions were used:

 

Upon initial recognition, the Company recorded derivative liabilities of $136,603 in 2019 and $460,508 in 2020, 
respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2020, a balance of $ $255,538 (2019 - $2,253) was 
transferred to contributed surplus upon partial payment made by the Company throughout the year. During 
the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 (unaudited), the Company recorded Nil and a gain of $52,611, 
respectively, on the revaluation of the derivative liabilities (three and six months ended June 30, 2020 
(unaudited) – a loss of $6,233 and $8,796). During the six months ended June 30, 2021 (unaudited), $481,555 
of the 2019 Debentures were converted and the Company recorded $212,260, representing the fair value of 
the derivative liability at the conversion date, as members’ capital. 

2019 Debentures March 15, 2021* December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 At inception 

Volatility 101.00% to 119.90% 114.20% to 123.70% 97.30% to 98.20% 95.00% to 108.00%

Risk-free interest rate 0.06% 0.09% to 0.10% 1.59% 0.17% to 1.68%

Term remaining (years) 0.65 to 0.97 0.85 to 1.17 1.85 to 1.96 1.95 to 2.00

Stock price 1.00$                         0.94$                         0.72$                        $0.68 to $0.75

*Date of conversion
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14. DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES (continued)

2020 Debenture
Similar to the 2018 and 2019 Debentures, the 2020 Debenture contained down round protection on the 
conversion feature and shall be classified as derivatives liabilities and measure at fair value with change in fair 
value recognized in the condensed consolidated interim statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) 
income at each period end. 

The Company used the multinomial lattice model to estimate the fair value of the derivative liabilities with 
respect to the 2020 Debenture at each reporting date. This is a Level 3 recurring fair value measurement (Note 
16). The following assumptions were used:

Upon initial recognition, the Company recorded derivative liabilities of $92,939 in 2020. During the three and 
six months ended June 30, 2021 (unaudited), the Company recorded Nil and a loss of $26,586, respectively, 
on the revaluation of the derivative liabilities. During the six months ended June 30, 2021 (unaudited), $18,455 
of the 2020 Debenture were converted and the Company recorded $2,452, representing the fair value of the 
derivative liability at the conversion date, as members’ capital. 

2021 Debenture
Similar to the other debentures, the 2021 Debenture contained down round protection on the conversion 
feature and shall be classified as derivatives liabilities and measure at fair value with change in fair value 
recognized in the condensed consolidated interim statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) 
income at each period end. 

The Company used the multinomial lattice model to estimate the fair value of the derivative liabilities with 
respect to the 2021 Debenture at each reporting date. This is a Level 3 recurring fair value measurement (Note 
16). The following assumptions were used:

Upon initial recognition, the Company recorded derivative liabilities of $37,615 in February 2021 (unaudited). 
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 (unaudited), the Company recorded Nil and a gain of 
$7,286, respectively, on the revaluation of the derivative liabilities. During the six months ended June 30, 2021 
(unaudited), the 2021 Debenture was fully repaid and the Company transferred $30,329, representing the fair 
value of the derivative liability to contributed surplus. 

2020 Debenture March 15, 2021* December 31, 2020 At inception 

Volatility 93.02% 84.24% 149.84%

Risk-free interest rate 0.01% 0.08% 0.12%

Term remaining (years) 0.25 0.11 0.50

Stock price 1.00$                         0.94$                         0.86$                        

*Date of conversion/repayment

2021 Debenture March 15, 2021* At inception 

Volatility 94.07% 96.00%

Risk-free interest rate 0.03% 0.07%

Term remaining (years) 0.34 0.50

Stock price 1.00$                         0.96$                         

*Date of repayment
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14. DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES (continued)

15. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, 
so that it can provide returns for members and benefits for other members. The Company considers the items 
included in members’ equity as capital. The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments 
in response to changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. The 
Company’s primary objective with respect to its capital management is to ensure that it has sufficient cash 
resources to fund the Company’s business. To secure the additional capital necessary to pursue these plans, 
the Company intends to raise additional funds through the equity or debt financing. The Company is not subject 
to any capital requirements imposed by a regulator.

16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial Instruments

Classification of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis at fair value or amortized cost. The 
classification of the financial instruments, as well as their carrying values, are shown in the table below: 

     

 2018 
Debenture 

$

 2019 
Debentures 

$

 2020 
Debenture 

$

 2021 
Debenture 

$

Total
$

Balance, January 1, 2020 148,813 142,598 - - 291,411
Allocated to derivative liabilities (Note 13) - 460,508 92,939 - 553,447
Transferred to contributed surplus upon repayment (4,702) (255,538) - - (260,240)
Transferred to member's capital upon conversion (19,165) - - - (19,165)
Change in fair value (124,946) (35,439) (92,939) - (253,324)
Balance, December 31, 2020 - 312,129 - - 312,129
Allocated to derivative liabilities (Note 13) - - - 37,615 37,615
Transferred to contributed surplus upon repayment - (47,257) (24,134) (30,329) (101,720)
Transferred to member's capital upon conversion - (212,260) (2,452) - (214,712)
Change in fair value - (52,612) 26,586 (7,286) (33,312)
Balance, June 30, 2021 (unaudited) - - - - -

June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020
(unaudited)

$ $
Financial assets at amortized cost

Cash 6,259,941 154,076
Trade receivables 710,161 484,586

Total financial assets 6,970,102 638,662
Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Derivative liabilities - 312,129
Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Accounts payable and other payables 2,255,488 606,697
Loans and borrowings - 186,300
Convertible debentures - 515,333
Lease liabilities 3,228,571 2,112,146

Total financial liabilities 5,484,059 3,732,605
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16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial instruments recorded at fair value are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs to fair value measurements. The three levels of hierarchy are:

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; 
and
Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

There have been no transfers between fair value levels during the six months ended June 30, 2021 (unaudited) 
and the year ended December 31, 2020.

Cash, trade receivables, accounts payable and other payables are all short-term in nature and, as such, their 
carrying values approximate fair value. 

As at June 30, 2021 (unaudited) and December 31, 2020, there were no financial assets or liabilities measured 
and recognized in the condensed consolidated interim statements of financial position at fair value that would 
be categorized as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy above with the exception of the conversion feature liability, 
which is Level 3 fair value measurements.

Financial Risk Management

The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The members 
mitigate these risks by assessing, monitoring and approving the Company’s risk management processes:

a. Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of a potential loss to the Company if one party of a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. The maximum credit exposures at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 are the 
carrying amount of cash and trade receivables. To reduce credit risk, all significant cash balances are placed 
with major, reputable, U.S. financial institutions. The Company has concentration of credit risk as the top 
three trade debtors accounted for approximately 73% and 63% of its total trade receivables balance as at 
June 30, 2021 (unaudited) and December 31, 2020, respectively. In view of this, management regularly 
assesses by monitoring the individual profile of its trade receivables. In this regard, management considers 
that the credit concentration risk has been significantly mitigated. The following table provides information 
regarding the aged trading receivables:

Current 31-60 days 61-90 days 91+ days
June 30, 2021 (unaudited) 89% 1% 1% 9%
December 31, 2020 83% 1% 0% 16%
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16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

b. Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations associated with 
financial liabilities. The Company manages liquidity risk through the effective management of its capital 
structure. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity at all 
times to settle obligations and liabilities when due. The Company has the following undiscounted contractual 
obligations:  
   

c. Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. Currently, the Company has no assets or liabilities with a 
variable interest rate. Financial assets and financial liabilities that bear interest at fixed rates are subject to 
fair value interest rate risk. The Company’s lease obligations, loans and borrowings bear fixed interest rates. 

17. COVID-19 AND ITS IMPACT ON THE BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

Beginning in March 2020, the Governments of Canada and the United States, as well as other foreign 
governments instituted emergency measures as a result of the COVID-19 virus outbreak. The virus has had 
a major impact on North America and international securities, currency markets and consumer activity which 
may impact the Company's financial position, its results of future operations and its future cash flows 
significantly. Given the daily evolution of the COVID-19 outbreak and the global responses to curb its spread, 
the Company is not able to estimate the effects of the COVID-19 outbreak on its results of future operations, 
financial position, and liquidity in fiscal year 2021.

18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company’s management has evaluated subsequent events up to November 12, 2021, the date the 
condensed consolidated interim financial statements were issued, and has determined the following material 
subsequent events:

Subsequent to the period ended June 30, 2021, the Company secured equipment financing for $2.8 million 
under the master lease agreement with Cash Flow Leasing. Management plans to draw the capital over the 
subsequent quarter to pay for testing equipment to support growth in the Arizona and Florida Labs. 

Less than 1 
year

2 to 3 years 4 to 5 years Greater than 
5 years

Total 

$ $ $ $ $
Accounts payable and other payables 2,255,488 - - - 2,255,488
Lease liabilities 699,175 1,086,455 3,792,654 - 5,578,284
June 30, 2021 (unaudited) 2,954,663 1,086,455 3,792,654 - 7,833,772

Accounts payable and other payables 606,697 - - - 606,697
Loans and borrowings - 186,300 - - 186,300
Convertible debentures 715,194 52,733 - - 767,927
Lease liabilities 609,112 891,429 1,821,151 - 3,321,692
December 31, 2020 1,931,003 1,130,462 1,821,151 - 4,882,616
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18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued)

On October 21, 2021, the Company entered into a business combination agreement with Prominex 
Resource Corp. (“Prominex”) with respect to a business combination of GSL and Prominex (the “Business 
Combination”) pursuant to which GSL agreed that it would merge with and into a subsidiary of Prominex in 
exchange for shares of the company resulting from the Business Combination (such company, the “Resulting 
Issuer”). In connection with the Transaction, the resulting issuer applied to list the common shares of the 
Resulting Issuer on the Canadian Securities Exchange. The Business Combination is expected to be 
completed within the fourth quarter of 2021. Upon completion of the Business Combination, the Company 
will become a wholly owned subsidiary of the Resulting Issuer, and the transaction will constitute as a reverse 
take-over of Prominex by the Company as the current shareholders of GSL will hold the majority of the 
outstanding common shares of the Resulting Issuer.

On November 12, 2021, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of subscription receipts 
(“Subscription Receipts”) pursuant to which the Company issued an aggregate of 1,176,416 Subscription 
Receipts at a price of $3.85 per Subscription Receipt for aggregate gross proceeds of $4,529,200 (the 
“Concurrent Financing”). Each Subscription Receipt consists of one membership unit and one membership 
unit purchase warrant (“Warrant”). Each Warrant shall entitle the holder to purchase one membership unit at 
a price of $4.50 for a period of 36 months following the closing date. In connection with the Concurrent 
Financing, the Company engaged Clarus Securities Inc. and Eight Capital (the “Advisors”) to act as financial 
advisors. As compensation for the services rendered by the Advisors, the Company paid the Advisors a cash 
fee in the amount of $155,000 and issued to the Advisors an aggregate of 40,000 non-transferable warrants 
(the “Advisor Warrants”). Each Advisor Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one unit, comprised of one 
membership unit and one Warrant, at an exercise price equal to $3.85 for a period of 36 months following 
the closing date of the Concurrent Financing.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS LLC

This management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition and results of operations of Green 
Scientific Labs, LLC (“GSL” or, the “Company”) is for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and years ended 
December 31, 2020 and 2019. It is supplemental to, and should be read in conjunction with, the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements and the accompanying notes for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and years ended December 
31, 2020 and 2019. 

All amounts in this discussion are expressed in United States dollars (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated.

DATE OF MD&A

This MD&A is dated November 15, 2021.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS”)

The Company follows IFRS standards unless otherwise set out in the audited financial statements. 

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

Certain statements in this MD&A are “forward-looking statements.” Forward-looking statements are neither historical 
facts nor assurances of future performance. Instead, they are based on our current beliefs, expectations and assumptions 
regarding the future of our business, future plans and strategies, our commercialization plans and other future conditions. 
Any statements that express or involve discussions with respect to predictions, expectations, beliefs, plans, projections, 
objectives, assumptions or future events or performance are not statements of historical fact and may be “forward-looking 
statements.” In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “might,” “will,” 
“should,” “expect,” “seek,” “endeavor,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “estimate,” “believe,” “intend,” “predicts,” “estimates” or 
the negative of these terms or comparable terminology. Forward looking statements are based on expectations, estimates 
and projections at the time the statements are made that involve a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions, which 
would cause actual results or events to differ materially from those presently anticipated. These statements involve known 
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those 
anticipated in such forward-looking statements. 

A number of factors could cause actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future 
results, performance or achievements that may be expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements including 
those factors as set out under “Risk and Uncertainties” in this MD&A. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties 
materialize, or should assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements prove incorrect, actual results, 
performance or achievements could vary materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements 
contained in this MD&A. These factors should be considered carefully and prospective investors should not place undue 
reliance on these forward looking statements. Although the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are 
based upon what the Company currently believes to be reasonable assumptions, it cannot assure that actual results, 
performance or achievements will be consistent with these forward-looking statements. New risks and uncertainties may 
emerge from time to time. Except as required by law, the Company does not have any obligation to advise any person if 
it becomes aware of any inaccuracy in or omission of any forward-looking statement, nor does it intend, or assume any 
obligation, to update or revise these forward-looking statements to reflect new events or circumstances. 

Historical statements contained in this document regarding past trends or activities should not be taken as a representation 
that such trends or activities will continue in the future. In this regard, certain financial information contained herein has 
been extracted from, or based upon, information available in the public domain and/or provided by the Company. In 
particular, historical results of the Company should not be taken as are MD&A that such trends will be replicated in the 
future. No statement in this document is intended to be nor may be construed as a profit forecast. 
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OVERVIEW OF THE COMPANY

GSL is a limited liability company formed on April 19, 2018 under the Limited Liability Company Act (Delaware). 

GSL is a leading hemp and cannabis testing laboratory that operates a 13,337 square foot testing facility in Davie, Florida 
(the “FL Facility”) which provides analytical testing services to state-licensed cannabis and hemp growers, product 
formulators, processors, distributors and retailers. GSL holds a certified marijuana testing laboratory (“CMTL”) license 
(issued by the State of Florida Department of Health Office of Medical Marijuana Use) and has obtained ISO-17025:2017 
certification. GSL provides a variety of testing services for the hemp and cannabis industry participants, including tests 
for cannabinoid content (potency), terpene content, water activity, moisture content, pesticides, residual solvents, heavy 
metals, filth and foreign material, and microbiological contaminants. 

COVID-19

During March, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic. The continued spread 
of COVID-19 nationally and globally could have an adverse impact on our business, operations and financial results, 
including through disruptions in our testing activities and supply chains and sales channels, as well as a deterioration of 
general economic conditions. While the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, including government measures to limit 
the spread of COVID-19, adversely affected our operations during the three months ended March 31, 2021 and year 
ended December 31, 2020, the impact was not material to our results of operations. However, given the uncertainties 
associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, including those related to disruptions to the global and local economies due to 
related stay-at-home orders, quarantine policies and restrictions on travel, trade and business operations, we are not able 
to estimate the future impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and/or 
cash flows. The uncertain nature of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic may continue to affect our results of 
operations in future fiscal periods. 

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

For the three months ended 
March 31

For the year ended 
December 31,

2021 2020 2020 2019

Total Revenues 2,190,902 1,345,753 6,096,339 3,619,712
Net Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income 
(Loss)            (139,607) (369,690) (910,682) 297,746

As at As at December 31,

March 31, 2021 2020 2019

Total Assets          10,820,044 4,402,436 3,277,251
Current Liabilities          1,081,622 1,750,957 1,508,298
Accumulated Deficit           (1,177,974) (1,038,367) (127,685)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Revenue 

For the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

Revenue was $6,093,339 for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared with $3,619,712 for the year ended December 
31, 2019, an increase of $2,476,627, or 68%. The increase in revenue is due to an increase in revenue generated from 
testing services provided to the cannabis market subsequent to the Company’s obtainment of the CMTL license issued 
by the State of Florida Department of Health Office of Medical Marijuana in July 2020. 
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For the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020

Revenue was $2,190,902 for the three months ended March 31, 2021, compared with $1,345,753 for the three months 
ended March 31, 2020, an increase of $845,149, or 63%. The increase in revenue is due to an increase in revenue 
generated from testing services provided to the cannabis market subsequent to the Company’s obtainment of the CMTL 
license in July 2020. 

Operating expenses

For the three months ended 
March 31

For the year ended 
December 31,

2021 2020 2020 2019

Materials and consumables used 720,011 303,604 1,799,710 764,262

Sales, general and administration 1,196,686 616,348 3,311,835 1,735,943

Depreciation and amortization            249,254 160,530 759,953 440,015

Equity-based compensation          - 480,000 480,000 -

For the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

Materials and consumables used was $1,799,710 for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared with $764,262, 
representing an increase of $1,035,448 for the year ended December 31, 2019, or 135% primarily resulting from increased 
revenue related to the Company obtaining the CMTL license in July 2020. Materials and consumables used as a 
percentage of revenue increased from 21% in 2019 to 30% in 2020. The increase was due to the implementation of 
additional measures to ensure compliant operations and accurate reporting under the CMTL license, which required 
additional lab consumables to be used. 

Sales, general and administrative expenses was $3,311,835 for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared with 
$1,735,943 for the year ended December 31, 2019, representing an increase of $1,575,892, or 91% primarily resulting 
from higher employee wages and benefits expenses incurred due to increase in headcount as the Company focuses on its 
national expansion strategy. The anticipated Business Combination (defined and described below in “Subsequent Event”) 
has also given rise to more sales, general and administrative expenses in the form of consulting and professional fees.

For the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020

Materials and consumables used was $720,011 for the three months ended March 31, 2021, compared with $303,604 for 
the three months ended March 31, 2020, representing an increase of $416,407, or 137% primarily resulting from increased 
revenues related to the Company obtaining the CMTL license in July 2020. Materials and consumables used as a 
percentage of revenue increased from 23% for the three months ended March 31, 2020 to 33% for the three months ended 
March 31, 2021. The increase was due to the implementation of additional measures to ensure compliant operations and 
accurate reporting under the CMTL license, which required additional lab consumables to be used. 

Sales, general and administrative expenses was $1,196,686 for the three months ended March 31, 2021, compared with 
$616,348 for the three months ended March 31, 2020, representing an increase of $580,338, or 94% primarily resulting 
from higher employee wages and benefits expenses incurred due to increase in headcount as the Company focus on its 
national expansion strategy. In 2021, the Company continues to execute its established business plans of enhancing its 
geographic footprint by opening new testing laboratory facilities in Arizona, New Jersey, Michigan and Illinois. 

Net Loss

For the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

The Company’s net loss was $910,682 for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared with net income of $297,746 
for the year ended December 31, 2019, representing an increase in net loss of $1,208,428. The increase in net loss was 
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primarily due to increase in share-based compensation of $480,000 in 2020 and increase in finance cost due a series of 
issuances of convertible debentures in 2020, partially offset by an increase in revenue and gain on change in fair value of 
derivative liabilities of approximately $253,000. 

For the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020

The Company’s net loss was $139,607 for the three months ended March 31, 2021, compared with $369,690 for the three 
months ended March 31, 2020, representing a decrease in net loss of $230,083. The decrease in net loss was primarily 
due to share-based compensation in Q1 2020 that did not recur in Q1 2021 and record of loss on conversion of convertible 
debentures of approximately $197,000 in Q1 2021, partially offset by a gain on loan forgiveness of approximately 
$189,000 for the paycheck protection program loan the Company drawn during the COVID-19 crisis. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of March 31, 2021, the Company had total current liabilities of $1,081,622 (compared to $1,750,957 as at December 
31, 2020) and cash and cash equivalents of $6,031,555 (compared to $154,076 as at December 31, 2020) to meet its 
current obligations. As of March 31, 2021, the Company had working capital of $5,952,861 (compared to a working 
capital deficit of $839,285 as at December 31, 2020). 

The Company has a recent history of profitable operations and expects to generate adequate cash to fund its business 
operations. However, it will be necessary for the Company to arrange for additional financing to meet its on-going growth 
initiatives, which include facility build-out, expansion and improvements. Management believes it will be able to raise 
equity capital as required in the long term, but recognizes the risks attached thereto. There can be no assurance that it will 
be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or that the terms of such financing may be favourable.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

There are no off-balance sheet arrangements.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

Parties are considered related if the party has the ability, either directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making operating and financial decisions. A transaction is a related party 
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties. Unless otherwise stated, none of 
the transactions incorporated special terms and conditions and no guarantees were given or received. 

Key management includes the Company’s directors and members of the executive management team. Total compensation 
of key management personnel and directors was approximately $247,520 for the year ended December 31, 2020 (2019 – 
$228,845) and $69,856 for the three months ended March 31, 2021 (three months ended March 31, 2020 - $54,986). 

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 

As at the date hereof, the only proposed transaction of a material nature being considered by the Company is the Business 
Combination (defined below) described in the Subsequent Events section of this MD&A.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The IASB has issued several new standards and amendments that will be effective on various dates. The listing below is 
of standards, interpretation and amendments issued which the Company reasonably expects to be applicable at a future 
date. The Company intends to adopt those standards when they become effective. The impact on the Company is currently 
being assessed. 

Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current: In 
January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69-76 of IAS 1 to clarify the requirements for classifying 
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify that the conditions which exist at the end of a reporting 
period are those which will be used to determine if a right to defer settlement of a liability exists. The amendments also 
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective January 1, 2022, with 
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early adoption permitted. The amendments are to be applied retrospectively. Management is currently assessing the 
impact of this amendment. 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Please refer to Note 16 – financial instruments and financial risk management in the consolidated financial statements for 
the three months ended March 31, 2021 and years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 for discussion and disclosure. 

EQUITY

The authorized capital of the Company at March 31, 2021 consisted of an unlimited number of membership interests. As 
at March 31, 2021 there were 10,500,000 membership interests issued and outstanding. 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Financing Activities

On April 6, 2021, GSL completed a non-brokered placement of membership interests pursuant to which GSL issued an 
aggregate of 6,440,000 membership interests at a price of $1.00 per membership interest for aggregate gross proceeds of 
$6,440,000.

On May 3, 2021, GSL completed a non-brokered placement of membership interests pursuant to which GSL issued an 
aggregate of 1,340,283 membership interests at a price of $1.343 per membership interest for aggregate gross proceeds 
of $1,800,000.

On November 12, 2021, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of subscription receipts 
(“Subscription Receipts”) pursuant to which the Company issued an aggregate of 1,176,416 Subscription Receipts at a 
price of $3.85 per Subscription Receipt for aggregate gross proceeds of $4,529,200 (the “Concurrent Financing”). Each 
Subscription Receipt consists of one membership interest unit of the Company (“Membership Interest”) and one 
Membership Interest purchase warrant (“Warrant”). Each Warrant shall entitle the holder to purchase one Membership 
Interest at a price of $4.50 for a period of 36 months following the closing date. In connection with the Concurrent 
Financing, the Company engaged Clarus Securities Inc. and Eight Capital (the “Advisors”) to act as financial advisors. 
As compensation for the services rendered by the Advisors, the Company paid the Advisors a cash fee in the amount of 
$155,000 and issued to the Advisors an aggregate of 40,000 non-transferable warrants (the “Advisor Warrants”). Each 
Advisor Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one unit, comprised of one Membership Interest and one Warrant, at an 
exercise price equal to $3.85 for a period of 36 months following the closing date of the Concurrent Financing.

On November 15, 2021, the Company awarded each of Paul Crage and Michael Richmond a performance bonus 
consisting of $200,000 and 130,000 Membership Interests pursuant to the terms of their respective employment 
agreements.

On November 15, 2021 the Company issued an aggregate of 973,072 Membership Interests at an issue price of $3.85 per 
Membership Interest to certain consultants as payment for finder’s fees and certain advisory services provided in 
connection with the Business Combination (as defined below) and certain market making and strategic advisory services 
to be provided to the Resulting Issuer (as defined below) following completion of the Business Combination.

Business Combination

On October 21, 2021, the Company entered into a business combination agreement with Prominex Resource Corp. 
(“Prominex”) with respect to a business combination of GSL and Prominex (the “Business Combination”) pursuant to 
which GSL agreed that it would merge with and into a subsidiary of Prominex in exchange for shares of the company 
resulting from the Business Combination (such company, the “Resulting Issuer”).  In connection with the Transaction, 
the resulting issuer applied to list the common shares of the Resulting Issuer on the Canadian Securities Exchange. 
Although the Business Combination resulted in the Company becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of the Resulting 
Issuer, the transaction constitutes a reverse take-over of Prominex by the Company as the current shareholders of GSL 
hold the majority of the outstanding common shares of the Resulting Issuer.
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RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES 

There are a number of risks that may have a material and adverse impact on the future operating and financial performance 
of the Company. These include risks that are widespread risks associated with any form of business. While most risk 
factors are largely beyond the control of the Company and its directors, GSL will seek to mitigate the risks where possible. 
Among others, the Company is subject to the following risks and uncertainties: 

 The United States federal government has not legalized cannabis.
 The success of the business strategy of the Company, depends on the legality of the cannabis industry in the 

United States, which is subject to risk of regulatory or political change.
 The Company is engaged in activities considered illegal under United States federal law.
 Banks may refuse to provide banking services to businesses involved in the cannabis industry due to the present 

state of the laws and regulations governing financial institutions in the United States.
 The Company is subject to risk of civil asset forfeiture because the cannabis industry remains illegal under U.S. 

federal law. 
 The Company has limited operating history and uncertainty of future revenues; 
 The Company may lack access to U.S. bankruptcy protections and other bankruptcy risks because the cannabis 

industry remains illegal under U.S. federal law. 
 The Company relies on obtaining and retaining licences and permits for the testing of cannabis and hemp. 
 There may be unknown additional regulatory fees and taxes that may be assessed in the future as a result of 

new special taxes or fees imposed on businesses in the cannabis industry in the United States. 
 Delays in enactment of new state or federal regulations could restrict the ability of the Company to reach 

strategic growth targets.
 The Company is subject to applicable anti-money laundering laws and regulations in the United States. 
 The risk of insurance coverage not being available for certain risks or that the cost of insurance or bonding is 

too cost prohibitive to maintain.
 Reliable data on the cannabis industry is not available.
 The Company is subject to change in laws and regulations federally and in each state in which it operates.
 Inconsistent public opinion and perception of the cannabis industry may hinder market growth and state 

adoption. 
 The cannabis industry in the United States presents substantial risks and uncertainty.
 The Company is dependent on the operations, assets and financial health of its subsidiaries.
 Projections about the operations of the Company, including projections regarding the cost and timelines to 

complete business objectives and the anticipated growth of the Company’s business and its services are subject 
to uncertainty.

 The market in which the Company operates is competitive and fast moving and may become even more 
competitive. The Company may have difficulty forecasting future demand and competitive conditions. 

 The risks inherent in the nature of the cannabis testing industry.
 The Company may become party to unforeseen litigation which could adversely affect its 

business.
 The Company’s success depends on its ability to attract and retain clients and customers of its testing services.
 The risks associated with any future acquisitions or dispositions.
 The Company is reliant on the FL Facility. 
 The Company may be subject to growth-related risks including capacity constraints and pressure on its internal 

systems and controls.
 The Company is in the expansion from early development stage. The Company may ultimately be unable to 

succeed in its expansion strategy. 
 The uncertainty that the Company will be able to legally enforce its agreements, including agreements material 

to the Company, due to the illegality of cannabis at a federal level.
 The Company will require further funding to execute its expansion strategy. 
 The Company cannot guarantee with certainty the use of proceeds from capital raisings. 
 The performance of the Company will depend heavily on its ability to retain, and recruit, the services of 

management and skilled personnel. 
 The Company relies on the expertise of its directors and officers, and any departures may impair the Company’s 

business.
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 The business premises of the Company’s operating locations may be targets for security risks.
 The cannabis testing industry is a relatively new and emerging industry, as is the cannabis industry in general.
 Synthetic products may compete with organic cannabis and hemp use and products.
 There are risks associated with well-capitalized entrants developing large-scale operations.
 The risk of unfavourable publicity or consumer perception of the cannabis industry.
 The Company cannot be certain that procedures undertaken, and safeguards implemented, in order to help ensure 

the reliability of its financial reports will ensure that the Company will maintain adequate control over financial 
processes and reporting.

 The prior operational performance of the Company is not indicative of the future operating results.
 The risks associated with environmental and employee health and safety regulations.
 The risk of any significant interruption or negative change in the availability or economics of the supply chain 

for key inputs.
 The Company’s ability to maintain and enhance trade secret protection over its existing and potential proprietary 

techniques and processes.
 The Company may be subject to fraudulent or illegal activity by employees, contractors and consultants.
 The Company is not assured that competitors will not develop similar technology, business methods or that the 

Company will be able to exercise its legal rights. 
 The Company is susceptible to operational, financial and information security risks resulting from cyber-attacks 

and/or technological malfunctions. 
 There exists the possibility for an officer and director to be in a position of conflict.
 The Company may be exposed to infringement or misappropriation claims by third parties.
 The Company may be unable to continually innovate and increase efficiencies.
 The Company does not anticipate paying any dividends in the foreseeable future.
 The Company may be affected by a number of operational risks and may not be adequately insured for certain 

risks.
 The Company’s business activities will rely on newly established and/or developing laws and regulations in the 

states in which it operates.
 Volatile global financial and economic conditions may negatively affect the Company's operations.
 The risks related to an outbreak of a global pandemic (including COVID-19).

For a more detailed description of the various risks associated with the Company and the Resulting Issuer, refer to the 
Resulting Issuer’s Listing Statement available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, which should be reviewed in conjunction 
with this document.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF GREEN SCIENTIFIC LABS LLC

This management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition and results of operations of Green 
Scientific Labs, LLC (“GSL” or, the “Company”) is for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021. It is 
supplemental to, and should be read in conjunction with, the Company’s unaudited condensed consolidated interim 
financial statements and the accompanying notes for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 as well 
as the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. 

All amounts in this discussion are expressed in United States dollars (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated.

DATE OF MD&A

This MD&A is dated November 15, 2021.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS”)

The Company follows IFRS standards unless otherwise set out in the financial statements. 

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

Certain statements in this MD&A are “forward-looking statements.” Forward-looking statements are neither historical 
facts nor assurances of future performance. Instead, they are based on our current beliefs, expectations and 
assumptions regarding the future of our business, future plans and strategies, our commercialization plans and other 
future conditions. Any statements that express or involve discussions with respect to predictions, expectations, beliefs, 
plans, projections, objectives, assumptions or future events or performance are not statements of historical fact and 
may be “forward-looking statements.” In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology 
such as “may,” “might,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “seek,” “endeavor,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “estimate,” “believe,” 
“intend,” “predicts,” “estimates” or the negative of these terms or comparable terminology. Forward looking 
statements are based on expectations, estimates and projections at the time the statements are made that involve a 
number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions, which would cause actual results or events to differ materially from 
those presently anticipated. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that 
may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements. 

A number of factors could cause actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future 
results, performance or achievements that may be expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements including 
those factors as set out under “Risk and Uncertainties” in this MD&A. Should one or more of these risks or 
uncertainties materialize, or should assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements prove incorrect, actual 
results, performance or achievements could vary materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking 
statements contained in this MD&A. These factors should be considered carefully and prospective investors should 
not place undue reliance on these forward looking statements. Although the forward-looking statements contained in 
this MD&A are based upon what the Company currently believes to be reasonable assumptions, it cannot assure that 
actual results, performance or achievements will be consistent with these forward-looking statements. New risks and 
uncertainties may emerge from time to time. Except as required by law, the Company does not have any obligation to 
advise any person if it becomes aware of any inaccuracy in or omission of any forward-looking statement, nor does it 
intend, or assume any obligation, to update or revise these forward-looking statements to reflect new events or 
circumstances. 

Historical statements contained in this document regarding past trends or activities should not be taken as a 
representation that such trends or activities will continue in the future. In this regard, certain financial information 
contained herein has been extracted from, or based upon, information available in the public domain and/or provided 
by the Company. In particular, historical results of the Company should not be taken as are MD&A that such trends 
will be replicated in the future. No statement in this document is intended to be nor may be construed as a profit 
forecast. 
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OVERVIEW OF THE COMPANY

GSL is a limited liability company formed on April 19, 2018 under the Limited Liability Company Act (Delaware). 

GSL is a leading hemp and cannabis testing laboratory that operates a 13,337 square foot testing facility in Davie, 
Florida (the “FL Facility”) which provides analytical testing services to state-licensed cannabis and hemp growers, 
product formulators, processors, distributors and retailers. GSL holds a certified marijuana testing laboratory 
(“CMTL”) license (issued by the State of Florida Department of Health Office of Medical Marijuana Use) and has 
obtained ISO-17025:2017 certification. GSL provides a variety of testing services for the hemp and cannabis industry 
participants, including tests for cannabinoid content (potency), terpene content, water activity, moisture content, 
pesticides, residual solvents, heavy metals, filth and foreign material, and microbiological contaminants. 

COVID-19

During March, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic. The continued 
spread of COVID-19 nationally and globally could have an adverse impact on our business, operations and financial 
results, including through disruptions in our testing activities and supply chains and sales channels, as well as a 
deterioration of general economic conditions. While the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, including government 
measures to limit the spread of COVID-19, adversely affected our operations during the six months ended June 30, 
2021 and year ended December 31, 2020, the impact was not material to our results of operations. However, given the 
uncertainties associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, including those related to disruptions to the global and local 
economies due to related stay-at-home orders, quarantine policies and restrictions on travel, trade and business 
operations, we are not able to estimate the future impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, financial 
condition, results of operations, and/or cash flows. The uncertain nature of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic 
may continue to affect our results of operations in future fiscal periods. 

Private Placements 

On April 6, 2021, GSL completed a non-brokered placement of membership interests pursuant to which GSL issued 
an aggregate of 6,440,000 membership interests at a price of $1.00 per membership interest for aggregate gross 
proceeds of $6,440,000.

On May 3, 2021, GSL completed a non-brokered placement of membership interests pursuant to which GSL issued 
an aggregate of 1,340,283 membership interests at a price of $1.343 per membership interest for aggregate gross 
proceeds of $1,800,000.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

For the three months ended 
June 30

For the six months 
ended June 30,

2021 2020 2021 2020

Total Revenues 2,136,251 1,195,896 4,327,153 2,541,649
Net Income (Loss) and Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)            (513,878) 28,101 (653,485) (341,589)

As at As at December 31,

June 30, 2021 2020 2019

Total Assets          14,310,133 4,402,436 3,277,251
Current Liabilities          2,569,410 1,750,957 1,508,298
Accumulated Deficit           (1,691,852) (1,038,367) (127,685)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Revenue 

For the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

Revenue was $2,136,251 for the three months ended June 30, 2021, compared with $1,195,896 for the three months 
ended June 30, 2020, an increase of $940,355, or 79%. The increase in revenue is due to an increase in revenue 
generated from testing services provided to the cannabis market subsequent to the Company’s obtainment of the 
CMTL license in July 2020. 

Operating expenses

For the three months ended 
March 31

2021 2020

Materials and consumables used 656,909 273,099

Sales, general and administration 1,609,562 628,001

Depreciation and amortization            300,981 155,908

For the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

Materials and consumables used was $656,090 for the three months ended June 30, 2021, compared with $273,099 
for the three months ended June 30, 2020, representing an increase of $383,810, or 141% primarily resulting from 
increased revenues related to the Company obtaining the CMTL license in July 2020. Materials and consumables used 
as a percentage of revenue increased from 23% for the three months ended June 30, 2020 to 31% for the three months 
ended June 30, 2021. The increase was due to the implementation of additional measures to ensure compliant 
operations and accurate reporting under the CMTL license, which required additional lab consumables to be used. 

Sales, general and administrative expenses was $1,609,562 for the three months ended June 30, 2021, compared with 
$628,001 for the three months ended June 30, 2020, representing an increase of $981,561, or 156% primarily resulting 
from higher travel expenses and employee wages and benefits expenses incurred due to increase in traveling by 
management and increase headcount as the Company focus on its national expansion strategy. In 2021, the Company 
continues to execute its established business plans of enhancing its geographic footprint by opening new testing 
laboratory facilities in Arizona, New Jersey, Michigan and Illinois. 
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Net Loss

For the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

The Company’s net loss was $513,878 for the three months ended June 30, 2021, compared with net income of 
$28,101 for the three months ended June 30, 2020, representing an increase in net loss of $541,979. The increase in 
net loss was primarily due to increase in operating expenses in Q2 2021 as the Company continued to increase its 
headcount and focus on its national expansion strategy. In addition, the Company recorded approximately $115,000 
in gain on change in fair value of derivative liabilities Q2 2020, which was non-recurring in the current period as all 
the convertible debentures were either converted or repaid in full in Q1 2021. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of June 30, 2021, the Company had total current liabilities of $2,569,410 (compared to $1,750,957 as at December 
31, 2020) and cash and cash equivalents of $6,259,941 (compared to $154,076 as at December 31, 2020) to meet its 
current obligations. As of June 30, 2021, the Company had working capital of $4,805,465 (compared to a working 
capital deficit of $839,285 as at December 31, 2020). 

The Company has a recent history of profitable operations and expects to generate adequate cash to fund its business 
operations. However, it will be necessary for the Company to arrange for additional financing to meet its on-going 
growth initiatives, which include facility build-out, expansion and improvements. Management believes it will be able 
to raise equity capital as required in the long term, but recognizes the risks attached thereto. There can be no assurance 
that it will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or that the terms of such financing may be favourable.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

There are no off-balance sheet arrangements.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

Parties are considered related if the party has the ability, either directly or indirectly, to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making operating and financial decisions. A transaction is a 
related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties. Unless otherwise 
stated, none of the transactions incorporated special terms and conditions and no guarantees were given or received. 

Key management includes the Company’s directors and members of the executive management team. Total 
compensation of key management personnel and directors was approximately $127,880 and $222,523 for the three 
months and six ended June 30, 2021 (three and six months ended June 30, 2020 - $64,548 and $124,384). 

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 

As at the date hereof, the only proposed transaction of a material nature being considered by the Company is the 
Business Combination described in the Overview of the Company section of this MD&A.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The IASB has issued several new standards and amendments that will be effective on various dates. The listing below 
is of standards, interpretation and amendments issued which the Company reasonably expects to be applicable at a 
future date. The Company intends to adopt those standards when they become effective. The impact on the Company 
is currently being assessed. 

Amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current: 
In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69-76 of IAS 1 to clarify the requirements for classifying 
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify that the conditions which exist at the end of a reporting 
period are those which will be used to determine if a right to defer settlement of a liability exists. The amendments 
also clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective January 1, 2022, 
with early adoption permitted. The amendments are to be applied retrospectively. Management is currently assessing 
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the impact of this amendment. 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Please refer to Note 16 – financial instruments and financial risk management in the condensed consolidated interim 
financial statements for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 for discussion and disclosure. 

EQUITY

The authorized capital of the Company at June 30, 2021 consisted of an unlimited number of membership interests. 
As at June 30, 2021 there were 18,230,283 membership interests issued and outstanding. 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Financing Activities

Subsequent to the period ended June 30, 2021, the Company secured equipment financing for $2.8 million under a 
master lease agreement with Cash Flow Leasing. Management plans to draw the capital over the subsequent quarter 
to pay for testing equipment to support growth in the Arizona and Florida Labs.

On November 12, 2021, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of subscription receipts 
(“Subscription Receipts”) pursuant to which the Company issued an aggregate of 1,176,416 Subscription Receipts 
at a price of $3.85 per Subscription Receipt for aggregate gross proceeds of $4,529,200 (the “Concurrent 
Financing”). Each Subscription Receipt consists of one membership interest unit of the Company (“Membership 
Interest”) and one Membership Interest purchase warrant (“Warrant”). Each Warrant shall entitle the holder to 
purchase one Membership Interest at a price of $4.50 for a period of 36 months following the closing date. In 
connection with the Concurrent Financing, the Company engaged Clarus Securities Inc. and Eight Capital (the 
“Advisors”) to act as financial advisors. As compensation for the services rendered by the Advisors, the Company 
paid the Advisors a cash fee in the amount of $155,000 and issued to the Advisors an aggregate of 40,000 non-
transferable warrants (the “Advisor Warrants”). Each Advisor Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one unit, 
comprised of one Membership Interest and one Warrant, at an exercise price equal to $3.85 for a period of 36 months 
following the closing date of the Concurrent Financing.

On November 15, 2021, the Company awarded each of Paul Crage and Michael Richmond a performance bonus 
consisting of $200,000 and 130,000 Membership Interests pursuant to the terms of their respective employment 
agreements.

On November 15, 2021 the Company issued an aggregate of 973,072 Membership Interests at an issue price of $3.85 
per Membership Interest to certain consultants as payment for finder’s fees and certain advisory services provided in 
connection with the Business Combination (as defined below) and certain market making and strategic advisory 
services to be provided to the Resulting Issuer (as defined below) following completion of the Business Combination.

Business Combination

On October 21, 2021, the Company entered into a business combination agreement (the “Business Combination 
Agreement”) with Prominex Resource Corp. (“Prominex”) with respect to a business combination of GSL and 
Prominex (the “Business Combination”) pursuant to which GSL agreed that it would merge with and into a subsidiary 
of Prominex in exchange for shares of the company resulting from the Business Combination (such company, the 
“Resulting Issuer”). 

Although the Business Combination resulted in the Company becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of the Resulting 
Issuer, the transaction constitutes a reverse take-over of Prominex by the Company as the current shareholders of GSL 
hold the majority of the outstanding common shares of the Resulting Issuer.

RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES 

There are a number of risks that may have a material and adverse impact on the future operating and financial 
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performance of the Company. These include risks that are widespread risks associated with any form of business. 
While most risk factors are largely beyond the control of the Company and its directors, GSL will seek to mitigate the 
risks where possible. Among others, the Company is subject to the following risks and uncertainties: 

 The United States federal government has not legalized cannabis.
 The success of the business strategy of the Company, depends on the legality of the cannabis industry in the 

United States, which is subject to risk of regulatory or political change.
 The Company is engaged in activities considered illegal under United States federal law.
 Banks may refuse to provide banking services to businesses involved in the cannabis industry due to the 

present state of the laws and regulations governing financial institutions in the United States.
 The Company is subject to risk of civil asset forfeiture because the cannabis industry remains illegal under 

U.S. federal law. 
 The Company has limited operating history and uncertainty of future revenues; 
 The Company may lack access to U.S. bankruptcy protections and other bankruptcy risks because the 

cannabis industry remains illegal under U.S. federal law. 
 The Company relies on obtaining and retaining licences and permits for the testing of cannabis and hemp. 
 There may be unknown additional regulatory fees and taxes that may be assessed in the future as a result of 

new special taxes or fees imposed on businesses in the cannabis industry in the United States. 
 Delays in enactment of new state or federal regulations could restrict the ability of the Company to reach 

strategic growth targets.
 The Company is subject to applicable anti-money laundering laws and regulations in the United States. 
 The risk of insurance coverage not being available for certain risks or that the cost of insurance or bonding 

is too cost prohibitive to maintain.
 Reliable data on the cannabis industry is not available.
 The Company is subject to change in laws and regulations federally and in each state in which it operates.
 Inconsistent public opinion and perception of the cannabis industry may hinder market growth and state 

adoption. 
 The cannabis industry in the United States presents substantial risks and uncertainty.
 The Company is dependent on the operations, assets and financial health of its subsidiaries.
 Projections about the operations of the Company, including projections regarding the cost and timelines to 

complete business objectives and the anticipated growth of the Company’s business and its services are 
subject to uncertainty.

 The market in which the Company operates is competitive and fast moving and may become even more 
competitive. The Company may have difficulty forecasting future demand and competitive conditions. 

 The risks inherent in the nature of the cannabis testing industry.
 The Company may become party to unforeseen litigation which could adversely affect its 

business.
 The Company’s success depends on its ability to attract and retain clients and customers of its testing services.
 The risks associated with any future acquisitions or dispositions.
 The Company is reliant on the FL Facility. 
 The Company may be subject to growth-related risks including capacity constraints and pressure on its 

internal systems and controls.
 The Company is in the expansion from early development stage. The Company may ultimately be unable to 

succeed in its expansion strategy. 
 The uncertainty that the Company will be able to legally enforce its agreements, including agreements 

material to the Company, due to the illegality of cannabis at a federal level.
 The Company will require further funding to execute its expansion strategy. 
 The Company cannot guarantee with certainty the use of proceeds from capital raisings. 
 The performance of the Company will depend heavily on its ability to retain, and recruit, the services of 

management and skilled personnel. 
 The Company relies on the expertise of its directors and officers, and any departures may impair the 

Company’s business.
 The business premises of the Company’s operating locations may be targets for security risks.
 The cannabis testing industry is a relatively new and emerging industry, as is the cannabis industry in general.
 Synthetic products may compete with organic cannabis and hemp use and products.
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 There are risks associated with well-capitalized entrants developing large-scale operations.
 The risk of unfavourable publicity or consumer perception of the cannabis industry.
 The Company cannot be certain that procedures undertaken, and safeguards implemented, in order to help 

ensure the reliability of its financial reports will ensure that the Company will maintain adequate control over 
financial processes and reporting.

 The prior operational performance of the Company is not indicative of the future operating results.
 The risks associated with environmental and employee health and safety regulations.
 The risk of any significant interruption or negative change in the availability or economics of the supply 

chain for key inputs.
 The Company’s ability to maintain and enhance trade secret protection over its existing and potential 

proprietary techniques and processes.
 The Company may be subject to fraudulent or illegal activity by employees, contractors and consultants.
 The Company is not assured that competitors will not develop similar technology, business methods or that 

the Company will be able to exercise its legal rights. 
 The Company is susceptible to operational, financial and information security risks resulting from cyber-

attacks and/or technological malfunctions. 
 There exists the possibility for an officer and director to be in a position of conflict.
 The Company may be exposed to infringement or misappropriation claims by third parties.
 The Company may be unable to continually innovate and increase efficiencies.
 The Company does not anticipate paying any dividends in the foreseeable future.
 The Company may be affected by a number of operational risks and may not be adequately insured for certain 

risks.
 The Company’s business activities will rely on newly established and/or developing laws and regulations in 

the states in which it operates.
 Volatile global financial and economic conditions may negatively affect the Company's operations.
 The risks related to an outbreak of a global pandemic (including COVID-19).

For a more detailed description of the various risks associated with the Company and the Resulting Issuer, refer to the 
Resulting Issuer’s Listing Statement available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, which should be reviewed in 
conjunction with this document.
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Green Scientific Labs Holdings Inc. (formerly Prominex Resource Corp.)
Unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

 Green Scientific Labs 
Holdings Inc. (formerly 

Prominex Resource Corp.) 
Green Scientific Lab, 

LLC  Note 5  Adjustments Total 
July 31, 2021 June 30, 2021

Assets $ $ $ $
Current assets

Cash 3,532                                     6,259,941                     (a)               201,711 
 (g)            4,313,687 
 (h)              (500,000) 10,278,871        

Trade receivables -                                         710,161                       710,161             
Prepayments and deposits -                                         96,885                         96,885               
Other receivables 9,131                                     9,444                           18,575               
Inventories -                                         298,444                       298,444             

Total current assets 12,663                                   7,374,875                    4,015,398           11,402,936        

Non-current assets
Property and equipment -                                         3,707,335                    3,707,335          
Intangible asset -                                         20,982                         20,982               
Right-of-use assets -                                         3,206,941                    3,206,941          

Total assets 12,663                                   14,310,133                  4,015,398           18,338,194        

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 340,308                                 2,255,488                     (b)              (340,308) 2,255,488          
Current portion of lease liabilities -                                         313,922                       313,922             

Total current liabilities 340,308                                 2,569,410                    (340,308)             2,569,410          

Non-current liabilities
Other liabilities 438,954                                 -                                (b)                (63,113) 375,841             
Lease liabilities -                                         2,914,649                    2,914,649          

Total liabilities 779,262                                 5,484,059                    (403,421)             5,859,900          

 
Shareholders' Equity (Deficiency)

Share capital 7,004,136                              10,153,713                   (a)              201,711 
 (b)              403,421 
 (c)           (7,609,268)
 (f)            1,925,000 
 (g)            4,096,793 
 (g)           (1,659,201)
 (i)           3,746,327 
 (j)           1,001,000 19,263,632        

Contributed surplus 2,285,496                              364,213                        (e)           (2,285,496) 364,213             

Warrant reserve -                                         -                                (g)            1,659,201 
 (g)               216,894 1,876,095          

Accumulated deficit (10,056,231)                          (1,691,852)                   (d)          10,056,231 
 (f)           (2,086,467)
 (h)              (500,000)
 (i)           (3,746,327)
 (j)           (1,001,000) (9,025,646)         

Total shareholders' equity (deficiency) (766,599)                               8,826,074                    4,418,819           12,478,294        

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity (deficiency) 12,663                                   14,310,133                  4,015,398           18,338,194        
See accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma financial statement



Green Scientific Labs Holdings Inc.
Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statement
June 30, 2021

1. Basis of presentation

(a)
(b)
(c)

2. Significant accounting policies

3. The transaction

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position of Green Scientific Labs Holdings Inc. (the "Company") (formerly
Prominex Resource Corp.) as at June 30, 2021 (the "Pro Forma Financial Statement"), has been prepared by management based on
historical financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), for illustrative
purposes only, after giving effect to the proposed transaction between the Company and Green Scientific Lab, LLC ("GSL" or the
"Target") on the basis of the assumptions and adjustments described in notes 2, 3, 4 and 5.

It is management's opinion that the unaudited Pro Forma Financial Statement, include all adjustments necessary for the fair
presentation, in all material respects, of the transactions described in notes 3 and 4 in accordance with IFRS, applied on a basis
consistent with GSL's accounting policies, except as otherwise noted. The unaudited Pro Forma Financial Statement is not
necessarily indicative of the financial position that would have resulted if the combination had actually occurred on June 30, 2021.
Further, these unaudited pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that may be obtained
in the future.

the unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the three months ended July 31, 2021 and 2020. 

The Company will consolidate its shares capital on the basis of 168.68 to 1. Immediately after the share consolidation, the
Company will have 55,384 common shares issued and outstanding.

The unaudited Pro Forma Financial Statement has been derived from:

the unaudited consolidated financial statements of GSL for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. 
unless otherwise noted, the unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position and its accompanying notes are
presented in United States Dollars.

The Company and GSL have entered into an agreement pursuant to which the Company will acquire all of the issued and
outstanding membership interests in the capital of GSL ("Membership Interests") in exchange for securities of the Company (the
"Business Combination").

Pursuant to the Business Combination, the Target will merge with and into a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company with the
Target continuing as the surviving entity and becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. As consideration for the
Membership Interests, the Company will issue to holders thereof either one subordinate voting share of the Company
("Subordinate Voting Share") or 1/100 of a multiple voting share of the Company ("Multiple Voting Share") in exchange for each
Membership Interest. Each GSL Warrant (defined below) will be exchanged for a replacement warrant of the Company (a
"Warrant"). 

Subsequent to the share consolidation mentioned above in note 3(b), the Company will undergo recapitalization activities which
included a non-brokered private placement and a series of debt settlement transactions (the "Recapitalization"), comprised of a
shares for debt transaction whereby the Company will, in the case of a private placement, issue up to an aggregate of
CAD$250,000 in the shares of the Company at a price of approximately CAD$1.69 per share and, in the case of a shares for debt
transaction, convert debt of up to CAD$500,000 into shares of the Company at a price equal to approximately CAD$1.69 per
share. Immediately after the Recapitalization and prior to effecting the Business Combination, the Company will have 500,000
common shares issued and outstanding.

The unaudited Pro Forma Financial Statement should be read in conjunction with the historical financial statements and notes thereto
of the Company and GSL, included elsewhere in this Listing Statement.

Upon completion of the Business Combination, the former holder of GSL membership interest will become the controlling
shareholders of the Company. This type of share exchange, referred to as a reverse acquisition ("RTO"), deems GSL to be the
acquirer for accounting purposes.

The unaudited Pro Forma Financial Statement has been compiled using the significant accounting policies, as set out in the audited
consolidated financial statements of GSL for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. Management has determined that no
material pro forma adjustments are necessary to conform the Company's accounting policies to the accounting policies used by GSL
in the preparation of its audited financial statements.



Green Scientific Labs Holdings Inc.
Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statement
June 30, 2021

(f)

4. Accounting for the RTO

The RTO has been accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2, which results in the following:

o

o

o

o

o

5. Pro forma assumptions and adjustments

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d) An adjustment of $10,056,231 to eliminate the Company's historical deficit.

(e) An adjustment of $2,285,496 to eliminate the Company's historical contributed surplus.

the capital structure recognized in the consolidated financial statements will be that of the Company, but the dollar amount of the
issued share capital in the unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position immediately prior to acquisition will be
that of the Target, plus any shares issued by the Company prior to or as part of the transaction.

In connection with the Business Combination, GSL engaged Clarus Securities Inc. and Eight Capital (the "Advisors") to act as
financial advisors in connection with a non-brokered private placement (the ''Offering'') of 1,176,416 subscription receipts (each a
"Subscription Receipt") at a price of $3.85 per Subscription Receipt, for gross proceeds of $4,529,200. Immediately prior to the
Business Combination being effected, each Subscription Receipt was automatically exchanged for a unit consisting of one
Membership Interest and one Membership Interest purchase warrant (each a “GSL Warrant”). Pursuant to the Business
Combination, each GSL Warrant was immediately exchanged for one Warrant. Each Warrant entitles the holder thereof to
purchase either one Subordinate Voting Share or 1/100 of a Multiple Voting Share at a price of $4.50 for a period of 36 months
following the closing date of the Offering, provided that if the trading price of the Subordinate Voting Shares on the Canadian
Stock Exchange (the “CSE”) is greater than CAD$8.50 for ten consecutive trading days, the Company may accelerate the time of
expiry to the day that is 30 days from the date that notice of such acceleration is given to holders of Warrants in accordance with
the terms thereof. 

In connection with the Offering, GSL paid the Advisors a cash commissions of $155,000 and issued 40,000 advisor warrants.
Pursuant to the Business Combination, each such advisor warrant was exchanged for a advisor warrant of the Company (a
"Advisor Warrant"). Each Advisor Warrant entitles the holder thereof to acquire one unit of the Company comprised of one
Subordinate Voting Share and one Subordinate Voting Share purchase warrant. Each such warrant entitles the holder thereof to
purchase one Subordinate Voting Share at a price of $3.85 for a period of 36 months following the closing date of the Offering,
provided that if the trading price of the Subordinate Voting Shares on the CSE is greater than CAD$8.50 for ten consecutive
trading days, the Company may accelerate the time of expiry to the day that is 30 days from the date that notice of such
acceleration is given to holders of Warrants in accordance with the terms thereof. 

A decrease in liabilities of $403,421 (equivalent to CAD500,000) as a result of the issuance of 296,411 post-consolidation 
common shares of the Company at a price equal to approximately CAD$1.69 per share in a shares for debt transaction as part of 
the Recapitlization.

A reduction in share capital of $7,609,268 to eliminate the Company's historical share capital, after taking into the effect of the 
issuances described in Note 5(a) and 5(b) above.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position reflects the following assumptions and adjustments:

since the Company's operations do not constitute a business, the transaction has been accounted for as a reverse acquisition
that is not a business combination;

therefore, the Company's share capital and deficit will be eliminated, the consideration transferred by the Company will be
allocated to share capital and transaction costs will be expensed;

accordingly, GSL's balances are accounted for at cost and the Company is accounted for at fair value;

GSL is deemed to be the acquirer and the Company is deemed to be the acquiree for accounting purposes;

An increase in cash of $201,711 (equivalent to CAD250,000) as a result of the issuance of 148,205 post-consolidation common 
shares of the Company at a price equal to approximately CAD$1.69 per share in a non-brokered private placement as part of the 
Recapitlization.



Green Scientific Labs Holdings Inc.
Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statement
June 30, 2021

(f)

Consideration transferred (500,000 shares at a price of $3.85 per share) 1,925,000$    

Cash (1) 205,243         

Other receivables 9,131             

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2) -                

Other liabilities (2) (375,841)        

Transaction costs 2,086,467      
1,925,000$    

Notes: 
(1)

(2)

(g)

(h)

(i)

(j)

6. Pro forma share capital
Number Amount

The Company's common shares outstanding - July 31, 2021 9,342,275      7,004,136$    
post 1 for 168.68 consolidation of the Company's shares (9,286,891)     

Issuance of the Company's share as described in note 5(a) 148,205         201,711         

Issuance of the Company's share as described in note 5(b) 296,411         403,421         

Common shares issued to the Target's shareholders 18,280,283    10,153,713    

Reverse takeover adjustment - the Company's common shares (note 5(c)) -                (7,609,268)     

Consideration transferred to shareholders of the Company (note 5(f)) -                1,925,000      

Completion of the Offering as described in note 5(g) 1,176,416      2,437,592      

Common shares issued as described in note (5)(i) 973,072         3,746,327      

Common shares issued as described in note (5)(j) 260,000         1,001,000      

Pro forma share capital - June 30, 2021 21,189,771   19,263,632$ 

An increase in cash of $4,529,200, less cash commission to the Advisors of $155,000 and estimated transaction cost of $60,513
as a result of the Offering, for a net cash proceeds of $4,313,687. In connection with the Business Combination, the Company
issued 1,176,416 Warrants valued at $3,082,437. The Warrants were valued using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model with a
volatility of 120%, risk free rate of 0.65%, expected life of 3 years and dividend yield of nil%. The Company also issued 40,000
Advisor Warrants valued at $216,894. The Advisor Warrants were valued using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model with a
volatility of 120%, risk free rate of 0.65%, expected life of 3 years and dividend yield of nil%. For the net proceeds of $4,096,793,
$2,437,592 was allocated to share capital and the remaining $1,659,201 was allocated to warrant reserve. 

After taking into the effect of the liabilities settled from the issuance of the Company's common share via a shares for debt 
transaction as described in note 5(b). 

Since the Company's operations do not constitute a business, the consideration transferred by the Company will be allocated to
share capital and transaction costs will be expensed. An increase in share capital of $1,925,000 and an increase in deficit of
$2,086,467 has been allocated based on the following:

An increase in deficit of $500,000 to reflect estimated transaction costs for the Business Combination.

Including the cash proceeds received from the issuance of the Company's common share via a non-brokered private 
placement as described in note 5(a). 

An increase in deficit of $3,746,327 to reflect the issuance of 973,072 common shares at a price of $3.85 to certain consultants
as payment for services provided to GSL in connection with the Business Combination.

An increase in deficit of $1,001,000 to reflect the issuance of 260,000 common shares at a price of $3.85 to certain directors and
officers of GSL as performance bonuses pursuant to the terms of their respective employment agreements.



Green Scientific Labs Holdings Inc.
Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statement
June 30, 2021

7. Pro forma contributed surplus
Amount

The Company's contributed surplus 2,285,496$    

The Target's contributed surplus 364,213         

Elimination of the Company's contributed surplus (note 5(e)) (2,285,496)     

Pro forma contributed surplus - June 30, 2021 364,213$       

8. Pro forma warrant reserve
Amount

The Company's warrant reserve -$              

The Target's contributed surplus -                

Issuance of Warrants per note 5(g) 1,659,201      

Issuance of Advisor Warrants per note 5(g) 216,894         

Pro forma warrant reserve - June 30, 2021 1,876,095$    

9. Pro forma deficit
Amount

The Company's deficit 12,532,075$  

The Target's deficit 1,691,852      

Elimination of the Company's deficit (note 5(d)) (12,532,075)   

Additional transaction costs per note 5(f) 2,086,467      

Additional transaction costs per note 5(h) 500,000         

Additional share-based compensations per note 5(i) 3,746,327      

Additional share-based compensations per note 5(j) 1,001,000      

Pro forma deficit - June 30, 2021 9,025,646$    

10. Pro forma income taxes

Section 280E of the Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) prohibits businesses engaged in the trafficking of Schedule I or Schedule II 
controlled substances from deducting normal business expenses, such as payroll and rent, from gross income (revenue less cost of 
goods sold). Section 280E was originally intended to penalize criminal market operators, but because cannabis remains a Schedule I 
controlled substance for Federal purposes, the IRS has subsequently applied Section 280E to state-legal cannabis businesses. 
Cannabis businesses operating in states that align their tax codes with the IRC are also unable to deduct normal business expenses 
from their state taxes. Whereas the Company’s statutory rate is expected to be 25%, actual rates will differ as a result of the temporary 
and permanent differences, as well as the limitations placed with respect to Section 280E.


